FC‘O_gr'?)O‘L
100109 s

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D C 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTIOM 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition perfod from to

Commission file number 001-11073

Fd First Data.

FIRST DATA CORPORATION

DELAWARE 47-0731996
(State of incorporation) (IR S Employer Idenuification No )

225 LIBERTY STREET, 29th FLOOR, NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10281
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (8003 735-3362

Securities registered pursuant 1o Section 12(b) of the Act None

Securiuies registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act None

[ndicate by check mark 1f the registrant s a well-known seasoned 13suer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Secunbes Act Yes O No B
Indicate by check mark if the registrant 1s not required 1o file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act Yes @ No O *

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filled by Section 13 or 15{d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 dunng the preceding 12
months {or for such shorter penod that the registrant was requared (o file quch reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes O NoE *

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submutted electronzcally and posted on s corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submutted and
posted pursuant 1o Rule 405 of Regulanon S-T (§ 232 405 of this chapter) duning the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to subtt and
post such files) Yes ® No[]

Indicate by check mark 1f disclosure of dehnguent filers pursuant to Iteny 4035 of Regulation 5-K (§ 229 405 of thus chapier) 15 not contamed hergin, and will not be contaned, to the
best of registrant s knowledge, m defimtive proxy or mformation statements incorporated by reference in Past 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large acceferated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company See defimition of large
accelerated filer,” ‘accelerated filer” and ‘smaller reportng company™ n Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O

+

. Non-accelerated filer (X1 N Smaller Reporting Company (1

Indicate by cheek mark whether the registrant 1s a shell company (as defined m Rule 12b-2 of the Act) Yes O No M

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voung stock held by non-affiliates s zero The registrant s privately held There were 1,000 shares of the registrant’s common stock
outstanding as of January 31, 2015

* The registrant hias not been subject to the filing requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act smee January 1, 20135, however, registrant filed all reports since that date

A

18/06/2015 #154
COMPANIES HOUSE

1




PART L,

Rusk Factors

t Related I

ldec Mai

PAGE

NUMBER

EEEEEREE BREERBERe

ERKEEE

=




Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters we discuss 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K and 1n other public statements may consutute forward-looking statements You can identify
forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “behieves,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” or
“anticipates” or similar expresstons which concem our strategy, plans, projections or intentions Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not
lirnuted to, all statements we make relating to revenue, EBITDA, eamings, margins, growth rates, and other financial results for future penods By their nature,
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, are not statements of histoncal fact or guarantees of future performance, and are subject
to nisks, uncertainties, assumpttons or changes 1n circumstances that are difficult to predict or quantify Actual results could differ matenally and adversely
from our forward-looking statements due to a vanety of factors, including the following (1) our ability to 1mplement and improve processing systems to
provide new products, improve functionality, and increase efficiencies, (2) our ability to prevent a material breach of secunty of any of our systems, (3) our
ability to anticipate and respond to technological changes, particularly with respeet to e-commerce and mobile commerce, (4) our high degree of leverage,
(5) credit and fraud nsks in our business umts and the merchant alliances, particularly in the context of e-commerce and mobile markets, (6) our merchant
alhance program which mvolves several alliances not under our sole control and each of which acts independently of the others, (7) the impact of new laws,
regulations, credit card association rules or other industry standards, {8) adverse impacts from cumency exchange rates or currency controls imposed by any
govemment or otherwise, (9) our ability to successfully convert accounts under service contracts with major ¢lients, (10) changes in the interest rate
environment that increases interest on our borrowings, (11) consohidauon among client financial mnstitutions or other client groups that impacts our chient
relationships, (12) catastrophic events that tmpact our or our major customers’ operating facilities, communication systems, and technology, (13) new
lawsuits, mvestigations or proceedings, or changes to our potenual exposure 1 connection with pending lawswits, investigations or proceedings, and vanous
other factors discussed throughout this repori, including but not limited to, [tem 1 - Business, Item 1 A - Risk Factors and Item 7 - Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Finaneial Condition and Results of Opcrations Except as required by law, we do ot intend to revise or update any forward-looking
statement as a result of new infonnation, future developments or otherwise
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PART 1

ITEM 1 BUSINESS

General

First Data Corporation (we or our) is a global provider of electronic commerce and payment solutions for merchants, financial istitutions, and card 1ssuers
with operations 1n 34 countries, serving approximately 6 2 million merchant locations We were incorporated 1n Delaware in 1989 and were the subject of an
mitial public offenng tn connection with a spin-off from Amencan Express i 1992 On September 24, 2007, we were acquired through a merger transaction
with an entity controlled by affiliates of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co (KKR) that resulted 1n our equity beconmung privately held

We have operations and offices located within the United States (U S ) (domestic) and outside of the U S (intemational) where sales, customer service and/or
admunistrative personnel are based Revenues generated from processing domestic and intemational transactions, regardless of the segments to whaich the
assoclated revenues applied, were 85% and 15% of our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014, respectively Long-lived assets
attnbutable to domestic and intemational operations as percentages of our total long-lived assets as of December 31, 2014 were 88% and 2%, respecttvely
No individual international country 1s material to our total revenues or long-lived assets Further financial information relating to our international and
domestic revenues and long-lived assetss set forth in Note 13 "Segment Information" to our Consohdated Financial Statements in Part T1, Item § of this
Form 10-K

Products and Services Segment Informaton

We are organized in three segments Merchant Solutions, Financial Services, and International

The segments’ profit measure 1s a form of EBITIA (eamings before net interest expense, ncome taxes, depreciation, and amortization) A discussion of
factors potenuially affecting our operations 1s set forth in Item 7 ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™
ofthis Form 10-K We do not have any significant customers that account for 10% or more of total consohdated revenues Referto the following segment
discussions, which address sigmificant customer relationships within each segment

Merchant Solutions segment

The Merchant Solutions segment 1s compnsed of merchant acquining and processing services, prepaid services and check venfication, settlement, and
guarantee services

The following table presents Merchant Solutions information as a percentage of total segment and All Other and Corporate

Year ended Decemher 31,

2014 2013 2012
Segment revenues from extemal customers 52% 53% 53%
Segment EBITDA 63% 67% 65%
\Assets (a5 of December 31) _ Y S .} L. 58%

Description af Merchant Solutions segment operarions Merchant Solutions businesses facilitate the acceptance of consumer trangactions at the point of sate
(POS), whetherit 1s a transaction at a physical merchant location, over the Intemet or through a mobile (1 ¢ phone or tablet) device

Merchant aequiring and processing services Merchant acquinng services facilitate the merchants® ability to accept credit, debat, stored-value and loyalty
cards by authonzing, captunng, and settling the merchants’ transactions Acquinng services also provide POS devices and other equipment necessary to
capture merchant transactions The segment s processing services include authonzation, transaction capture, settlement, chargeback handhing, and Intemnet-
based transaction processing The vast majonty of these services pertam to transactions 1n which consumer payments to merchants are made through a
payment network (such as VISA or MasterCard), a debit network (such as STAR Network, which 15 owned by us), or other payment 1ssuers/networks (such as
Amencan Express and Discover)




Revenues are generated from a vanety of sources

+  discount fees charged to a merchant, net of credit card interchange and assessment fees charged by the payment networks The discount fee 1s
typically erther a perceniage of the credit card transaction or the interchange fee plus a fixed dollar amount,

«  processing fees charged 1o unconsolidated alhances discussed below,

= processing fees charged to merchant acquuirers who have outsourced their transaction processing to us,
~  selling and leasing POS devices, and

+  debit network fees

Most of Merchant Solution’s revenue 1s denved fror regiortal and local merchants The items listed above are included 1n our consolidated revenues and, for
equity eamings from unconsolidated alliances, the “Equity eamings in affiliates™ line item 1n the Consolidated Statements of Operations The Merchant
Solutions segment revenue and EBITDA are presented using proportionate consolidation, accordingly, segment revenue also includes the alliance partner’s
share of processing fees charged to consohdated alliances In addition, segment revenue excludes debit network fees and other revmbursable stems
Throughout the document we use the word “partner” to descnbe situations where we have a contractual relationship wath another company These
relationships do not include equity ownership In situations where equaty ownerships are invelved, we generally refer to the amangement/entity as an
affiliate

Merchant Solutions provides merchant acquinng and processing services, prepaid services and check venfication, guarantee, and scttlement services to
merchants that operate approximately 3 9 mullion merchant locations acrossthe U S and acquired $1 7 tnllion of payment transaction dollar volume on
behalf of U S merchants in 2014 Merchant Solutions provides full service merchant processing pnimarily for transactions of VISA, MasterCard and a vanety
of personal rdentification number (PIN) debit networks at the POS

Merchant Solutions approaches the market through diversified sales channels including equity alliances, and 1ts other contractual revenue sharing and/or
referral amangements with more than 400 financial institution partners, more than 1,700 non-bank referral partners, and more than 600 independent sales
orgamzation partners, as of December 31, 2014 Growth 1n the Merchant Solutions business 1s denived from enterning 1nto new merchant relationships,
reducing the tumover 1n existing merchant relationships, new and enhanced product and service offenings, cross selling products and services into existing
relationshuips, the shift of consumer spending to increased usage of electromic forms of payment, and the strength of our alliances and relationships with banks
and other entines Our alhiance structures take on different forms, including consolidated subsidianes, equity method investments, and contractual revenue
shanng and/or refermal arrangements Under the alliance and referral programs, the alhance/referral partners typically act as 2 merchant referral source We
benefit by providing processing services for the alliance/referral partners and their merchant customers Both we and the alhance may provide managemeat,
sales, marketing, and other admimistrative services The alliance strategy could be affected by consolidation among financial institutions

Qur strategy with banks, independent sales organmizauions, and referral/sales partners provides us with broad geographic coverage, regronally and nationally,
as well as presence and expertise in vanous industries The alliance/refermral partner structure allows us to be the processor for muluple financial mnstitutions,
any one of which may be sclected by the merchant as their bank partner Additienally, bank panners provide brand loyalty and a distnbution channel
through their branch networks which increases merchant retention

[n 2014, Merchant Solutions rolled out Small Business Selutions {(SBS), a program designed to help small to medium s1zed businesses (SMBs) better manage
their business The new SBS 15 integrated into Clover Station, our propnetary tablet-based hardware solution, and allows SMBs to manage 1nventory, track
revenues, and generate reports that distit] transaction data into powerful inteiligence Merchants can customize and grow their Clover Station s capabilities
by adding applicauons from the Clover App Market The SBS also includes features such as analytics, TransArmor, a transaction processing encryption and
tokenization technology, and Perka, a cloud-hosied mabile loyalty marketing program

\
There are a number of different entities invelved 1n a merchant transaction including the cardholder, card issuer, card network, merchant, merchant acquirer,
electronic processor for credit and signature debit transactions, and debit network for PIN-debit transactions The card 1ssuer is the financial institution that
1ssues credit or debit cards, authonzes transactions after determining whether the cardholder has sufficient available credit or funds for the transaction, and
provides funds for the




transaction Some ofthese functions may be perfonned by an electronic processor (such as our Financial Services business) on behal{'of the 1ssuer The card
networks, VISA or MasterCard, a debit network or another payment 1ssuer/network route transactions between ourselves and the card 1ssuer The merchant 1s a
business from which a product or service 1s purchased by a cardholder The acquirer (such as us or one of our alliances) contracts with merchants to facilitate
their acceptance of cards A merchant acquirer may do 1ls own processing or, more commonly, may outsource those functions to an electronic processor such
as our Merchant Solutions segment The acquirer/processor serves as an intermediary between the merchant and the card 1ssuer by

{1} collecting cardholder data and transaction tnformation from the merchant's POS device,
(2) transmutting the transaction information to the card 1ssuer through the applicable payment network,
{3) obtaiming authonzation from the card 1ssuer through a card network or debit network, and

(4) paying the merchant for the transaction We typically receive the funds from the 1ssuer via the card netwark, payment network or debit network
before paying the merchant

A transaction occurs when a cardhotder purchases a product or service from a merchant who has contracted with us, an alhance partner or a processing
customer When the merchant swipes the card through the POS device (which 15 often sold or leased, and serviced by us), we obtain authonzation for the
transaction from the card 15suer through the payment or debit network, venfying that the cardholder has sufficient credit or adequate funds for the transaction
Once the card 1ssuer approves the transaction, we or the ailiance acquire the transaction from the merchant and then transmut 1t to the applicable payment or
debit network, which then routes the transaction information to the card 1ssuer Upon receipt of the transaction, the card 1ssuer delivers funds to us via the
payment or debit network Generally, we fund the merchant afier receiving the moncy from the payment or debit network Lach participant in the transacuion
recerves compensation for processing the transaction For example, 1n a credit card transaction using a VISA or MasterCard for $100 00 wath an titerchange
rate of | 5%, the card 15s5uer will fund the payment network $98 50 and bill the cardholder $100 00 on their monthly statement The card network wall retain
assessment fees of approximately $0 10 and forward $98 40 to us We will retain, for example, $0 40 and pay the merchant $98 00 The $1 50 retained by the
card 1ssuer 1s refemed to as interchange and it, like assessment fees, 1s set by the card network The $0 40 we recerve represents our spread on the transaction,
and 15 negotiated between the merchant and us \
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We and our alliances, as merchant acquirers/processors, have certain contingent habilities for the transactions acquired from merchants Thes contingent
lLiability anses in the event of a billing dispute between the merchant and a cardholder that 15 ultrmately resotved in the cardholder s favor In such a case, the
transaction 1S charged back™ to the merchant and the disputed amount 15 credited or otherwise refunded to the cardholder We may, however, collect this
amount from the card network 1f the amount was disputed in error [f we or the alliance ts unable to collect this amount from the merchant, due to the
merchant's insalvency or other reasons, we or the alliance wall bear the loss for the amount of the refund pa:d to the cardholder In most cases, this contingent
lLiability situation 1s unlikely to anse because most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits are 1ssued on retumed tems However,
where the product or service 15 not provided until sometime following the purchase (e g , awrline or cruise shup tickets), the nisk 1s greater We often nutigate
our nsk by obtaimng collateral from merchants that are considered higher nsk because they have a time delay in the delivery of services, operate 1n industnes
that expenence chargebacks or are less creditworthy

Prepaid services First Data Prepaid Services manages prepad stored-value card 1ssuance and processing services (1 ¢ gift cards) for retailers and others The
full-service stored-vatue/gift card program offers transaction processing services, card 1ssuance, and customer service for over 200 national brands and several
thousand smatl and nud-tier merchants We also provide program management and processing services for association-branded, bank-issued, open loop (a
card that can be used at multiple merchants), stored-value, reloadable, and one time prepaid card products Revenues are generated from a vanety of sources
including processing fees for transactions processed and fees for card production and shipments

Money Network offers prepaid products to address the needs of employers, employees, merchants, and unbanked individuals Money Network provides open
loop electronic payroll distnbution solutions that reduce or eliminate an employer's expense associated with traditienal paper paychecks as well as other
prepaid retail solutions Revenues are generated from a vanety of sources including network interchange revenue from use of cards and centain cardholder
transaction fees

Check verification settlement and guarantee services TeleCheck offerscheck venfication, settlement, and guarantee services using our propnetary database«
system lo assist merchants in deciding whether accepting checks at the POS 15 a reasonable nisk, or, further, to guarantee checks presented to merchants 1f they
are approved These services include nisk management services, which utilize software, information, and analysis to assist the merchant in the decision
process and include identity fraud prevention and reduction Revenues are eamned by charging merchant fees for check venfication or guarantee services

1

The majonty of aur services involve providing check guarantee services for checks received by merchants Under the guarantce service, when a merchant
recetves a check as payment for goods and scrvices, the transaction 1s submitted to and analyzed by us We either accept or decline the check for warmmanty
coverage under our guarantee service If we approve the check for warranty coverage and the merchant accepts the check, the merchant wall either deposit the
check in 1ts bank account or process it for settlement through our Electronie Check Acceptance service [fthe check 1s retumed unpaid by the merchant’s

bank and the retumed check meets the requirements for wamranty coverage, we are required to purchase the check from the merchant at its face value We then -
own the purchased check and pursue collection of the check from the check writer As a result, we bear the nisk of loss 1f we are unable to collect the returned -
check from the check writer We cam a fee for each check we guarantee, which generally 1s determuned as a percentage of the check amount

Electronic Check Accepiance service convents a paper check wntten at the POS into an electronic item and enables funds to be deposited electronically to the
merchant’s account and deducted electronically from the check wnter’s account

Uinder the venfication service, when a merchant receives a check in payment for goods or services, the transaction 1s submatted to and anzlyzed by us We will
cither recommend the merchant accept or decline the check [fthe merchant accepis the cheek, the merchant wall deposit the check 1n 1ts bank account Ifthe
check 15 retumed unpaid by the merchant's bank, we are not required to purchase the check from the merchant and the merchant bears all nsk of loss on the
check We eam a fee for each check submutted for venfication, which 1s generally a fixed amount per check

Merchant Solutions segment competrtton Our Merchant Solutions business competes with several third-party processors and financial insututions that
provide these services to thewr merchant customers in the US In many cases, our merchant alliances also compete against each other for the same business
The check guarantee and venfication products compete pnincipally with the products of one other national competitor as well as the migration to other non-
check products : v
The most significant competitive factors relate to price, brand, strength of financial institution partnership, breadth of features and funcuonality, scalability,

and servicing capability The Merchant Solutions segmeat 18 further impacted by targe merchant and large bank consohdation, card network business model
expansion, and the creation of new payment methods and devices




In the Merchant Solutions scgment, the card payment networks—WVISA, MasierCard, and 1ssuers/networks—Amencan Express and Discover—are
increasingly offering products and services that compete with our suite of solutions

Merchant Soluiions seasonality Merchant Selutions’ revenues and eamings are impacted by the volume of consumer usage of credit cards, debit cards, stored
value cards, and checks wntten at the POS Merchant Solutions generally expenences increased POS activity dunng the traditional holiday shopping penod
tn the fourth quarter, the back-to-school buying penod in the third quarter, and significant holidays

Merchanst Solutions geagraphic mix and revenues Revenues from extemal customers for the Merchant Solutions segment are substantially all eamed 1n the
US Merchant revenues outside of the U S are generally managed and reported by our Intemauonal segment Within the U S, revenues from external
customers are spread across the country because Merchant Solutions has merchant customers and alliance partners across geographic regions and a large
percentage of its transactions oceur at national merchants

Merchant Solutions acqusitions We have recently made the following acquisitions and product developments

Clover™ In 2012, we acquired Clover Network, [nc {Clover), a provider of payment network services In 2013 we unveiled Clover Station—a reliable and
easy to use POS and business management solution for merchants With secunty and reliability coupled wath the flexibility of cloud-based stomge, Clover
Station 1s a comprehensive solution with respect to meeting SMB owners’ needs

Perka™ In 2013, we acqurred Perka, Inc (Perka), a mobile marketing and consumer loyalty platform that helps small to medium-sized merchants engage ther
customers with location-based smartphone applications Perka 1s an easy-to-use altemative to paper-punch cards Business owners can dehver custom
messages and special offers directly to customers” phones that cncourage repeat visits and additional sales

Gyft™ In 2014, we acquired Gyft, Inc (Gyft), the leading digital platforr that enables consumers to buy, send, manage, and redeem gift cards using mobile
devices Gyft's exceptional capabihities, combined with our long-standing leadership 1n prepaid solutions, create a distinct combination in a rapidly growing
market for vintual gift cards

Financizl Services segment

The Financial Services segment 15 compnsed of

{1} credit and retail card processing services,

(2) debit network and processing services,

(3) output services, and
(4) other services mncluding remittance processing

The following table presents Financial Services information as a percentage of total segment and All Other and Corporate

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Ségmem revenues from external customers A 20% 20% 20%
Segment EBITDA 28% 25% 25%
Assets (as of December 31) 12% 12% 12%

Description of Financial Services segment operations Financial Services provides issuer card and network solutions for credit, retail, and debit card
processing, debit network services (including the STAR network), output services to financial insututions and other organizations offenng credit, debit, and
retail cards to consumers and businesses to manage customer cards Financial Services atso provides PIN debit network services through the STAR Network
which enables PIN-secured debit transaction acceptance at over 2 million automated teller machine (ATM)and retad device locations in the US asof
December 31,2014 Financial Services alse offers payment management solutions for recumng bill payment and services to improve customer
communtcations, billing, online banking, and consumer bill payment Revenue and profit growth comes pnmanly from an
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increase in debit and credit card usage, growth from existing chents and sales to new clients, and the related account conversions

The Financial Services segment had more than 3,500 domestic chent relationships We have relationships and many long-term customer contracts wath card
1ssuers providing credit and retail card processing, output services for pnnting and embossing items, debit card processing services, and STAR Network
services These contracts generally require a notice penod before the end of the contract 1f a client chooses not to renew Additionally, some contracts may
allow for early termunation upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change 1o control The termination fees paid upon the occurrence of such events
are designed prnmanly to cover balance sheet exposure related to 1tems such as capitalized conversion costs or signing bonuses associated with the contract
and, 1n some cases, may cover a portion of lost future revenue and profit Although these contracts may be terminated upon certain occurrences, the contracts
provide the segment with a steady revenue stream since a vast majonty of the contracts are honored through the contracted expiration date

Credit and retail card 1ssutng and processing services Credit and retail card 1ssuing and processing services provide outsourcing services to financial
instituttons and other 1ssuers of cards, such as consumer finance companies and retatlers Financial Services chents include a wide vanety of banks, savings
and loan associations, group service providers, retailers, and credit umons Services provided include, ameng other things, account maintenance, transaction
authonzing and posting, fraud, and nsk management services and settlement

We provide services throughout the pernod of each card’s use, starting from a card 1ssuing client processing an application for a card Services may nclude

processing the card application, imtiating service for the cardholder, processing each card transaction for the 1ssuing retailer or financial institution, and

accumulating the card's transactions into monthly billing statement, and posting cardholder payments Our frand management services monitor the

unauthonzed use of cards that have been reported to be lost, stolen, or which excced credit hmuts Our fraud detection systems help idenufy fraudulent

transactions by monitonng cardholders' purchasing pattems and flagging unusual purchases Other services provided include custormized communications to

cardholders, information venfication associated with granting credit, debt collection, and customer service
R - N

Revenues for credit and retatl card 1ssuing and processing services are denved from fees payable under contracts that depend pnmanly on the number of

cardholder accounts on file More revenue 1s denved from active accounts (those accounts on file that had a balance or any monetary posting or authorization

activity dunng the penod) than mactive accounts
e L

Debs network and processing services We provide STAR Network access, PIN-debit and signature debit card processing services, and ATM processing

services, such as transactton routing, authonzation, and settlement as well as ATM management and monitoning The STAR Network represents a debit

network that 1s connected to thousands of financial institutions, merchants, payment processors, ATM processors, and card processors that participate in the

network When a merchant acquirer or ATM owner acquires a STAR Network transaction, it sends the transaction to the network switch, which ts operated by

us, which 1n turn routes the transaction to the appropnate participating financial institution for authonzation To be routed through the STAR Network, a 1

transaction must be initiated wath a card participaung wn the STAR Network at an ATM or POS device also participating in the STAR Network STAR

Network’s fees differ from those presented 1n the example above n the Merchant Solutions segment description Fees for PIN-debit transactions are generally

lower than those conducted through other customer authentication methods due to the lower amount of nisk 1n the transaction

Revenues related to the STAR Network and debit card and ATM processing services are denved from fees payable under contracts but are dniven more by
monetary transactions processed than by accounts on file We provide services that are dnven by client transactions and are separately pnced and negotiated
with chents [n a situation 1n which a PIN-secured debit transaction uses our debit network and we are the debit card processor for the financial instituuon as
well as the processor for the merchant, we receive (1) a fee from the card 1ssuing financial institution for unning the transaction through the STAR Network,
recognized in the Financial Services segment, (2) a fec from the card 1ssuer for obtaining the authonzation, recogmzed 1n the Financial Services segment,

(3) a fee from the merchant for acquining the transaction, which 1s recognized n the Merchant Solutions segment, and (4) a network acquirer fee from the
merchant for accessing the STAR Network, which 1s recognized in the Financial Services segment There are other possible configurations of transactions that
result in us receiving multiple fees for a transaction, depending on the role we play

Qutpu! services Quiput services consist of statement and letter pnoting, card embossing, chip card personalization, and mailing services Services are

provided to clients that process accounts on our platform as descnbed above and for chents that process accounts on altemative platforms We provide these :
services pnmarily through in-house facilities Revenues for output services are derived prumanly on a per prece basis and consist of fees for the production

and matenals related to finished products The mailing services drive a majority of our postage revenue |




Orlter services Other services consist of our remittance processing, online banking and bill payment services, and Interactive Voice Response (TVR) services
The remutiance processing business processes mail-tn payments for third-panty organizations Revenucs for rerittance processing services are derrved
primarily on a per transaction basis and consist of fees for processing consumer and business payments Other services consist pnmanly of online banking
and bill payment services and voice services

Fnancial Services segment compention Our Financial Services segment competes with several other third-party card processors and debit networks 1n the
U 3, as well as financial insututions with tn-house operatrons to manage card 1ssuance and maintenance We also face signtficant competition from regional
and national operators of debit networks

The most significant compenitive factors are price, system performance and reliability, breadth of features and functionality, disaster recovery capabilities and
business continuity preparedness, data secunty, scalability, and flexibility of infrastructure and servicing capability The Financial Services business 1s
impacted by financial institunion consolidanion

In the Financial Services segment, the payment networks—VISA, MasterCard, and 1ssuers/networks-Amencan Express and Discover—are mcreasingly
offering products and services that compete with our products and services

Financial Services seasonafity Financial Services revenues and eamings are impacted by the volume of consumer usage of credut, retail, and debit cards
Such volumes are generally impacted by increased activity dunng the traditional holiday shopping penod 1n the fourth quarter, the back-to-school buying
penod in the third quarter, and sigmificant hohidays

Frnancial Services geographic mix and revenues Revenues from extemal customers tor the Financial Services scgment are substantially all camed in the
US Card 1ssuing revenues outside of the U S are reported by our Intemational segment Within the U S, revenues from external customers are
geographically dispersed throughout the country
International segment
The intemational segment 1s compnsed of

= credt, retail, debit, and prepaid card processing,

« merchant acquinng and processing, and

+  ATM and POS processing, acquinng, and switching services

The following table presents Intermational information as a percentage of total segment and All Other and Corporate

Year ended December 31,

2014 2003 2012
Segment revenues from extemal ¢customers 26% 25% 25%
Segment EBITDA 20% 19% 20%
Assets {as of December 31) 14% 15% 14%

International has operations in 33 countries The Intemational acquinng services facilitate the merchants’ abihity to accept credat, debit, and stored-value
cards The segment’s merchant processing and acquinng services include authonzation, transaction capture, settlement, chargeback handling, and Internet
based transaction processing and are the largest component of the segment's revenue

The International 1ssuing services provide i1ssuer card, output services, ATM services, and professional services Issuercard and netwerk solutions includes
credit, retail, and debit card processing for firancial institutions and other orgamizations offening credit cards, debit cards and retail private label cards to
consumers and businesses to manage customer accounts Qutput services include statement and letter pnnting, embossing and mailing services, and call
center services ATM services include processing, acquining, and switching serviees Additionally, the International 1ssutng services provide licensing for
card processing software, and professional services

The Intemational segment revenue dnvers are stmilar to the Merchant Solutions and Financial Services segments descnibed above The Intemational
acquinng services revenues are driven most significantly by the number of transactions, dollar volumes of those transactions and trends 1n consumer
spending The Intemational 1ssuing services revenues forissuer card and network solutions are dnven pnmanly by accounts on file, wath active accounts
having a larger impact on revenue than inactive
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accounts Additionally, the intemational segment revenuc is impacted by foreign exchange rate movements as well as the macroeconomic forces within
countnes where the services are being sold

International segment competition and seasonalrty Competition and seasonality withun the International segment are similar to that of the Merchant
Solutions and Financial Services segments for the respective product and service offenags A noted difference from the US operations s that generally there
are a greater number of competitors, and smaller ones i particular, due to the Intematonal segment’s global span

International geographic mix The following countnes accounted for more than 10% of the segment’s revenues from extemal customers for the penods
presented

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
'United Kingdom 20% 17% 17%
Austraha 10% 12% 15%
Germany 12% 12% 12%

No mndividual international country was matenal 1o our consehdated revenues
All Other and Corporate

The remainder of our business umis are grouped 10 the All Otherand Corporate category, which meludes Integrated Payment Systems (IPS), First Data
Govemment Solutions (FDGS), and smaller businesses as well as corporate operations

IPS pnmanly engages in money transmission services Histoncally, the pnncipal [PS business was official check services Unt:l May 2010, IPS issued official
checks, which were sold by agents that were financial institutions Official cheeks served as an altefnative to a bank's own 1tems such as cashiers or bank
checks We have exited the official check line of business, yet continue to support these outstanding payment instruments until they are presented for
payment, or are escheated to local governments The majornty of the clients of this business deconverted during 2008 and there was no new official check and
money order business beyond May 2010 IPS will continue to use 1ts licenses to offer payment services that fall under state and federal regulations

FDGS operates-payment systems and related technologies in the govermment sector Forinstance, FDGS provides electronic tax payment processing services
for the Electronic Federal Tax Payment System

Corporate operations include administrative and shared service functions such as the executive group, legal, tax, treasury, intermal audit, finance, accounting,
human resources, informatien technology, and procurement Costs incurred by Corporate that are directiy related to a segment are allocated to the respective
segment Administrative and shared service costs are retained by Cormporate

All Other and Corporate competition The operations within All Other and Corporate have vanous competitors No single competitor would have a matenal
1mpact on our operations

All Other and Corporate significant customers Dunng 2014, we had a sigmificant retationship with one client whose revenues represented approximately
50% of All Other and Corporate revenue for the yearended December 31,2014

Intellectual Property

L
We own a global portfolio of many trademarks, trade names, patents, and other intellectual property that are important to our future success The only
intellectual property rights that are individually matenal to us are the FIRST DATA trademark and trade name, and the STAR trademark and trade name The
STAR trademark and trade name are used in the Financial Services segment The FIRST DATA trademark and trade name are associated with qualety and
reliable electronic commerce and payments solutions Financial institutions and merchants assoctate the STAR trademark and trade name with quality and
reliable debit network services and processing services Loss of the propnetary use of the FIRST DATA or STAR trademarks and trade names or a diminution
in the percerved quality associated with these names could harm the growth of our businesses
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Employces and Labor

As of December 31,2014, we employed approximately 23,000 persans, approximately 97% of which were full-time employees The majonty of the
employees of our subsidianes outside of the U S are subject to the terms of individual employment agreements One of aur wholly owned subsidianes has
approximately 1,600 employees in the United Kingdom, a portion of whom are members of the Unite trade nmion Employees of our subsidianes 1n Vienna,
Austna, Frankfurt, Germany, and Niimberg, Germany are also represented by local works councils The Vienna work force and a portion of the Frankfurt
workforce are also covered by a union contract Certzin employees of our Korean subsidiary are represented by a Labor-Management council In Brazil every
single employee 15 unionized and covered by the terms of industry-specific collective agreements Employees in certain other countnes are also covered by
the terms of industry-specific nationat collective agreements None of our employees are otherwise represented by any labor otganization in the US We
believe that our relations wath our employees and the labor organizations identified above are 1n good standing

Available informanon

Cur pnncipal executive offices are located at 225 Libenty Street, 29th Floor, New York, NY 10281, telephone (800) 735-3362 Cur annual report on Form 10-

K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports are available friee of charge to shareholders and other

tnterested parties through the “Investor Relations” portion of our website at http /investor firstdata com as soon as reasonably practical afier they are filed

with the Secunties and Exchange Commission (SEC) The SEC maintains a website, www sec gov, which contains reports and other information filed

electronically with the SEC by us Various cormporate govemance documents, including our Audit Commuttee Charter, Govemnance, Compensation and

Nominations Committee Charter, and Code of Ethics for Sentor Financial Officers are available without charge through the  About Us™ “Investor Relations™
Corporate Govemance” portion of our investor relations website, histed above

Government Regulations -
Vanous aspects of our service areas are subject to U S federal, state, and local regulanon, as well as regulation outside the US Failure to comply with
regulations may result 1n the suspension or revocation of licenses or registrations, the limitation, suspension or termination of service, and/or the umposition
of civil and cnmunal penalties, including fines Centain of our services also are subject to rules promulgated by vanous payment networks and banking
authornties as more fully descrnibed below

Dodd-Frank Act In July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act) was signed 1nto lawin the U S
The Dodd-Frank Act has resulted 1n sigmificant structural and other ¢changes to the regulation of the financial services industry Among other things, Title X
ofthe Dodd-Frank Act established a new, independent regulatory agency known as the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau to regulate consumer financial
products and services (including some offered by our customers) Separately, under the Dodd-Frank Act, debit interchange transaction fees that a card 1ssuer
recerves and that are established by a payment card network for an electronic debit transaction are now regulated by the Federal Reserve Board (Board) and
must be “reasonable and propertional” to the cost incumed by the card 15suer 1n authonzing, cleanng, and setthng the transaction Effective October 1, 2011,
the Board capped debat interchange rates for card 1ssuers operating in the US wath assets of $10 billion ar more at the sum of 30 21 per transaction and an ad
valorem component of 5 basis points to reflect a portion of the issuer’s fraud lasses plus, for qualifying issuers, an additional $0 01 per transaction 1n debit
nterchange for fraud prevention costs In addition, the new regulations contain non-exclusivity provisions that ban debit payment card networks from
prohubiting an 1ssuer from contracting with any other payment card network that may process an clectronic debit transaction involving an 1ssuer’s debit cards
and prohibit card 1ssuers and payment networks from inhubiting the abihity of merchants ta direct the routing of debit cand transactions over any network that
can process the transaction Beginning Apnil 1, 2012, all debit card issuers in the U S were required to participate in at least two unaffihated debit payment
card networks On Apnl 1, 2013, the ban on network exclusivity armangements became effective for prepaid card and healthcare debat card 155uers, wath some
leeway for prepaid cards 1ssued before that date

Effective July 22, 2010, merchants were allowed to set mumumum dollar amounts (not to exceed §10) for the acceptance of a credit card (white federal
govemnmental entities and 1nstitutions of higher education may set maximum amounts for the acceptance of credit cards) They were also allowed to provide
discounts or incentives to entice consumers to pay wath an altemative payment method, such as cash, checks ordebit cards In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act
created a new entity, the Financial Stability Oversight Council, and authortzes it to require that a nonbank financial company that 1s deemed to pose 2
systemuc nsk to the US financial system become subject to consolidated, pradenuial supervision by the Board At this point 1t 1s unclear whether we would
be subject to additional systenme nsk related oversight




Association and network rules We are subject to rules of MasterCard, Visa, INTERAC, PULSE, and other payment networks In order to provide processing
services, a number of our subsidianes are registercd with Visa and/or MasterCard as service providers for memberinstitutions Various subsidianes of ours are
also processor level members of numerous debit and electronic benefits transaction (EBT) networks or are otherwise subject to vanous network rules in
connection with processing services and other services we provide As such, we are subject to applicable card association, network, and national scheme rules
that could subject us to fines or penalties We are also subject to network operating rules promulgated by the National Avtomated Cleanng House
Assoctation (NACHA) relaung to payment transactions processed by us using the Automated Clearing House (ACH) Network and to vanous state and Federal
faws regarding such operauons, including laws pertaiming to EBT

Casheard Australia Limited (Cashcard) 1s a member of the Australian Consumer Electronic Cleanng System (CECS), which 1s a debit payment system
regulated by network operating rules established and admuimistered by Australtan Payments Cleanng Association Limited, and 15 a member of the ATM
Access Australia Limuted and the efipos® Access Australia Limited that respectively admunisters reciprocal access and interchange arrangements for ATMs
and Electronic Funds Transfer at Point of Sale (eftpos®) in Austraha The network operating rules, ATM Access Code and eflpos® Access Code impose a
vanety of sanctions, including suspension or termunation of membership and fines for non-compliance Cashcard also operates its own network of members,
regulated by nules promulgated by Cashcard To enable Cashcard to settle in CECS direct wath banks and financial institwtions, Cashcard mzaintains an
Exchange Settlement Account (ESA) which 15 supervised by the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), and that requires Cashcard to adhere to conditions
imposed by RBA

Our subsidiary 1n Germany, TeleCash GmbH & Co KG, 1s certified and regulated as a processor for demestic German debit card transactions by the Deutsche
Kreditwirtschaft {(DK), the German banking association Failure to comply with the techmeal requirements set forth by the DK may result in suspension or
termination of services

Banking regulation Because a number of our subsidiary businesses provide data processing services for financial mstitutions, we are subject to examsnation
by the Federal Financial Inshitutions Examination Counal (FFIEC) The FFIEC exanunes large data processors in order to identify and mitigate nsks
assoclated with significant service providers

FPR Limited (FDRL) 1n thetUnited Kingdom 15 authonzed and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authonty (FCA), the regulatory authonity for the full
range of financial services in the United Kingdom FDRL 1s authonzed by the FCA to camry on an insurance mediation business for the purpose of amanging
insurance 1o 1ts 1ssuer customers’ cardholders and 1s required to meet certain prudential and conduct of bustness requirements

As a result of the implementation of the Payment Services Directive 2007/66 EC in the European Union, a number of our subsidianes in the Intemational
segment hold Payment Institution Licenses in the countnies where such subsidianes do business As Payment Institutions, we are subject to regulation and
oversight in the applicable member state, which includes amongst other things, the requirement to maintain specified regulatory capital

First Data Trust Company, LLC (FDTC) engages in trust activities previously conducted by the trust department of a former banking subsidiary of curs and 1s
subject to regulation, examnation, and oversight by the Division of Banking of the Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies Since FDTCisnota
“bank™ under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (BHCA), our affihation wath FDTC does not cause us to be regulated as a bank holding
company or financial holding company underthe BHCA

TeleCheck Payment Systems Limited (TPSL) in Austrahia holds an Australian Financial Services License under Chapter 7 of the Austrahan Corporations Act
2001, which regutates the provision of a broad range of financial services in Ausimha The hicense, 1ssued by the Austrahian Secunties and [nvestments
Commussion, entitles the Australian operations of TPSL to deal in and provide general financial product advice about 1ts check guarantee and check
venfication product and requires that TPSL's Austrahian operations 1ssue product documents that comply with specific content requirements and follow
prescnibed procedures

Funther, 1n our Intemational segment, several subsidianes provide services such as factonng or settlement that make them subject to regulation by local
banking agencies, including the National Bank of Slovakia, the National Bank of Poland and the German Federal Financial Supervision Agency

Privacy and mformation security regulatdons We provide services that may be subject to various state, federal, and foreign privacy laws and regulations,
including Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and Directive 95/46/EC, the Australian Pnivacy Act, the Personal Information Protection and Electromic Documents Act
1n Canada, the Personal Data (Pnvacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Malaysian Data Protection Act 2010, and the Singapore Data Protection Act 2012
These laws and their
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implementing regulations restrict certain collection, processing, storage, use, and disclosure of personal information, require notice to individuals of privacy
practices, and provide individuals with certain nghts to prevent usc and disclosure of protected information These laws also 1mpose requirements for the
safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information through the 1ssuance of data security standards or guidehnes Certain federal and state laws
impose simlar pnvacy obligations and, 1n certain circumstances, obligations to notify affected individuals, state officers, the media, and consumer reporuing
agencies, as well as businesses and governmental agencies that own the informatien, of secunty breaches affecting persenal information In addition, there are
state laws restricting the ability to collect and utilize certain types of information such as Social Secunty and dnver’s license numbers

Credit reporting and debt collections regulations TeleCheck 1s subject to the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act and various sinular state laws based on
TeleCheck’s matntenance of a database contaiming the check-wnting histones of consumers and the use of that information 1n connection with 1ts check
venficauon and guarantee services

The collection business within TRS Recovery Services, Inc {TRS) 15 subject to the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and vanous sitular state laws
TRS has licenses in a number of states 1n order to engage n collection 1n those states In the United Kingdem, FDRL has a license under the Consumer Credit
Act of 1974 (CCA) to enable 1t to undertake, among other things, credit adminsstration and debt collections activities on behalf of its card 1ssuing customers
through calls and correspondence with the cardholders FDRL 15 alsa licensed under the CCA to carmry on the activity of a consumer hure business for the
purpose of leasing devices to merchants

TeleCheck and TRS are subject to regulation, supervision, and exammation from the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Further regulations may be
impased 1n the future as state govermnments and federal agencies identify and consider supplementary consumer financial protection, including laws
regulating activities with respect to current or emerging technology such as automated dialers or pre-recorded messaging or calls to cellular phones, whech
could impair the collectron by TRS of retumed checks and those purchased under TeleCheck's guarantee services Morcover, reducing or eliminating access
to and use of information on dnvers licenses, requiring blocking of access to credit reports or scores, mandating score or sconng methedology disclosure and
proscnbing the maintenance or use of consumer databases could reduce the effectiveness of TeteCheck’s nsk management rools or otherwise increase its
costs of doing business

In addition, several subsidianes 1o our International segment are subject o comparable local laws regarding collection activities and obtaining credit reports

Anti-money laundering and counter terrorist regulation We are subject to anti-money laundenng laws and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act, as
amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 {collectively, BSA) The BSA, among other things, requires money services bustnesses (such as money
transmutters, 1ssuers of money orders and official checks, and providers of prepard access) to develop and implement nsk-based anti-money laundenng
programs, report large cash transactions and suspicious acuvity, and to maintain transaction records Qur substdiary Money Network Financial LLC 1sa
provider of prepaid access for vanous open loop prepaid programs for which 1t 1s the program manager and therefore must meet the requirements of the
Financial Cnmes Enforcement Network, the agency that enforces the BSA

We are also subject to certain economic and trade sanctions programs that are administered by the Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control
(OFAC) which prohibit or restrict transactions to or from or dealings with specified countnes, their govemments, and 1n certain circumstances, their nationals,
and with individuals and entities that are specially-designated nationals of those countnes, narcotics traffickers, and temonsts or temonst orgamzations

Sirmlar anti-money laundenng and counter terronst financing and proceeds of enme laws apply to movements of currency and payments through electrorie
transactions and to dealings with persons specified 1n hists mamtamed by the country equivalents to the OFAC lists in several other countnes and requere
specific data retention obhigations to be observed by intermedianes in the payment process Our businesses in those junsdictions are subject to those data
retention obhgations

Money transmission and payment instrument licensing and regulatton We are subject to vanous U S federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations
goveming money transmussion and the 1ssuance and sale of payment instruments, including some of our prepaid products

v A
In the U S, most states license money transmitters and 1ssuers of payment instruments Many states exercise authonty over the operations of our services
related to money transmission and payment instruments and, as part ofthis authonty, subject us to penodic examinations Many states require, among other
things, that proceeds from money transmission activity and payment tnstrument sales be invested m high-quality marketable secunties before the setilement
ofthe transactions Such licensing laws also may cover matters such as regulatory approval of consumer forms, consumer disclosures and the filing of
penodic reporls
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by the hicensee, and require the licensec to demonstrate and maintain levels of net worth Many states also require money transimiters, 1ssuers of payment
instruments, and their agents to comply with faderal and/or state anti-money laendenng laws and regulations

Escheat regulattons We are subject to unclaimed or abandoned property (escheat) laws in the U § and abroad that require us to tum over to certain
government authanties the property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified penod of ime such as, m the Integrated Payment Systems
business, payment 1nstruments that have not been presented for paymeat or, tn the Merchant Solutions segment, account balances that cannot be retumed to a
merchant following discontinuauon of its relatronship with us A number of our subsidianes hold property subject to escheat laws and we have an ongoing
program to comply with those laws We are subject to audit by individual U S states with regard to our escheatment practices

Indirect Regulatory Requirements A number of our clients are financial institutions that are directly subject to vanous regulattons and compliance
obligations 1ssued by the Consumer Financial Protectton Bureau, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and other agencies responsible for regulating
financial instrtutions Whale these regulatory requirements and compliance obligations do not apply directly to us, many of these requirements matenally
affect the services we provide to our clients and us overall To remain competitive, we expend significant resources to assist our clients in meeting their
vanous comphiance oblhigations, including the cost of updating our systems and services as necessary to allow our clients to comply with applicable laws and
regulations, and the cost of dedicating sufficient resources to assist ourchients in meeting their new and enhanced oversight and audit requirements
established by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, the Office ofthe Comptroller of the Currency, and others We expect to expend significant
resources on an ongoing basis in an effort te assist our chients 1n meeting their legal requirements

Other Stored-valuc scrvices we offer to 1ssuers i the U S and intemationally are subject to vanous federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations, which
may nclude laws and regulations related to consumer and data protection, licensing, escheat, anti-money laundenng, banking, trade practices and
competiton, and wage and employment These laws and regulations are cvolving, unclear, and sometimes inconsistent and subject to judicial and regulatory
challenge and interpretation, and theretore the extent to which these laws and rules have applicatron to, and therr impact on, us, financial institutions,
merchants or others 1s 1n flux At this time we are unable to determine the impact that the clanfication of these laws and their future interpretations, as well as
new laws, may have on us, financial institutions, merchants or others 1n a number of junsdictions These services may also be subject to the nules and
regulations of the vanous intemational, domestic and regional schemes, networks, and associations 1n which we and the card 1ssuers panicipate

r "
In addition, the Housing Assistance Tax Act of 2008 included an amendment to the Intemal Revenue Code that requires informatton retums to be made for
each calendar year by merchant acquiring entities and third-party settlement organizations with respect to payments made 1n settlement of payment card
transactions and third-party payment network transactions occumng in that calendar year Repontable transactrons are also subject to backup withholding
requirements We could be Liable for penalties 1f we are not 1n compliance with these regulations
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ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS

The following are certain nsks that could affect our business and our results of operations The nsks 1dentified below are not all encompassing but should be
considered 1n establishing an opinion of cur future operations

Business and Operational Risks

Our abilnty to anticipate and respond to changing industry and customer needs or trends may affect our competitiveness or demand for our products, whrch
may adversely affect our operating results

Changes in technology may limit the competitiveness of and demand for our services Our businesses operate in industnes that are subject to technological
advancements, new competitors, developing industry standards, and changing customer needs and preferences Also, our customers continue to adopt new
technology for business and personal uses We must anticipate and respond 10 these industry and customer changes in order to remain competiive within our
relauve markets For example, our ability to provide innovative point-of-sale technology to our merchant customers could have an impact on our
Internationat and Merchant Selutions business Furthermore, customers' potential negative reaction to our products and services can spread quickly through
social media and damage our reputation before we have the apportunity to respond

Security breaches or attacks of our systems may have a stgnificant effect on our business

In order to provide our services, we process and store sensitive business information and personal consumer information 1n order to proyvide our services The
confidentiality of the customer/consumer information that resides on our systems 15 cntieal o the successful operations of our business We have what we
deem to be sufficient secunty around the system to prevent unauthonzed access to the system However, our posttion in the global payments industry may
attract hackers to conduet attacks on our systems that could compromise the security of our data In additien, the increasing sophistication level of cyber
cnminals may increase the nsk of a secunty breach of our systems A breach of our products or systems processing or sioring sensitive business information ot
personal consumer information could lead to claumsagainst us, reputational damage, loss of customers confidence, as well as imposition of fines and
damages, all of which could have a matenal adverse effect on our revenues, profitability, and future growth In additton, as secunty threats continue to evolve
we may be required to invest additional resources to modify the secunty of our systems, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial
condition

We depend, in part, on our merchani relationships and alliances fo grow our Merchant Solutions business If we are unable to maintain these relationships
and alliances, our business may be adversely affected

Our alhance structures take on different forms, including consolidated subsidianes, equity method tnvestments, and revenue shaning amangements Under the
alhance program, a bank or other institution form an alliance with us, either contractually or through a separate legal entity Merchant contracts may be
contnbuted to the alliance by us and/or the bank or mnstitution The banks and otherinstitutions generally provide card association sponsorship, clearing,
and settlement services These institutions typically act as a merchant referral source when the mstitution has an existing banking or other relationship We
provide transaction processing and related functions Both alliance partners may provide management, sales, marketing, and other administrative services
The alliance structure allows us to be the processor for muluple financial institutions, any one of which may be sclected by the merchant as ther bank
partner We rely on the continuing growth of our merchant relationships, alliances, and other distnbution channels There can be no guarantec that this
growth wall continue The loss of merchant relationships oralliance and financial institution panners could negatively impact our business and resultin a
reduction of our revenue and profit

The market for our electronic commerce services is evoiving and may not continue to develop or grow raprdly enough for us to maintain and increase our
profitability ' '
[fthe number of electronic commerce transacuons does not continue to grow or 1f censumers or businesses do not continue to adopt our services, 1t could
have a matenal adverse cffect on the profitability of our business, financial condition, and results of operations We believe future growth 1n the electronic
commerce market wit! be dnven by the cost, ease-of-use, and quality of products and services offered to consumers and businesses In order to consistently
increase and maintawn our profitability, consumers and businesses must continue to adopt our services, 1ncluding our merchant sutte, Clover, Perka, and Gyft
solutions




The abiluty to recrust, retain and develop gualified personnel 1s critical to our success and growth,

All of our businesses function at the intersection of rapidly changing technological, social, economic, and regulatory developments that requires a wide
ranging set of expeniise and intellectual capital Forus to successfully compete and grow, we must retain, recruit, and develop the necessary personnel who
can provide the needed expertise across the entire spectrum of ourintellectual capital needs In addition, we must develop our personnel to provide
succession plans capable of maintasning continuity 1n the mudst of the 1nevitable unpredrctability of human capital However, the market for qualified
personnel 1s compelitive and we may not succeed 1n recnuting additional personnel or may fail to effectively replace cumment personnel who depan with
quahfied or effective successors Our effort to retain and develop personnel may also result 10 sigmificant additional expenses, which could adversely affect
our profitability We cannot assure that key personnel, including executive officers, wall continue to be employed or that we will be able to attract and retain
quahified personnel 1n the future Failure to retain or atiract key personnel could have a matenal adverse effect on us

Global economics, political and other conditons may adversely affect trends 1n consumer spending, which may adversely impact our revenue and
profitabuity

The global electronic payments industry depends heavily upon the overall level of consumer, business, and govemment spending A sustained detenoration
n the genetal econonc conditions, particularly 1n the Umted States or Europe, or increases in interest rates 1n key countnes in which we operate may
advensely affect our financial performance by reducing the number or average purchasec amount of transactions tnvoelving payment cards A reduction 1n the
amount of consumer spending could result in a decrease of our revenue and profits

A weakening in the economy could also force some retailers to close, resulting 1n exposure to potential credit losses and transaction dechnes and us earming
less on transactions due also to a potential shift to large discount merchants Additionally, credit card 1ssuers may reduce credit limits and be more selechive
with regard to which they 1ssue credit cards Changes in economic conditions could adversely impact our future revenues and profits and result in a
downgrade of our debt ratings which may lead to termination or modification of certain contracts and make ut more difficult for us to obtain new business

We are subject to the credit risk that sur merchants will be unable 1o satisfy obligations for which we may also be iable

We are subject to the credit nsk of our merchants bemg unable to sansfy obligations for which we may also be hable For example, our merchant acquinng
alliances along with us are contingently liable for transactions enginally acquired by us that are disputed by the cardholder and charged back to the
merchants If we or the alliance 1s unable to collect this amount from the merchant, due to the merchant’s insolvency or other reasons, we or the alliance will
bear the loss for the amount of the refund paid to the cardholder We have an active program to manage our credit nsk and often mitigaté our nsk by
obtaining collateral However, it 1s possible that a default on such obligations by one or more of our merchants could have a matenal adverse effect on our
business

Fraud by merchants ar others could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

We have potential liabtlity for fraudulent electronic payment transactions or credits initiated by merchants or others Examples of merchant fraud include
when a merchant or other party knowingly uses a stolen or counterfert credit, debit or prepaid card, card number or other credentials to record a false sales
transaction, processes an invalid card, or intentionally fails to deliver the merchandise or services sold 1n an otherwise valid transaction Crimunals are using
increasingly sophisticated methods to engage n 1llegal actrvities such as counterfeiting and fraud It 1s possible that incidents of fraud could increase 1n the
future Failure to effectively manage nsk and prevent fraud would increase our chargeback Liability or other hability Increases in chargebacks or ather
Liabihity could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations

We may experience breakdowns in outr processing systems that could demage customer relations and expose us to lrability

Qur care business depends heavily on the reliability of our processing systems A system outage could have a matenal adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations Not only would we suffer damage to our reputation in the event ofa system outage, but we may also be hable to
third paties Many of our contractual agreements with financial institutions require us to pay penalnies 1f our systems do not meet certain operating standards
To successfully operate our business, we must be able to protect our processing and other systems from interruption, including from events that may be
beyond our control Events that conld cause system interruptions inelude, but are not limuted to, fire, natural disaster,
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unauthenzed entry, power loss, telecommuntcations fatlure, computer viruses, terronist acts, and war Although we have taken steps to protect against data
loss and system failures, there 1s still sk that we may lose entical data or expenence system failures We perform the vast majonty of disaster recovery
aperations curselves, though we utihze select thurd parties for some aspects of recovery, particulady intemationally To the extent we outsource our disaster
recovery, we are at nsk of the vendor's unresponsiveness in the event of breakdowns in our systems In addition, our property and business interrupuion
msurance may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses or failures that may occur

We may experience software defects, computer viruses and development delays, which could damage customer relations, our potential profitability and
expose us to habriny

Our products are based on sophisticated software and computing systems that ofien encounter development delays, and the underlying software may contain
undetected errors, viruses or defects Defects in our software products and errors or delays in our processing of electronic transactions could result i
additional development costs, diversion of techmical and other resources from our other development efforts, loss of credibility with current or potential
customers, hamm to our reputation, or exposure to liability claims In addition, we rely on technologies supplied to us by third parties that may also contain
undetected errors, vireses or defects that could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of opertions Although we
attempt to liut our potential hability for warranty claims through disclaimers in our software documentation and hmtation-of-hability provisions in our
license and customer agreements, we cannot assure that these measures will be successfil in limiung our liabihity

Futnre consolidation of client fingncial institutions or other client groups may adversely affect our financial condition.

We have cxpenenced the negative impact of the substantial bank industry consolhidation in recent years Bank industry consolidation impacts exisuing and
potential clients in our service areas, pnmarnly 1n Financial Services and Merchant Solutions Our alhance strategy could be negatively impacted as a result
of consohdations, especially where the banks imnvolved are commutted to their intemal merchant processing businesses that compete with us Bank
consolidation has led to an increasingly concentrated client base, resulting 1n a changing client mix for Financial Services as well as increased pnce
compression Further consolidation 1o the bank industry or other chient base could have a negative impact on us, including a loss of revenue and pnce
COmMPpression

* *
Acquisiions and integranng such acquisitions create certan risks and may affect our operating results.

We have been an active business acquirer and may continue to be active in the future The acquisition and integration of businesses involves a number of
nisks The core nisks are 1n the areas of valuation {negotiating a fair price for the business) and integration (managing the complex process of integrating the
acquired company’s people, products, technology, and other assets to realize the projected value of the acquired company and the synergies projected to be
realized 1n connection with the acquisition) s

In additton, intemational acquisitions often involve additional orincreased nsks including, for example

. managing geographically separated o1gamzations, systems and facilities,

. tegrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds and organizational cultures,

. complying with foreign regulatory requirements,

. ﬂucluallons In cumrency cxchangc rates,

. enforcement of intellectual property nghts in some forcign countnes,

. difficulty entenng new foreign markets due to, among other things, customer acceptance and business knowledge of these new markets, and
. general economic and political conditions

The process of integrating operations could cause an intermuption of, or loss of momentum in, the acuvities of one or more of our combined businesses and
the possible loss of key personne! The diversion of management’s attention and any delays or difficulties encountered 1n connection with acquisinons and
the integration of the two companies’ operations could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects
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We rely on vartous financial institutions to previde clearing services in connection with our settfement activitres If we are unable to maintain clearing
services with these financial institutions and are unable to find a replacement, our business may be adversely affected

We rely on vartous financial institutions to provide cleaning services in connection with our settlement activities If such financial institutions should stop
providing cleaning services we must find other financial institutions to provide those services If we are unable to find a replacement financial 1nstitution we
may no lenger be able to provide processing services to certain customers, which ceuld negatively impact our revenue and earmings

Changes 1n card assoctation and debis network fees or products conld increase costs or otherwise limit our operanions.

From tme to time, card associations and debat networks increase the organization and/or processing fees (known as interchange fees) that they charge It1s
possible that competitive pressures will result in us absorbing a portion of such increases 1n the future, which would 1ncrease our operating costs, reduce our
profit margin, and adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition In addition, the rales and regulations of the vanous card
associations and networks prescnibe certain capital requirements Any increase in the capital level required would further hmit our use of capital for other
purposes

Our business may be adversely affected by risks associated with foreign aperations.

We are subject to nsks related to the changes 1n cumrency rates as a result of our investments in foreign operattons and from revenues generated 1n currencies
other than the U S dollar Revenue and profit generated by intemational operations wall increase or decrease compared to pnor penods as a result of changes
wn foreign currency exchange rates From time to time, we utilize foreign currency forward contracts or other denvative imstruments to mitigate the cash flow
or market value nsks associated wath foreign cumrency-denominated transactions However, these hedge contracts may not elimmnate all of the nsks related to
foreign currency translation In addition, we may become subject to exchange control regulations that restnict or prohibit the conversion of our other revenue
currencies into U S dollars The occurrence of any of these factars could decrease the value of revenues and eamings we denve from our intemational
operations and have a matenal adverse impact on our business

Financial Risks ! »

QOur substantial leverage could adversely affect our ability to raise additrional caprial to fund our operations, it our ability to react to changes in the
economy or our indusiry, expose us to 1nterest rate risk to the extent of our vanable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our debt obhigations

We are highly leveraged As of December 31, 2014, we had $20 9 billion of total debt Our ugh degree of leverage could have important consequences,
ncluding

. ncreasing our vulnerability to adverse economie, industry or competitive developments,

. requinug a substantial portton of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of pnncipal and interest on our indebtedness,
therefore reducing our ability to use cash flow to fund our operations, capital expenditures, and future business opportunities,

. making 1t more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations wath respect to our indebtedness, and any failure to comply with the obhigations of

our debt instruments, including restnctive covenants and bormowang counditions, could result in an event of default under the indenture
gaverning the notes and the agreements goverming such other indebtedness,

. restnicting us from making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures,

. making tt more difficult for us to obtain nctwork sponsorship and cleanng services from financial 1nstitutions or to obtain or retain other
business with financial institutions,

. limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working caputal, capital expenditures, product development, debt service
requirements, acquisitions, and general corporate or other purposes, and

. limuting our flexibility 1n planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or market conditions and placing us at a competiuve

disadvantage compared to our competitors who are less highly leveraged and who, therefore, may be able to take advantage of
opportunities that our leverage prevents us from exploiting

Qur senor secured revalving credit facality has $1 0 billion 1n commutments that mature in September 2016 We may not be able to refinance our sentor
secured credit facihitics or our other existing indebtedness because of our high levels of debt, debt incurrence restnctions under our debt agreements or
because of adverse conditions 1 credit markets generally




Increase in interest rates may negatively smpact our operating results and financial condition.

Certain of our berrowings, including borrowangs under our senior secured credit facilities to the extent the interest rate 1s not fixed by an interest rate swap,
are at vanable rates of interest An increase 1n interest rates would have a negative impact on our results of operations by causing an 1ncrease mn interest
expense

As of December 31, 2014, we had $8 6 billion aggregate pnncipal amount of vanable rate long-term 1ndebtedness, of which interest rate swaps fix the 1nterest
rate on $5 0 billton 1n notional amount We also had a $750 mullion fixed to floating swap to preserve the ratio of fixed and floating rate debt that we had
pnior to the Apnl 2011 debt modification and amendment As a result, as of December 31, 2014, the impact of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates
would ncrease our annual interest expense by approximately $44 mullion See the discussion of our interest rate swap transactions in Note 5 "Denvative
Financial Instruments” to our Consolidated Financial Statements 1n Part I1, Item 8 of thus Form 10-K

Our balance sheet includes significant amounts of goodwill and intangible assets The impairment of a significant portion of these assets would negatively
affect our business, financial conditron and results of operations.

Our balance sheet includes goodwill and 1ntangible assets that represent approximately 60% of our total assets at December 31,2014 These assets consist
primanly of goodwall and customer relationship intangible assets associated with our acquisitions We also expect to engage in additional acquisitions,
which may result 1n ourrecognition of additionai goodwill and intangible assets Under cunent accounting standards, we are required to amortize certain
intangible assets over the useful hife ofthe asset, winle goodwtll and certain other intangible assets are not amortized On a regular basis we asscss whether
therc have been impatrments in the canmying value of goodwall and cenain intangible assets [f the carrying value of the asset ts determuined to be smpaired,
then it 1s wnitten down to fair value by a charge to operating eamings An impaimment of a sigmificant portion of goodwill or intangible asscts could have a
matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations

Unfavorable resolution of tax conntngencies could adversely affect our tar, eapense

QOur tax returns and positions are subject to review and audit by federal, state, local, and tntemational taxing authonties An unfavorable outcome to a tax
audit could result 1in higher tax expense, thereby negatively impacting our results of operztions We have established contingency reserves for matenal,
known tax exposures relating te deductions, transactions, and other matters involving some uncerainty as to the propertax treatment of the ttem These
reserves reflect what we believe to be reasonable assumptions as to the likely final resolution of each 1ssue 1f rmised by a taxing authonty While we believe
that the reserves are adequate to cover reasonably expected tax nisks, there ts no assurance that, 1n all nstances, an 1ssue raised by a tax authonty will be
finally resolved at a financial cost not in excess of any related reserve An unfavorable resolution, therefore, could negatively impact our effective tax rate,
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows 1o the current and/or future periods Refer to Note 15 “Income Taxes" 1o our Consolidated Financial
Statements included 1n Pan IT, Ttem 8 of this Form 10-K for more information

As a voluntary filer, the information provided in our periodic reports 1s subject fo Iinuted regulatory oversight which may adversely impact our ability to
provide accurate and complete financial reports In addition, we conld discontinue filing with the SEC at any time

We are currently a voluntary filer and not subject to the penodic reporting requirements of the SEC While we are requured to provide certain information,
mcluding financial information, about our company to holders of our indebtedness pursuant to the agreements governing such indebtedness and our parent
company 15 required to provide certain infonmation to 1ts shareholders, we may discontinue filing penodic reports with the SEC at any ume As a voluntary
filer, our perniodic reports will be subject to less oversight and regulatory scrutiny than those subject to the penodic reporting requirements of the SEC [n
addition, even 1f we file a registration statement that 1s declared effective dunng the year and we become subject to the penodic reporting requirements of the
SEC, any of eur penodic reporting responsibalities will automatically terminate in the event that we have less than 300 shareholders after the year in which
any registration statement that we file wath the SEC becomes effective

Regulatory and Legal Risks .

Failure to comply with or changes in laws, regulations and enforcement activities may adversely affect the products, services and markets in which we
operate

We, and our customers, are subject to laws and regulations that affect the electronic payments industry in the many countnes in which our services are used
In particular, our custamers are subject to nurnerous laws and regulations applicable to banks, financial institutions and card ssuers in the United States and
abroad, and, consequently, we are at times affected by these
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federal, state, and local laws and regulations The US Congress and govemmental agencics have incrcased their scrutiny of a number of credit card practices,
from which somc of our customers denve significant revenue Regulation of the payments industry, including regulanions apphceable to us and our customers,
has increased significantly in recent years Falure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business may result tn the suspension or revocation
of licenses or registrations, the lirnitation, suspension or termtnation of services, and/or the imposition of consent orders or civil and cnminal penalties,
including fines which could have an adverse effect on our results of operation and financsal condition We are subject to US and intemational financial
services regulations, a mynad of consumer protection laws, economtc sanctions, laws and regulations, and anti-cormuption laws, escheat regulations and
pnvacy and information secunty regulations 1o name only a few Changes to legal mles and regulations, or interpretation or enforcement of them, could have
anegative financtal effect on us In particular, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, which was signed 1nto law in

July 2010, significantly changed the U S financial regulatory system, including creating a new independent agency funded by the Federal Reserve Board,
the Consumer Financiat Protection Bureau, to regulate consumer financial products and services (including many offered by our customers), restricting debat
card fees paid by merchants to 1ssuer banks and allowing merchants to offer discounts for different payment methods

Changes in credit card association or other network rules or standards could adversely affect our business

In order to provide our transaction processing services, several of our subsidianes are registered with Visa and MasterCard and other nétworks as members or
service providers for member institutions As such, we and many of our customers are subject to card association and network rules that could subject us or
oul customers to a vanety of fines or penalties that may be levied by the card assoctations or networks for certain acts or omussions by us, acquirer custoemers,
processing customers, and merchants Visa, MasterCard, and other networks, some of which are our competitars, set the standards with respect to which we
must comply The tenmunation of our member registration or our status as a ceruificd service provider, orany changes 1n card association or other network
rules or standards, tncluding interpretation and implementation of the rules or standards, that increase the cost of doing business or lumit our ability to
provide transaction processing scrvices to or through our customers, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial .
condition

Farlure to protect our intellectual property rights and defend ourselves from potential patent infringement clayms may dunintsh our competitive
advantages or restrict it from delivering our services

. L)
Our trademarks, patents, and other intellectual property are important to our future success The FIRST DATA trademark and trade name and the STAR
trademark and trade name are intellectual property nghts which are individually matenal to us These trademarks and trade names are widely recognized and
associated with quality and rehable service Loss of the propnetary use of the FIRST DATA or STAR trademarks and trade names ora dinunution 1n the
perceived quality associated with them could harm the growth of our businesses We also rely on propnetary technology It is possible that others wall
independently develop the same or simular technology Assurance of protecting our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information cannot be ~ -
guaranteed Our patents could be challenged, invalidated or circumvented by others, and may not be of sufficient scope or strength to provide us with any '
meamngful protection or advantage If we are unable to mamtain the proprietary nature of our technologies, we could lose competitive advantages and be
matenally adversely affected The laws of certain foreign countnes in which we do business cr contemplate doing business in the future do not recogmze
intellectual property rights or protect them to the same extent as do the laws of the United States Adverse detemmunations in judicial or admunistrative
proceedings could prevent us from selling our services or prevent us from preventing others from selling competing services, and thereby may have a matenal
adverse effect on the business and results of operations Additionally, claims have been made, are currently pending, and other claims may be made in the
fisture, with regard to our technology allegedly infnnging on a patent or other intellectual property nghts Unfavomble resolution of these claims could either
result 10 us being restneted from delivenng the related product or service or result 1n a settlement that could be matenally adverse to us

Fuatlure to comply with state and federal antitrust requirements could adversely affect our business.

Through our merchant alliances, we hold an ownership interest in several competing merchant acquinng businesses while serving as an electronic processor
for those businesses In order to satisfy state and federal antitrust requirements, we actively maintain an antitrust compliance program Notwithstanding our
compliance program, 1t 1s possible that perceived or actual violation of state or federal antitrust requirements could give nse to regulatory enforcement
investigations oractions Regulatory scrutiny of, or regulatory enforcement action in connection with, compliance with state and federal antitrust
requirements could have a material adverse eftect on our reputation and business
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We are the subject of various legal proceedings which could have a material adverse effect on our revenue and profitabiity

We are involved in vanous litigation matters We are also involved 1n orare the subject of governmental or regulatory agency inquines or investigations and
makes voluntary self-disclosures to government or regulatory agencies from time to time If we are unsuceessful in our defense 1n the hiigation matters, or any
other legal proceeding, we may be forced to pay damages or fines, enter into consent decrees and/or change our business practices, any of which could have a
maternal adverse effect on our revenue and profitability

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM2 PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2014, we and our subsidianes owned or teased 67 domestic properties and 90 intemational properties These facihities are used for
operational, sales and administrative purposes, and are substantially all currently being utihized

Leased Facihities Owned Facilities
No Sq Fe Neo Sq Ft
|Facikities 1n the United States
Merchant Solutions 25 691,349 4 498,281
Finanma! Services 13 531,107 11 1,555,919
All Other and Corporate 12 960,495 2 140,762
International Facilities 81 907,146 9 357,569

Merchant Solutions’ principal operations are conducted in Melville, New York, Coral Spnngs, Flanda, Hagerstown, Maryland, Houston, Texas, and
Manetta, Georgia The pnncipal operations for Financial Services are located tn Omaha, Nebraska, Chesapeake, Virginia, Wilmington, Delaware, and
Maitland, Flonda The pnncipal operations for Intemational are located 1n Basildan, United Kingdom, Frankfun, Germany, Buenos Aires, Argentina, Athens
(Kryonen), Greece, Thane, India, and Sydney, Australia Gur All Other and Corporate facilities include New York, New York, Atlanta, Georgia, and
Greenwood Village, Colorado

We believe that our facilities are suitable and adequate for our cument business, however, we penodically review our space requirements and may acquire
new space to meet the needs of our businesses or consolidate and dispose of or sublet facilities which are no longer required

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCLELEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in vanous litigation matters ansing in the ordinary course of our business None of these matters, individually orin the
aggregate, currently 1s matenal to us

ITEM 4 MINING SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEMS MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER FURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

There 15 no established public trading market for our common stock We had one record holder of common stock on February 27,2015, and no equity
secunties of ours are authonzed for 1ssuance under any equity compensation plan

In 2014, we paid five dividends totaling $686 million In 2013, we paid three dividends totaling $28 mullion The senior secured revolving credit facihity,
senior secured term loan facility, and the indentures governing the senior secured notes, sentor unsecured notes, and senior subordinated notes himit our
ability to pay dividends See “*Management’s Discussion and Anatysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Capital Resources and Liquidity”
included in Pan 11, [tem 7 and Note 10 "First Data Corporation Stockhoelder's Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest™ to our Consolidated Financial
Statements 1n Part 11, {tem 8 of this Form 10-K

ITEM 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following data should be read in conjunction with "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financtal Condition and Results of Operations” included
n Part [T, Ttemn 7 and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto 1ncluded 1n Part I1, [tem 8 of this form 10-K.

The Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements 1n Part [T, ltem 8 of this Form 10-K tontain additional information about vanous acquisitions,
dispositions, and certain charges and benefits resulting from other operating expenses, and other income (expense) which affect the comparability of

information presented

Amounts below include acquisihions since the date acquired

December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
iStatemen! of operations data (Year-end): '
Revenues b 11,1518 $ - 10,8089 § 10,6803 § 10,7136 % 10,380 4
; Operating expenses (a) 9,699 3 92,6303 95783 97282 97822
Other operating expenses (b) 132 560 282 439 815
CInterestexpense 7 {4,7530)  (1.8807) (1,8978) (1,833 1) (1,796 6)
Net loss (264 5) (692 1) (527 3) (336 1) (846 9)
. Net loss autntbutable to First Data Corporation (457 8) (869 1) {7009) (516 1) (1,021 8)
Depreciation and amortization (c) 1,1633 1,219 1,3309 1,344 2 1,526 0
iBalance sheet data (As of year-end) ~ R . .
Total assets R $ 342693 § 352398 § 37,8990 § 402763 § 375441
[ Total current and long-temm settlement assets 7,5584 7,557 0 92281 10,839 3 7,059 1
_Tolal liabilities 31,5511 33,4779 35,2052 36,8009 33,4561
| Settlement obligations 75573 75534 9,226 3 10,8378 7,058 9
Long-term borrowings 20,7114 22,556 8 22,5289 22,5217 22,438 8
™ Other long-term labilities (d) o C Co13091 0 13031 13314 14590 2,1533
Redeemable noncchlmllmg interest ) 70 4 691 674 674 281
. Total equity 2,647 8 1,692 8 2,6264 34080 40599

{a} Operatung expenses include Cost of services, Cost of products sold, Selling general and admumistrative Reimbursable debit network fees, postage and other and Depreciation and
amortizatian

(b) Other operating expenses include Resiructuring, net, Impairments, Litigation and regulatory settlements, and Other as applicable te the penods presented .

(c) Includes amortization of bl payments for new contracts, which 15 recorded as a contra-revenue within *Transaction and processing service fees' and amortization related to
equity method investments, which 1s netted within "Equity earnings 1n affiliates 10 the Consolidated Statements of Operat:ons

{d) Other long-term liabilities include Long-term deferred tax habilities
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IMEM?7 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Overview

We opcrate electronic commerce businesses providing services that include merchant transaction processing and acquinng services, credit, retail, and debii
card 1ssuing and processing services, prepard card services, and check venfication, scttlement and guarantee services

Forthe year ended December31, 2014, revenues and operating profits increased 3% to $11 2 billion and 28% to $1 4 billion, respectively, led by growth 1n
the Financial Services and International segments Currency negatively impacted revenue and operating profit by 1% and 2%, respecuvely

Net loss attnbutable to First Data for the year ended December 31, 2014 improved 47% to $458 million and 1n the fourth quarter of 2014, we generated net
income of $12 million, the first profitable quaner since the 2007 pnvauzauon

Dunng 2014, we made signmificant changes to our capital structure This included our parent company, First Data Holdings Inc (FDH), completing 2 $3 5
brllion private equily placement $2 5 billion of the net proceeds were contnibuted to us as a caputal contnibution and used to strengthen our balance sheet by
paying down debt Additionally, we repriced §5 7 bullton of our 2018 Term Loans As a result, we now have a weighted average interest rate of 7 4% across
the debt and as of December 31, 2014, approximately 80% of our debt is at a fixed rate, providing a measure of protection 1f interest rates begin to nse These
combined actions improved net leverage by | 3 tums and wall significantly lower annual cash interest payments by approximately $228 million

Recently, we launched several new products that help our clients grow their businesses including

«  Clover Station - our tablet based integrated point of sale solution that radically mmpllﬁes‘lhe way small and medium businesses operate

* InsighticsS™- an innovative cloud-based software that unlocks the power of big data behind payment transactions to grve small and medum size
business merchants the ability to monitor key business metncs affecting their business, better understand customers to engage effecuvely, and denve
more value from marketing and loyalty programs to grow revenue

+  Perka-adigital loyalty marketing platform, an altemative to raditional paper and plastic card-based incentive programs With Perka, vinually any
merchant can custonuze and launch a mobile loyalty program that works on all cell phones, creating customer loyalty and dniving growth

+  Gyft -the leading digital platform that enables consumers to buy, send, manage, and redeem gift cards using mobile devices Gyfi's exceplional
capabilities, combined with our long-standing leadership in prepaid solutions, create a distinct combination 1o a rapidly growing market for virtual
gift cards Additionally, in October Gyft became the first gift card solution to enable consumers to buy virtual gift cards with Apple Pay's in-app
payment functionality

In 2015, we wall launch Clover Mobule, which gives businesses all the great functionality of Claver Station, but wath the freedom of being entirely untethered
from the countertop, whether it 1s within their store or on the road

We have also partnered with both Visa and MasterCard to advance Europay, MasterCard and Visa (EMV)1n the U S as our STAR network became ane of the
first debit networks to assist 1ssuers, acquirers, and merchants with equal access to a shared EMV chip card technology Furthenmore, we have partnered with
Venfone to help U S merchants reduce exposure to payment data breaches and expedite merchant acceptance of EMV Through this relationship, payment
data will flow through First Data's TransArmor data protection solutron, enabling encrypted delivery directly to First Data from the Venfone payment
terminal We also collaborated with Apple as part of its Apple Pay imitiative, supporting both ourissuing and cur merchant clients as the industry continues
to evolve towards mobile

Intemationally, we expanded our presence in Brazil 1n the third quarter of 2014 with our faunch of BIN, our acquinng solution developed specifically for

Brazil Brazil 1s one of the fastest-growing payments markets in the world and our partnership with local banking cooperative, Bancoob, 15 providing access
to an existing base of merchants and sponsorshup to expand into other areas within Brazil
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Segment Discussion

Duning the first quarter of 2014, we renamed our Retail and Alliance Services segment to Merchant Solutions to better reflect our transformation froma
processar to a solutions and technology provider

On October 1, 2014, we announced the expansion of our Management Commuttee We ate evaluating the changes to our reporting that may be made asa
result of the expansion, to best assist the chief operating decision maker (our Chief Executive Officer) in monitonng and managing the businesses Should the
reporting change, we will retroactively revise our segment disclosures

Merchant Soluttons segment The Merchant Solutions segment 1s comprnised of businesses that provide services which facilitate the merchants” abihity to
accept credit, debit, stored-value and loyalty cards, and checks The segment’s merchant processing and acquinng services include authonzation, transaction
capture, settlement, chargeback handling and Intemet-based transaction processing and are the largest component of the segment’s revenue A majonty of
these services penain to transactions in which consumer payments to merchants are made through a payment network (such as VISA or MasterCard), a debat
network (such as STAR Network, which 1s owned by us), or other payment issuers/networks {such as Amencan Express and Dhiscover)

Many of the segment’s services are offered through alliance arrangements Financial results of the merchant alliance strategy appear both in the “Transaction
and processing service fees” and * Equity eamings in affiliates” line items of the Consolidated Statements of Operations We evaluate the Merchant Solutions
segment based on our proportionate share of the results of these alliances Refer to “Segment results™ below for a mere detailed discussion

Merchant processing and acquinng revenues are dnven most significantly by the number of transactions, dollar volumes of thosc transactions, and trends i
consumer spending between national, regional, and local merchants Consumers continue to increase the use of credit, debat, and stored-valuc cards in place
of cash and paper checks Intemet payments continue to grow and are becoming a larger portton of our transactions While transactions over the intemet may
imvolve increased nsk, these transactions typically generate higher profits for us We continue to enhance our fraud detection and other systems to address
such nsks

In addition, Merchant Solutions provides check venfication, settlement, and guarantee services We continue to see a decrease in the use of checks which
negatvely affects our check venfication, settlement, and guarantee business The segment also manages prepatd stored-value card 1ssuance and processing
services (1 e guft cards) for retailers and others

Financial Services segment The Financial Services segment provides tssuer card and network solutions and payment management solutions for card-based
payments Financial Services also offers services to factlitate customer communications, billing, online banking, and consumer ball payment Issuer card and
network solutions mncludes credit, retail, and debit card processing, debit network services, and output services for financial institetions and other
orgamzations offering credit cards, debit cards, and retail private label cards to consumers and businesses to manage customer accounts Qutput services
mclude statement and letter printing, embossing (including EMV chipcard pesonahization), and matdling services The segment also provides remittance
processing services, information services, and other payment services such as remote deposit, cleanng services, and processing for payments which occurin
such forms as checks, ACH, ware transfer, and stored-value cards The segment’s largest components of revenue constst of processing services including
account management, transaction authonzation and posting and network switching

Credit and retail based revenue 1s denved pnmanly from the card processing services offered to financial institutions and other issuers of cards Revenue from
these markets 1s dnven pnmanty by accounts on file, wath active accounts having a larger impact on revenue than inactive accounts Retail account
portfolios typically have a lower proportionate share of active accounts than credit account portfolios and product usage 15 different between the card types
resulting 1n lower revenue per active retail account In addition, contract pricing at the customer level 1s dependent upon the volume of accounts, mix of
account types (e g retail, credit, co-branded credit and debit) and preduct usage

Debit processing revenue 1s denved mostly from the processing of transactions where we could recerve multiple fees for a transacuon, depending on our role
We continue to see a shift to the use of debit and credst cards from checks and cash The shift to debit cards negatively affects our remuttance processing
business \

The underlying economic drivers of credit card 1ssuance are population demographics and employm‘em Strengthening in the economy typically results in an
improved credit nisk profile, allowing card 1ssuers to be more aggressive 1n their marketing
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campaigns to 1ssuc cards Conversely, a weakening 1n the economy typically results in a tightening of the credit market with fewer consumers quahfyimg for
credut

International segment The primary service offerings of the International segment are substantially the same as those provided 1n the Merchant Selutions and
Financial Services segments

The Intemational acquinng services facilitate the merchants’ ability to accept credit, debit, and stored-value cards The segment’s merchant processing and
acquinng services include authonzation, transaction capture, settlement, chargeback handling, and Internet based transaction processing and are the largest
component of the segment’s revenue

The International 1ssuing services provide 1ssuer card, output services, ATM services, and professional services Issuer card and network solutions includes
credit, retaul, and debit card processing for financial institutions and other orgamizations offening credit cards, debit cards, and retail private label cards to
consumers and businesses to manage customer accounts Outpult services include statement and letter pnnting, embossing and mailing services, and call
center services ATM services include processing, acquinng, and switching services Additionally, the International 1ssuing services provides licensing for
card processing software, and professional services

The Intermational segment revenue dnvers are sumlar to the Merchant Solutions and Financial Services segment The Intemnattonal acquinng service
revenues are dnven most significantly by the number of transactions, dollar volumes of those transactions, and trends 1n consumer spending The
[nternational issuing service revenues for issuer card and network solutions arc driven prnumanly by accounts on file, with active accounts having a larger
tmpact on revenue than inactive accounts Additionzlly, the International segment revenue 1s impacted by foreign exchange rate movemends as well as the
macroecanomuc forces within countries where the services are being sold

All Other and Corporate :

All Other and Corporate 15 comprised of our business units not included in the segments noted above, pnmanly our govemment services business and our
official check business that 1s,winding down, as well as oursupport functions

Components of Revenue and Expenses

For a description of the components of operating revenues and expenses as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, refer to Part [, Item 1 of
this Form 10-K. Descniptions of the revenue recognition policies are included 1n Note 1 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" to our Consolidated
Financial Statements in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 1 0-K

Results of Operanons

Consolidated results should be read 1n conjunction with Note 13 "Segment Information" to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part T, Ttem 8 of this
Form 10-K, which provides more detailed discussions conceming certain components of the Consolidated Statements of Operations All significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated within the consolidated results

Operating revenues averview

Year ended December 31, Percent Change
(in muliiens) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs 2012
Transaction and processing service fees 3 66555 % 64643 3 64521 3% — %
Product sales and other N 8928 8372 866 7 7% (3%
Reimbursable debst network fees, postage, and
other 3,6035 3,5074 3,361 5 3% 4%
Total revenues ~ 3 11,1518 % 10,8089 3§ 10,6803 ~ 3% 1%

Transaction and processing service fees revenue increased dunng 2014 compared to 2013 pnmanly due to mcreased card services and merchant refated
services revenue as a result of net new business and organic growth, both domestically and mtemnationally Revenue increased due to growth 1n transactions
and volume, offset by lower rates, changes in mix, and attntion As expected, we continue to expenence decreases in check processing revenue pnmanly as a
result of lower overall check volumes due to a shuft toward electromic payments Dunng 2014, foreign cumency exchange rate movements negatively
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impacted the transaction and processing service fees revenue growth rate compared to the same penod 1n 2013 by approximately 1 percentage point

Revenue remamed flat 1n 2013 compared to 2012 as increases in merchant related services revenue were offset by decreases in card services and check
services The net increases in merchant related services revenue resulted from increases in both domestic and interational merchant transactions and dollar
volumes 1n addition to new sales, pricing increases, and network routing incentives These increases were offset by decreases resulting from the impact of
merchant mex on transactions and dollar volumes, the effects of stufts 1n pricing mix, merchant attntion, and pnce compression The decreases in card services
revenue resulted primanly from net lost business both domestically and intemationally We expenienced decreases in check processing revenue as a result of
lower overall check volumes and merchant attniuion The foreign cumency exchange rate movements did not matenally impact the transaction and processing
service fees revenue growth rate for 2013 compared to 2012

Product sales and other revenue increased duning 2014 compared to 2013 due to higher equipment sales and revenue streams with lower vanable expenses
such as portfolio growth 1n the [easing business, including nterest income and fees on termunal leases, and the $12 mmllion sale of a merchant portfolio in
Poland 1n the fouith quarter for 2014 Dunng 2014, we recognized $5 million for contract settlements and waivers The foreign currency exchange rate
movements negatively impacted the product sales and other growth rate for 2014 compared to 2013 by approximately 3 percentage potnts

Revenue decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 due to a dechne in domestic terminal sales, including lower bulk sales, a decrease 1n intemational software
license sales and foreign currency exchange rates partially offset by growth in professional services revenue resulting from new projects Foreign currency
exchange rate movements negatively impacted the product sales and other growth rate 1n 2013 compared to 2012 by approximately 2 percentage points

Retmbursable debut network fees, postage and other revenue increased 1n 2014 and 2013 due to transaction and volume growth related to debit network fees
related to both new and existing customers partially offset by changes in regulated financial institution mix

Operating expenses overview

Year ended December 31, Percent Change

{1n mullions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs 2012
Cost of services (exclusive of items shown betow) § 2,7413 3§ 28088 § 21,8635 2)% (2%
Cost of products sold 3372 > 3340 3363 1% (1Y%
Selling, general, and administrative £,961 8 1,688 8 1,8254 4% 3%
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and
other 3,6035 3,507 4 33613 3% 4%
‘Depreciation and amorttization 1,0555 1,091 3 1,191 6 (3% (8%
Other operating expenses, net 132 560 282 (76)% 99 %

Total Expenses % 97125 § 96863 § 9,606 5 — % 1%

Cost of services expense decreased tn 2014 compared to 2013 due to our focus on operational and processing efficiencies including lower headcount and
changes 1n compensation programs, a tax recovery 1n Australia, and lower bonus expense partially offset by product development initiatives and a $22
milhon reserve for uncollectible receivables in Latin Amenca

Cost of services expense decreased 1t 2013 compared to 2012 mostly due to cost reduction initiatives offset by increases in product development costs
.
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Selling general and administrative

Year ended December 31, Pereent Change
{11 nuthions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs 2012
'Salanes, wages, bonus, and other $ 7409 § 7412 § 7002 —% 6%
Qutside pmfe;smr;al services T 7218 6842 i 6740 5% T 2%
iCommussions 146 8 1364 155 ] 8% (10Y%'
Other 3523 3270 2997 Co8% 9%
; Sclling, general, and administrative ex;;ense i $ 19618 & 18888 3§ 1,825 4 4% 3%

Selling general and adminisirative expense increased in 2014 compared to 2013 largely due to growth 1n payments to independent sales organizations
resulting from ncreased transactions and volumes, higher legal fees, and expenses incurced thronghout 2014 related to the transition of several corporate
functions from Denver to Atlanta Other, which includes advertising and promotional expenses, business travel and entertainment expenses, and other selling
expenses, increased maialy due to increased marketing expenditures related to new products Commussions expense increased due to increased salcs

Selling, general, and adrministrative expense increased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 largely due to ncreased sales staff, $8 million 1n Iitigation expense, and $3
million additional non-payroll taxcs, partially offset by reduced commissions expense due to lower payouts related to lower sales volume

Reimbursable debit network fees postage and other expense increased in 2014 and 2013 due to transaction and velume growth related Lo debat network fees
related to both new and existing customers, partially offset by changes 1n regulated financial institution mix

Deprecration and amortization expense decreased in 2014 and 2013 due to a decrease in the amertization of certain intangible assets that are being
amortized on an accelerated basis and certain other assets that have become fully amortized, partially offset by amortization of new assets

Other operating expenses, net includes restructuring, liigation and regulatory settlements, impainments, and other as applicable to the penods presented
Refer to Note 2 “Restructunng” to our Consohidated Financial Statements 1n Pant I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for details regarding restructunng charges In the
fourth quarter of 2014, we began an off-shoning iniative to employ lower cost offshore resources that 15 expected to be complete by 2019 with an
1ncremental cost range between $50 million to $100 million that will mainty be incurred over the next two years

Interest income (expense)

Year ended December 31, Percent Change
(1n mulions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 2013 2013 vs. 2012
:Interest ineome $ 106 3§ 111 3 88 (5% 26 %
Interest expense (1,753 0} (1,880 7) (1,897 8) {7 (1%

Interest expense decreased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 due to lower ocutstanding debt balances as a result of debt extinguishments, lower interest rates as a
result of debt exchanges and refinancing, and lower financing fees amortization Refer to Note 6 "Bomowings” to our Consohidated Financial Statements in
Part 11, Item 8 ofthis Form 10-K,

Interest expense decreased slightly in 2013 compared to 2012 due to the de-designation of cash flow hedges, which resulted in the reclassification of $115
million of accumulated losses from other comprehensive income (OCI) into interest expense duning 2052 Thas was substantially offset by increased interest
expense related to higher interest rates resulting from debt modifications and amendments As of December 31, 2013, there were no amounts camed in OCI
retated to interest rate swaps Refer to Note 5 “Denvative Financial Instruments” to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I1, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
for additional information

Loss on debt extinguishment
Loss on debt extinguishment We incurred a $260 milhion loss on the extinguishment of $2 2 billion of outstanding debt dunng the third quarter of 2014
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Other income (eapense)

Year ended December 31,

{in miltions) 2014 2013 2012
Investment gains and (losses) 3 1662 3% 24 8 Y]
Denvatve financial instruments gains and (losses) 03 (24 4) 914)
Divestitures, net 16 54 .
Non-operating foreign cumrency gains and (losses) 591 (19 35) 48
Other income {expense) 3 1612 % (469) §$ {94 3)

Investment gains and (losses) Gans in 2014 relate pnmanly to the sale of our 30% minonty interest 1n EFS which resulted in a pretax gamn of $98 mullion
The net investment losses 1n 2012 relate pnmaniy to the impairment of a strategic 1nvestment

Derivative financial instrumenis gains and (losses) The net loss in 2013 was due to fair value adjustments for interest rate swaps and cross cumrency swaps
that are not designated as accounting hedges while the loss in 2012 was pnmanly dnven by fair value adjustments related to interest rate swaps

Non-operating fareign currency gains and (losses) Amounts represent net gans and losses related to currency translations on our intercompany loans and
curo-denominated debt The gain dunng 2014 was dniven by the US dollar strengthening against the Euro

Income raxes

[

Year ended December 31,

(10 millions) 2014 2013 2012
Income tax expense (benefit) s 821 $ 865 $ (224 0)
Eftective income tax rate 45 0)% (14 3% 29 8%

The effective tax rates in each year differ from the statutory rates pnmanly as a result of recognizing tax expense in junsdictions with pretax income whule
being precluded from recogmizing deferred tax benefits on pre-tax losses in the U S and certain foreign junsdictions that are subject to valuation allowances
In each year, the negative impact from the valuation allowance was partially offset by us not having to record tax expense attributable to the nancontrolling
interest portion of pretax income from pass through entities

Following the recognition of significant valuation allowances in 2012, we have regularly experienced substantial volatility in our effective tax rate in
mtenm penods and across years This 15 due to deferred income tax benefits not being recogmzed in several junsdictions, changes in the amount, mix, and
timing of pretax camings in tax paying junsdictions can have a significant impact on the overall effecuive tax rate This intenm and full year volatihity 1s
likely to continue in future penods until the valuation allowances can be released

Since 2007, we have been and continue to be 1n a net operating loss position in the US federal and combined state junsdictions These net operating losses
caused our net deferred tax assets to exceed our net deferred tax habilines as of December 31,2014 This net deferred tax asset position, combined wiath the
history of operating losses 1s sigmificant negative evidence that under the more likely than not critena requires us to record a valuation allowance against our
net deferred tax assets Further, we are not able to record a benefit related to tax losses in many separate filing states and certamn foreign countnes, requinng
the establishment of valuation allowances

Despite the net operating loss position discussed above, we continue to incur income tax expense 1n some states for which we file retumns on a separate entity
basts and 1n certain foreign countnes Generally, these foreign income taxes would result in a foreign tax creditn the U S However, due to hmuan?ns placed
by the US foreign tax credit rules, we have also established a partial valuatton allowance against our foreign tax credits

Qur Liability for unrecogmized tax benefits was approximately $236 mulhon as of December 31,2014 We anticipate 1t 15 reasonably possible that our Liability
for unrecognized tax benefits may decrease by approximately $122 mullion within the next twelve months as a result of the possible closure of federal tax
audits, potential settlements with certain states and foreign countnes, and the lapse of the statute of himitations 1n vanous state and foreign junsdictions
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We or one or more of our subsidianes file income tax retums in the U S federal junsdiction and varous state and foreign junsdictions As of Decernber 31,
2014, we were no longer subjcct to mcome tax examination by the US federal junsdiction for years before 2005 State and local examinations are
substantiially complete through 2006 Foreign junsdictions generally remain subject to examination by thetr respective authonties from 2008 forward, none
of which are considered major junisdictions Refer to Note 15 "Income Taxes" to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part 11, Ttem 8 of this form t0-K for
additional mformation

Equity earmngs in affiliates

Year ended December 3, Percent Change
{in mulions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs 2012
Equity eamings 1n affiliates $ 2196 % 1883 % 1582 [7% o 19%

Equity eamings in affibates increased in 2014 and 2013 mostly due to higher volumes and prnicing imitiatives as well as a decrease 1n amortization The sale
of EFS in the second quarter of 2014 did rot sigmificantly impact these earmings

Net income attributable to noncontroliing interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest

Year ended December 31, Percent Change
{in millians) 014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Net income attnbutabte to noncontrolling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest  § 1933 % 1776 3 173 6 9% 2%

Most of the net income attributable to noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest relates to our consolidated merchant alliances Net
mcome attnbutable to noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest increased 1in 2014 compared to 2013 due to organic growth, new
revenue, and lower credit losses from our consolidated allhances

Income increased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 duc most sigmficantly to increased profit by one of our merchant alliances druiven by increased volumes and
network routing incentives

Segment results We classify our businesses into three segments Merchant Solutions, Financial Services, and Intemational All Other and Corporate 1s not
discussed separately as 1fs results that had a sigmficant impact on operating results are discussed m the consolidated results discussion above

The business segment measurements provided to and evaluated by the chief operating decision maker are computed 1n accordance with the pnnciples listed
below

. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described 1n the summary of significant accounting policies

. Segment revenue inctudes equity earnings in affiliates (excluding amortization expense) and intersegment revenue Merchant Solutions
segment revenue does not include equity eamings because 1t1s reported using propoertionate consolidation as descnbed below

. Segment revenune excludes reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other revenue

. Segment EBITDA includes equity eamings 1n affitiates and excludes depreciation and amortization expense, net income attributable to
noncontrotling interests, other operating expenses, and ather ircome {expense) Merchant Solutions segment EBITDA does not include
equity eamings because 1t 1s reported using proportionate consolidation as descnibed below Additionally, segment EBITDA 1s adjusted for
items similar to certamn of those used in calculating our compliance with debt covenants The additional 1tems that are adjusted to
determine segment EBITDA are

. stock based compensation and related expense 18 excluded,
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. official check and money order businesses’ EBITDA are excluded as these are winding down,

. certain costs directly associated with the termmunation of the Chase Paymentech Solutions alliance and expenses related to
the conversion of certain Banc of Amenca Merchant Services, LL.C (BAMS) alliance merchant chients onto our platfonns
{excludes costs accrued 1n purchase accounting) Effective October 1,201 1, we and Bank of Amenca N A (the Bank)
Jomtly decided to have us operate the Bank's legacy settlement platform Transition costs associated with the revised
strategy are also excluded from segment EBITDA,

. debt i1ssuance costs are excluded and represent costs associated with 1ssuing debt and modifying our debt stucture, and

- KKR related items including annual sponsor and other fees for management, consulting, financial, and other advisory
services are excluded

. Merchant Solutions segment revenue and EBITDA are reflected based on our proportionate share of the results of its investments 1n
businesses accounted forunder the equity method and consolidated subsidianes with noncontrolling ownership 1nterests In addition,
Merchant Solutions segment measures reflect commssien payments to certain mdependent sales orgamzations (ISOs), which are treated as
an expense 1n the Conselidated Statements of Operations, as contra revenue to be consistent with revenue share amrangements with other
150’s that are recorded as contra revenue

. Corporate operations include administrative and shared service functions such as the executive group, legal, tax, treasury, intemal audat,
accounting, human resources, information technology, and procurement Costs incurred by Corporate that are directly attnbutable to a
segment are allocated to the respective segment Admunistrative, shared service, and certain informauon technology costs are retained by
Corporate

Merchant Selutions segment results

Year ended December 31, Percent Change

{in miltions) 2014 2013 2012 1014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Revenues

Transaction and processing service fees $ 31,2535 $ 3,2552 $ 3,988 —% 2%

Product sales and other 4143 3842 4040 8% {5)%
Segment revenue 5 31,6678 5 3,6394 £ 3,602 8 1 % 1%
Segment EBITDA $ 1,6646 § 1,6298 % 1,594 8 2% 2%
Segment margin 45% 45% 44% — 100 bps
Key indicators

Domestic merchant transactions (a) 41,2513 40,266 2 18,644 2 2% 4%

{a) Domestic merchant transactions include acquired VISA and MasterCard credit end signature debit, American Express and Discover, PIN-debit, electronic benefits transactions,
processed-only, and gateway cuslomer transactions at the POS Domestic merchant transacuons reflect 100% of alliance transacuons Domestie merchant transacuions for the years

cended Decernber 31, 2013 and 2012 reflect an updated count of transactrons N
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Transaction and processing service fees revenue

Year ende¢d December 31, Percent Change
{in mulions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 28413 2013 vs, 20112
Acquinng revenue $ 24481 § 24166 § 2,368 7 1 % 2%
Check processing revenue 2492 2743 306 1 {N% (10)%
frepald revenue o 3219 3411 30635 ®)% 11%
Pr:)cc_ssmg fees and other revenue from alliance ’ o
partners 2343 2232 2175 3% 3%
Total transaction and processing service fees
_ revenue $ 32535 § 32552 % 3,198 8 —% 2 %,

Acquiring revenue grew shightly in 2014 and 2013 due to growth 1n merchant transactions and dollar volumes, new sales and pneing increases, pnmanly duc
to regional merchants and network routing incentives, including $12 mullion of incentives in 2014 These increases were partially offsct by decreases
resulting from the impact of merchant mix on transaction and dollar volumes, the eftects of shufts in pnicing mux, merchant attnition, and pnce compression

Transaction growth in 2014 compared to 2013 was dnven by our national and ISO merchants, which contnbuted to lower revenue per transaction
Transaction growth was also negatively impacted by Walmart's shift to a dual processor strategy m the first quarter or 2014

\
Transaction growth outpaced revenue growih m 2013 compared to 2012 dniven by the factors noted above, particularly merchant mix, pneing mx, and price
compression A greater portion of transaction growth was dniven by our nanonal merchants which contnibuted to lower revenue per transaction

Check processing revenue decreased in 2014 compared to 2013 and 1n 2013 compared to 2012 due to Jower overall check volumes from continued check
wnter and merchant attntion ®

Prepaid revenue decreased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 due to the disposition of a nencore transportation payments joint venture, EFS 1n the second quarter of
2014, partially offset by higher transaction volumes wathin the apen loop payroll distnbution program related to existing customers and new business The
disposttion accurred wn late May 2014 and had an approximate $30 mullion negative impact on segment revenue in 2014 Refer to Note 3 “Acquisitions and
Dispositions" to our Consohdated Financial Statements in Part 11, tem 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information

Prepaid revenue increased in 2013 compared to 2012 due to higher transaction volumes within the apen loop payroll distnbution program related to new and
cxisting busimess, higher closed loop transaction volumes as well as higher card shipments In addition, prepaid revenue increased 1 2013 versus 2012 by 4
percentage points due to growth 10 onc of our alliances, resulting from the acquisition of a payment solutions business that occurred 1n the fourth quarter of
2012

Processing fees and other revenue from alliance partners increased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 and 2013 compared to 2012 due to tncreased volume wathin
our merchant alhances

Product sales and other revenue increased 10 2014 compared to 2013 due to higher equipment sales and portfolio growth in the leasing business, including
interest income and fees on tesminal leases

Product sales and other revenue decreased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 pnimarily due to a dechine 1in terminal sales including lower bulk sales

Merchant Solunons Seg:;renr EBITDA increased 16 2014 compared to 2013 from the impact of the revenue 1tems noted above Expenses were flat in 2014
compared to 2013 as a result of cost reduction efforts, pnmanly 1n operattons costs, that were reinvested into product investment costs The EFS disposition
had a negative impact of approximately $15 mullion on segment EBITDA in 2014

Merchant Solutions segment EBITDA increased in 2013 compared to the same penod m 2012 as a result of overall growth from the revenue items noted
above, slightly offset by increased expenses pnmanly 1n provisions foruncollectible receivables recorded in the first and third quarters 0of 2013 and increased

technology and operations costs including product investments
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Financial Services segment results

Year ended December 31, Percent Change

{1n mithons) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 2013 2013 vs 2012
Revenues

Transaction and processing service fees $ 14126 % 1,3203 £ 1,3500 7% (2)%

Product sales and other 489 482 401 1% 20%
Segment revenue 3 14615 8§ 1,3685  § 1,390 1 7% 2)%
Segment EBITDA $ 7413 % 6179 & 6031 20% 2%
Segment margin 51% 45% 43% 600 bps 200 bps
Key indicators

Domestic debit 1ssuer transactions (a) 11,697¢ 11,3139 12,113 8 3% (7Y%

Domestic active card accounts on file (average

for the period) (b) 164 1 1470 1324 12% 1%

{a) Domestc debit 1ssuer transactions include signature and PIN-debat transactions, STAR, and non-STAR branded
{b) Domestc active card accounts on file reflect the average number of bankcard and retail accounts that had a balance or any monetary posting or authonzatien acuvily during the
periods presented

Transaction and processing service fees revenue

Year ended December 31, Percent Change
{in mlhions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 2013 2013 vs 2012
'Credit card, retal card, and debit processing $ 9550 % 8870 § 9115 8% (3%
Cutput services - 2686 2437 2298 10 % 6%
Other revenue 1896 1896 2087 —% 9%
Total transaction and processing scrvice fees
revenue b3 14126 % 1,3203 % 1,350 0 7% 2)%

Credit card, retail card, and debit processing revenue mncreased in 2014 compared to 2013 Growth mn credit card and retail card processing revenue
outpaced debit processing revenue growth in 2014 compared to 2013 Credit card and retat] card processing revenue inereased due to net new business and
growth from existing customers, partially offset by price compression on contract renewals and other net pnicing incentives Domestic active card accounts on
file increased 1n 2014 versus 2013 primanly from net new account conversions and growth from existing customers Debit processing revenue increased n
2014 compared to 2013 due to mtemal growth and a new transaction routing program that was introduced o the first quarter 0£ 2014, partially offset by net
lost and disposed business and pnce compression on contract renewals

Credit card, retail card, and debit processing revenue decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 as decreases 1n debit processing revenue offset growth i credit
card and retail card processing revenue Credit card and retail card processing revenue increased due pnmanly to growth from existing customers and net new
business, parually offset by price compresston on contract renewals as well as volume based pricing incentives ‘Domestic active card accounts on file
increased 1n 2013 versus 2012 pnmanly from net new account converstons and growth from existing customers Debit processing revenue decreased 1n 2013
compared to 2012 due to net lost business, including the loss of a large financial institution that completed 1ts final deconversion 1a the third quarter 0£2012,
and pnce compression on contract renewals and other net pricing incentives

'

Debit 1ssuer transactions increased in 2014 compared to 2013 due to growth from existing customers, partially offset by net lost business

Debat 15suer transactions decreased 1 2013 compared to 2012 due to net lost business and a decline 1n gateway transactions, partially offset by growth from
¢x1sting customers ]

Quiput services revenue mmcreased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 due to growth 1n the print business, denved from new and exasting customers, and growth in the
plastics business, denved from new and existing customers, which includes EMV personalization charges
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Qutput scrvices revenue 1ncreased in 2013 compared to 2012 due te net new pnnt and plastics business and growth from ex1sting customers

Other revenue consists mostly of revenue from remittance processing, information services, online banking and bill payment services as well as voice
services

Other revenue decreased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 due to decreases in information services, check cleanng and voice services dnven by lost or disposed
business partrally offset by increases in remuttance processing resulting from net new business The disposed businesses impacted the other transaction and
processing service fee revenue growth rate for 2013 compared to 2012 by approximately 12 percentage points

Financial Services Segment EBITDA increased signmificantly in 2014 compared to 2013 due to the impact of the revenue 1tems noted above as weli as
decreased operating expenses, as a result of lower headcount and changes in compensation programs The decrease 1n operating expenses positively impacted
the segment EBITDA growth rate by 5 percentage points in 2014 when compared to 2013

Financial Services segment EBITDA increased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 due mostly to decreased operating expenses resulting from our cost reduction
mtatives partially offset by declines 1n revenue noted above The decrease in operating expenses positively impacted the segment EBITDA growth rate by 6
percentage points in 2013 when compared to 2012

Internatronal segment results

Year ended December 31, Percent Change
{in millions) - 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2613 2013 vs. 2012
Revenues . '
“Transaction and processing service fees  § 13785 § 13203 § 12512 . 4% T4

. Product sales and other ' 3836 3672 3910 4% (6%

Equity eamings in affiliates fr 297 319 362 < (% o (123%
LSAegment revenue 3 1,7918 $ 1,7194  § 1,718 4 4% — %t
Segment EBITDA $ 5327 § 47153 % 4838 12 % (2)%
|Segment margim : - 30% T 28% 28% T 200bps _
iwliey_u'ldlcators i ’ ) i T

Intemational transactions (a) 10,2224 94500 8,556 5 8 % 10 %

International card accounts on file {end of

pertod) (b) 860 788 736 9% 7%

{a) [International ransactions nclude VISA, MasterCard and other payment network merchant acquinng and swiching and debit 1ssuer ransactions for clients outside the U S
Transactions include credit signamure debit and PIN-debat FOS POS gateway and ATM transacuons Internauonal transactions for the year ended December 31 2013 and 2012
reflect an updated count of transactions

{b) International card accounts oa file melude bankeard and retail

Segment revenue 1n 2014 compared to 2013 was impacted by the items discussed below as well as foreign currency exchange rate movements Foreign
currency exchange rate movements negatively impacted the total segment revenue growth rates in 2014 compared to 2013 by 4 percentage points and
negatively impacted growth rates in 2013 compared to 2012 by 2 percentage points

Transaction and processing service fees revenue 1ncludes merchant related services and card services revenue Merchant related services revenue
encompasses merchant acquinng and processing revenue, debit transaction revenue, POS/ATM transaction revenue and fees from switching services Card
services revenue represents monthly managed service fees for 1ssued cards Merchant related services transaction and processing service fee revenue
represented approximately 60% and card services revenue represented approximately 40% of total transaction and processing service fees revenue for the
penods presented
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lansaction and processing service fees revenue increased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 due to volume growth in the card 1ssuing and merchant acquinng
businesses The majonty of increases in the merchant acquinng businesses resulted from volume growth in the merchant acquiring alliances, partially offset
by lost processing business in Canada Revenue i the card 1ssuing business increased primanly from transaction and volumes growth from existing
customers 1n Argentina, new business from existing clhients in the United Kingdom and Greece, as well as inflation in Argentina [n 2014, foreign currency
exchange rate movements negatively impacted the transaction and processing service fees revenue growth rate by approximately 3 percentage points
compared to the same penod 1n 2013

Transaction and processing service fees revenue increased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 pnmanly due to volume growth and pncing 1n the merchant acquinng
businesses and card 1ssuing businesses partially offset by lost business in the card 1ssuing businesses The majonity of increases in the merchant acquinng
bustnesses resulted from volume growth 1n merchant acquinng alliances and direct sales channels pnmanly in Ireland, United Kingdom, and Poland
Revenue in the card 1ssuing businesses declined pnmanly due to lost business 1n Australia and Germany partially offset by volume growth from existing
customers tn Argentina and the United Kingdom In 2013, foreign curmency exchange rate movements negatively impacted the transaction and processing
service fees revenue growth mate by 2 percentage points compared to 2012

Transaction and processing service fee revenue 1s dnven by aceounts on file and transactions The spread between growth in these two indicators and revenue
growth was dnven mostly by the mix of transaction types and the impact of foreign cumrency exchange rate movements Intemational card accounts on file
increased 1n 2014 compared to 2013 pnmanly due to new portfolios of existing chents in the United Kingdom, partially offset by the removal of inactive
accounts in Canada

Product sales and other revenue mcreased i 2014 compared to 2013 primanly due to the $12 million sale of a merchant porifolio 1n Poland 1n the fourth
quarter In 2014, foreign currency exchange rate movements negatively impacted the growth rate for product sales and other revenue in 2014 compared to
2013 by 8§ percentage points

Product sales and other revenue decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 due to a decrease m software license sales and lower bulk temunal sales in Canada due
to exating this line of business In 2013, foreign cumrency exchange rate movements negatively impacted the growth rate for product sales and other revenue
1n 2013 compared to 2012 by 3 percentage points

Internanenal Segment EBITDA increased i 2014 compared to 2013 due to the revenue 1tems noted above and a combined $9 mulhon from a tax recovery in
Australia and tower bonus expense, partially offset by an unfaverable tax outcome 1n Argentina The segment EBITDA growth rate for 2014 compared to
2013 was negatively impacted by 6 percentage points from the impact of foreign cumency exchange rate movements

Segment EBITDA decreased 1n 2013 compared to 2012 due to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements which adversely impacted the
segment EBITDA growth rate by 3 percentage points Segment EBITDA n 2013 benefited from the revenuce items noted above as well as decreased operating
expenses dnven by cost savings imtiatives Segment EBITDA growth in 2013 compared to 2012 was adversely impacted by increased costs related to the
expansion of our merchant acquinng business as well as the decrease i sofiware license sales descnbed above

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Qur source of iquidity ts principally cash generated from operating activities supplemented as necessary on a short-term basis by borrowings against our
revolving credit facility We believe our cument level of cash and shont-term financing capabiltties along with future cash flows from operattons arc sufficient
to mect the necds of the business The following discussion highlights changes in our debt structure as well as our cash flow activities and the sources and
uses of funds dunng the years ended December 31,2014,2013,and 2012

Over the past few years, we completed vanous amendments and modifications to certain of our debt agreements 1n an effort to extend our debt matunties and
lower 1nterest rates Details regarding our debt structure are provided 1n Note 6 "Borrowings™ to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, ltem 8 of
this Form 10-K.

On July 11,2014, FDH, our direct parent, completed the 1ssuance of $3 5 billion ofits Class B common equuty 1n a private placement Approximately $2 5
billion of the net proceeds from the pnvate placement were contnbuted to us as a capatal contnbution and the funds were used to repay approximately $2 2
billion of debt and $214 milhion in call premiums

Additionally, on July 18,2014, we repniced approximately $5 7 billion 6f 2018 termn loans, reducing the interest rate by 50 basis points and saving over $25
mullion in annual ntercst expense The debt pay down from the equity contribution proceeds, combined with the reprcing and other actions by us, will lower

annual cash mterest payments by approximately $228 mullion .
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As of February 27,2015, our long-term corporate farnmuly rating from Moody's was B3 (positive outlook) The long-term local 1ssuer credit rating from
Standard and Poor's was B (stable) The long-term 1ssuer detauli rating from Fitch was B (stable) Our current level of debt may limut our ability to get
additional funding beyond our revolving credit facility 1f needed

Cash and cash equivalents [nvestments (other than those included in settlement assets) with onginal matunties of three months or less (that are readily
conventible to cash) are considered to be cash equivalents and are stated at cost, which approximates market value As of December 31,2014 and 2013, we
held $358 million and $425 multion in cash and eash equivalents, respectively

Included 1n cash and cash equivalents are amounts held by subsidiaries that are not available to find operations outside of those subsidiaries As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the cash and cash equivalents held by these subsidianes totaled $152 million and $116 milhon, respectively All other
domestic cash balances, to the extent available, are used to fund our short-term iquidity needs

Cash and cash equivalents also includes amounts held outside ofthe U S as of December 31,2014 and 2013 totaling $171 rmullion and $238 metlion,
respectively Approximately $34 mullion as of December 31,2014 15 held in Argentina where government imposed restnictions prevent any matenal
repatnations outside of the country As of December 31, 2014, there was appraximately $58 mullion of cash and cash equivalents held outside of the U'S that
could be used for general corporate purposes We plan to fund any cash needs 1n 2015 wathin the Intemational segment with cash held by the segment, but1f
necessary, could fund such needs using cash from the U S, subject to satisfying debt covenant restnctions

Cash flows from operating activities

N Year ended December 31,

Source/{use) (In milllons) 2014 013 2012

Net loss H] (2645) § 6921) § (5273)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities

‘ Depreciation and amortization (including amortization netied agamst equity eamings in
L affiliates and revenues) L1633 1,211 9 1,3309

i} ) . 122 1029 1225
. Other non-cash and non-operating stems, net 26 {88) #02)

Increase (decrease) in cash, excluding the effects of acquisitions and dispositions,
resulting from changes in

Charges related to other operating expenses and other income

Accounts recetvable, current and long-term (61 2) 633 49 8)
Other assets, current and long-term 624 28 2600
Accounts payable and other habihities, current and long-term 120 (12) (34 6)
Income tax accounts (136) 61) (294 1)
Net cash provided by operaung activities 3 10132 § 6727 § 7674

Cash flows provided by opemating activities for the penods presented resulted from normal operating activities and reflect the timng of our working capital
requirements

Our aperating cash flow 1s sigmificantly impacted by ourlevel of debt Approximately $1 7 billion, $1 8 billion, and $1 8 ballion 1n cash 1nterest, ncluding
interest on Lines of credit and capital leases, was pard dunng 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively The decrease in cash interest 1n 2014 compared to 201315
primarily due to extingwishing debt in the third quarter 0of2014 )




We cstimate that our 2015 quanerly cash interest payments, excluding interest on hines of credrt and capital leases, will be as follows

Estimated cash interest payments on

Three months ended Lang-term Debt
(in mullions) (Unaudited)
March 31, 2015 by 560
June 30,2015 225
September 30, 2015 570
December 31,2015 230
$ 1,585

Using December 31, 2014 balances for vanable rate debt and appltcable interest rate swaps, a 100 basts point increase in the applicable London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR) index on an annualized basis would increase interest expense by approximately $44 million

Our aperating cash flows are impacted by fluctuations in working capital Cash flows from operating actuivities 1n 2014 increased compared to 2013 pnmanly
due to an increase 1 operating income and a decrease 1n cash interest payments Cash flows from operating activities in 2013 decreased compared to 2012
pnmanly due to timing of vanous payments The decrease was partiaily offset by sources of cash related to lower prefunding of settlement arangements

Cash flows from investing activibies

Year ended December 31,

Saurce/(use) (in milbons) 2014 2013 2012
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses pad ) 3 2701 % 181 & —
Additions to property and equipment " (308 0) (194 1) * 193 1)
Paymenis to sccure customer service contracts, including outlays for converston, and

caputalized systems development costs (258 5) {184 4) (177 2)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 30 8) (azn (329)
iProceeds from sale of property and equipment 27 it8 80
Contnbutions to equity method investments — — (79)
Other investing activities 43) 76 60
Net cash used in investing activities $ (3288) $ (3531) § (397 1)

Acquisitions and dispostions All acquisttions durmg the penods presented were funded from cash flows from operating activities or from the reinvestment of
cash proceeds from the sale of other assets Purchases of noncoutroliing interests are classified as financing activities as noted below We continue to manage
our portfohio of businesses and evaluate the possible divestiture of businesses that do not match our long-term grawth objectives Additionally, we continug
to pursue opportunities that sirategically fit into the business We finance acquisitions throngh a combination of cash flows from operating activities,
reinvestment of proceeds from the sale of other assets, borrowings, and equity We believe that these sources of funds will be adequate to meet our funding
requirements as it relates to future acquisitons

In August 2014, we acquired Gyft, a leading digutal platform that enables consumers to buy, send, manage, and redeem gift cards using mobile devices

In May 29, 2014, we completed the sale of our 30% mmonty interest in a transportation payments business, EFS, and recewved $264 mithon i cash
In October 2813, we acquired 100% of Perka, a provider of a mobile marketing and consumer loyaliy solution
In December 2012, we acquired 100% of Clover Network, a provider of payment network services

For a more detailed discussion on acquisitions and dispositions refer to Note 3 "Acquisitions and Dispositions” to our Consolidated Financial Statements in
Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K .
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Caputal expenditures (Addittons to property and equipment and Payments to secure customer service contracts, tncluding outlays for conversion, and
capstelized systems development costs) Capital expenditures in 2014 increased compared to 2013 due primanly to technology additions and Intemational
ATM and POS additions Capital expenditures are anticipated to be approximately $550 million to $600 mullion in 2015 and are expected to be funded by
cash flows from operations [f; however, cash flows from operating activities are insufficient, we will decrease our discretionary capital expenditures or utilize
ourrevolving credit facilny

Duning the penods presented, net proceeds were received for the sale of certain assets, including buildings and equipment

Cash flows from financing activies

Year ended December 31,

Source/(use) (In millions) 2014 2013 2012
1Shont-term borrowings, net $ 118 3 {1096) $ 99 1
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 3500 — —
iDebt modification {payments) proceeds and related financing costs (342 8) (10 3) 173
Principal payments on long-term debt (2,261 8) 922) (83 3)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions —— — 138
Iistributions and dividends paid to noncontrolling interests and redeemable

noncontrolling interest - (265 4) 224 5) (261 9)
Purchase of noncontrolling interest (10) 237 251)
Caprtal transactions wath parent, net 1,788 2 (29 8) 84)
Net cash used in financing activities $ 7210) % “4%01) § (248 5)

!

Short-term barrowings, net For all three years, the cash activity resulted pnmanly from net borrowings and paydowns on our intermational credit lines used
pnncipatly to prefund settlement activity

As of December 31, 2014, our semior secured revolving credit facility had comrmutments from finaneial institutions to provide $1 0 billion of credit and
matures on September 24, 2016 Besides the letters of credit discussed below, we had $10 miilion outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and no amount
outstanding as of December 31,2013 As of December 31, 2014, $964 m:llion remained available under this facility Excluding the letters of credit, the
maximum amount outstanding against this facility dunng 2014 was approximately $474 mullion while the average amount outstanding duning 2014 was
approximately $107 milhon

We utilize our revolving credit facility to fund investing or operating activities when cash flows from operating acuvities are not sufficient We believe the
capacity under our semior secured revolving credit facility will be sufficient to meet our hquidity needs Qur senior secured revolving credit facility can be
used for working capital and general corporate purposes

There are multple instituttons that have comnutments under this facility with none representing more than approximately 25% of the remaiming capacity

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt In July 2014, we reccived $350 nuthion from the 1ssuance 0f 2018 New Term Loans and proceeds were used for
general corporate purposcs

Debt modification {(paymenis) proceeds and related financing costs In conjunction with 1ssuing debt in November 2013, we recerved $55 mullion 1n cash
related to accrued interest on the notes which were 1ssued mid-coupon penod, which was paid in the first guarter of 2014 Additionally, our debt
modifications and amendments completed 1 2013 and fully settled in the first quarter of 2014 were accounted for as modifications resulting in only the net
effect of the transactions of $35 nullion, including payment of capitalized fees, being reflected as a use or source of cash excluding certain fees included in
the our results of operations Also, in July 2014, we tncurred call premiums and defemed financing costs of $252 nuthion 1n the third quaner of 2014
associated with certain debt repayments and new bommrowings Refer to Note 6 "Bomowings" to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.

Principal payments on long-term debt In conpunction with the debt modifications and amendments discussed above, proceeds from the 1ssuance of new notes

were used to prepay portions of the pnncipal balances of our semor secured term loans which satisfied the future quarterly pnncipal payments under the
senior secured credit facility
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Dunng the third quarter of 2014, we extinguished $2 2 billion in debt Refer to Note 6 "Borrowings” to our Consolidated Nnancial Statements in Part 11, ltem
& of this Form 10-K for additional information on extimguishment of debt Dunng 2013, we pard notes totaling $16 million No payments were made 1n 2012

Payments for capual leases totaled $79 million, $76 miilion, and $80 milhon for 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively

Distrebutions and dividends patd to noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrolling wnterest Distributions and dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests and redecmable noncontrolling interest pnmanly represent distnbutions of earnings The activity 1n all penods presented was pnimanly the result of
distnbutions associated with the BAMS zlliance

Purchase of noncontrolling tnterest In May 2014, we acquired the less than 1% of the equity we did not already own of First Data Polska S A for$1 mullion |
In Apnl 2012, we acquired the remaining approximately 30 percent noncontrelling interest in Ommpay, a provider of card and electronic payment

processing services to merchant acquinng banks, for approximately 37 million euro, of which 19 mullion euro ($25 mullion) was paid in April 2012 and the

remaining |8 milhon euro ($24 mithon) was pad in Apnl 2013

Caputal transaction with parent, net FDH contnbuted $2 5 billion to us as a capital contnbution and the funds were used to repay certain tranches of our
debt Payments to FDH for cash dividends totaled $686 mullion, $28 milhien, and $7 mullion for 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively

L.etters, lines of credit, and other

Total Available (a) Total Quistanding
As of December 31, As of December 31, -
(i millions) . 2014 2013 2014 2013
Letters of credit {b) $ 5000 $ 5000 3§ 429 § 463
Lines of credit and other (c) 3492 2648 681 687
I R 7]

{a) Total available without giving effect to amounts outstanding

{b) Up to $500 million of our senior secured revolving credit facility 1s available for letters of credit Outstanding letters of credit are held in connection wiath lease arrangements
bankcard associaban agreements, and other security agreements The maximum amount of letters of credit outstanding during 2014 was approximatcly $48 mullion All leticrs of
credit expire prior to December 10, 2015 with a on¢-year renewal opiion We expect 10 renew most of the letters of ¢redit prior te cxpiratton .

{¢) Asof December 31, 2014, represents $283 nullion of commetted bines of credit as well as certain uncommitted hines of credat and other agreements that are available i vanous
currencees to fund setttement and other acuvity We cannot use these lines of credst for general corporate purposes Certain of these arrangements are uncommutted but, as of the
dates presented, we had borrowings outstanding against them

In the event one or more of the aforementioned hines of credit becomes unavailable, we will utilize our existing cash, cash flows from operating activities or
our revolving credit facality to meet our hquidity needs

Guarantees and covenants All obhigations under the senior secured revolving credit facility and sentor secured term loan facility are unconditionally
guaranteed by most of our existing and futurc, direct and indirect, wholly owned, matenal domestic subsidianes The senior secured facilitics contain a
number of covenants that, among other things, restnet our abality to incur additional indebtedness, create hiens, enter into sale-leaseback transactions,
engage 1n mergers or consolidations, sell or transfer assets, pay dividends and distnbutions or repurchase our or our parent company's capital stock, make
mvestments, loans or advances, prepay certain indebtedness, make certain acquisitions, engage i certain transactions with affiliates, amend matenal
agreements govemning certain indebtedness, and change our lines ofbusiness The senior secured facilities also require us to not exceed a maximum senior
secured leverage ratio and contain certain customary affimnative covenants and events of default, including a change of control The senior secured term loan
facihity also requures mandatory prepayments based on a percentage of excess cash flow generated by us

All obligations under the semer secured notes, senior second lien notes, senwor notes, and sentor subordinated notes are similarly guaranteed in accordance
with their terms by each of our domestic subsidianes that guarantee obligations under cur senior secured term loan facility descnbed above These notes and
facilities also contan a number of covenants simlar to those descnbed for the senior secured obligations noted above We are in compliance wath all _
applicable covenants as of December 31, 2014 and anticipate that we will remain 1n compliance in future penods .
Although all of the above descnbed indebtedness contain restnictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to
numerous qualifications and exceptions, including the ability to incur indebiedness in connection with
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our settlement operations We believe that the indebtedness that can be incurred under these exceptions as well as additonal credit under the existing senor
secured revolving credit facility are sufficient to satisfy our intermediate and long-term needs

Covenant comphiance Under the semior secured revolving credit and term loan facihities, certain limmtations, restnctions, and defaunlts could occurif we are
not able to satusfy and remain 1n comphance with spectfied financial ratios We have agreed that we will not permut the Consolidated Sentor Secured Debt to
Consohdated EBITDA (both as defined 1n the agreement) Ratio for any 12 month penod (last four fiscal quarters) to be greater than 6 00 ta | 00

The breach of this covenant could result tn a default under the semor secured revolving credit facility and the sentor secured term loan credit facility and the
lenders could elect to declare all amounts borrowed due and payable Any such acceleration could also result in a default under the indentures for the senior
secured notes, senwor second Lien notes, senror notes, and sentor subordinated notes As of December 31, 2014, we are in ¢comphance wath this covenant with
Consolidated Sentor Secured Debt of $11 9 billion, Consolidated EBITDA of $3 1 billion and a Ratie of 3 88 1o 1 00

In determiming Consolidated EBITDA, EBITDA 15 caleulated by reference to net income (loss) from continuing operations plus interest and other financing
costs, net, provision for income taxes, and depreciation and amoertization Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the agreements (also referred 10 as debt
covenant EBITDA) 1s calculated by adjusting EBITDA to exclude unusual items and other adjustments permitted 1n calculating covenant comphance under
the indentures and the credit facilities We believe that the inclusion of supplementary adjustments to EBITDA applied in presenting Consolidated EBITDA
are appropnate to provide additional information to investors to demonstrate our ability to comply with our financing covenants

The calculation of Cansolidated EBITDA under our senior secured term loan facility 15 as follows

Last twelve months ended December

{in millions) M, 2014
;Net loss attnbutable to First Data Corporation $ i (457 8)
Interest expense, net (1) 1,742 4
ilncomc tax expense 821
Depreciation and amortization (2) 1,163 3
EBITDA (18) 2,5300
iStock based compensation (3) ’ T 499
Restructunng, net (4) 440
Non-operating foreign cumrency (gains) and losses (3) 351
Investment (gatns) and losses {6) ) {100 2)
‘Denvative financial instruments {gains) and losses (7) 03
Official check and money order EBITDA (8) {10)
Cost of alliance conversions and other technology imtiatives (9) 207
KKR related 1tems (10) 209
iDebt 1ssuance costs (11} _ 34
Litigatton and regulatory settlements (12) 05
Projected near-term cost savings and revenue enhancemenis (13) 60 4
Net income attnibutable to nencontrolling interests and redeemable noncontroliing interest {(14) 1933
Equity entities taxes, depreciatron and amortization (15) 115
Loss on debt extinguishment {16) 2601
Other(17) 232
Consolidated EBITDA (18) ] 30573

(1) includes interest expense and interest income

(2) Includes amaortization of imitial payments for new centracts which 1s recorded as a contra-revenue withen "Transaction  and processing service fees” of 345 million and
amertization related lo equity method investments, which is netied within the "Equity earnings in affiliates” line of $63 mullion

(N Stock based compensation recogmzed as expense , A

(4) Restructuring charges in conrection with management's alignmens of the business with strategic obpectives and the departure of executive officers

(5} Represents net gans and losses related to currency translations on certan intercompany loans and euro-densminated debt

{6} Reflects investment gains and losses, princepally 598 million gain on sale of minority interest, Electronie Funds Source
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(7) Represents fair market value adjustments for cross-currency swaps and imnterest rale swaps that are not designated as accounting hedges

(8) Represents an adjustment to exclude the official check and money order businesses from EBITDA due to wind down of these businesses

(9) Represents costs directly associated with the strategy to have First Data operate Bank of America N A 's legacy seilement platform and costs associated with the termination of the
Chase Paymentech alliance, both of which are considered business optimization projects, and other technology witiatives.

{10} Represents KKR annual sponsorship fees for management, financial 2nd other advisory services.

{11) Debt 1ssuance costs represent costs asseciated with 1ssuing debt and modifying First Dat's debt structure

{12) Represents settlements of hugauon or regulatory mattérs.

(13) Reflects cost savings and revenue enhancements projected 1o be realized as a result of specific acuons as if they were achieved on the first day of the period Includes cast savings
inttiatives associated with the business optimization projects and ather technelegy uuuatives descrabed i Note 9, the Banc of America Merchant Services (BAMS) alliance,
aperaugns, and technology mtiauves, headcount reductions, and other addressable spend reductions

{14) Net income atinbutable to noncontrelling interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest 1n restricted subsidiaries.

(15) Represents FDC § proporuonal share of income taxes depreciation and amortization on equsty method investments

{16) Loss ncurred due to early extinguishment of debt

(17} Includes items such as impairments and other as applicable to the penied presented

{18) EBITDA 1s defined as net income (loss) atiributable to First Data Corporation before net nterest expense, income 1axes, deprecianon, and amorttzauen EBITDA 15 not a
recognized term under U S generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and does not purpert to be an altermative to net income {loss) attnbutabls to First Data Corporaton
as a measure of operating performance or to ¢cash flows from operatng activities as a measure of hquidity Additionally EBITDA 1s not intended to be a measure of free cash flow
available for management s diseretionary use as 1t does not consider certain cash requirements such as interest payments, lax payments, and debt service requirements, The
preseniation of EBITDA has limitations as 2n analytcal 100l and shoutd not be considered 1 1solation or as 2 substitute for analysis of Furst Data's results as reporied under GAAP
Management believes EBITDA 15 helpful in highhighung wends because EBITDA excludes the resulis of decisions that are outside the control of operating management and can
differ significantly from company to company depending on long-term strategic decistons regarding capuzl structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and capital
mvestments Management compensates for the imitauons of using non-GAAP financial measures by using them to supplement GAAP results to provide a more complete
understanding of the factors and trends affecting the business than GAAP results alone

Consolidated EBITDA {or debt cavenant EBITDA) 1s defined as EBITDA adjusted to exclude certain non-cash items, non-recurring items that First Data does not expect to
contnue at the same level w the future and certain ttems management believes will tmpact future operaung results and adjusted 10 nclude near-term cost savings projected to be
achieved within twelve months on an annuahzed basis (se¢ Note 13 above) Consolidated EBITDA s further adjusted to add net tncome attributable to noncontrolling interests
and redecmable noncontrolling mterest of certain non-wholly owned subsidiaries and exclude other misceltaneous adjustments that are used in calculating covenant comphance
under the agrecments governing First Data's semor unsecured debt and/or semior secured credst facilitics. We believe that the inclusion of supplementary adjustments to EBITDA 15
approprate to provide addinonal nformation to investors about tems that will impact the calculation of EBITDA that 1s used to determine covenant compliance under the
agreements governing First Data's senior unsecured debt and/or senior secured credit facilities Since not all companies use identical caleulations, this presentation of Consolidated
EBITDA may not he comparable to other similarly tiled measures of ather companies

Off-balance sheet arrangements

Duning 2014, 2013 and 2012, we did not engage in any off-balance sheel financing activities other than those included i the *Contractual obligattons”
discussion below and those reflected 1 Note 9 "Commutments and Contingencies” to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part 11, Item 8 of this Formn 10-
K

Contractual obligations

Cur contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014 are as fallows

Payments Bue hy Period

Less than Alter
(In mullions) Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Bomowings (a) $ 29,7430 % 1,6579 % 4,4849 § 10,0678 § 13,5324
Capttal lease obligations (b) 2286 832 125 4 104 96
Operating leases 3030 601 96 5 692 772
Pension plan contnbutions (c) 773 137 156 156 324
'Purchase obligations (d)
Technology and telecommunications {e) 498 1 2658 2207 87 29
All ather (f) 446 2 2136 1543 783 —
Other long-term habilities 1141 i59 922 58 02
§ 314103 % 23102 § 51896 8§ 10,2558 % 13,654 7

{a) Includes future principal and cash 1nterest payments on longsterm borrowings through scheduled maturity dates Includes 84 4 bilhon of vanable rate debt (includimg the wmpact
of miterest rate swaps) Borrowings and nierest rate swaps are discussed in Note 6 "Borrowings™ and Note 5 "Denvauve Financial [nstruments”, respectively, to our Consolidated
Financial Statements in Part 11, ltcm 8 of this Form 10-K Interest payments for the variable rate debt and the associated interest rate swaps were ¢aleulated using interest rates as of
December 31, 2014

(b) Represenis future payments on existing caputal leases, mncluding nterest expense through scheduled expiration dates
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(¢} Includes futere pension plan contmbutions for all plans tn 2015 and future contractual commitments for the United Kingdom (U K ) plan through 2024 which are subject to
change The amount of pension plan contributrons depends upon various factars that cannot be accurately esumated beyord a one-year ime frame other than the U K plap

(d) Many of our contracts contain clauses that allow us to ermunate the contract with notice, and with or without a terminaton penalty Termination penalties are generally an amount
less than the original obliganon Certain contracts also have an automatic renewal clause o we do not provide written notification of our intent to lermunate the contract
Obligations under certain contracts are usage-based and are, therefore, estmated 1n the above amounts Historicatly, we have not had any significant defaults of our contractual
obligatons or meurred sigruficant penalties for termination of our contractual obligatons.

(e} Technology and telecommunications represents obhigations related to hardware purchases, mctuding purchases of ATMs and terminals, as well as software heenses, hardware and
software mauwntenance and support, technical consultung services, and telecommunications services

(f)  Other includes obligations related to materals, data, non-technical contract services, facthty security, investor management fees, mamntenance, and marketing promougns

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $262 million of tax contingencies compnsed of approximately $238 miilion reported 1n long-term income
taxes payable in the “Other long-term liabilities” hine of the Consolidated Balance Sheets, including approximately $4 nullion of income tax habilities for
which The Westem Umion Company {Western Union) 1s requured to indemmify us, and approximately $24 mullion recorded as an increase of our defemred tax
hability Timung oftax payments 1s dependent upon vanous factors which cannot be reasonably estimated at this time

Critical Accounting Policies

Goodwll Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired, including identifiable tniangible assets, and has been allocated to
reporting umts Cur reporting umits are businesses at the operating scgment level or one level below the operating segment level for which discrete financial
information 1s prepared and regularly reviewed by management

We test goodwill annually for impairment, as well as upon an indicator of impairment, using a fair value approach at the reporting unit level The estimate of
fair value requires vanous assumptions about a reporting unit’s future financial vesults and cost of capital We determmne the cost of capatal for each reporting
umt giving consideration to a number of factors including discount rates All key assumptions and valuations are determuned by and are the respensibility of
management If it 15 determined that the fair value of the reporting unit 1s less than its carrying value, we would estimate the farr value of all of the reporting
unit’s assets and Liabilities and calculate an imphied fair value of goodwll, which 15 the difference between the reporting unit’s fair value and the fair value of
all ats other assets and liabilities Ifthe implied fair value of goodwill 1s less than its camy)ng value, the shortfall 1s recognized as impairment The
methodelogy for esimating fair value vanes by asset, however, the most significant assets are intangible assets We estimate the fair value of the intangible
assets using the excess eamings method, royalty savings method, or cost savings method, all of which are a form of a discounted cash flow analysis An
tnpatrment charge of a reporing umit’s goodwll could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial results Changes in the underlying bustness and
economic conditions could affect these estumates used in the analysis discussed above, which 1n tum could affect the fair value of the reporting unit Thus, 1t
15 possible for reporting units that record impatrments to record additional impairments in the future

As of December 31, 2014, the carrying value of goodwill was $17 @ ballion 1n our Consohdated Balance Sheet As of October 1, 2014, the most recent
impairment analysis date, the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded tts carrying value Based on the most recent annual goodwill test for impaimment, all
of our four reporting units passed the test, though two passed with a margin 0f 20% arless Based on the most recent annual goodwall test for impaimment, our
Merchant Solutions and Intemational segments passed by 18% and 16%, respectively An additional analysis was perfonmed which sensitized the base
discount rate by an additional 50 basis points with all reporting units sull passing Refer to Note 1 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies™ to our
Consolidated Financial Statements win Part 11, Itemn 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding goodwill

Intangible assets We capitahize imtral payments for new contracts, contract renewals, and conversion costs associated with customer contracts and system
development costs Capitalization of such costs 1s subject to stnct accounting policy entena and requires management yudgment as to the appropnate time Lo
mitiate capitalization Capitalization of imuial payments for contracts and conversion costs onky occurs when management 15 satisfied that such costs are
recoverable through future operations, contractual mimimums, and/or penalties in ¢ase of early termination

We develop software that 1s used 1n providing processing services to customers To a much lesser extent, we also develop software to be sold or licensed to
customers Capttalization of intemally developed software, pnmanly associated with operating platforms, occurs only upon management’s estimation that
the likelihood of successful development and implementation reaches a probable tevel Currently unforeseen circumstances in sofiware development could
require us to implement altemative plans with respect to a particular effort, which could result in the impairment of previously capitalized software
development costs
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In addition to the intemally generated intangible assets discussed above, we also record mtangible assets as a result of business combinations and asset
acquisitions In these transactions, we typically acquire and recognize intangible assets such as customer relationships, sofiware, and trade names In a
business combination, each intangible asset 1s recorded at us fair value In an asset acquisttion, the cost of the acquisition 1s allocated among the acquired
assets, generally by theirrelative fair values We generally estimate the fair value of acquired intangible assets using the excess eamings method, royalty
savings method, or cost savings method, all of which are a form of a discounted cash flow analysis These estumates require vaneus assumptions about the
future cash flows associated with the assets, appropnate costs of capital, and other inputs such as ar appropnate royalty rate Changes to these estimates
would matenally impact the value assigned to the assets as well as the amounts subsequently recorded as amortizauon expense

We test contract and conversion costs for recoveratulity on an annual basis by companng the remaining expected undiscounted cash flows under the contract
to the net book value Any assets that are determned ta be unrecoverable are wnten down 1o fair value This analysis requires significant assumpuions
regarding the future profitability of the customer contract duning its remamning term Additonally, contracts, conversion costs, and all other tong lived assets
(including customer relationships) are tested for impairment upon an tndicator of potential impairment Such mdicators include, but are not hmited to a
cument penad operating or cash flow loss associated with the use of an asset or asset group, combined with a history of such losses and/or a forecast
anticipating continued losses, a significant adverse change n the business, legal climate, market pnice of an asset or manner in which an asset 1s being used,
an accumulation of costs for a project significantly 1n excess of the amount onginally expected, or an expectation that an asset will be sold or otherwise
disposed of at a loss

The canying value of the First Data trade name 15 $604 million as of December 31, 2014 Upon consideration of many factors, including the determination
that there are no legal, regulatory or contractual provisions that hmit the useful life of the First Data trade name, we determined that the First Data trade name
had an windefinte useful hfe Asan indefinite Lived asset, the First Data trade name 15 not amortized but 1s reviewed annually forimpairment until such time as
1t 15 determined to have a fintte i1fe. For 2014, we clected not to begin the process with a qualitative assessment due to the significance of the First Data trade
name to our financial statements [n step one of the impatrment test, we estimate the fair value of the First Data trade name using a relief from royalty
methodology 1n which a royalty rate 1s apphed to our revenue streams to be refiant upon the First Data trade name 1n order to estimate the rent that we save by
owning rather than leasing the asset As of October 1, 2014, the most recent impairment analysis date, the fair value of the First Data trade name exceeded its
carrying vale

Reserve for merchant credit losses and check guarantees With respect to the merchant acquinng business, our merchant customers (or those of our
unconsclidated alliances) have the liability for any charges properly reversed by the cardholder In the event, however, that we are not able to collect such
amounts from the merchants due to merchant fraud, insolvency, bankruptcy or another reason, we may be hiable for any such reversed charges Qurnsk in this
area pnmanly relates to situations where the cardholder has purchased goods or services to be delivered in the future such as airline tickets

QOur obligation to stand ready to perform 1s minimal in relation to the total dollar volume processed We require cash deposits, guarantees, letters of credit or

other types of coliateral from certain merchants to mininize this obhigation The amounts of collateral held by us and our unconsolidated alliances are as
follows

As of December 31,

{1n millioas) 2014 2013

'Cash and cash equivalents collateral $ 4403 % 4794
Collateral 1n the form of letters of credit 926 106 0
Total collaterat s 5329 § 5854

We also utilize a number of systems and procedures to manage merchant nisk Despite these efferts, we histoncally have expenenced some level of losses due
to merchant defaults
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Our contingent obligation relates to imprecision 1n our estimates of required collateral A provision for this obligation s recorded based pnmanly on
histonical expenence of credit losses and otherrelevant factors such as economic downtums or increases in merchant fraud The following table presents the
aggregate merchant credit losses incurred compared to total dollar volumes processed

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
JFDC and consoltdated and unconsohdated alliances credit tosses (in millions) S 629 § 537 § 500"
FDC and consolidated alliances credit losses (in mullions) 553 483 433
‘LTotal dollar volume acquired (in billions) 1,876 1 1,778 9 1,725 4

The reserve recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets only relates to the business conducted by our consohidated subsidianes The reserve for
unconsohdated alliances s recorded only in the alhiances’ respective financial statements We have not recorded any reserve for estimated losses 1n excess of
reserves recorded by the unconsolidated alliances nor have we 1dentified needs to do so The following table presents the aggregate merchant credit loss
FCSCIVES

As of December 31,

{in millians) 2014 2013
\IDC and consolidated and unconsolidated alliances merchant credit 1oss reserves $ 238 § 268
FDC and consohidated alliances merchant credit loss reserves 201 241

The credit loss reserves, both for us and our unconsolidated alliances, are compnsed of amounts for known losses and a provision for losses incurred but not
reported (IBNR) These reserves pnmarily are determuned by performing a histonical analysis of chargeback loss expenence Other factors are considered that
could affect that expenence in the future Such items include the general economy and economic challenges in a specific industry or those affecting certain
types of chients Once these factors are considered, we ar the unconsolidated alliance establishes a rate {percentage) that 1s calculated by dividing the
expected chargeback {credit) bosses by dollar volume processed This rate 1s then apphied against the dollar volume processed each month and charged
against eamings The resnlting reserve balance 1s then compared to requirements for known losses and estimates for BNR 1tems Histoncally, this estimation
process has proven to be matenally accurate and we believe the recorded reserve approximates the farvalue ofthe contingent obligation

The majonty of the TeleCheck business invalves the guarantee of checks received by merchants [f the check 1s retumed, TeleCheck 1s required to purchase
the check from the merchant at 1ts face value and pursue collection from the check wnter A provision for estimated check retums, net of anticipated
recovenes, 1s recorded at the transaction imception based on recent history The following table presents the accrued warranty and recovery balances

As of December 31,
{in miltions) 1014 013
Accrued warranty balances 3 85 % 94
Accrued recovery balances 253 272

We establish an incremental hiability {and deferred revenue) for the fair value of the check guarantee The liability 15 rehieved and revenue 1s recognized when
the check clears, 15 presented to TeleCheck, or the guarantee penod expires The majonty of the guarantees are settled within 30 days The incremental
lLiability was approximately $1 muillion as of December 31,2014 and 2013 The following table details the check guarantees of TeleCheck

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Aggregate face value of guaranteed checks (1n billions) b3 358 % 389 % 429
Aggrepate amo—u'nt of checks presented for warmanty (1n mullions}) - 2525 2854 Ji88
Warranty losses net of recovenes (in millions) 666 664 759
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The maximum potential future payments under the guarantees were estimated by us to be approximately $1 2 billion as of December 31, 2014 which
represented an estimate of the total uncleared checks at that tume

Income taxes The determunation of our provision for icome taxes requires manzgement's judgment in the use of estimates and the interpretation and
apphcation of complex tax laws Judgment s also required 1n assessing the iming and amounts of deductible and taxable tems We establish contingency
reserves for matenal, known tax exposures relatng to deductions, transacuions, and other matters nvolving some uncertainty as to the proper tax treatment of
the item Qur reserves reflect our judgment as to the resolution of the 1ssues involved 1f subject to judicial review Several years may elapse before a particular
matter, for which we have established a reserve, 1s audited and finally resolved orclanfied While we believe that our reserves are adequate to cover
reasonably expected tax nsks, 1ssues ratsed by a tax authonty may be finally resolved at an amount different than the related reserve Such differences could
matentally increase or decrease our income tax provision in the current and/or future penods When facts and circumstances change (including a resolution of
an 1ssue or statute of linutattons expiration), these reserves are adjusted through the provision for income taxes tn the period of change As the result of
interest and amortization expenses that we incur, we are currently in a tax net operating loss position Judgmenl 1s required to detenmine whether some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be reahzed To the extent we determine that we will not realize the benefit of some or all of our deferred tax
assets, then these assets are adjusted through our provision for income taxes 1n the penod 1in which this determination 1s made

We are currently n a tax net operating loss position in several jurisdictions in which we operate, including the United States federal junsdiction, resulting in
significant deferred tax assets We establish a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets when, based upon the weight of all available evidence, we
believe 1t 1s more likely than not that some portion ar all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized We believe that a sigmficant portion of the deferred
tax assets will be realized because of the existence of sufficient taxable income wathin the carryforward penod available under the tax law, but have
established valuation allowances for those deferred tax assets that in our judgment will not be realized In making this determination, we have considered the
relative impact of all of the avaitable positive and negative evidences regarding future sources of taxable income and tax planning strategies However, there
could be matertal impact to our effecnve tax rate 1f there 1s a significant change in cur judgment If and when our judgment changes, then the valuation
allowances are adjusted through the provision for income taxes in the penod 1n which this determination 1s made Referto Note 15 "Income Taxes" to our
Consclidated Financial Statements in Part [L, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding our income tax provision

Stock-based compensation We have a stock incentive plan for certain employees of ours and our affihiates (stock plan) This stock plan is at the FDH level
which owns 100% of our equity interests The stock plan provides the opportunity for certain employees to purchase shares in FDH and then receive a
number of stock options or restncted stock based on a multiple of their investment 1n such shares The plan also allows for us to award shares and options ta
certain employees The expense associated with this plan 1s recorded by us We use the Black-Scholes option pncmg model to measure the fair value of stock
option awards We chose the Black-Scholes model based on our expenence with the model and the determination that the model could be used to provide a
reasonable estimate of the fair value of awards with terms such as those 1ssued by FDH Option-pncing models require estimates of a number of key valuation
inputs including expected volatihity, expected dividend yield, expected term, and rnisk-free imterest rate Certamn of these 1nputs are more subjective due to
FDH being prnvately held and thus not having objective histoncal or public information The most subjective mnputs are the expected term, expected
volatility and detemmnation of share value The expected term 1s determined using probabihity weighted expectations and expected volatility 1s detenmined
using a selected group of guideline compantes as surrogates for FDH

Periodically, we esttmate the far value of FDH common stock We rely on the results of a discounted cash flow analysis but also consider the results ofa
market approach The discounted cash flow analysis 1s dependent on a number of sigmificant management assumptions regarding the expected future
financial results of ours and FOH as well as upon estumates of an appropnate cost of capital A sensitivity analysis 1s performed 1n order to establish a namrow
range of estimated fair values for the shares of FDH common stock The market approach consists of identifying a set of guideline public companies
Multiples of histoncal and projected EBITDA determined based on the guideline companies 1s applied to FDH’s EBITDA 1n order to establish a range of
estimated fair value for the shares of FDH common stock We consider the results of both of these approaches, placing pnmary reliance on the discounted
cash flow analysis The concluded range of fair values is also compared to the value deterrmned by the Board of Directors for use in transactions, including
stock sales and repurchases After considenng all of these estimates of fair value, we then determine a single estimated fair value of the stock to be used
accounting for stock-based compensation .

As of December 31,2014, ume-based options were outstanding under the stock plan The ume options have a contractual term of 10 vears Time options vest
equally over a three to five year penod from the date of1ssuance The options also have certain accelerated vesting provisions upon a change 1n control, a
qualified public offening, or certain terrmination events
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The assumpttons used in estimaning the fair value of share-based payment awards represent management's best estimates, but these esimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management judgment As a result, 1f factors change and we use different assumpuions, stock-based compensation
expense could be different 1n the future

Referto Note 11 "Stock Compensation Plans” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included 1n Pant 11, item 8 ofthis Form 10-K for details regarding cur
stock-based compensation plan

New Accounting Guidance

Refer to Note | "Summary of Sigaificant Accounting Policies” 1o our Consolidated Financial Statements included 1n Part II, Ttem 8 of this Form 10-K for new
accounting guidance

~
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ITEM7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Rusk !

We are exposed to market nisk from changes 1n interest rates Qur assets include cash equivalents as well as both fixed and floating rate interest-bearing
secunities These investments anse pnmanly from settlement funds held by us pending settlement

Our interest rate-sensttive Liabilities are our debt tnstruments Our sentor secured term loan facility 1s subject to vanable interest rates We have interest rate
swaps on $5 0 bithion of the vanable rate debt that convent 1t to fixed rates that expire tn September 2016 In addition, we have a fixed to floating interest rate
swap with a notional value of $750 million expinng 1n June 2019 with a mandatory termination date of June 2015, to maintain our ratio of fixed to floating
rate debt Therefore, as of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $4 4 billion of vanable rate debt that 1s not subject to a fixed rate swap and includes the
fixed to floating 1nterest rate swap

Based on the December 31, 2014 balances, a 10% proportionate increase in short-term interest rates on an annuatized basts compared to the interest rates as of
December 31,2014, which for the three month LIBOR was 0 2556%, and a comresponding and paratle! shift in the remainder of the yield curve, would result
1n a decrease to pretax income of 1 miltion The $1 million decrease to pretax income {due to a 10% increase 1n vanable rates as of December 31, 2014)15
due to a $1 million increase (n interest expense related to our balance of vanable interest rate debt, net of interest rate swaps Conversely, a corresponding !
decrease i interest rates would result in a comparable increase to pretax income Actual interest rates could change sigmficantly more than 10% There are
mherent himitations in the sensiivily analysis presented, pnmanly due to the assumption that interest rate movements are linear and instantaneous Asa
result, the analysis 1s unable to reflect the potential effects of more complex market changes that could anse, which may positively or negatively affect
mcome -

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to changes in‘currency rates as a result of our investments in foreign operations, revenues generated in currencies other than the US dollar
and foreign currency-denomunated loans Revenue and profit generated by intemational operations will increase or decrease compared to pnor penods as a
result of changes 1n foreign currency exchange rates Refer to Note 5 "Denvatsve Financial Instruments” to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part 11,
Item 8 of this Form 10-K foradditional information regarding the changes in foreign cumrency exchange rates

A hypothencal uniform 10% weakening in the value of the US dollar relative to all the cumrencies in which our revenues and profits are denominated would
result 1n an ncrease to pretax mncome of approximately $14 million The increase results from a $59 million merease related to foreign exchange on
intercompany loans and a $19 million merease related to foreign exchange on foreign currency eamings, assuming consisient operating results as the twelve
months preceding December 31,2014 Thus increase 1s partially offset by a $62 miilion decrease related to a euro-denomunated term loan held by us as well as
a $3 million decrease related Lo two euro-denominated cross<urmrency swaps held by us There are inherent himitations in the sensiivity analysis presented,
prmarily due to the assumption that foreign exchange rate movements are linear and instantaneous As a result, the analysis 15 unable to reflect the potential
effects of more complex market changes that could anse, which may positively or negatively affect income

Regulatory
Through its merchant alhiances, the Merchant Solutions segment holds an ownership inierest 1n several competing merchant acquinng businesses while
serving as the electronie processor for those businesses In order to satisfy state and federal antitrust requirements, we actively maintain an antitrust

compliance program
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Report of Independent Registered Pubhic Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholder of First Data Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of First Data Corporation as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related
consolwdated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and equity for each of the three years in the penod ended December 31, 2014
Qur audits also include the financial statement schedute listed 1n the Index at Item 15(a) These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility ofthe
Company’s management Our responsibility 18 to express an opinton on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal rsstatement An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the
accounting prnneiples used and sigmificant estumates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We belteve that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our optnion

In our opinion, the conselidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 1n all matenal respects, the consohidated financial posiuon of First
Data Corporation at December 31, 2014 and 2413, and the consolidated results of its operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the three years in the penod
ended December 31, 2014, 1n conformuty with U S generally accepted accounting pninciples Also, 1n our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered 1n relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all matenal respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited, in accordance wath the standards of the Pubhc Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), First Data Corporation’s
mnternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on entena established 1n Intemal Control-Integrated Framewaork 1ssucd by the
Commutice of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commussion (2013 framewerk) and our report dated February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified
optiion thereon

s/ Emst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgla
February 27,2015
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FIRST DA 1A CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended December 31,

{(in milllons) 2014 2013 2012
'‘Revenues
Transaction and processing service fees
Merchant related services (a) 3 40605 S 39879 % 38963
Check services 2642 2867 3139
Card services (a) 1,8171 1,6873 1,737 7
Other services 5137 5024 5042
Product sales and other (a) 8928 8372 8667
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other 3,6035 3,507 4 33615
Total revenues 11,1518 10,808 9 10,6803
Expenscs
Cost of services (exclusive of items shown below) 2,741 3 28088 2,8615
Cost of products sold 3372 3340 - 3363
' Selling, general, and admunistrative 1,9618 1,888 8 ) 1,825 4
Reiumbursable debat network fees, postage, and other 3,6035 3,507 4 33615
" Depreciation and amortization ) 1,055 5 1,0013 ToLI916
Onher operating expenses t w
Restructuring, net 132 480 231
) Impaiments — — 51
Latigation and regulatory settlements — 80 —
Total cxpenscs " 97125 96863 9,606 5
Operating profit 1,439 3 1,1226 1,073 8
Interest income 106 i1l 88
Interest expense (1,753 0) {1,880 1) (1,897 8)
Loss on debt extinguishment (260 1) —_ —
Other income (expense) 1612 (46 9) (94 3)
(1,841 3) (1,916 5) {1,983 3)
‘Loss before income taxes and equity eamings in affiliates (402 0) (793 9) (909 5)
Income tax expense (benefit) 821 865 (224 0)
'Equity eamings 1n affiliates 2196 1883 1582
Net toss (264 5) (692 t) (527 3)
Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests and redeemable noncontrotling
Interest 1933 1770 173 6
Net loss attnbutable to First Data Corporation 3 4578) § 8691y $ (7009)

(a) Includes processing fees, admunisirative service fees, and other fees charged 1w merchant alhances accounted for under the equiry method of $181 million, $164 millhion, and $160
mutlion for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively

See Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Year ended December 31,

(i millons) 2014 2013 2012
Net lass ) (26435) 3§ 6921) $ (527 3)
Other comprehensive income (lass), net of tax
Unrcalized gains on secunties (6 8) 12 02
Unrealized gains on hedging activiues — — 722
Pension hability adjustments 36 1) 40 8 {38 6}
Toreign cumrency translation adjustment (308 5) 771) 157
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (351 4) @Bsn 495
Comprehensive loss (6159) (7127 2) (477 8)
Less Comprehensive income atinbutable to noncontrolhing interests and redeemable
noncontrolling interest 1819 178 4 1769
Comprehensive loss attnbutable to First Data Comporation b (7978) §% (9056) % (654 7)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(in millkens, except commen stock share amounts) 2014 200
ASSETS
Current assets.
Cash and cash equivalenis s 3584 8 4253
Accounts recetvable, net ofallowance fordoubtful accounts of $50 7 and $32 4 1,75213 1,7639
Senttement asscts 1.554% 75418
Orhier current assets 2888 3451
Total current assets 99544 10,076 1
Property and equipment, net of accumutlated deprecistion 0f$1,233 1 end 51,1499 9297 8494
Goodwill 17,0166 172478
Customer relationships, net ofaccumulated amortization of $4,870 8 and $4.418 3 2,604 1 3,1623
Other mtangibles, net of accurmulated omortization of $1 965 | and 51,743 5 1,745 4 17196
Investment 1o offiliates L101¢ 1,3343
Long-term settlement assets 35 15.2
Other long-term asscts X 914 6 Bis |
Total assets ' s 342693 § 352398
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabihities
Accounis payable S 2803 § 2878
Short-term and current pomian of long-tenm borrowings 1608 146.3
Settlement ablhigonons 75573 75534
Other current habilities 15322 16305
Total current Linbilitics 9,506 96180
Losig-tem bonowings 20,7114 22,5568
Long-term deferred tax labulsties 5209 5530
Grher long-term Lisbilities 7882 7501
Total iabihties 31,5511 334779
Comnutruents and contingencies (See Note 9)
Red ble 'IO“II'IB 704 691
First Data Corporation stockholder's deficut
Comunon stock $0 01 parvalue, 1,000 shares authenzed and issued {2014 and 2013) — —_—
Additional paid-in capital ! 9905 8 73840
Paid-in caputal 99053 73840
Arcumulated loss (9429 0) (3,284 9)
Accumulaled other comprehensive boss (928 7) {588 7)
Taotal First Data Compomtion stockholder's deficit (451 9) (1,489 6)
Moncontrolhing interests 13,0997 3,182 4
Total equity 2,647 8 1692 8
Total linbilitics and equaty - 1 34,2693 § 3523938

See Notes to Cousolidated Financial Statements
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,

{1 millions) 1014 2013 2012
CASI FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (2645) $ 6921) $ (5273

Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization (including amertization netted against equity

earnings 1n affiliates and revenues) 1,163 3 1,211 9 1,3309
Charges related to other operating expenses and other income 1122 1029 1225
Other non-cash and non-operating 1tems, net 26 388 402)

Increase {(decrease) in cash, excluding the efiects of acquisitions and dispositions,
resulting from changes in

Accounts recelvable, current and long-term 61 12) 633 {49 8)
Other assets, current and long-term 624 28 2600
Accounts payable and other liabilites, current and long-term 120 (12) .. (496)
Income tax accounts (13 6) ®sn (294 1)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,0132 6727 7674
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - &
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses paid 2701 181 —
Additions to property and equipment (308 0) (194 1) (193 1)
Payments to secure customer service contracts, including outlays for
conversion, and capitalized systems development costs (2585) (184 4) 717y
Acquisiions, net of cash acquired (308) azn (329)
Proceeds from sale of propenty and equipment 27 118 80
Contnbutions to equity method investments —_— — 79)
Other investing activities 43) 76 60
Net cash used (o investing activities (328 8) (353 1) 3971
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short-term borrowings, net 1i 8 (108 6) 99 |
Proceeds from 1ssuance of long-term debt 3500 — —
Debt modification (payments) proceeds and related financing costs (342 8) (103 173
Prnncipal payments on long-term debt (2,261 8) (922) 833)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions - — 138
Distnbutions and dividends pard to nencontrolling interests and redeemable
noncontrolling interest {265 4) (224 5) (261 9)
Purchase of noncontrolling nterest (10) (23 7) 251)
Capital transactions with parent, net 1,788 2 (29 8) 84)
Net cash used 1n financing activities {721 0) (490 1) (248 5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {30 3) (12 5) 08
Change in cash and cash equivalents (66 9) {183 0) 122 6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ol penod 4253 Y6083 4857
Cash and cash equivalents at end Ofpel‘-lgd - $ 3584 3 4253 % 6083
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMAT]E)N
Inconte tax payments, net of refunds recerved b] 956 3§ 926 § 701
Interest paid 1,700 5 1,8022 1,793 9
Distnabutions receirved from equity method investments 2780 2607 244 5
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Capual leases, net of trade-ins $ 1277 8§ 1120 8 550

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

First Data Corporation Sharcholder

Accumulated

{in muillions, except common stoch o A lated Oker Camprehensive Paid-In Noocontrolling

share amounts) Shares Loss Income {Loss) Captal Interests Total
Balance, December31, 2011 1,000 $ (6,6802) $ 5984) § 73752 % 33114 % 3,4080
jD]slnbunons and dividends paid to

‘nonconirolling interests —_ —_ — — (225 9) (2259)
Net {loss) income (a) s (700 9) — — 1376 (563 3)
iOther comprehensive income — — 462 33 495
Stock compensation expense and other — - -_ 124 — 124
/Cash dividends pard by First Data

‘Corporation to Parent — 67 — — — 67
Purchase of noncontrolling interest — — — (46 1) (15 476)
1Balance, December 31, 2012 1,000 (7,387 8) (5522) 73415 32249 2,626 4
‘Distnbutions and dividends paid te i

noncontrolling interests — — —_ — {190 0) (190 0)
Net (loss) income {a) — (869 1) — — 1429 (726 2)
‘Other comprehensive (loss) income — -7 (36 5) — 14 @3Bsn
Adjustments to redempuon value of

redeemable noncontrolling interest — — —_ 20) — 20
iStock compensation expense and other — — — 322 -— 322
Capital contnbuted by Parent — — — 65 _— 65
Cash dividends paid by First Data

Corporation to Farent — (28 0) — — —_— {28 0)
Purchase of noncontroliing interest — — — 58 32 940
Balance, December 31,2013 1,000 (8,284 9) (588 7) 7,384 ¢ 3,1824 1,692 8
Dnstnbutions and dividends paid to

noncontrolhing interests — —_ — — (2309) 2309
Net (loss) income (&) — (457 8) — — 1596 (298 2)
Other comprehensive loss — — (340 0) — {11 4) (3514)
Adjustment to redemption value of

redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — 2n — 2n
Stock compensation expense and other — — — 430 — 430
Capital contnbuted by Parent — — — 2,4819 — 24819
Cash dividends paid by Farst Data

Corporation to Parent — (686 3) —_ —_ —_ (686 3)
Purchase of noncontrolling wterest — — — o — {1 M
\Balance, December 31,2014 1,000 § (9,4290) § 9287) § 99058 § 30997 % 2,6478

{a) The total net loss presenied 1 the Consolidated Statements of Equity for the twelve months ended December 31 2014 2013, and 2012 15 $34 milhion $34 million, and $36
milhon, respectively, greater (han the amount presented an the Consohdated Statements of Operations due to the net income attributable to the redeemable noncontrolling nterest

nat included in equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note | Summary of Sigmficant Accounting Policies
Business Description

First Data Corporation (FDC or the Company) 1s a global provider of electronic commerce and payment solutions for merchants, finaneial insututions, and
card 1ssuers The services the Company provides include merchant transaction processing and acquiring, credit, retail, and debut card 1ssuing and processing,
prepard services, and check venfication, settilement and guarantee services

Consolidation

The accompanying Consohdated Financial Statements of FDC include the accounts of FDC and 1ts controlied subsidianes All stgnificant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eltmunated Investments in unconsolidated affiliated companies are accounted for under the equity method and zre
included in “Investment in affiliates” in the accompanytng Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company generally utilizes the equity method of accounting
when 1t has an ownership interest of between 20% and 50% 1n an entity, provided the Company 1s able to exercise significant influence over the investee’s
opcrations

The Company consolidates an cntity’s financial statements when the Company has a controlling financial interest in the entity Control 1s normally

established when ownership interests exceed 50% 1m an entity, however, when the Company does not excreise control over a majonty-ownced cntity as a .
result of other tnvestors having nghts overthe management and operations of the entity, the Company accounts for the entity under the equity method As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no greater-than-50%-owned affiliates whose financial statements were not consolidated

Use of Estimates
— “
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting pnnciples generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 1n the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ
from those estimates

Presentation

Depreciation and amortization presented as a separate line item on the Company’s Consohidated Statements of Operations does not include amortization of
imtizl payments for new contracts whech 15 recorded as a contra-revenue within “Transaction and processing service fees ” Also not included 1s amertization
related to equity method investments which 1s netted within the “Equity eamings in affiliaies” hine The following table presents the amounts associated with
such amorhization

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 20112
Amortization of imitial payments for new contracts 5 453 ¢ 415 & 445
Amortization related to equity method investments 625 79 1 948

Revenue Recogmtion

The majonty of the Company’s revenues are compnsed of 1) transaction-based fees, which typically constitute a percentage of dollar volume processed, 2)
fees per transactuion processed, 3) fees peraccount on file duning the penod, or 4) some combination thereof

In multiple-clement transactions, revenue 1s allocated to the separate units of accounting provided each element has stand-alene value to the customer
Stand-alone value 15 based on the relative selling pnce of any undelivered items for which delivery 1s probable and substantially within the Company’s
control

In the case of merchant contracts that the Company owirs.and manages, revenue 1s compnsed of fees charged to the merchant, net of interchange and
assessments charged by the erednt card associations, and 15 recogmzcd at the ime the merchant accepts a point of sale transaction The fees chachd to the
merchant arc a percentage of the credit card and signature based debit card -
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transaction’s dollar value, a fixed amount or a combination of the two Persaonal identification number based debit (PIN=dcbit) network fees are recognized in
‘Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other” revenues and expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations STAR network access fees
charged to merchants are assessed on a per transaction basis [nterchange fees and assessments charged by credit card associations to the Company's
consolidated subsidianes and network fees related to PIN-debit transactions charged by debit networks are as follows

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Interchange fees and assessments $ 204057 % 19,3677 § 18,3730
Debit network fees 2,964 5 29149 2,786 3

The Company charges processing fees to 1ts merchant alliances In sitwanions where an alliance 15 accounted for under the equity method, the Company’s
consolidated revenues mnclude the processing fees charged to the allance, as presented on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue from check venfication, settlement, and guarantee services 1s recognized at the time of sale less the fair value of the guarantee The fair value of the
guarantee 1s deferred and recognized at the later of the Company being called upon to honor the guarantee or the expiration of the guarantee Check
venfication fees generally are a fixed amount per transaction while check guarantee fees generally arce a percentage of the check amount

The purchase and sale of merchant contracts 1s an ordinary element of the Company's Merchant Solutions and Intemational businesses, and therefore, the
gains from selling these revenue-generating assets are included within the “Product sales and other” component of revenues
-

Fees based on cardholder accounts on file, both acuve and mnacuive, are recognized after the requusite services or period has occurred Fees for PIN-debut
transactions where the Company 1s the debit card processar for the financial institution are recognized on a per transaction basis Revenues for output
servrees are dertved pnmanly on a per pigce basis and consist of fees for the production, matenals, and postage related to mailing finished products and
recognized as the services are provided

The sale and leasing of point-of-sale (POS) devices (terminals) are also reported 1n “Product sales and other” Revenue for terminals sold or sold under a sales-
type lease transaction 1s recognized when the following four cnitena are met evidence of an agreement exists, delivery has occurred, the selling price or
minimum lease payments are fixed or determunable, and collection of the selling pnce or minimum lease payments 1s reasonably assured Revenue for
opcﬁung leases 1s recogmzed on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Services not specifically described above are generally transaction based fees that are recognized at the time the transactions are processed or programming
services that are recorded as work 1s performed

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation to employees 1s measured at the grant date fair values of the respective stock options and restneted stock awards For awards
without certain hiquidity or employment tnggers, expense 15 recognized over the requisite service periods and for awards with certamn hiquidity or
employment tnggers, expense is recognized upon the occurrence of such events An estimate of forfeitures 1s applied when calculating compensation
expense The Company recognizes compensation cost on awards with graded vesting on a straight-line basis over the requisite service pened for the entire
award Referto Note 11 "Stock Compensation Plans” of these Consclidated Financial Statements for details regarding the Company’s stock-based
compensation plan
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Foreign Currency Translation

The US dollaris the functional currency for most of the Company’s U S -based businesses and certain foreign-based businesses Sigmificant operations with &
local currency as their functional cumency 1nclede operattons m the United Kingdom, Australia, Germany, Ireland, Greece, and Argentina Foreign cumrency-
denominated assets and habilities for these units and other less significant operations are translated 1nto U S dollars based on exchange rates prevarling at
the end of the penod, and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates dunng each monthly penod The effects of foreign exchange gains
and losses ansing from the translation of assets and hiabilities of those entities where the functional currency 1s not the U S dollar are included as a
component of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) Intercompany loans are genenally not considered invested on a long-term basis and such foreign currency
gains and losses are recorded 1n income Transaction gains and losses related to operating assets and labilities are included 1n the “Cost of services™ and
“Selling, general, and administrative” lines of the Consolidated Statements of Operations and were immatenal Non-operating transaction gains and losses
denved from non-operating assets and liabilities are included in the * Other income (expense)” line of the Consolidated Statements of Operations and are
separately disclosed 1n Note 7 “Supplemental Financial Informauon” of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company 15 exposed to vanous financtal and market nsks, including those related to changes in interest rates and foretgn cumency exchange rates, that
ex15t as part of 1ts ongoing busingss operations The Company uses dertvative tnstruments (1) 1o mitigate cash flow nisks with respect to changes in 1nterest
rates (forccasted interest payments on vanable rate debt), (11) to maintain a desired ratio of fixed rate and floating rate debt, and {1u) to protect the net
investment in certain foreign subsidianes and/or affiliates with respect to changes in forc]gn currency cxchange rates The Company’s objective 18 to engage
in nsk management strategies that provide adequate downside protection

Denvative mstruments are entered nto for penods consistent with related underlying exposures The Company apphes stnict policies to manage each afthese
nsks, including prohibition agamnst denvatives trading, denvatives market-making or any other speculative activiies Although most of the Company's
denvatives either do not quahfy or are not designated for hedge accounting, they are mauitained for economic hedge purposes and are not constdered
speculative

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instraments and the underlying hedged 1tems, as well as 1ts nsk management objective
and strategy for undertaking vanous hedge transactions This process includes linking all denvatives that have been designated as cash flow hedges to
forecasted transactions and net investment hedges to the underlying investment in a foreign subsidiary or affiliate For designated hedges, the Company
formally assesses, both at inception ofthe hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedge 1s highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or foreign
cunrency exposure of the underlying hedged items The Company also performs an 2ssessment of the probability of the forecasted transactions on a periodic
basis If1t1s determined that a denvative ceases to be highly effective dunng the term of the hedge or1f the forecasted transaction 1s no longer probable, the
Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively for such denvative

The Company monitors the financial stability of its denvative counterparties and all counterparties remain hrghly-rated (1n the “A” category or hugher) The
credit nsk inherent in these agreements represents the possibility that a loss may oceur from the nonperformance of a counterparty to the agreements The
Company performs a review at inception of the hedge, as circumstances warrant, and at least on a quarterly basis, of the credit sk of these counterparties The
Company also monitors the concentration of 1ts contracts with individual counterparties The Company’s exposures are in hiquid currencies (pnimanly in U S
dollars, curos, Austrahan dollars, Bntish pounds, and Canadian dollars), so there 1s minimal nsk that appropnate denvatives to maintain the hedging program
would not be available 1n the future

The Company recognizes all denvative financial instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as assets or liabilities at fair value Such amounts are
recorded 1n “Other current assets™, “Other long-term assets”, “Other current habilities” or “Qther long-term habilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
The Company’s policy 1s to present all denvative balances on a gross basis, without regard to counterparty master netting agreements or simular

arrangements Changes in fair value of denvative instrumentis are recognized immediately in earmings unless the dertvative 1s designated and qualifiesasa
hedge of future cash flows ora hedge of a net investment 1n a foreign operation For denvatives that quahfy as hedges of future cash flows, the effective
portion of changes 1n fair value 1s recorded temporanly 1n equity as a component of OCland then recognized tn eamings in the same penod or penods dunng
which the hedged item affects eamings For denvatives that qualify as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operanion, the gain or loss 1s reported in OCl as
part of the cumulative translation adjustment to the extent the hedge 1s effective Any ineffective portions of cash flow hedges and net investment hedges are
recogmzed 1n the
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*Other income (expense)” line 1n the Consolidated Statements of Operations dunng the penod of change Additional discussion of denvative imstruments 1s
proevided 1n Note 5 "Denvative Financial Instruments™ of these Consolidated Financial Statements

Noncontrolling and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent the munonty shareholders’ share of the net income or loss and equity 1n consolhidated subsidianes Substantally all of the
Company's noncontrolling interests are presented pretax in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as “Net income attnbutable to noncontrolling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest” since the majonty of the Company’s non-wholly owned consolidated substdianes are flow through entities
for tax purposes Noncontrolling interests are presented as a component of equity 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheets and reflect the onginal investments by
these noncontrolling sharcholders 1n the consolidated subsidianes, along wath their proportionate share of the earnings or losses of the subsidianes, net of
dividends or distnbutions Noncontralling interests that are redeemable at the option of the holder are presented outside of equity and are camed at their
estimated redemption value A noncontrolling interest 15 recorded on the date of acquisition based on the total fair value of the acquired entity and the
noncontrolhing interest’s share of that value

Reserve for Merchant Credit Losses and Check Guarantees

With respect to the merchant acquinng business, the Company’s merchant customers (or those of its unconsolidated alliances) have the hability for any
charges properly reversed by the cardholder In the event, however, that the Company 15 not able to collect such amounts from the merchants due to merchant
fraud, msolvency, bankruptey or another reason, the Company may be liable for any such reversed charges The Company's nsk 1n this area pnmanly relates
to situations where the cardholder has purchased goods or services to be delivered 1n the future such as airline tickets

The Company’s obligation to stand ready to perform 1s minimal 1n relaton to the total dollar volume processed The Company requtres cash deposits,
guarantees, letters of credit or other types of collatera| from certain merchants to minimize this obligation Collateral held by the Company 15 classified
within “Settlement assets” and the obligatton to repay the collateral :f it 15 not needed 1s classified within “Settlement obligations™ on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company also utilizes a number of systems and procedures to manage merchant nsk Despite these efforts, the Company
histoncally has expenenced some level of losses due to merchant defaults

The Company's contingent cbhigation relates to imprecision in 1ts estimates of required collateral A provision for this obligation 1s recorded based pnmanly
on histoncal expenence of credet losses and other relevant factors such as economuc downtums or increases in merchant fraud Merchant credit losses are
included in “Cost of services™ in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations The amount of the reserves attnbutable to entities consolidated by
the Company was $20 mullion and $24 metlien as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

The majonty of the TeleCheck Services, Inc {TeleCheck) business involves the guarantee of checks received by merchants Ifthe check (s retumed,
TeleCheck 1s required to purchase the check from the merchant at 1ts face value and pursue collection from the check writer A provision for estimated check
retems, net of anticipated recovenes, 1s recorded at the transaction inception based on recent history The following table presents the accrued warranty and
recovery balances

As of December 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013
Accrued warranty balances $ 85 § 94
Accrued recovery balances 253 272

Accrued warranties are included 1n *Other current liabihies” and accrued recovenes are included 1n “Accounts recervable” 1n the Consohidated Balance
Sheets The maximum potential future payments under the guarantees were estimated by the Company to be approximately $1 2 billion as of December 31,
2014 which represented an estimate of the total uncleared checks at that time

Income Taxes
The Company and 1ts domestic subsidianes file a conschdated U S 1ncome tax returmn with their parent, Fust Data Holdings, Inc (FDH) The Company’s
foreign operations fite income tax retums 1o their local yjunsdictions Income taxes are computed 1n accordance with current accounting guidance and reflect

the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting carrying amounts of assets and habilities and the comesponding income tax
amounts The Company has deferred tax assets and ltabilities and mawntains valuation allowances where 1t 1s more Likely than not that all or a portion of
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defermed tax assets will not be realized To the extent the Company determines that it wall not realize the benefit of some or all of s deferred tax assets, then
these deferred tax assets will be adjusted through the Company's provision for income taxes in the pentod 1n which this determination 1s made

The Company recognizes the tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only when 1t 1s more hikely than not, based on the technical ments of the position, that
the tax position will be sustained upon examunation, including the resolution of any related appeals or hitrgation The tax benefits recognized 1n the
consolidated financial statements from such a position are measured as the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate resolution

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Investments (other than those included in settlernent assets) with onginal matunties of three months or less (that are readily convertible to cash)are
considered to be cash equivalents and are stated at cost, which approximates market value Cash and cash equivalents that were restricted from use due to
regulatory requirements are included in ‘Other long-term assets™ 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheets and were tmunatenal as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

Accounts Recetvable and Leastng Receivables

Accounts receivable balances are stated net of allowance for doubtful accounts Histoncally, the Company has infrequently incurred sigmficant wnte-offs
The Company records allowances for doubtful accounts when 1t 1s probable that the accounts receivable balance wall not be collected Long-term accounts
recervable balances are included n “Other long-tenm assets™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

The Company has receivables associated wath its POS terminal leasing businesses Leasing recervables are included in “Accounts receivable™ and “Other
long-term assets™ 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company recognizes interest income on 1ts leasing recervables using the effective interest method
Interest mcome from leasing recervables 1s included tn “Product sales and other” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations For direct financing leases,
the interest rate used mcorporates imtial direct costs included 1n the net invesiment 1n the lease For sales type leases, inttial direct costs are expensed as
incurred

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation expense 1s computed ustng the straight-line method over the lesser of
the esumated useful life of the related assets (generally three to 10 years for equipment, fumiture, and leasehold improvements, and 30 years for buildings) or

the lease term Maintenance and repairs which do not extend the useful hife of the respecuive assets are charged to expense as incurred The following table
presents the amounts charged lo expense for the depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, including equipment under capital lease

Year ended December 31,

(1n millions) Amount

2014 3 2867
2013 2884
2012 2845

Gaoodwll and Other Intangibles

Goodwll represents the excess of purchase pnce over tangible and intangeble assets acqurred less abihties assumed ansing from business combinations
Goodwill 1s generally allocated to reporting umits based upon relative fair value (taking into consideration other factors such as synergies) when an acquired
business 1s integrated into multiple reporting units The Company’s reporting units are at the operating segment level or businesses one level below the
operating segment level for which discrete financial information 1s prepared and regularly reviewed by management When a business wathin a reporting unit
15 disposed of, goodwnll is allocated to the disposed business using the relative fair value method Relatve fair value 1s estimated using a discounted cash
flow analysis

The Company tests goodwill annually for timpairment, as well as upon an indicator of impainment, using a fair value approach at the reporting unst level The
=, Company estimates the fair value of each reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis The Company performed 1ts annual goodwill smpairment test
1n the fourth quarters of 2014 and 2013 As of October I, 2014, .
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the most recent impatrment analysis date, the fair value of cach reporting unit exceeded tts camying value The Company did not record any goodwil!
impatrment charges in 2014 012013

The following table presents changes to goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014

All Other
Merchant Financial and Divested
(in mllions) Solutions Services International Corporate Operations Taotals
Balance as of January 1, 2013
Goodwill % 140718 § 34514 8§ 26411 1770 $ 1813 § 20,5226
Accumulated impaimment tosses (£,106 5) (1,399 7) (375 6) (177 6) (181 3) (3,240 1)
12,9653 2,0517 22655 — — 17,2825
Acquisitions 244 —_ —_ —_ — 244
Other adjustments (pnmarnly foreign
cumency) 07N — (58 4) e —_ {59 1)
\Balance as of December 31,2013
Goodwall 14,0955 34514 2,5827 “1770 1813 20,487 9
. Accumulated impairment losses (1,106 5) (1,399 7) 375 6) 77o (181 3) (3,240 1)
12,989 0 20517 2,2071 — — 17,2478
" Acquisttions 330 _— — FTa— — 330
Qther adjustments (pnmanly foreign
Cuncncy) — — {264 2) — — (264 2)
Balance as of December 31,2014
Goodwall 14,128 5 34514 23185 1770 1813 20,256 7
Accumulated impairment losses {1,106 5) (1,399 7) {375 6) {177 0) (181 3) {3,240 1)
$ 13,0220 % 20517 § 1,9429 §$ — 3 — § 17,016 6

Customer relationships represent the estimated value of the Company's relationshaps wath customers, prmanly merchants and financial mstitutions, to which
1t provides services Customer rclationships arc amortized based on the pattem of undiscounted cash flows for the penod as a percentage of total projected
undiscounted cash flows The Company sclected this amortization method for these customer relationships based on a conclusion that the projecied
undiscounted cash flows could be reliably determined

The Company capitalizes initial payments for new contracts, contract renewals, and conversion costs associated with customer processing relationships to the
extent recoverable through future operations, contractual minimums, and/or penalties in the case of early temmnation The Company 's accounting policy 15
to limut the amount of capitalized costs for a given coatract to the lesser of the estumated ongoing future cash flows from the contract or the tenmination fees
the Company would receive (n the event of early termunation of the contract by the customer The initial payments for new contracts and coatract renewals
are amortized over the temm of the contract as a reducuon of the associated revenue {transaction and processing service fees) Conversion costs are also
amortized over the term of the contract but are recorded as an expense in “Depreciation and amortization™ 1n the Consolidated Statements of Operations

The Company develops software that 1s used in providing processing services to customers To a lesser extent, the Company also devetops software to be sold
or licensed to customers Costs incurred dunng the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred Capitalization of costs begins when the preliminary
project stage 15 completed and management, with the relevant authorty, authonzes and commuts to funding the project and 1t 1s probable that the project wall
be completed and the sofiware wili be used to perform the function intended Capitalization of costs ceases when the software 1s substantially complete and
ready forts intended use Software development costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, which 1s
genenaily five years Software acquired 1n connection with business combinations 15 amomized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of
the software which genenally ranges from three to 10 years &

In addition to capitakized contract and sofiware development costs, other intangibles include copynghts, patents, purchased software, trademarks, and non-
compete agreements acquired 1n business combinations Other intangibles, except for the First Data trade name discussed below, are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the length of the contract or benefit penod, which
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gencrally ranges from three to 25 years The intangible amortization expense associated with customer relationsheps and other intangibles, including
amortization associated with mvestments in affiliates, was as follows

Year ended December 31,

{mn millions) Amount

2014 § 876 6
2013 923 5
2042 1,046 4

The carrying value of the First Data trade name 15 $604 mullion as of December 31,2014 and 2013 Upon consideration of many factors, including the
determination that there are no legal, regulatory or contractual provisions that linmt the useful hife of the First Data trade name, the Company determuned that
the First Data trade name had an indefimite useful hife The Company also considered the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, other economie
factors, and ability to maintain and protect the trade name without sigmficant expenditurcs The First Data trade name 1s expected to contnbute directly or
indirectly to the future cash flows of the Company for an indcfinite penod As an indefinite hved asset, the First Data tradc name 15 not amortized but 15
reviewed annually for impaimment until such time as 1t 1s determined to have a fimte hife The First Data trade name was not impaired as of December 31,2014
or2013

The following table provides the components of other intangibles

As of December 31,

1014 2013
B Net of : Net of

Accumulated Accumulated Accurnulated Accumulated

(1 millions) Cost Amortization Amortization Cost Amortzation Amortisation
Customer relationships 3 74749 § 48708) $§ 26041 § 7,5806 § (4,4183) § 3,1623

Other intangibles i

Canversion costs $ 2050 % 888) § 1162 3§ 1666 § (713) % 9513
Contract costs 2348 (130 6) 1042 2180 (110 8) 1072
Software 1,856 0 (14151) 4409 1,649 4 (1,264 3) 3851
Other, including trade names 1414 7 (330 6) 1,084 1 14291 297 1) 1,1320
Total other intangibles $ 3,7105 & (19651) $ 1,7454  § 34631 § (1,7435) § 1,719 6

The estimated future aggregate amortization expense for the next five years s as follows

Year ended December 31,

{tn milllons) Amoant

2015 3 750 8
2016 5882
2017 486 2
2018 4190
2019 3647

The Company tests contract and conversion costs for recoverability on an annual basis by comparing the remaining expected undiscounted cash flows under
the contract to the net book value Any asscts that are determined to be unrecoverable are written down to their fair value In addition to this annual test, these
assets andallother long lived assets are tested for impainment upon an indicator of potential impairment

Assets and Liabilines Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
Fair value 1s defined by accounting guidance as the pnce that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transier a liability 1n an orderdy transaction
between market participants at the measurement date The Company uses the hierarchy prescnibed 1n the accounting guidance for fair value measurements,

based upon the available inputs to the valuation and the degree to which they
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are observable or not obscrvable 1n the market The Company maximizes the usc of relevant observable inputs and mimimizes the use of unobservable inputs
The three levels in the herarchy are as follows

+ Level | Inpuis—Quoted pnces (unadjusted) for identical assets or habilities in active markets that are accessible as of the measurement date

»  Level 2 Inputs—Inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1 that are observable esther directly or indirectly, including but not himited 1o quoted
pnices in markets that are not active, quoted prices in active markets for simultar assets or liabilities, and observable inputs other than quoted pnces
such as (nterest rates ot yield curves

+  Level 3 Inputs—Unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in
pncing the asset or liability, including assumptions about nsk

Assets and Liabiliies Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

Dunng the years ended December 31,2014 and 2013, the Company did not record any adjustments over $5 mithon to the canying value of existing assets
based on non-recemng fair value measurements

New Accounnng Guidance

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)1ssued guidance that requires compantes to recogmize revenue to depict the transfer of goods
or services to customers 1n amounts that reflect the consideration to whrch the company expects to be entitled to 1n an exchange for those goods or services It
also requires enhanced disclosures about revenue, provides guidance for transactions that were not previcusly addressed comprehensively, and improves
guidance for multuple-element amrangements The guidance applies to any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services
or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards The guidance 1s effecuve for
public companies for annual penods beginning after December 15,2016 as well as intenm penods within those annual pertods using either the full
retrospective approach or modified retrospective approach Early adoption 1s not perritted The Company 1s cumrently evaluating the impacts of the new
gurdance on tts consolidated financial statements

Note 2 Restructuring

Dunng the years ended December 31,2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company recorded restructuning charges in connection with management’s ahignment of'the
business wath strategic objectives and cost savings imtiatives as well as refinements of esimates Punng 2014 and 2013, the Company also recorded
restructunng charges in connection wath the departure of certain executive officers Additionally 1n 2014 and 2012, the Company recorded restructunng
charges related to certain relocation efforts i the U S and Germnany, respectively In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company began an off-shonag imtiative
with an expected total cost between $50 mullion and $100 million to be completed m 2017
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A summary of net pretax benefits (charges), incurred by segment, for each penoed 1s as follows

All Other
Merchant Financial and
(1n mltions) Solutions Services International Corporate Totals
Year ended December 31,2014
Restructunng charges $ 31 § {05 $ 03) $ (133) % 72
Restructunng accrual reversals 10 02 15 13 40
Restructunng, net 5 21) % 03 § 12 8 {120) § (132)
Year ended December 31,2013
Restructuning charges $ (179 3 @87 % (17 % (253) § (53 6)
Restructunng accrual reversals 22 05 16 i3 56
Restructunng, net $ (s7n s 82) $ 01y $ (240) $ {480)
Year ended Decemb. 0 N
Restructunng charges b (75) $ — 8 {185) % 22y $ {282)
Restruclunng accrual reversals 10 — 28 13 51
Restructuring, net b 65 $ — % {157y § 09 § 23 1)

The following table summanzes the Company’s utilization of restructunng accruals for the years ended December 31,2013 and 2014

o Employee Faciiity Closure
{1n milllons) Severance and Other
Remainmg accrual as of January 1, 2013 $ 131§ —
Expense provision 536 —_
Cash payments and other (400) —
Changes 1n estimates (5 6) —
Remaining accrual as of December 31,2013 211 —
Expense provision 162 10
Cash payments and other (21 8) —_
Changes in estimates 40) —
Remaining accrual as of December 31, 2014 $ 1s $ 10

Note 3. Acquisinons and Dispositions
2014 Acquisihons

In August 2014, the Company acquired Gyfi, Inc , a leading digital platform that enables consumers to buy, send, manage, and redeem gift cards using mobile
devices The final purchase consideration wall vary based on contingent consideration which will be determined based on sales for the next three years The
acquisition 1s reported as part of the Merchant Solutions segment Refer to Note 9 "Commitments and Contingencies” of these Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information regarding the hability for contingent consideration

-

2014 Dispositions ..'

. ~3 i

On May 29,2014, the Company completed the sale of its 30% minonty interest 1n a transportation payments business, Electromic Funds Source LLC (EFS),
which was reported as part of the Merchant Solutions segment The Company recognized a gain on sale of $98 million recorded in “Other income {expense)”
1 the Consolidated Statements of Operations, compnsed of $264 million 1n cash reduced by 1ts investment and associated deal costs of $166 million, and
recorded an income tax provision of $7 rmlhon as a result of the final scttlement of the sale
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2013 Acquisitions

In October 2013, the Company acquired Perka Inc , a provider of a mobile marketing and consumer loyalty solution The acquisition s repotted as part of the
Merchant Solutions segment Referto Note 9 "Commutments and Contingencies” of these Consolidated Financial Statements for additonal information
regarding the liabihty for contingent consideration

2012 Acqmsiions

In Apr! 2012, the Company acquired the remaining 30% noncontrolling interest in Omnipay, which was paid for o approximately two equal installments
during Apnl 2012 and Apnl 2013

In December 2012, the Company acquired 100% of Claver Network, Inc , a provider of payment network services for total consideration of $54 mullion, net
of cash acquired The transaction consisted of net cash consideration of $34 mullion as well as a senes of contingent paymeats based on the achievement of
specified sales targets These contingent payments are classified as purchase consideration 1if made to outside tnvestors and compensation 1f made to current
and future employees As part of the purchase pnce, the Company recorded a $20 million hability for the contingent consideration due to outside investors
based upon the net present value of the Company's estimate of the future payments The acqutsition 1s reported as part of the Merchant Solutions segment
Refer to Note 9 "Comnutments and Contingencies" of these Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the habihity for
contingent consideration

Note 4 Settlement Assets and Obligatons

Settlement assets and obligations result from the Company’s processing services and associated settlement activittes, including settlement of payment
transaclions Settlement assets are generated pnncipally from merchant services transactions Certain merchant settlement assets that relate 1o settlement
obligations accrued by us are held by partner banks to which the Company does not have legal ownership but has the nght to use to satisfy the related
settlement obligation The Company records corresponding settlement obligations for amounts payable to merchants and for payment instruments not yet
presented for settlement The difference 1n the aggregate amount of such assets and hiabilities 1s pnmanly due to unrealized net tnvestment gains and losses,
which are reported as OCI 1n equity

The pnncipal components of the Company’s settlement assets and obligations are as follows '

As of December 31,
{in millions) 2014 2013
Settlement assets
Current settlement assets
Cash and cash equivalents s 14193 § 1,576 7
Investment secunties 165 712
Due from card assoctations and bank partoers 52201 5,102 5
Due from merchants 8990 791 4
7,5549 75418
Long-term settlement assets
Investment securities 3s [52
l 3 7,5584 % 71,5570
Settlement obligations
Current settlement obligations .
Payment instruments outstanding 3 824 § 164 |
Card setttements due to merchants 74749 7,3893
- s 7,5573 8§ 7,553 4

The changes in settlement assets and obligations are presented on a net basis within operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
However, because the changes in the settlement assets balance exactly offset changes in settlement oblhigations, the activity nets to zero
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Note 5 Denvative Financial Instruments
The Company enters into the following types of denvatives
Interest rate contracts

= Interest rate swaps The Company uses interest rate swaps to miuigate the exposure to iterest rate fluctuations on 1nterest payments related o vanable
rate debt The Company uses these contracts in non-qualifying hedging relationshups

= Fixed to floating interest rate swaps The Company uses fixed to floating interest rate swaps to maintain a desired rauio of fixed rate and floating rate
debt The Company uses these contracts in non-quahifying hedging relattonships

Foreign exchange contracts The Company uses cross-cumency swaps to protect the net investment in certain foreign subsidianes and/or affiliates with
respect to changes in foreign cumency exchange rates The Company uses these contracts 1n both qualifying and non-qualifying hedging relationships

The Company held the following denvative instruments as of the dates indrcated

As of December 31, .
2014 2013
Notional Nottonal Notional Notional
(in millions) Currency Value Assets (a) LiabHlities (a} Currency Value Assets (3) Liahilities (a)
Derivatives designated as hedges of net . o
mvestments in foreign operations
Foreign exchange contracts AUD 2600 % 411 8 — AUD 2150 § 154 § (157
Foreign exchange contracts EUR 2000 263 — EUR 20040 — 60
Foreign exchange contracts GBP 2300 186G — GBP 1000 — 8 6)
Foreign exchange contracts CAD 1100 93 — CAD 750 s —_
947 e 169 (30 3)
Derivatives not designated as hedging
mstruments
Interest rate contracts UsD 5,750 0 473 (104 9) uUsD 5,7500 472 {119 8)
Foreign exchange contracts EUR 215 07 — EUR 215 —_ 29
480 (104 9) 472 (1227)
S 1427 § (1049) s 641 § (1530)

{2) Of the balances mcluded in the table above, 1n aggregate, $142 millien of assets and $96 milhon of habilines, net $46 mullion as of December 31, 2014 and $64 million of asscis
and $125 mllion of liabilittes, net $61 million, as of December 31, 2013 are subject to master netting agreements 1o the extent that the swaps are wath the same counterparty The
terms of those agreements requure that the Company net settle the outstanding positions a the option of the counterparty upen certain events of default

The maximum length of time over which the Company s hedging 1ts exposure to the vanability in future cash flows for forecasted transactions excluding
those forecasted transactions related to the payment of vanable interest on existing financial instruments 1s through January 2018

Fawr Value Measurement .

The carrying amounts for the Company's Denvative financial instruments are the estimated fair value of the financial instruments The Company’s denvatives
are not exchange listed and therefore the fair value 1s estimated under an income approach using Bloomberg analytics models that are based on readily
observable market inputs These models reflect the contractual terms of the dertvatives, such as notional value and expiration date, as well as market-based
observables tncluding interest and foreign currency exchange rates, yield curves, and the credit quality of the counterparties The models also incorporate the
Company's creditworthiness 1n orler to appropnately reflect non-performance sk [nputs to the denvative pneing mbdels are generally observable and do
not contain a high level of subjectivity and, accordingly, the Company's denvatives were classified within Level 2 ofthe fair value hierarchy While the
Company beheves its estimates result in a
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reasanable reflection of the fair value of these struments, the estimated values may not be representative of actual values that could have been realized or
that will be realized in the near future
Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations

Denvative gains and (losses) were as follows for the penods indicated

Year ended December 31,

2014 20123 2012
Interest Foreign Interest Foraign Interest Feretgn
Rate Exchange Rate Exchange Rate Exchange
{in milllons, pretax) Contracts Contracts Contracts Contracts Contracts Conlracts
‘Derivatives in cash flow hedging relatianshipsta).
Gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated OClinto
Interest expense 1n the Consolidated Statements of
Opcerations $ - 8 — 3 — % — § (1149 3 —
Derivatives in net investment hedging relationships
Gauin (loss) recogmized 1n OCI (effective portion) 3 — 3 798 3 — % 142 § — 3 ~(92)
‘Derivatives not destgnated as hedging instruments
Gain (loss) recogmzed 1n Other income (expense) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations s 34 3 37 % 227) % a7 $ 399) $ (15)
(a) No gain (loss) recogmzed mn Consolidated Statements of Operations due t‘ﬁ"m:l’fccuvcncm &

Accumulated Derivative Gains and Losses

The following table summanzes activity 1n other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 related to denvative
mstruments classificd as cash flow hedges and a net investment hedge held by the Company -

Year ended December 31,

{0 millions, after tax) 2014 2013 012
Accumulated loss included in other comprehensive income (loss) at begimning of the penod $  (123) § (211) &8 (876)
Less Reclassifications into earmings from other comprehensive income {loss), net of tax —_ — 722

(123) 21 1) (154)
Increasc (decrease) in fair value of denvatives that qualify for hedge accounting (a) 496 88 (57
Accumulated gain (loss) included 1n other comprehensive income (loss) at end of the pened ) 373 08 23 8 @211

{a) Gams and (losses) are included 1 Unrealized gains on hedging activites” and in “Foreign ¢currcney translation adjustment * on the Consohdated Stiements of Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
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Note 6 Borrowings

As of December 31,
{ix milllens) 2014 2013
Short-term borrowings
Foreign Lines of credit and other arrangements 681 § 687
Sentor secured revolving credit facility 96 —
Total Short-term borrowings 777 687
Current portion of long-term borrowings
4 85% Unsecured notes due 2014, net of unamortized discount of $0 1 — 37
4 95% Unsecured notes due 201 5, net of unamortized discount of §0 2 96 —
Capital lease obligations 735 739
Total Current portion of long-term borrowings 831 776
Total Short-tenm and current portion of long-term borrowings 1608 146 3
Long-term borrowings
Senior secured term loan factlity due March 2017, net of unamortized discount of $10 1 and $23 3 14511 2,657.8
Senior secured term loan facility due March 2018 (a), net of unamonized discount of $44 9 and §22 1 49316 46556
Sentor sccured term loan facility due Sceptember 2018 (a), net of unamortized discount of $27 3 and $27 5 980 7 980 5
Senior secured term loan facility due March 2021, et of unamontized discount of $10 5 1,179 9 —
7 375% Senior secured first hien notes due 2019, net of unamortized discount of $18 7 and $22 9 1,576 3 1,721
8 875% Semor secured first lien notes due 2020, net of unamoitized discount of 310 0 and $11 8 5000 498 2
6 75% Senmor secured first lien notes due 2020 (b), net of unamoruzed discount 0£%$14 3 and $§25 7 1,383 2 2,1243
8 25% Semior secured second lien notes due 2021, net of unamortized discount of $i0 7 and $12 5 1,989 0 1,987 2
8 75% Senior secured second lien notes due 2022, net of unamortized discount of$5 7and $6 5 994 3 993 5
12 625% Senior unsecured notes due 2021, net of unamortized discount of $16 1 and 518 8 29839 29812
10 625% Senior unsecured notes due 2021 (b), net of unamoruized discount of $15 5 and $27 4 51413 7876
11 25% Seniorunsecured notes due 2021 (b), net of unamortized discount 0of $15 | and $270 4951 7580
11 25% Sentor unsecured subordinated notes due 2016 — 7500
i1 75% Senior unsecured subordinated notes due 2021 (b), net of unamortized discount of $1¢ 9 and $38 ¢ 1,5978 1,7120
4 95% Unsecured notes due 2015, net of unamorized discount of $0 6 — 92
Caputal lease obligations 1342 %6
Total Long-term bomowings 20,711 4 22,5568
Total Borrowings 20,8722 % 227034

{a) Repriced and amended on July 18, 2014 Sc. "Scmior Secured Term Loan Facilty” below for additional information

(b) Partially redeemed with proceeds of private placement on July 11, 2014 and July 21, 2014 See "Debt Repurchase™ below for additional information
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Fareign Lines of Credit and Other Arrangements

FDC had approximately $349 nullion and $2635 mullion available under short-term lines of credit and other amangements with foreign banks and alliance
partners pnmanly to fund settlement activity, as of December 31,2014 and 2013, respectively As of Decemnber 31, 2014, the Company had a $150 nullion
commuitted line of credit for one of sur U S alliances and the remainder of these arrangements 1s pnmanly associated with intemational operations and are 1n
vanous functional cumrencies, the most sigmificant of which are the Austrahian dollar, the Polish zloty, and the euro Of the amounts outstanding as of
December31, 2014 and 2013, 367 mullion and $69 mullion were uncommutted The weighted average interest rate associated with these arrangements was

3 2% and 3 8% forthe years ended December 31,2014 and 2013, respectively Commitment fees for the commutted lines of credit range from 0 16% 10 0 3%

Semor Secured Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2014, FDC’s sentor secured revolving credit facility had commitments from financial institutions to provide approximately $1 0 billion
of credit The revolving credit facility matures on September 24,2016 FDC had $10 nulhion and $0 million outstanding against this facility as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively Up to $500 rrullion of the senior secured revolving credit facility 1s avadable for letters of credit of which $43
million and $46 million of letters of credit were 1ssued under the facility as of December31, 2014 and 2013, respectively As of December 31, 2014, $964
million remained available

Interest 1s payable at a rate cqual to, at FDC’s option, either (a) London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for deposits in the applicable cumency plus an
applicable margin or (b) the higher of (1) the pnme rate of Credit Suisse and (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0 50%, plus an applicable margin The
weighted-average interest rate was § 14% and 5 25% for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively The commutment fee rate for the unused
pertion of thas facility 15 0 75% per year

Sentor Secured Term Loan Facility

s
The Company has amounts outstanding under its senior secured term loan facility under separate tranches as descnbed below A portion of each tranche 1s
denominated in euro with the exception of the September 2018 termm loan Interest 1s payable based upon LIBOR or euro LIBOR plus an applicable margin

As of December 31, 2014, FDC held interest rate swaps to mitigate exposure (o vanability 1n interest payments on the outstanding vanable rate senior secured
term loan Referto Note 5 "Denvative Financial Instruments” of these Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s denvatives

The onginal terms of FDCs senior secured term loan facility required the Company to pay equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to
1% of the onginal principal amount However, in conjunction with debt modifications and amendments over the last several years, proceeds from the
1ssuance of the notes were used to prepay portions of the principal balances of FDC’s sentor secured term loans which sausfied the future quarterly pnncipal
payments Therefore, the Company made no scheduled principal payments dunng 2014 or 2013

The semor secured term loan facility also requires mandatory prepayments based on a percentage of excess cash flow generated by FDC All obligations
under the seniorsecurcd loan facility are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by most of the domestic, wholly owned matenal subsidianes of FDC, subject
to certatn exceptions

Senior Secured Term Loan Facility Due March 2017 On January 30, 2014, the Company amended s senior secured term loan facility (2017 Old Term
Loan) Under the amendment, the Company extended the matunty of approximately $941 mllion of its existing U S dollar-denomunated tenm loans and
approximately €154 nullion of its existing euro-denominated term loans, 1n each case, from March 24,2017 to March 24,2021 See the Senior Secured Term
Loan Facility Due March 2021 (2021 Term Loan) section below

The Company also mncurred an aggregate pnncipal amount of approximatety $1 4 billion in new U § dollar-denomunated term loans and approximately €25
mullion 1n new curo-denominated term loans matuning on March 24,2017 {2017 New Term Loan) The interest rate applicable to the 2017 New Term Loan 1s
a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) LIBOR for deposits in the applicable currency plus 350 basis points or (b) selely with respect to term loans
denominated in US dollars, a base rate plus 250 basis peints The Company used the proceeds from the incurrence of the 2017 New Term Loan to repay an
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equal amount outstandmg on the 2017 Old Term Loan The interest rate on the 2017 Old Term Loan was a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option,
LIBOR plus 400 basis points or a base rate plus 300 basis points

Additionally, the Company incurred an aggregate pnncipal amount of approximately $63 mullion under the 2021 Term Loan and used the proceeds to repay
an equal amount outstanding on the 2017 Old Term Loan

Senior Secured Term Loan Facthity Due March 2018 On July 18, 2014, the Company mncurred an aggregate pnincipal amount of approximately $4 6
billion in new U S dollar-denominated loans and approximately €311 mullion m new euro-denonmunated loans maturing on March 24, 2018 (March 2018
New Term Loan) The tnterest rate applicable to the March 2018 New Term Loan 15 a rate equal o, at the Company’s option, either (a) LIBOR for deposits 1n
the applicable currency plus 350 basis points or (b} solely with respect to term loans denominated in U S dollars, a base rate plus 250 basis points The
Company used a poruon of the proceeds from the incumence of the March 2018 New Term Loan to repay 1ts outstanding term loans borrowings matunng on
March 24, 2018 (March 2018 Old Term Loan), with approximately $350 mullion in remaining aggregate panncipal amount of 2018 March New Term Loan to
be used for general corporate purposes The 1nterest rate on the March 2018 Old Term Loan was a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, LIBOR
plus 400 basis points ot a base rate plus 300 basis points

Senior Secured Term Loan Facility Due September 2018 On July 18, 2014, the Company 1ncurred an aggregate pancipal amount of approximately 51 0
billion in new U § dollar-denominated ternn loans matunng on September 24, 2018 (September 2018 New Term Lean) The interest rate applicable to the
September 2018 New Term Loan 1s a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either {(a) LIBOR for the deposits in U S dollars plus 350 basis pomnts or (b)a
base rate plus 250 basis points The Company used the proceeds from the tncumence of the September 2018 New Term Loan to repay cutstanding U S dollar
denominated term loan borrowings matuning on September 24, 2018 {September 2018 Old Term Loan) The interest rate on the September 2018 Old Term
Loan was a rate per annum cqual to, at the Company's option, LIBOR plus 400 basis pomnts or a base rate plus 300 basis points

Senior Secured Term Loan Faaility Due March 2021 As discussed above, on January 30, 2014, the Company amended 1ts 2017 Old Term Loan Under the
amendment, the Company extended the matunty of approximately $94 1 million ofits existing U S dollar-denonunated term loans and approximately €154
mtllion of its exi1sting euro-denormunated term loans, 1n each case, from March 24, 2017 to March 24,2021

The Company also incurred an aggregate pnncipal amount of approximately $63 million in new U S dollar-denominated term loans matuning en March 24,
2021 and used the proceeds to repay an equal amount outstanding on the 2017 Old Term Loan

The interest rate applicable to the 2021 Term Loan 1s a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) LIBOR for deposits in the applicable currency plus
400 basis points or (b) solely with respect to term loans denomunated in U 8 dollars, a base rate plus 300 basis points

7.375% Senior Secured First Lien Netes
FDC's 7 375% senior secured notes due June 15, 2019 require the payment of interest serm-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year
FDC may redeem these notes, in whole or in part, at any time prior to June 15,2015 at a pnce equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes redeemed
plus accrued and unpaid interest 1o the redemption date and a make-whole premium Thereafier, FDC may redeem the notes, in whale ar i part, at estabhished
redemption pnces
8 875% Senior Secured First Lien Notes
" FDC’s 8 875% seniar secured notes due August 15, 2020 requite the payment of interest semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year
os
FDC may redeem the notes, 1n whole or in par, at any hime pnorto August 15,2015 at a pnice equal to 100% of the pnincipal amount of the notes redeemed

plus acerued and unpaid interest to the redemption date and an additional premmum as defined Thereafter, FDC may redeem the notes, in whole or 1 part, at
established redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date
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6 75% Senor Secured Frrst Lien Notes

On July 21, 2014, the Company redeemed $753 mullion aggregate pancipal ofits 6 75% semior secured first lien notes due 2029, plus accrued and unpaid
mterest Refer to "Debt Repurchase” below for additional information

FDC’s 6 75% sentor secured notes due November 1, 2020 require the payment of interest semi-annually on May | and November | of each year

FDC may redeem the notes, in whole or 1n part, at any time pnor to November 1, 2015, at a pnce equal to 100% ofthe pnncipal amount of the notes redeemed
plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date and a “make-whole premium ™ Thereafter, FDC may redeem the notes, in whole or n part, at
established redemption pnces

Semor Secured Second Lien Notes

Interest on the 8 25% cash-pay notes is payable in cash and 1s payable semi-annually 1 arrears on January 15 and July 15 The 8 25% cash-pay notes mature
on January 15,2021

Interest on the 8 75% seor secured second hien notes 1s payable in cash and 1s payable semi-annually 1n arrears on January 15 and July 15 The 8 75% senior
secured sccond hien notes mature on Januvary 15,2022

FDC may redeem the sccond licn notes, in whole or in pant, at any time pnorto January 15, 2016, at a pnice equal ta 100% of the pnneipal amount of the
notes plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date and a “make-whole premium ™ Thereafter, FDC may redeem the second lien notes, 1n whole or
m part, at established redemption prnces

12 625% Semor Unsecured Notes .
Interest on the 12 625% senior notes 1s payable 1n cash and 1s payable sermi-annually 10 amrears on January 15 and July 15 The 12 625% semior notes mature
on January 15,2021

FDC may redeem the sentorunsecured notes, in whole orin part, at any time prior o January 15, 2016, at a pnce equal to 100% of the pnincipal amount of the
notes plus accrued and unpaid interest o the redempuion date and a “make-whole premium ” Thereafter, FDC may redeem the senior notes, in whole orin
part, at established redemption prices

10 625% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 221
On March 14, 2014, the Company completed an offer to exchange all of its 10 625% senior unsecured notes due 2021 for publicly tradable notes having
substantially 1dentical terms and guarantees, except that the exchange notes are freely tradable There was no expenditure or receipt of cash associated wath

this exchange, other than the professional fees incumed 1n connection wath the registration statement itseif

On July 21,2014, the Company redeemed 3285 mullion aggregate principal ofits 10 625% semor unsecured notes duc 2021, plus accrued and unpaid
nterest Refer to "Debt Repurchase” below for additional informaton

Interest on the 10 625% sentor notes 1s payable in cash and 1s payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 The [0 625% senior notes mature on
June 15,2021

FDC may redeem the notes, in whole or in par, at any ume pnorto Apal 1§, 2016, at a price equal to 100% ofthe pnncipal amount of the notes redeemed
plus accrued and unpatd interest to the redemption date and a “make-whole premium ™ Thereafter, FDC may redeem the notes, in whole orin part, at
established redemption pnces

11 25% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2021

On March 14, 2014, the Company completed an offer to exchange all of1ts 11 25% sentor unsecured notes due 2021 for publicly tradable notes having

substantially identical terms and guarantees, except that the exchange notes are freely tradable There was no expenditure or receipt of cash associated with +
this exchange, other than the professional fees incurred 1n connection witlr the registration statement itself \
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On July 21, 2014, the Company redeemed $275 mullion aggregate pnncipal of its 11 25% senior unsceured notes due 2021, plus accrued and unpaid interest
Refer to "Debt Repurchase” below for additional information

Interest on the 11 25% senior notes 1s payable 1n cash and 1s payable serm-annually on May |5 and November 15 The 11 25% senior notes mature on
January 15,2021

FDC may redeem the notes, 1n whole or in part, at any time prior to January 15,2016, at a pnce equal to 100% of the pnncipat amount of the notes redeemed
plus accrued and uapaid interest to the redemption date and a “make-whole premum ” Thereafier, FDC may redeem the notes, 1n whole or in part, at
established redemption prices

11 25% Semor Unsecured Subordinated Notes Due 2016

On January 6, 2014, the Company used proceeds from the 1ssuance of tts 11 75% semor unsecured subordinated notes due 2021, descnbed below, together
with cash on hand, to purchase for cash any and all outstanding 11 25% senior unsecured subordinated notes due 2056

11 75% Senior Unsecured Subordinated Notes Due 2021

On January 6, 2014, FDC 1ssued $725 million aggregate pnncipal amount of 11 75% senior unsecured subordinated notes due August 15,2021 The notes
were issued at 103 5% of par fora premium of $25 mullion The additional notes werc treated as a single senics wath the existing 11 75% notes and wall have
the same terms as those of the exasting 11 75% notes The additional notes and the existing 11 75% notes will vote as one class under the indenture FDC
uscd the proceeds from the 1ssue and sale of the additional notes, together with cash on hand, to redeem all of its outstanding 11 25% senior subordinated
notes dee 2016 and to pay related fees and expenses

On Marct*i4, 2014, the Company completed an offer to exchange all of s 11 75% senior unsétured notes due 2021 for publicly tradable notes having
substantially identical terms and guarantees, except that the exchange notes are freely tradable There was no expenditure or recetpt of cash associated with
tlus exchange, other than the professional fees incurred 1n connection with the registration statement wtself

On July 11,2014, the Company redeemed $866 mithon aggregate pnincipal ofits 11 75% senior unsecured subordinated notes due 2021, plus accrued and
unpaid interest Refer to "Debt Repurchase” belew foradditional information
1

Interest on the 11 75% senior notes 1s payable in cash and 1s payable semi-annually on February 5 and August 15 The 11 75% senior notes mature on
August 15,2021

FBC may redeem the notes, 1n whole or in part, at any time priorto May 15, 201 6, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes redeemed
plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date and a “make-whole premum ” Thereafier, FDC may redeem the notes, in whole orin part, at
established redemption prices

Other

In October 2014, FDC paid off its 4 85% notes due 2014 for $4 million

Related Financing Costs

In connection wath the January 2014 debt offenng and repurchase and the January 2014 and July 2014 modificattons to the senior secured term loan facility,
the Company incurred lender fees and other expenses of approximately $19 milhion

Debt Repurchase
On July 11,2014, Fust Data Holdings Inc , the direct parent company of the Company, completed a $3 5 billion 1ssuance of 1ts common equity 1n a pnvate
placement $2 5 billion of the net proceeds were contributed to the Company as a capital contribution and the funds were used to repurchase a portion of the

Company's outstanding 11 75% senior unsecured subordinated notes due 2021, 6 75% senior secured first lien notes due 2020, 10 625% semor unsecured

notes due 2021, and 11 25% semor unsecured notes due 2021 !

In connection with these transactions, the Company incurred debt extinguishment costs of $260 million
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Maturithes

The following table presents the future aggregate annual matunties of long-term debt excluding unamortized discounts

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) Par Amount
2015 ) $ 8313
2016 664
2017 1,5122
2018 ) ) ) 59920
2019 ’ 1,596 5
Thereafier 11,754 1

Total $ 21,0045

—_——

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs were capitalized in conjunction with certain of FDC’s debt 1ssuances and totaled $132 mullion and $177 nullion, as of December 3 1,
2014 and 2013, respectively Deferred financing costs are reported in the “Other tong-term assets™ hine of the Consolidated Balance Shects and are being
amorttized on a straight-line basis, which approximates the interest method, over the remaining tenn of the respective debt, with a weighted-average penod of
six years Inaddition, lender fees associated with debt modifications and amendments were capitalized as discounts on the debt and are similarly beng
amortized on a straght-line basis, which approximates the effective interest method, over the remaining temm of the respective debt

Guarantees and Covenants

Ali ebhigations under the semor secured revolving credit factlity and sentor secured term loan facility are unconditionally guaranteed by most of the existing
and future, direct and indirect, wholly owned, matenal domestic subsidianes of FDC The semior secured facilities contain a number of covenants that, among
other things, restrrct FDC’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, create hiens, enter into sale and leaseback transacuons, engage in mergers or
consolhidations, sell or transfer assets, pay dividends and destnbutions or repurchase FDC’s or its parent company’s capital stock, make investments, loans or
advances, prepay certamn indebtedness, make certain acquisitions, engage 1n certain transactions with affiliates, amend matenal agreements goveming
centawn indebtedness, and change its Lines of business The semor secured facilities also require FDXC to not exceed a maximum senior secared leverage ratio
and contamn certain customary affirative covenants and events of default, including a change of control The semor secured term loan facility also requires
mandatory prepayments based on a percentage of excess cash flow generated by FDC FDC 15 1n comphiance with all applicable covenants

All semior secured notes are guaranteed on a senior secured basis by each of FDC’s existing and future direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidianes
that guarantees FDC's senior secured credst factliies Each of the guarantees of the notes 1s a general senior obligation of each guarantor and rank senior in
nght of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedncess of the guarantor subsidiary, meluding FDC's existing senior subordinated notes The
notes rank equal in nght of payment with all exisung and future semor indebtedness of the guarantor subsidiary but are effectively senior to the guarantees of
FDC’s existing semior unsecured notes and FDC's existing senior secured second lien notes to the extent of FDC's and the guarantor subsidiary’s value of the
collateral secunng the notes The 7 375% Semor Secured First Lien Notes, 8 875% Senior Secured First Lien Notes, and 6 75% Senior Secured First Lien
Notes are effectively equal 1n nght of payment with each other and the guarantees of FDC’s senior secured credit facilities Each senes of notes are effectively
subordinated to any obligations secured by liens permutted under the indenture for the particular series of notes and structurally subordinated to any existing
and future indebtedness and other habiliues of any subsidiary of a guarantor that 1s not also a guarantor of the notes

All semior unsecured notes (1) rank sentor in right of payment to all of FDC’s existing and future subordinaied indebtedness, (1) rank equally 1n nght of
payment to all ofthé existing and future semor indebtedness, (1) are effectively subordinated in nght of payment to all existing and future secured debt to
the extent of the value of the assets secuning such debt, and (1v) are structurally subordinated ta all obligations of each subsidiary that is not a guarantorof
the senior notes

- -
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The scnior subordinated notes arc unsecurcd and (1) rank equally 1n nght of payment with all of the existing and future senior subordinated debt, {11) rank
scmior i nght of payment to all future debt and other oblhigations that are, by their temms, expressly subordinated in nght of payment to the semior
subordinated notes, (in) are effectively subordinated 10 nght of payment to all exisung and future secured debt to the extent of the value of the assets
secuning such debt, (1v) are subardinated 1in nght of payment to all existing and future semior indebtedness, and (v} are structurally subordinated to all
obligations of each subsidiary that 1s not a guaranter of the semor subordinated notes

The notes are sinularly guaranteed 1o accordance wath their terms by each of FDC's domestic subsidianes that guarantee obligations under FDC's senior
secured term loan facility descnbed 1n more detail in Note 17 "Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consohdating Financial Statements” of these
Consohdated Financial Statements

All obhgations under the seniorsecured notes, senior secured second lien notes, senior unsecured notes, and senior unsecured subordinated notes also
contain a number of covenants siular to those described for the senior secured obligations noted above FDC 1s 1n compliance wath all applicable
covenants

Fair Value Measurement

As of December 31, 20i4 and 2013, the far value ofthe Company's long-term borrowings was $22 1 billion and $24 0 bullion, respectively The estumated
fair value of the Company's long-term barrowings was primanly based on market trading pnces and 1s considered 1o be a Level 2 measurement

Note 7 Supplemental Financial Infermation
Supplemental Statements of Operations Information

The following table details the components of “Other income {expense)” on the Consolidated Statements 6f Operations

Year ended December 31,

{in millions) 2014 2013 2012
Investment gains and (losscs) 3 1002 3 24 % an
Denvative financial instruments gains and (losses) 03 (24 4) @14)
Divestitures, net 16 (54) —_
Non-operating foreign currency gains and {losses) 591 19 5) 48
Other income (expense) 3 1612 % 469) 3§ (94 3)
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Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

As of December 31,
{in millians) 2014 2013
lOtiu:r current assets
Prepaid expenses 5 748 % 1422
+ Inventory _ 903 867
Other 1237 1162
Total Qther current assets g 2888 § 3451
"Property and equipment
Land $ 331 § 850
Buildings 3415 3259
Leasehold improvements 554 542
! Eguipment and furmiture 1,289 4 1,164 3
Equipment under capital leage . 193 4 3699
Property and cquipment 7 2,162 8 1,999 3
Less Accumulated depreciation (1,233 1) {1,149 9)
f Total Propenty and equipment, net of accumulated deprecianon $. 9207 % 846 4
Other current habilities | i
Accrued interest expense $ 4429 § 5388
Other accrued expenses _ _ 55912 5294
Other ' 3301 5623
Total Other current Liabilities 3 1,5322 § 1,6305

Note 8 Related Party Transactions
Merchant Alhances

A substantial portion ofthe Company's business within the Merchant Solutions and International segments 1s conducted through merchant alliances
Merchant alliances are alliances between the Company and financial insututions If the Company has majonty ownership and management control over an
alliance, then the alhance’s financial statements are consclidated with those of the Company and the related processing fees are treated as an intercompany
transaction and eliminated upon consohdatten If the Company does not have a controlling ownership interest 1o an alliance, it uses the equity method of
accounting to account for its investment in the alliance As a result, the Company’s consolidated revenues include processing fees charged to alliances
accounted for under the equity method No directors or officers of the Company have ownership interests 1n any of the alhances The formation of each of
these alliances generally involves the Company and the bank contributing contractual merchant relationships to the alliance and a cash payment from one
owner to the other to achieve the desired ownership percentage for each The Company and the bank enter into a long-term processing servige agreement as
part of the negotiation process This agreement govemns the Company’s provision of transaction processing services to the ailiance

\
Management Agreement

First Data has a management agreement with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L P (KKR) and one of 1ts affiliates (Management Agreement) pursuant to which
KKR provides management, consulting, financial, and other advisory services to the Company Pursuant to the Management Agreement, KKR receives an
aggregate annual management fee and reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred 1n connection with the provision of services The Management
Agreement has an initial term expinng on December 31, 2019, provided that the term wall be extended annually thereafter unless the Company provides prior
written notece of is desire not Lo automatically extend the term The Management Agreement provides that KKR also 1s entitled to receive a fec equal to a
percentage of the gross transaction value in connection with certain subsequent financing, acquisition, disposition, and change of control transactions, as
well as a termination fec based on the net present value of future payment obhigations under the Management Agreement in the event of an 1nitial public
offenng or under certain other circumstances

74




FIRST DATA CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Management Agrecment terminates automatically upon the consummation of an mitial public effenng and may be terminated at any time by mutual
consent of the Company and KKR The Management Agreement also contains customary exculpation and indemmification provisions 1n favor of KKR and its
affiliates Dunng 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred $20 million in management fees 1n each year

Certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors are affiliated wath KKR
Transactions and Balances Involving Company Affiliates

In 2014,2013, and 2012, KKR Capital Markets LLC (KCM) assisted the Company 1n arranging and coordinaung the Company’s request for an extension of
the matunty of certain commutments and loans under 1ts senior secured lending facility The Company pmd KCM $1 mullion for such services tn each year
Also dunng 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company entered into purchase agreements 1n which KCM agreed to serve as one of the initial purchasers for
offerings of secured notes and recerve a poron of the underwnting commussions for the offenngs Under the terms of the agreements, the Company paid
underwnting commissions to KCM of $7 mullion in each year

On Apnl 2,20!3 and Apnl 8, 2013, the Company entered 1nto engagement letters with KCM and others, pursuant to which KCM agreed to assist in armanging
and coordinating the Company’s request for a reduction of interest rate for certain loans under 1ts semor secured lending facility The Company paid KCM $3
mulhion for such services

Dunng 2014,2013, and 2012, the Company paid 37 nullion, $11 mullion, and $12 million, respectively, of expenses to KKR Capstone Amencas LLC, 2
consulting company that works exclusively with KKR's portfolio companies, for consulting, financial, and other advisory services provided to the |
Company

Note 9 Commitments and Contingencies |

4 , |

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain of 1ts facilities and equipment under operating lease agreements, substanually all of whrch contain renewal options and
escalation provisions The following table presents the amounts associated with total rent expense for operating leases

Year ended December 31,

{lo millions) Amount
2014 $ 774
2013 761
2012 724

Future nunmmum aggregate rental commitments as of December 31, 2014 under all noncancelable operating leases, net of sublease income are due 1n the
following years

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) Amount
2015 3 60 1
2016 537
2017 428
2018 373
2019 R 317
Thereafter 772
Total $ 3030

Sublease 1ncome 15 eamed from leased space and leascd equipment which FDC concurrently subleases to third partics with comparable ime penods As of
December 3132014, subleasc amounts totaled $5 mullion 1n FDC obligations In addition, the Company has certain guarantees imbedded 1o leases and other
agreements wherein the Company 1s required to relieve the counterpanty 1n the event of changes 1n the 1ax code orrates The Company beheves the far value
of such guarantees 1s insignificant due to the likelihood and extent of the potential changes
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Letters of Credit

The Company has $43 mllion 1n outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2014, all of which were 1ssued under the Company s senior secured
revolving credit facility and expire prior to December 10, 2015 with a one-year renewal option The letters of credit are held 1n connection with lease
arrangements, bankcard association agreements, and other secunty agreements The Company expects to renew most of the letters of credit pnor to
expiration

Contingencies

The Company 1s involved 1n vanous legal proceedings Accruals have been made wath respect to these matiers, where appropnate, which are reflected in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements The Company may enter into discussions regarding settlement of these matters, and may enter into settlement
agreements, 1f 1t believes settlement 1s 1n the best nterest of the Company The matters discussed below, if decided adversely to or settled by the Company,
individually or in the aggregate, may result in Liabihity matenal to the Company’s financial condition and/or results of operations

There are asserted claims aganst the Company where an unfavorable outcome 13 considered to be reasonably possible These claims can generally be
categonzed 1n the following areas (1) patent infnngement whach resuits from claims that we are using technology that has been patented by another party,
(2) merchant customer matters often assaciated with alleged processing emors or disclosure 1ssues and claims that one of the subsidianes of the Company has
violated a federal or state requirement regarding credit reporting or collection 1n connection with 1ts check venfication guarantee, and collection activitics,
and (3) other matters which may include 1ssues such as employment The Company's estimates of the possible ranges of losses i excess of any amounts
accrued are $0 to $30 million for patent infningement, $0 to $60 mullion for merchant custormer matters and $0 to §5 mullion for ather matters, resulting 1n a
total estimated range of possible losses of $0 to $95 million for all of the matters described above

The estimated range of reasonably possible loases 1s based on tnformation currently available and involves elements of judgment ‘pd significant
uncertainties As additional information becomes available and the resolution of the uncertatnties becomes more apparent, i1t 1s p0551ble that actual losses
may exceed even the high end of the estimated range

Other

In the normal course of business, the Company 15 subyject to claims and hingation, including indemnification obligations to purchasers of former subsidianes
Management of the Company believes that such matters wall not have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, liguidity or financial
condition

Contingent Consideration

Over the past three years, the Company completed three acquisitons in which contingent consideration was recorded The transactions called for cash
consideration as well as contingent payments for achievement of certain milestones As part of the purchase price, the Company recorded a $29 million
liability fer the contingent consideration This fair value measurement represents a Level 3 measurcment as it 1s based on significant inputs not observable in
the market Significant judgment 1s employed in determining the appropnatencss of these assumptions as of the acquisition date The primary assumption 1s
the estimated number of merchant locations that will be using the software or technology in the next three years Refer to Note 3 "Acquisitions and
Dasposinons” of these Consolhidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these acquisihons

The following table provides the roll forward of contingent consideration measured at Leve! 3
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{in millions)

Famr Value Measurement
Using Significant
Unobservable Inputs

Beginning balance as of January 1, 2013

[nitial estimate of contingent consideration

Contingent consideration payments

Change 1n farr value of contingent consideration
Ending balance as of December 31,2013

Inttial estimate of contingent consideration

Contingent constderation payments

Change 1n fair value of contingent consideration
Ending balance as of December 31,2014

Note 10 First Data Corporatien Stockhelder’s Equity and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

Dividends

(Level 3)
Contingent constderation
263
263
27
290

The Company’s sentor secured revolving credit facility, senior secured term loan facihity, and the indentures goverming the senior secured notes, senior
unsecured notes, and senior subordinated notes hirmut the Company's ability to pay dividends The restnctions are subject to numerous qualifications and
exceptions, mmcluding an exception that allows the Company to pay a dividend to repurchase, under certain circumstances, the equity of Parent held by
employees, officers and directors that were obtained in connection with the stock compensation plan The Company pa:id cash dividends to 11s parent, FIDH,
totaling $686 million dunng 2014, $28 million dunng 2013, and $7 mullion dunng 2012
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Other Comprehensive Income

The income tax effects allocated to and the cumulative balance of each component of OCI are as follows

Pretax
Gain Tax Net-of-
Beginning (Laoss) {Benefit) Tax Ending
(in millions) Balance Amount Expense Amount Batance
Asof December 31,2014
Unrealized gains (losses) on secunties $ 23 % 68 $ — % 68 $ 45)
Forcign currency translation adjustment @ (504 4) (298 1) [{RO)} (297 1) (801 5)
Pension hiability adjustments ) (86 6) (352) 09 (36 1) (1227
s 5887 § (3401) $ 01 3 (3400) $ (928 7)
Decem 1,201
Unrealized gains on securties b3 1y 8 19 3 07 $ 12§ 23
Foreign currency translaton adjustmertt (1) . (425 9) (103 1) (24 6) (78 5) (504 4)
Pension hiabihty adjustments ) (1274) 643 235 408 (86 6)
5 (5522) $ {369) § 04) § (365) § (3887)
bl P
As of December 31,2012 -
Unrealized gains on secunties $ 09 3 03 % o1 3 02 % 11
Unrealized gains (Josses) on hedging activities 722) 1149 427 722 —
Foreign currency translation adjustment {2 - (438 3) 284 160 124 (425 9)
Pension hability adjustments (88 8) {618) (232) {38 6) (127 4)
$ (3984) 3 818 % 356 § 462 3 (552 2)

v

(a) Net-of-tax Foreign currency transtation adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 is different than the amount presented on the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehenstve Income {(Loss) by $(11) million, $1 millton, and $3 million, respectively, due to the foreign currency translatuon adpstment related to
noncontrolling wnterests not mcleded above

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

The followng table presents a summary of the redeemable noncontrolling interest activity 1n 2014 and 2013

Redeemable
Noncontrelling

{in mullions) Interest
Balance as of January 1, 2013 s 674
Dustnbutions (34 4)
Share of income 341
Adjustment to redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interest 20
Balance as of December 31, 2013 691
Dustributions (34 5)
Share of income 337
Adjustment to redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interest 21
Balance as of December 31,2014 $ 704

Note 11 Stock Compensation Plans

The Company’s parent, FDH, has a stock incenuve plan foremployees of FDC and 1its affiliates (stock plan) The stock plan provides the opportunity for
certain employees to purchase shares 1n FDH and then receive a number of opttons or restncted stock based on a multiple of their investment 1n such shares
The plan also allows for the Company to award shares and options to employees The participants ofthe stock plan enter into a management stockholders’
agreement Pnncipal terms of the
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management stockholders’ agreement include restnctions on transfers, lock ups, nght of first refusal, registration rights, and a confidentiality, non-
solicitation and non-compete covenant The expense associated wath this plan 1s recorded by FDC The number of shares authonzed under the stock plan was
180 mullson as of December 31,2014

The participants of the stock plan have the nght to require FDH to repurchase the shares and options upon the employee’s temmunation due to death or
disability The put nghts expire one year after the termunation event or upon a change in control The repurchase price for the shares 1s their fair market value
at the ume of repurchase The repurchase pnce for the options 1s their intnnsic value at the ume of repurchase

The Company defers recogmition of substantially all of the stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and non-vested restncted stock awards
and units Due to the nature of call nghts associated with stock options, the Company wall recognize expense related to most optiens only upon certain
hquidity or employment termination events The nature of the call nghts associated with stock options creates a performance condition that 1s not considered
probable untilf the occurrence of one of the events described above The call nghts create a performance conditton as they allow FDH to repurchase options at
the lesser of the fair value or the exercise pnce upoan an option holder’s voluntary termination

Stock-based compensation expense will be recognized related to certain restncted stock awards and units only upon a hiquidity or employment termunation
event which tnpgers vesting For the remaiming awards that vest based solely on service conditions, expense 1s recognized aver the requisste service penod

Under certain circumstances, the Company may redeem commeon stock held by its employees on behalf of 1ts parent company, FDH

Total stock-based compensanion expense recognzed in the * Selling, general, and admimistrative™ line item of the Consolidated Statements of Operations
resulting from stock options, non-vested restncted stock awards, and non-vested restncted stock units was as follows

Year ended December 31,

{In millions) ' Amount

2014 3 503
2013 391
2012 124

Dunng 2014, approximately $37 million of stock-based compensation expense was recogmized as a result of the departure of certain exccutive officers
Durmg 2013, approximately $20 milhion of stock-based compensation expense was recognized as a result of granting an executive officer shares of common
stock of FDH and fully vested restncted stock units

The Company has a deferred compensation plan for non-employce directors that allows cach of these directors to defer thear annual compensation The plan
1sunfunded For purposes of determuning the investment retum on the deferred compensation, each director’s account i1s treated as 1f credited with a number
of shares of FDH stock determined by dividing the deferred compensation amount by the first Board approved fair value of the stock dunng the year The
account balance wll be paid 1a cash upon temination of Board service, certamn hqurdity events or other certain events at the fair value of the stock at the
tme of settlement Due to the cash settlement provisions, the account balances are recorded as a liability and are adjusted to fair value quarnterly As of
December 31,2014 and 2013, the balance of this lrability was $t mullion

Stock Options
Dunog the years ended December 31,2014, 2013, and 2012, time-based options were granted under the stock plan The time-based options have a
contractuel term of 1€ years Time-based options vest equally over a three to five year penod from the date of 1ssuance The outstanding time-based options

also have certain accelerated vesting provisions that become effective upon a change in control, a quahfied public offenng, or certain temunation events

As of December 31,2014, there was approximately $154 mullion of total unrecognized compensatron expense related to non-vested stock options that will
anly be recagnized upon a qualified public offenng or certain hiquidity or employment termination events

Dunng 2014, 2013, and 2012, FDH pard $15 milhion, $22 mullion, and $3 mullion, respectively, to repurchase shares from employees that termminated
employment with the Company
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The fair value of FDH stock opuons granted for the years ended December 31, 2014,2013, and 2012 were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option pnicing model wath the following weighted-average assumptions

Year cnded December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 224% [ 40% 145%
Dividend yield — —_ —
Volatiliy ) 5045% 5661% 51 77%
Expected term (in years) ) 7 7 7
Fair value of stack b3 400 § 350 $ 3400
Fair value of options b3 214 § 199 % I 60

Risk-free interest 1ate—The nsk-free rate for stock options granted dunng the penod was determuned by using a zero-coupon U § Treasury rate for the
penods that coincided wath the expected terms listed above

Expected dividend yield—No routine dividends are cumrently being paid by FDH, or are expected to be paid 1n future penods

Expected volanlity—As FDH 1s a non-publicly traded company, the expected volatility 1s based on the histoncal volatilities of a gronp of guideline
companies

Expected term—The Company estimated the expected term by consndéﬂng the hustoncal exercise and termuination behavior of employees that pammpatedlﬁa
the Company’s previous equity plans, the vesting conditions of options granted under the stock plan, as well as the impact of limited hquidity for common
stock of a non-publicly traded company

Farr value of stock—The Company determuined the fair value based on discounted cash flows and companson to a group of guideline companies

A summary of FDH stock option activity for the year ended December 31 , 201415 as follows

Weighted-Average

Remawning
Weighted-Average Contractual

(options ln miibons) Optlons Exercise Price Term
Outstanding as of January 1, 2014 909% § 328

Granted 164 § 400

Exercised (24) § 303

Cancelled / Forfeited (18) § 324

'‘Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 1031 $ 340 7 years
Options exercisable as of December 31,2014 _453 $ 313 6 years

The total intnnsic value and amount paid related to stock options exercised dunng the twelve months ended December 31,2014, 2013, and 2012 was $2
mllion, $3 milion, and $0 mullion, respectively

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units

In the first quaner of 2014, FDH expanded participation 10 the plan by granting 31 nullion restneted stock awards 1o substanually all of the Company's
employces The restrictions on a majonty of these awards will lapse upon the later of three years or following an 1mitial public offening or upon certain
employment termination events For the remainder of these awards, the restnctions will lapse following an (mitial public offertng or upon certain employment
temmunation events v '

Restricted stock awards and units were granted under the stock plan dunng 2014, 2013, and 2012 Grants were made as incentive awards The restnctions on
the awards granted will lapse upon a qualified public offenng, a change 1n control or certain employment termination or iquidity events As of December 31,
2014 there was approximately $172 mullion of total unrecognized compensation expense related to restneted stock Approximately 33 million will be
recognized over a penod of
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approximately one year with the remainder recognized upon the occurrence of certain hiquidity or employment temunation events

Dunng 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company paid $5 million, $6 muilhion, and 32 million, respectively, to repurchase stock awards from employees that
termunated employment with the Company

A summary of FDH restncted stock award and restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31,2014 1s as follows

Weighted-Average

{awards/umts i mulhons) Awards/Umits Grant-Date Fair Value

Non-vested as of January 1, 2014 169 % 313
Granted 372 $ 4 40
Vested 38 3 318
Cancelled / Forfeited 38 $ 381
Non-vested as of December 31, 2014 465 $ 379

The total fair value of shares vested (measured as of the date of vesting) duning the twelve months ended December 31, 2014,2013, and 2012 was $15
million, $18 millton, and $3 mullion, respectively

Note 12 Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Contributon Plans

FDC maintains defined contribution savings plans covenng vartually all of the Company’s U S employees and defined centnbution pension plans for
intemational employees prnmanly n the United Kingdom and Australia The plans provide tax-deferred amounts for each participant, consisting of employee
elective contributions, Company matching and discretionary Company contributions As of January 1, 2014, the Company suspended matching

contobutions forall US paticipants Asa result, the US Plan 1s no longer a safe harbor plan

The following table presents the aggregate amounts charged to expense (n connection with these plans

Year ended December 31,

(in millions) Amount

2014 b 14 8
2013 455
2012 452

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company has defined benefit pension plans which are frozen and covers certain full-time employees in the United Kingdom and the U S The Company
also has separate plans covenng certain employees located primanly in Germany, Greece, and Austria

The Company uses December 31 as the measurement date for 1ts plans
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes 1n the plans’ projected benefit obligations and fair value of assets for the years ended

December31,2014 and 2013, as well as a statement of the funded status as of the respective penod ends

As of December 31,

(in millions) 2014 013
Change n benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of peniod $ 9097 % 909 1
Service costs 48 31
Interest costs 411 372
UK plan benefit cuntailment gain — (109)
Actuanal loss {gain) 1420 (104)
Benefits pad (3E41) 300
Foteign currency translation (44 3) 123
Benefit obligation at end of penod 1,0192 909 7
Change 1n plan assets
- Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of penod 9103 8058
Actual retum on plan assets 1527 819
Company contnbutions 149 368
Benefits paid (328) (29 4)
’ Foreign currency translation {46 5) 152
Fair value of plan assets at end of penod 998 6 2103
Funded status of the plans $ 206) § 06
As of December 31,
(in millions) 2014 2013
UK plan
Plan benefit obligations £ (7548) § (682 1)
Fair value of plan assets 836 1 7555
Net pension assets (a) 811 734
US and other foreign plans
Plan bencfit obligations {264 4) (227 6)
Fair value of plan assets 1625 154 8
1Net pension hiabilities (b) {101 9) (72 8)
Funded status of the plans $ (206) $ 06

- -

(a) Pension assets are included i * Other long-term asscts” of the Consohidated Balance Sheets.
(b} Pension liabiliues are included in  Other long-term labilities of the Consolidated Balance Sheets

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was §t 0 billion and $209 mullion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively
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The following table summarizes the activity tn other comprehensive imcome, net of tax

Year ended December 31,

{in milions) 2014 2013 2012

Total unrecogrized loss included 1n accumulated other comprehensive mcome at the

beginning of period 3 866) % (1274) % {88 8)
Unrecogrnized (loss) gain ansing dunng the period 379) 315 (399
U K. pian curtarlment gain — 69 —
Amortization of deferred losses to net penodic benefit expense (a) 18 24 13

Total unrecognized loss included 1n accumulated other comprehensive income at end of

penod $ (1227 3 866) 3§ (127 4)

{a) Expected ameriization of deferred losses 10 net periodic benefit expense in 2015 15 83 million pretax

Amounts recorded in other comprehensive income represent unrecognized net actuanal gains and losses The Company does not have net transition assets or

obligations

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost for the plans

Year ended December 31,

{In millians) 2014 2013 2012
Service costs $ 48 3 i1 8 50 .
Interest costs 411 372 377
Expected retur on plan assets {50 1) 44 1) 447
Amortization i8 40 21
iNet penadic benefit expense $ (24) % 02 % 01
Assumptions The weighted-average rate assumptions used in the measurement of the Company’s benefit obligations are as follows
As of December 31,

414 2013 2012
Discount rate 367% 4 56% 4 25%
Rate of compensatton 1ncrease {a) 189% 1 70% 395%
(a} The rate of compensanon nereases generally apply 10 active plans
The weighted-average rate assumptions used 1n the measerement of the Company’s net cost were as follows

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Discount rate 427% 4 06% 47%
Expected long-ierm relum on plan assets 547% 555% 6511%
Rate of compensation increase (a} 208% 1 96% 360% .

(2} The rate of compensation mcrcases generally apply to acuve plans

The Company employs a building block appreach 1n determinung the long-term rate of retumn for plan assets wath proper consideration of diversification and
re-balancing Historical markets are studied and long-term histoncal relationships between equities and fixed-income secunties are preserved consistent with
the widely accepted capital market pnnciple that assets with-higher volatility generate a greater retum over the long run Current market factors such as
inflation and interest rates are evaluated before long-term capital market assumptions are determined Peer data and historical retumns are reviewed to check

for reasonableness and appropnateness All assumptions are the responsibilety of management

Plan assets The Company employs a total retum investment approach whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to maximize the
long-term return of plan assets for a prudent fevel of nsk Risk tolerance 15 established through careful consideration of plan habilities and plan funded status
The investment portfolio contains a diversified blend of equuity and fixed-income investments Furthenmore, equity investments are diversified zeross U S

and global equity investments In
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addition, pnivate equity secunties compnse a very small part of the equity allocation The fixed income allocation 1s a combination of fixed income
invesiment strategies designed to contribute to the total rate of return of all plan assets while mimimizing nisk and supporting the duration of plan hablitics
The Company's pension plan target allocation forthe U S plans based on the investment policy as of December 31, 2014 was 40% equity securities and 60%
debt secunties

Investment nsk 15 measured and monitored on an engeing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews, annual Liabihty measurements, and penodic
asset and Lability studies The general philosophy of the Benefit Comnuttee in setting the allocation percentages for the domestic plan s to adhere to the
appropnate allocation mix necessary to support the underlying plan liabilities as influenced significantly by the demographecs of the participants and the
frozen nature of the plan

The goal of the Board of Trustees of the United Kingdom plan 15 the acquisition of secure assets of appropnate hiquidity, which are expected to generate
income and capital growth to meet, together with new contnbutions from the Company, the cost of current and future benefits, as set out 1n the Trust Deed
and Rules The Trusiees, together with the plan’s consultants and actuanes, further design the asset allocation to it the risk of the assets failing to meet the
liabilities over the long term The Trustees approach to the investment strategy 1s to allocate the assets into two pools 1) Off-risk assets whereby the focus 1s
risk management, protection, and tnsurance relative to the liability target mnvested in, but not hirmited to, debt, United Kingdom govemment bonds, and
United Kingdom govemnment index-linked bonds, and 2) On-nsk assets whereby the focus 1s on return generation and taking nsk 1n a controlled manner
Such assets could include equities, govemment bonds, high-yield bonds, property, commodities, or hedge funds The target allocation for this plan 1s 40%
off-nsk assets and 60% on-nsk assets

Fair valae measurements Financial instruments included 1n plan assets camed and measured at fair value on a recumng basis are classified 1n the table
below

As of December 31, 2014

* * Fair Value Measurement Using
Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
active markets pbservable anohbservable
for identical assets inputs inputs
{in mllions) (Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3) Total
‘Investments
Cash and cash equivalents $ 87 % — 3 — 3 87
. Registered investment companies I o o
Cash management fund 10 — — 10
Equity funds 645 — — 645
Fixed income funds —_ 2667 — 2667
Fixed income secunties — 479 —_ 479
Pnvate investment funds—redeemable (a) 1655 4407 —_ 606 2
Pnvate 1nvestment fands—non-redeemable - —_ 01 0l
Insurance annuity contracts — — 35 35
Total investments at fair value 3 237 % 7553 % 36§ 998 6

{a) 39% af portfolio 15 1nvested 1 equity index funds, 44% 1n fixed income investments, 6% 1n cash and cash equivalents, and | 1% 1n other mvestments
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As of December 31, 2013

Fair Value Measurement Using

Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
active markets observable unobservable
far identical assets mnputs mputs
(10 mullions) {Level 1) (Lavel 2) {Level 3) Total
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents $ 08 % — $ — 3 08
Registered imvestment companes
Cash management fund 29 — — 29
Equity funds 692 — — 692
Fixed income secunties — 401 —_ 401
Praivate investment funds—redeemable (a) —_ 7933 — 793 5
Pnvate investment funds—non-redeemable — — 01 o1
Insurance annuity contracts — — 37 37
Total mv{f_:stmcntS at fair value $ 729 §% 8336 $ jg % 9103

(3} 35% of portfolio 15 invested 10 equity index funds, 61% in fixed income investments, 3% tn cash and cash equivalents, and 1% 1n other tvestments.

Fair Value Measurement Uslng Significant
Unohservable Inputs (Level 3)

Insurance Private investment funds
{1 mnlhous) aanufly contracts nop-redeemable
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2013 3 33 $ ol
Actual return on plan assets 04 —
Settlements — —
Ending balance as of December 31, 2013 37 01
Actual retumn on plan assets 02) —
Settlements — —
Ending balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 3s 5 0l

Registered investment companites The Company’s domestic and United Kingdom plans have investments i shares of mutual funds, prnmanly large cap,
mternauonal, and global equity funds, that are registered with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion Pnces of these funds are based on Net Asset Values
(NAV) calculated by the funds and are publicly reported on national exchanges The plan measures fair value of these investments using the NAV provided
by the fund managers

Fixed tncome securtties The Company’s domestic plan has investments tn several fixed income secunties, pnmarily corporate bonds The bonds were valued
under a market approach using observable inputs including teported trades, benchmark yields, broker/dealer quotes, 1ssuer spreads, and other standard inputs

Private investment funds—redeemable The Company’s domestic and United Kingdom plans are invested 1n shares or units of several private mvestment
funds, not the underlying assets Redeemable private investment funds include collecuve trusts, comungled funds, pooled funds, linited partnerships, and
himited hability corporations The funds calculate NAV on a penodic basis and are available only from the fund managers Pnivate investment funds are
redeemable at the NAV
t ta t 4.,\
" Private investment funds—non-redeemable The Company’s domestic plan has investments in imited hability corporations for which the plan hasa limuited «
abtlity to redeem or transfer its interests Therefore, there 1s an 1lliquid market in which the plan can exit these investments As a result, the plan measures fair -~
value of these investments using estimates of fair value which come from partner capital statements provided by the partnerships

Insurance anmuty contracts The Company’s United Kingdom Plan 15 1nvested 1n several insurance annuity contracts The value of these contracts s :
calculated by estumating future payments and discounting them to present value As a result, there 1s no market for the Plan to ex1it these investments

Contributtons Contnbutions to the plans in 2015 are expected to be approximately $14 million
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The estimaled future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected Lo be as follows

Year ended December 31,

{in milllons) Amount

2015 293
2016 304
2017 3¢
2018 331
2019 338
2020-2024 1860

The Company’s post-retirement health carc and other insurance benefits for rured employces are hmited and immatenal
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Note 13 Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterpnse about which separate financial information 1s available that 1s evaluated regularly by a
company's chief operating decision maker (CODM), or decision-making group, in deciding how te allocate resources and 1n assessing performance First
Data’s CODM 1s its Chief Executive Officer The Compaay 1s orgamzed 1n three segments Merchant Solutions, Financial Services, and Intemational

The business segment measurements provided to and evaluated by the CODM are computed 1n accordance with the principles Listed below
. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those descnbed 1n Note 1 "Summary of Stgnificant Accounting Policies "
. Segment results exclude divested businesses

. Segment revenue includes equity eamings 1n affiliates (excluding amortization expense) and 1ntersegment revenue Merchant Solutions segment
revenue does not include equity eamings because 1t 18 reported using proportionate cansolidation as descnbed below

. Segment revenue excludes reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other revenue

. Segment eamings before net mterest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortizatron (EBITDA) includes equity eamings in affibiates and
excludes depreciation and amortization cxpense, net tncome attnbutable to noncontrolling intercsts, other operating expenses, and other income
(expense} Merchant Solutions segment EBITDA does not include equity carnings because it 1s reported using proportionate consolhidation as
descnbed below Additionally, segment EBITDA 15 adjusted for items similar to cenain of those used 1n calculanng the Company’s comphance
with debt covenants The addifronal items that are adjusted to determine segment EBITDA are

« stock based compensatron and related expense 1s excluded,
+ official check and money order businesses’ EBITDA are excluded as these are wanding down,

- centain costs directly associated with the termination of the Chase Paymentech Solutions alltance, and expenses related to the
conversion of certatn BAMS alliance merchant clients onto the Company’s platforms (excludes costs accrued 1n purchase
accounting) Effecuve October 1, 2011, First Data and Bank of Amenca N A (the Bank} jointly decided to have First Data operate
the Bank’s legacy settlement platform Transition costs associated with the revised strategy are also excluded from segment
EBITDA,

+  debt 1ssnance costs are excluded and represent costs associated wath 1ssuing debt and modifying the Company’s debt structure,
and

+  KKR related items include annual sponsor and other fees for management, consulting, financial and other advisory services are
excluded

. Merchant Solutions segment revenue and EBITDA are reflected based on the Company’s proportionate share of the results of its investments in
buginesses accounted for under the equity method and consolidated subsidianes with noncontrolling ownership interests In addition, Merchant
Solutions segment measures reflect commission payments (o certaimn independent sales organizations (1S0s), which are treated as an expense in
the Condolidated Statements of Operations, as contra revenue to be consistent with revenue share armangements with other ISO’s that are recorded
as contra revenue

. Corporate.operations include administrative and shared service functions such as the executive group, legal, tax, treasury, intemal audat,
accounting, human resources, information technology, and procurement Casts incurred by Corporate that are directly attributable to a segment
are allocated to the respective segment Adrmunistrative, shared service, and certain information technology costs are retained by Corporate

a3
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The following tables present the Company 's operating segment results for the years ended December 31,2014, 2013, and 2012

Year ended December 31, 2014

Funancial All Other and

(in mlhians) Merchant Salutions Services Internatianal Corparate Tatale
‘Revenues

Transaction and processing service fees $ 3,2535 14126 § 1,3785 & 753 % 6,1199

Product sales and other 4143 489 3836 555 9023

Equity eamnings in affiliates (a) — — 297 — 297
Total segment reposting revenues 31,6678 14615 3§ 1,7918 § 130 8 7,051 9
Intemal revenue 195 355 74 % — 624
.Extemal revenue 36483 1,426 0 1,784 4 1308 6,989 5
Depreciation and amortization 4100 3173 2554 491 10318
Segment EBITDA 1,664 6 7413 5327 {275 9) 2,6627
Other operating expenses and other income
(expense) excluding divestitures 124 4 16 35 149 l46 4
(Expendutures for long-lived assets 529 652 2441 2043 5665
Equity eamings in affiliates 201 4 — 182 —_ 2196
'Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 9482 — 1528 — L1010

Year ended December 31, 2013
Financial All Other and

{in mullions) Merchant Solutions Services [nternational Corporale Totals
Revenues

Transaction and processing service fees 5 32552 1,3203 % 13203 % 747 § 59705

Product sales and other 3842 482 3672 467 8463

Equity earmings 1n affihates {a) —_ — 319 — 319
Total segment reporting revenues 31,6394 13685 § 1,7194  § 1214 6,848 7
Intemnal revenue 231 346 & 104 § — 681
‘Extemal revenue 36163 1,3339 1,709 0 1214 6,780 6
Depreciation and amortization 454 1 3272 2648 452 1,091 3
Segment EBITDA 1,629 8 6179 4753 (273 6) 24494
Other operating expenses and other income
{expense) excluding divestitures 217 82) 263 (1373) ©75)
Expenditures for long-lived assets 226 396 1839 1124 3785
Equity earmings in affiliates ' 168 4 — 199 — 1883
Investment 1n unconsolidated affiliates 1,158 9 —_ 1754 — 1,334 3
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Year ended December 31, 2012

Financial Alt Other and

{in mullwns) Merchant Solutions Services Internationsl Corporate Totals
Revenues

Transaction and processing service fees $ 3,1988 § 1,3500 § 12912  § 852 § 59252

Product sales and other 404 Q 401 3910 398 8749

Equity eamings 1n affiliates (a) — — 362 — 362
Total segment reporting revenues £ 3,6028 § 1,3901 § 1,7184 § 1250 § 6,8363
Internal revenue 3 202§ 315 8 99 % — 3 616
Extemal revenue 3,5826 1,358¢6 1,708 5 1250 6,774 7
Depreciation and amaortization 5201 3372 2829 451 1,1853
Segment EBITDA 1,594 8 603 1 483 8 (246 0) 24357
Other operating expenses and other income (expense)
excluding divestitures 29 1) (51) (24 3) (64 0) (122 5)
Expenditures for long-lived assets 251 492 1639 . 1321 3703
Equity eamings in affihiates N 1378 — 204 - — 1582
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 1,219 6 —_ 193 5 — 14131
(a) Excludes equity losses that were recorded 1n expense and the amortization related to the excess of the investment balance over the Company s proportionate share of the investee’s

net book value for the Internauenal segment .
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A reconcihation of reportable segment amounts to the Company's consolidated balances 15 as follows

Year ended December 31,

{1 millions) 2014 2013 2012
Segment Revenues
Merchant Sofutions 36678 % 3,6394 § 3,6028
Fﬂmanczﬂal §erv1ces ) ) 14615 13685 1,390 1
International 1,791 8 1,719 4 17184
. Subtotal segment revenucs 69211 6,7273 6,711 3
All Other and Corporate 130 8 121 4 1250
' Adjustments to reconcile to Adjusted revenue
A Official check and money order revenues {(a) 2n (4 4) {127
Eliminations of mtersegment revenues (62 4) (68 li (61 6)
Adjusted revenue 6,986 8 6,776 2 6,762 0
1+ Adjustments to reconcile to Consolldatecl—revenues
Adjustments for non-wholly aowned entities (b) 573 384 732
. Official check and money order revenues 27 Taa 127
ISO comnussion cxpensc 5015 4825 4709
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other 3,6035 3,507 4 33615
Consolidated revenues 3 11,1518 § 10,8089 § 10,6803
‘Segment EBITDA T T
Merchant Solutions 1.6646 § 1,6298 ¢ 1,594 8
Financial Services 7413 6179 603 1
International ' 5327 4753 483 8
Total reported segments ) 29386 2,723 0 2,681 7
All Other and Corporate (275 9) (273 6) (246 0)
Adjusted EBITDA 2,6627 24494 24357
Adjustments to reconcile to Net loss attnbutable to First Data Corporation
Adjustments for non-wholly owned entities (b) 247 24 68
Depreciation and amortization (1,0555) (1,091 3) {1,191 6}
Interest expense (1,753 0) (1,880 7) (1,897 8)
Interest incomme 106 111 88
Loss on debt extingusshment 260 1) — —_
Other iterns {c) 94 1 (1327 (156 9)
Income tax (expense) benefit 82D (86 5) 2240
Stock based compensation 49 9) (38 1) (11 8)
Official check and money order EBITDA (a) 10 27 64
Costs of alhance conversions (200) (68 3) (772)
KKR related tems {26 9) 31 8) (336)
Debt 1ssuance costs 34 (53) (137)
Net loss attnbt_nabie to First Data Corporation $ @578) § 8691) $ (700 9)

\, i 1
{a) Represents an ad]usméni to exclude the official check and money order businesses from revenue and EBITDA due to :he‘Company s wind down of these businesses.
(b) Net adjustment to reflect Fitst Data’s propartionate share of alliance revenue and EBITDA within the Merchant Solutions segment, equity earnings in affiliates mcluded i
International segment revenue, and amortization related to equity method investments not included mn segment EBITDA
{¢) Includes restructuring, certain retention bonuses, ligation and regulatory settlements, divestitures and impawments as applicable to the periods presented and ‘Other income

{expense) as presented m the Consolidated Statement of Operations
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Segment asscts were as follows as of the dates presented

As of December 31,

{in millions) 2014 2013
Assels
Merchant Solutions $ 23,6299 § 23,9053
Financial Services 39888 4,1762
International 47237 52229
All Other and Corporate 19269 19354
Consohdated 3 34,2653 § 352398

Areconciliation of reportable segment depreciation and amortization amounts te the Company's consohdated balances in the Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows s as follows

Yezr ended December 31,

{in millions) 2014 2013 012
Total reporied segments $ 9827 % 10461 8§ 1,140 2
All Other and Corporate 491 452 451

Total secgment depreciation and amortizanan 1,0318 1,0913 1,1853
Adjustments for non-wholly owned entities 862 791 1011
Amortization of initial payments for new contracts 453 415 44 5

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization per Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 1,163 3 12119 1,3309
Less Amortization of eguity method investment (62 3) {79 1) (94 8)
Less Amortization of initial payments for new contracts (45 3) 415) (44 5)

Tolal consohdated depreciation and amortization per Consohdated Statements of Operations  $ 10555 % 1,0913 § 1,191 6
Information conceming pnncipal geographic areas was as follows ‘

United

{in nmullions) States Interoatianal Total
{Revenues

2014 $ 94277 § 1,7241 % 11,151 8

2013 9,144 9 1,664 0 10,8089

2012 9,046 0 1,634 3 10,6803
Long-Lived Assets

2014 3 19,7077  § 25881 % 22,2958

2013 20,0196 2,9595 22,9791

2012 20,5949 3,1283 23,7232

“Intemational” represents businesses of significance, which have local currency as thewr functional currency regardless of the segments to which the

associated revenues and long-hved assets apphed
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Note 14 Quarterly Financial Results (Unaudited)

Summanzed quarterly results for the two years ended December 31,2014 and 2013, respectively, are as follows

2014 by Quarter

(10 mullions) Farst Second Thrd Fourth
{Revcnucs 3 2,6403 2,8371 % 27911 8 2,8833
Expenses 23558 24550 24385 24632
Operatmg profit 2845 3821 3526 420 1
Interest income 30 36 25 13
[interest expense | ) (467 1) BT IRY (417 6) {405 2)
Loss on debt extinguishment — — (260 1) —
‘Other income 09 825 56 4 21 4
(Loss) income before incoime taxes and equity earmings 1o affiliates (178 7) 51 (266 2) 378
{ncome tax expense (berefit) 366 400 231 286
Equity eamings 1n affiliates 504 580 548 564
‘Net (loss) income ) (164 9) 231 (188 3) 656
Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests and
redeemable noncontrolling interest i 356 576 463 538
Net (loss) income attnbutable to First Data Corporatton _ $ {200 5) 345 $ {(2346) % 118
2013 by Quarter
{10 mallions) First Second Third Fourth
Revenues 3 2,5909 2,7088 % 27121 % 2,797 1
{Expenses 2,399 8 24385 2408 6 2,439 4
Opcrating profit 1911 2703 3035 3577
'Interest mncome 27 26 27 3t
Interest expense (469 0) 472 2) {469 0) {470 5)
iOther income (expense) 03 150 (36 2) (26 0)
Loss before income taxes and equity eamings 1n affiliates {274 9) (184 3) {199 0) (1357)
Income tax expense (benefit) 6146 115 286 (152)
Equity eamings in affiliates 377 510 473 523
Net loss {298 8) (144 8) (180 3) 68 2)
Less Net income attnibutable to noncontrolling interests and
redeemable noncontrolling interest 386 443 392 549
Net loss attnbutable to First Data Corporation i g (337 4) (18911 % 2195) § (123 1)
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Note 15 Income Taxes

Ycar ended December 31,

(in millionsy 2014 2013 2012
Components of pretax (loss) income
Domestic 3 3775 s 7782y § 8755
Foreign 1951 1726 124 2
3 (1824) $ 6056) 3 (7513
Provision {benefit) for income taxes
Federal $ 174 % 203§ (301 4)
State and focal 211 202 660
Foreign 436 460 114
Income tax cxpensc (benefit) s 821 3 865 3 (224 0)
Effcetive Income Tax Rate . (45 0)% (14 3)% 298%

The Company’s effective tax rates differ from statutory rates as follows

Ycar ended December 31,

1014 2013 2012
Federal statutory rate 350% 350% 350%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 06) 24 11
Nontaxable income fiom noncontrotling interests 370 102 ) 79
Impact of foreign operations (a) (b) [CHN] 09 - 15
Tax effects of foreign exchange gains/losses 59 05 0.3)
Valuation allowances (b) (103 2) (5371 (202)
Liability for unrecognized tax benefits (b) 121 0 6) 41
Pnior year adjustments (b) (72) 62) 20
Nondeductible bad debts 30) —_ —_
Other o (L0} (13)
Effective tax rate @50)% (14 3)% 298%

{a) The mpact of foreign operatioas includes the effects of earmings and profits adjustments, foreign losscs, and differences between foreign tax expense and foreign taxes ehigible
for the US foreign tax credit

(b) The 2014, 2013, and 2012 effective tax rates were negatively impacted by a total of approximately 5%, 11%, and 9%, respectively, as a result of the current year cumulative
correcuon of immatenal priar year errors N
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The Company’s income tax provisions (bencfits) consisted of the followang components

Year ended December 31,

(1n millions) 2014 013 2012
Curmrent
Federal 3 03 § (190) s {60 0)
' State and local 386 228 160
Foreign 611 517 386
1000 735 (54
Deferred
, Federal 171 213 (241 4)
State and local (175) (2 6) 500
Foreign (175) 57 272)
(179) 130 (218 6)
3 821 § 865 (224 0)

~

Income tax payments, net of refinds recerved, of $96 miilion 1n 2014 were less than current expense pnmanty as a result of payments expected 1n 2015 *

related to 2014 tax habihines Income tax payments, net of refunds recerved, of $93 mullion in 2013 were greater than cumrent expenses pnmanly as a result of

cash payments relating to pnor years and expected refunds of cash taxes pard Income tax payments, net of refunds received, of $70 nullion 1n 2012 were
greater than current expense pnmanly as a result ofa decrease in the hability for unrecognized tax benefits

Deferred tax assets and liabtlities are recogmized for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of the
Company’s assets and liabilities Valuation aliowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when 1t 1s more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be
realized Deferred tax assets are included 1n both “Other cumrent assets™ and “Other long-term assets™ in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets
Deferred tax labilities are included in bath "Other current habilities” and "Long-term deferred tax habilities” in the Company’s Conselidated Balance Sheets

The following table outlines the pnacipal components of deferred tax Ttems

As of December 31,
(o millions) 2014 2013(a)
Deferred tax assets related to
Reserves and other accrued expenses b3 2214 3153
Pension obligations —_ 131
Employee related hiabilities 841 99 7
Deferred revenues 299 326
Net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards 2,160 1 20033
US foreign tax credits on undistnbuted earmings 2801 2744
Foreign exchange (gamnyloss 514 6876
Total defemred tax assets 28270 28070
Valuation allowance {1,649 2) (1,454 5)
Realizable deferved tax assets 1,177 8 1,352 5
Defemred tax liabuilities related to -
Property, equipment, and intangibles (1,0817) (1,233 0)
Pension obligations 21) —
Investment in affiliates and other . (331 4) (426 1)
Unrealized secuntres and hedging {(gain)loss - (0 4) (13)
US tax on foreign undistnbuted eamings (184 8) (139 6)
Total deferred tax habilitics (1,600 4) (1,800 0)
‘Net deferred tax habihines 3 4226) § (447 5)
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The Company’s defemred tax assets and Liabilties were included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows

As of December 31,

{in mtllions) 1014 1013

Current deferred tax assets $ 860 % 1035

Current deferred tax hamlities 6 3) ©8)

Long-term deferred tax assets 186 28

Long-tenm deferred tax habilities (5209) {553 0)

Net deferred tax liabilitics $ (4226) 3 (447 5) .

As of December 31,2014 and 2013, the Company had recorded valuation allowances of $1 6 billion and $1 5 billion, respectively, against its net deferred
tax assets The increase to the valuation allowance of $195 nullion in 2014 was pnmanly due to cument year federal, state, and foreign net operating losses
which may not be utilized within the statute of hmitations Included in the total change to the valuation allowance was a release tn a certain foreign
Junsdiction due to improved financial performance In determining the necessary amount of valuation ailowance, the Company has considered a tax
planning strategy related to its investments 1n affiliates Implementation of this strategy would result 1n the immed:iate reversal of temporary differences
associated with the excess of book basis over tax basis in the investments

The following table presents the amounts of federal, state, and foreign net operating loss carmryforwards and foreign tax credit, general business credit, and
nuntmum tax credit canryforwards

5, As of December 31, o,
{in millions) 2014
Federal net operating loss carry forwards (a) 3 2,8283
State net operating loss carryforwards (a) 47190 .
[Foreign net operating loss carryforwards (b) 2,7628
Foreign tax credit carryforwards (c) 2157
General business credit camryforwards (d) 118
Minimum tax credit carryforwards (e) 16

(2) If not utihized, these carryforwards will expire it years 201 5 through 2034

{b) Forcign net operating loss carryforwards of $62 malhon 1t not utilized will expire i years 2015 through 2034 The remaiming forcign net operating loss carryforwards of §2 7
billton have an definue lafe

(c) If not utiltzed, these carryforwards will expare in years 2018 through 2024

{d) [f not utilized, these carryforwards will expire n years 2027 through 2033

(¢) These carryforwards have an tndefinute life

In additien to the federal net operating loss cany forwards stated above, as a result of being a part of the US consolidated tax retumn filing with FDH, the
Company s allocated another $464 million of net operating loss as of December 31,2014

The Company 1ntends to indefinitely invest 1ts net equity 1n its foreign' operations, with the exception of any undistnbuted foreign eamings Accordingly, as
of December 31, 2014, no provision had been made for US federal and state income taxes on the cumulative amount of temporary differences related to
investments in foreign subsidiancs, other than those differences related to the undistnbuted eamings Upon sale or liquedation of these investments, the
Company would potentially be subject to U S, state, and forcign income taxes and withholding taxes payable to the vanous foreign countnes Determmnation
ofthe amount of unrecognized deferred tax hiability 1s not practicable because of the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation

95




FIRST DATA CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN1S (Continued)

Areconciliation of the unrecognized tax bencefits for the years ended December 31,2012, 2013, and 2014 15 as follows

(in milhions) Unrecognized Tax Benefits
Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 334 7
Increases for tax positions of prior years 55
Decreases for tax positions of pnior years [EXE))
Increases for tax positions retated to the current penod 62
Decreases for cash settlements with taxing authonties on
Decreases due to the lapse of the applicable statute of imitations (2 4}
Balance as of December 31,2012 2862
Increases for tax positions of pnor years 34
Decreases for tax positions of prior years 29
Increases for tax positions related to the current penod 48
Decreases for cash settlements with taxing authonties (59)
Decreases due to the lapse of the apphicable statute of mitations 6 1)
-, Balance as of December 31, 2013 2795
Increases for tax positions of prior years 29
Decreases for tax positions of pnior years 29 1)
Increascs for tax positions rclated to the cument pened - 0%
I Decreases for cash settlements with taxing authonties (132)
Decreases due to the lapse of the applicable statute of imutauons @06)
Balance as of December 31, 2014 ) 2364

~ Most of the unrecognized tax benefits are included 1n the Other long-term Liabilities™ hine of the Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of the federal benefit on
state income taxes {approximately $17 mllion as of December 31, 2014) However, those unrecognized tax benefits that affect the federal consolidated 1ax
years ending December 31, 2008 through December 31,2014 are included 1n the Long-term deferred tax habilities” line of the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, as these 1tems reduce the Company’s net operating loss and credit carryforwards from those penods The unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31,
2014,2013, and 2012 included approximately $126 mulhon, 3161 mllion, and $163 rullion, respectively, of tax posttions that, if recogmzed, would affect
the effective tax rate

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company’s hability for unrecogmzed tax benefits was reduced by $29 mullion related to the effective
resolution of certain federal and state audit issues The reduction m lrabihities was recorded through a decrease to tax expense and an increase to deferred tax
liabihties

Dunng the yearended December 31, 2012, the Company’s hiability for unrecognized tax benefits was reduced by $52 mullion upon closure of the 2003 and
2004 federal tax years and the resolution of certain state audit issues The reduction in liabilities was recorded through a decrease to tax expense and an
increase to deferred tax ltabalitres

The Company recognazes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the “Income tax expense (benefit)” hine stem of the Consolidated
Statements of Operations Cumulative accrued interest and penaltics (net of related tax benefits) are not included in the ending balances of unrccognized tax
benefits Cumulative accrued interest and penalties are tncluded in the * Cther long-term hiabilities” line of the Consolidated Balance Shects while the related

~ tax benefits arc included 1n the “Long-term deferred tax habulities™ line of the Consolidated Balance Shects The following table presents the approximate
amounts associated wath accrued interest expense and the cumulative acerucd interest and penalties

Year ended December 31,

-

{in mullions) 2014 2013 201‘2
Curmrent year accrued interest expense {itet of related tax benefits) 3 07 $ 51 § 36
Cumulative accrued mterest and penalties (net of related tax benefits) 388 452 472
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As of December 31, 2014, the Company anticipates 1t 1s reasonably possible that its hability for unrecognized tax benefits may decrease by approximately
$122 mullion within the next 12 months as a result of the possible closure of federal tax audits, potential settlements with certain states and foreign counines,
and the lapse of the statute of himitations in vanous state and foreign junsdictions

The Company or one or more of 1ts subsidianes file income tax retums in the U § federal junisdiction and vanous state and foreign junsdictions As of
December 31, 2014, the Company was no tonger subject to income tax examinatien by the US federal junsdiction for years before 2005 State and local
examinations are substanhially complete through 2006 Foreign junsdictions generally remain subject (0 examination by their respective authonties from
2008 forward, none of which are considered major junsdictions

Under the Tax Allocation Agreement executed at the ttme of the spin-off of The Westem Union Company (Western Union) on September 29, 2006, Westem
Union 1s responsible for and must indemnify the Company against all taxes, interest, and penalties that relate 1o Westem Unton for periods prior to the spin-
off date If Western Union were to agree to or be finally determuned 1o owe any amounts for such periods but were to default in 1ts indemnification obhigauon
under the Tax Allocation Agreement, the Company as parent of the tax filing group dunng such periods generally would be required to pay the amounts to
the relevant tax authonty, resulting in a potentially material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of operations As of December 31,
2014, the Company had approximatety $116 mullion of income taxes payable, including approximately $4 milhon of uncertain income tax habilities,
recorded related to Western Union for penads pnor to the spin-off date The Company has recorded a corresponding account receivable of equal amount from
Western Umion, which 15 included as a long-term account recervable in the “Other long-term assets” line of the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets,
reflecting the indemnification obligation The uncertain income tax hiabihities and conesponding receivable are based on information provided by Westem
Union regarding 1ts tax contingency reserves for pertods pnor to the spin-off date There 1s no assurance that a Westem Union-related 1ssue ratsed by the IRS
orother tax authonty will be finally resolved at a cost not in excess of the amount reserved and reflected 1n the Company’s uncertarn income tax habilities
and correspending receivable from Western Union The Westermn Union contingent habulity ts in addition to the Company’s habihity for unrecogmized tax
benefits discussed above

The IRS completed 1ts examunation ofthe US federal consolidated income tax returns of the Company for 2005 through 2007 and 1ssued a 30-Day letterin
October 2012 The 30-Day letter claims that the Company and 1ts subsidianes, which included Westem Union dunng some of the years at 1ssue, owe
additional taxes with respect to a vanety of adjustments The Company and Westem Union agree with several of the adjustments 1n the 30-Day letter, such
adjustments representing tax due of approximately $40 mullion This undisputed tax and associated interest due {pretax) of approximately $19 million
through December 31, 2014, have been fully reserved The undisputed tax for which Western Unien would be required to indemmify the Company 1s greater
than the total tax due, such that settlement of the undisputed tax would result 1n a net refund to the Company As to the adjustments that are disputed, such
1ssues represent total taxes allegedly due of approximately $59 million, of which $40 mullion relates to the Company and $19 mullion relates to Westemn
Union The Company estimates that total anterest due (pretax)} on the disputed amounts 1s approximately $20 mullion through December 31,2014, of which
$11 mullion relates to the Company and $9 million relates to Western Union As to the disputed issues, the Company and Westem Union are contesting the
asserted deficiencies with the Appeals Office of the RS The Company believes that 1t has adequately reserved for the disputed 15sues i 1ts hability for
unrecognized tax benefits descnbed above and that final resolution of those 1ssues will not have a matenal adverse effect on its financial position or results of
operations

Nate 16 Investment in Affiliates

Segment results include the Company's propartionate share of income from affiliates, which consist of unconsolhidated investments accounted for under the
cquity method of accounting The most significant of these affiliates are related to the Company’s merchant bank alliance program

A merchant alhiance, as 1t pertains to investments accounted for under the equity method, 1s an agreement between FDC and a financial institution that
combinges the processing capabilities and management expertise of the Company with the visibihty and distnbution channel of the bank The alhiance
acquires credil and debit card transactions from merchants The Company provides processing and other services to the alliance and charges fees to the
alliance pnmanly based on contractual pncing These fees have been separately 1dentified on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations

As of December 31, 2014, there were eight affiliates accounted for under the equity method of accounting, compnsed of five merchant alliances and three
strategic iInvestments in companies 10 related markets
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The Welis Fargo alliance meets the Sigmificant Subsidiary test provided in Regulations S-X Rule 1-02 (w) 1n that the Company's equity eamings of this
alliance exceeded 20% of the Company's consolhidated income from continuing operations before income taxes In accordance with Regulation 8-X Rule 3-
09, the financial statements of Wells Fargo Merchant Services, LLC are filed with this Form 10-K as part of [tem 15(c)

A summary of unaudited financial mformation for the merchant alhances and other affiliates accounted for under the equity method of accounting 1s
presented below

As of December 31,

{1z mullions} 2014 2013
Total assets $ 28654 § 3,244 3
Total habihities 2,759 1 2,904 8

The pnmary components of assets and habalities are settlement-related accounts sumilar to those descnbed in Note 4 "Settlement Assets and Obligations” of
these Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended December 31,

(in mHlians) 2014 2013 2012

Net operating revenues 3, 13568 § 1,3693  §$ 1,278 4
Operating expenses i o 6381 6754 6302
;Operatmg mncome h 5 7187 % 6939 § 648 2
Net income b3 6958 % 6639 % 639 4
yFDC equity eamings 2196 1883 1582

The formatton of a merchant alliance accounted forunder the equity method of accounting generally involves the Company and/or a financial institution
contriibuting merchant contracts to the alliance and a cash payment from one owner to the other to achieve the desired ownership percentages The asset
amounts reflected above are owned by the alliances and other equity method investees and do not include any of such payments made by the Company The
amount by which the tatal of the Company’s investments m affiliates exceeded 1ts proportionaté share of the investees’ net assets was approximately $1 1
illion and $1 2 billion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

The non-goodwill portion of this amount 1s considered an 1denti1fiable 1ntangible asset that 1s amoertized The estimated future amortization expense for these
mtangible assets as of December 31, 2014 15 as follows

Year ended December 31,

(1n mullrans) Amount

2015 ] $ 556
2016 508
2017 476
2018 292
2019 49
Thereafter « . —

These amounts assume that these alhiances continue as they currently exist Much of the difference between FDC’s proportionate share of the investees’ net
mcome and FDC’s equity eamuings neted above relates to this amortization
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Note 17 Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

As descnbed 1n Note 6 "Borowings” of these Consolidated Financial Statements, FDDC’s 12 625% senior notes, |1 25% senior notes, 10 625% senior notes,
and 11 75% senior subordinated notes are guaranteed by most of the existing and future, direct and indarect, wholly owned, domestic subsidianes of FDC
(Guarantors) The Guarantors guarantee the senior secured revolving credit facihity, semor secured term loan facility, the 8 875% senior secured notes, the

7 375% senior secured notes, and the 6 75% senlor secured notes, which rank sexor (n nght of payment to all existing and future unsecured and second hen
indebtedness of FDC’s guarantor subsidianes to the extent of the value of the collateral The Guarantors guarantee the § 25% and 8 75% senor second lien
notes which rank sentor in nght of payment to all existing and future unsecured indebtedness of FDC's guarantor subsidianes to the extent of the value of the
collateral The 12 625% sentor note, 10 625% seniornote, and 11 25% senior note guarantees are unsecured and rank equatly 1n nght of payment with all
existing and future sen1or indebtedness of the guarantor subsidianes but sentor 1n nght of payment to all existing and future subordinated indebtedness of
FDC’s guarantor subsidianes The 11 75% senior subordinated note guarantee s unsecured and ranks equally in right of payment with all existing and future
senior subordinated indebtedness of the guarantor subsidianes

All of the above puarantees are full, unconditional, and joint and several and each of the Guarantors s 100% owned, directly orindirectly, by FDC None of
the other subsidianes of FDC, either direct orindirect, guarantee the notes (Non-Guarantors) The Guarantors are subject to release under certamn
circumstances as descnbed betow

The credit-agreement goverming the guarantces of the senior secured revolving credit facility and senior secured term loan facihity provide fora Guarantor to
be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged from 1ts gearantee obligations in certain circumstances, including under the following
circumstances

. the Guarantor ceases to be a * restricted subsidiary”™ for purpose of the agreement because FDC no longer directly or indirectly owns 50% of

-4 the equuty or, 1if a corporation, stock having voting power to elect a majonty of the board of directors of the Guarantor; or

. the Guarantor 1s designated as an “‘unresincted subsidiary™ for purposes of the agreement covenants, or

. the Guarantor 1s no tonger wholly owned by FDC subject to the value of all Guarantors released under this provision does not exceed (x) 10%
of FDC's Consolidated EBITDA plus (y) the amount of investments pernutted under the agreement 1n respect of non-guarantors

The 1ndentures goveming all of the other guarantees desenbed above provide for a Guarantor to be automattcally and uncondittonally released and
discharged from 1ts guarantee obligations in certan circumstances, including upon the eatliest to occur of

« + the sale, exchange or transfer of the subsidiary’s capital stock orall or substantially all of its assets,

. designanion of the Guarantor as an “unrestneted subsidiary™ for purposes of the indenture covenants,

. release or discharge of the Guarantor’s guarantee of certain other indebiedness, or

. legal defeasance or covenant defeasance of the indenture obligations when provision has been made for them to be fully satisfied

During the first quarter of 2014, the Company corrected errors related to the presentation of cost allecations and interest on intercompany notes in the
Guarantor condensed consolidating financial statements related pnimanly to 2008 and 2009 The Company does not beheve these emors were matenal The
adjustments are limuted to the guarantor footnete and do not affect any other reported amounts or disclosures in the Company's consohdated financial
statements Referto Note 15 “Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consohidating Financial Statements” 1n the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2014 for more information

Dunng the third quarter of 2014, the senior secured loan facilitres were amended and three subsidianes were removed as guarantors Although these changes
were not matensl and did not have an impact to the Company’s consoltdaied financial statements, the Company adjusted pnor penods to align with the new
guarantor structure These adjustments are hmited to the guarantor footnote and do not affect any other reported amounts or disclosures 1n the Company ‘s
consolidated financial statements Referto Note 6 "Bomrowings” of these Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the pnvate
placement.. .
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Ycar ended December 31, 2013

FDC Parent Company

Guarantor Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor Subsudiaries

Consolidation Adjustments

As previously

As previously

As previously

As previously

(in milhons) reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported As adjusted
Revenues b — 5 — 8§ 72582 $% 66653 $§ 38377 § 44306 % (2870) $ (28703
{Loss) income before income taxes
and equity eamings in affiliates (1,171 4) (L1711 4) 5953 5636 5229 5894 (740 7) {785 5)
Tncome tax (benefit) expense 3023) (302 3} 3006 2437 882 1391 — —
Net (loss) income attributable to
First Data Corporaticn (869 1) 8691) 482 6 4826 3790 423 8 (861 6) (906 4)
Comprehensive (loss) income
attnbutable to Frrst Data
Corporation (305 6) {905 6) 4531 4526 2827 3311 (7358} (783 7)
Year ended December 31, 2042
FDC Parent Company Guarantor Subsicharies Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries Consolidation Adjustments
As previously As previously As previously As previously

{10 millions) iy reported As adfusted reported As adjusted reported As adyusted reported As adjusted
‘Revenues s — 3 — § 7,806 3 65688 $ 37814 § 43932 § 817N 8 2817)
(Loss) income before income taxes
and equity eamings i affiliates (1,244 1) (1,244 1) 5635 560 8 473 4 5690 {702 3) (7952)
Income tax (benefit) expense (543 2) (543 2) 2737 2520 455 672 — —
Net (loss) income attributable to
First Data Corporation (700 9) (7009) 4472 4472 3668 4597 {814 0) (906 9)
Comprehensive (loss) income
attributable to First Data
Corporation (654 7) (654 7) 448 6 447 4 3563 4504 (804 9) {897 8)
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As of December 31, 2013

FDC Parent Company Guarantor Subsidiaries Non-Guarantor Subsidiartes

Consolidation Adjustments

As previpusly As previously As previousty

As previousty

({in millions) reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported As adjusted
ASSETS
Investment 1n consolidated
subsidianes $ 243933 § 243933 § 53140 § 57141 § — 5 — 5 (297071 § (30,1074)
Toual assets 34,7189 34,7189 36,0767 35,5247 18,7127 21,1598 (54,268 5) (56,163 4)
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Total habiliics 36,2085 36,2085 14,9799 15,4833 6,850 7 78421 (24,561 2) (26,056 0)
Frrst Data Corporation
shareholder's equity {1,489 6) (1,489 6) 21,096 8 20,041 4 54172 68727 (26,514 0) (26,914 1)
Total equity (14896)  (1,4896) 21,0968 20,0414 11,7929 132484 (29,7073)  {30,1074)
Total habtlities and equity 347189 34,7189 36,076 7 35,5247 18,7127 21,1596 (54,268 5) (56,163 4)
~ =~
* Year ended December 31, 2013
FDC Parent Company Guarantor Subsidiaries Non-Guarantor Subsidianes Consohdation Adyustments

As previously As previously As previously

As previously

{in nuilions) N reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported;, As adjusted reported As adjusted
Net cash (used 1n) provided by

operating activities $ (1,7325)% (1,7325) § 1,4496 § 13326 $ 9556 § 10726 & — § -
Net cash provided by (used 1n)

mvestng activities 1643 1643 0 6) 208 (1487) (170 (368 1) (368 1)
Net cash provided by (used )

financing activities 1,376 7 1,376 7 (1,441 2) (1,341 3) (793 7) (893 6) 3681 3681

Year ended December 31, 2012
FDC Parent Company Guarantor Subsidiaries Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries Conwlidation Adjustments

As previously As previously As previously

As previously

(in millions) reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reported As adjusted reparted As adjusted
Net cash {used 1n) provided by

operating activities $ (1,6808)% (1,6808) $§ 1,6812 § 15200 § 7670 § 9282 % — % —
Net cash provided by (used 1n)

investing activities 1919 1919 (12 8) 55 (132 6) (1509) {443 6) (443 6)
Net cash provided by (used 1n)

financing activities 1,554 7 1,5547 (1,664 1) (1,5270) (582 7) (719 8) 443 6 443 6
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The followang tables present the results of operations, financial position, and cash flows of FDC (FDC Parent Company), the Guarantor subsidiancs, the Non-
Guarantor subsidranes and consohdatton adjustments for the years ended December 31, 2014,2013, and 2012 and as of December 31,2014 and 2013 1o

arve at the information for FDG on a consolhidated basis

Year ended December 31, 2014

Non-
FD-C Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consolidation
(In mullions) Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjusiments Consolidated
Revenues
Transaction and processing service fees — 8 38141 § 30996 § (2582) § 6,6555
1+ Product sales and other — 5228 4302 (60 2) 8928
Reumbursable debit network fees, postage, and other —_ 2,5099 1,093 6 — 3,603 5
Total revenues — 6,846 8 46234 {318 4) 11,1518
Expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of items shown below) — 1,402 8 £,5967 (258 2) 2,7413
Cost of products sold —_ 2232 174 2 (60 2) 3372
Selling, general, and administrative 1304 1,124 8 T06 6 e 1,961 8
Remmbursable debit network fees, postage, and other — 2,5099 1,093 6 — 3,603 5
Depreciation and amortization 101 606 5 4389 oo 1,0555
Other operating expenses
Restructunng, net 99 35 ©2 — 132
Total expenses 1504 58707 40098 3184) 9,712 5
Operating (loss) profit {150 4) 9761 6136 — 1,4393
Interest income — —_ 106 — 106
Interest expense (1,7379) 95 (56) —_ (1,753 0)
Loss on debt extinguishment {260 1) — — (2601)
[nterest income (expense) from intercompany notes 3160 (304 9) (11 1) e —
Other income (¢xpense) - T 12 995 (19 5) — 1612
Equity eamings from consolidated subsidianes 8326 294 4 — (1,127 0) —
(768 2) 795 (25 6) (1,127 0) (1,841 3)
(Loss) income before income taxes and equity eamings in
affiliates 918 6) 1,0556 5880 (1,127 0) (402 0}
Income tax {(benefit) expense {460 8) 3764 166 5 — 821
[Equity eamings o affiliates — 201 6 180 — 2196
Net (loss) income 457 8) 8808 4395 (1,127 0) (264 5)
Less Net income atinbutable to noncontrolling interests and
redeemable noncontrolling 1nterest — — 66 4 1269 193 3
Net (loss) income attnbutable to Furst Data Corporation 4578) $ 8808 3731 (1,2539) § (457 8)
Comprehensive (loss) ncome (7978) $ 708 8 1873 § (7142) 3 6159
Less Comprehensive imncome atinbutable to noncontrolling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest -— — 550 1269 1819
Comprehensive (loss) income atinbutable to First Data
Corporation (7978) § 7088 % i323 § 8411) § (797 8)
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Year ended December 31, 2013 (As Adjusted)

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consolidation
{in millions) Company Subsidiartes Subsidiaries Adjustments Caonsahidated
Revenues
Transaction and processing service fees 1 —  $ 36749 8 309 8 (2275) % 6,464 3
Product sales and other — 4801 4166 (59 %) 8372
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other — 2,5103 997 1 — 3,507 4
Total revenues — 6,6653 44306 {287 %) 10,8089
Expenses
Cost of services {exclusive of items shown below) — 1,508 4 1,5279 {227 5) 2,808 8
Cost of products sold — 2169 176 6 59 5) 3340
Selling, geneml, and administrative 1150 1,1357 6381 — 1,888 8
Retmbursable debit network fecs, postage, and other — 25103 997 1 — 35074
Depreciation and amortization 73 623t 4609 — 1,091 3
Other operating expenses ~
Restructunng, net 181 252 47 — 480
Litigation and regulatory settlements 80 — — — 80
Total expenses 148 4 60196 3,8053 (287 0) 9,686 3
Operating (loss) profit (148 4) 6457 6253 — 1,122 6
JInterest income 01 0l 109 — 11
Interest expense (1,863 5) [Chr)] (75) — (1,880 7)
Interest income (expense) from intercompany notes 3150 (276 8) {38 4) — —
Other mcome (expense) (332) 28) 91 — 469
‘Equity earmings from consolidated subsidianes 3786 2069 — (785 5) —_
(1,023 0) 82 1) {25 9) {785 5) {1,916 5)
{Loss) income before income taxes and equity eamngs m
affiliates (1,171 4) 56356 5594 (785 5) 7939
[ncome tax (benefit) expense (302 3) 2497 1391 — 865
Equity camings in affiliates — 1687 196 — 188 3
Net (loss) income (869 1) 4826 4799 (785 5) 692 1)
Less Netincome attnibutable to noncontrolling interests and
redeemable noncontrolling 1nterest — — 5610 1209 1770
Net (loss) income attnbutable to Flthata Corporation 3 (869 1) 4826 % 4238 § (906 4) 869 1)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (9056) $ 4526 § 3886 § {662 8) (727 2)
Less Comprehensive income attnbutable to noncontrolling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest — — 575 1209 178 4
Comprehensive (loss) income attnbutable tg First Data
Cormporauon 5 (9056) $ 4526 S 3311 3 {71837) % (905 6)
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Year ended December 31, 2012 {As Adjusted)

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consolidatan
{in mulhons} Company Subsdiaries Subsidiamies Adjustments Consohdated
Revenues
Transaction and processing service fees $ — 3 36376 §$ 30147  § 2002) 3 64521
Product sales and other — 5064 4192 (589) 866 7
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other — 2424 8 7959 3 22 6) 33615
Total revenues — 6,568 8 4,3932 (281 7) 10,6803
Expenses )
" Cost of services {exclusive of items shown below) — 1,5042 1,559 5 (200 2) 2,863 5
Cost of products sold — 2248 170 4 (58 9) 3363
. Selling, general, and adrmunistrative B o 894 1,141 9 504 1 —_ 1,8254
Reimbursable debit network fees, postage, and other — 24248 9593 (22 6) 3,3615
Depreciation and amortization 81 686 5 497 0 —_ 1,191 6
Other operating expenses
, Restructunng, net 02 76 157 — 231
Impairments — 51 — — 51
. Total expenses 5 9713 59949 31,7964 (2817 96065
Opernating (loss) profit (97 3) 5739 5972 — 1,073 8
{Interest income 01 03 84 — 88
Interest expense (1,880 4) 72) (102) — (1,897 8)
Interest income {expense) from intercompany notes 3130 (2707) 423) — —
Other income (expense) (102 1) 31 159 — (94 3)
;Equlty eamings from conselidated subsidianes 5226 2726 — (795 2) —
(1,146 8) (13 1) (28 2) (795 2) (1,983 3)
(Loss) income before income taxes and equity eamings in
affiliates (1,244 1) 5608 5690 (795 2) {909 5)
Income tax (benefit) cxpense (5432) 2520 672 —_ 224 0)
:Equlty earnings in affiliates e 1384 198 —_ 1582
Net (loss) income (7009) 4472 5216 (795 2) (527 3)
'Less Net income attnbutable to noncontrolling interests and )
redeemable noncontrolling interest — — 619 1117 173 6
Net (loss) income attnbutable to First Data Corporation $ (7009) § 4472 % 4597 9069) $ (700 9)
Comprehensive (loss) income 6347 % 4474 % 156 % (786 1) % (477 8)
Less Comprehensive income attnbutable to noncontrolling '
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest — — 652 P17 176 9
Comprehensive (loss) income attnbutable to First Data
Corporation 5 6547) % 4474 § 4504 3 (8978) 3% (654 7)
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As of December 31, 2014

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consolidation
(in millions) Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ — 5 228 % 3356 % — 3 3584
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 80 7292 1,015 1 — 1,7523
Settlement assets (a) —_ 3,849 0 3,1059 — 7.5549
Intercompany notes recervable 3,3753 3066 — (3,681 9) —
Other current assets 435 1193 126 0 — 288 8
Total current assets 34268 50269 51826 (3,6819) 9,954 4
'Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 327 6190 2780 — 9207
Goodwill —_ 9,085 1 79315 — 17,016 6
Customer relatonships, net of accumulated amortization — 1,469 0 1,135 1 — 2,604 1
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization 604 1 6226 5187 — 1,745 4
Investment 11 affihates — 948 2 1528 —_ 1,101 6
Long-term settlement assets (a) — — 35 — 35
Long-tem tntercompany recervables ! 6,064 4 14,4417 5,134 6 (25,6407) —_
Long-term intercompany notes receivable 3195 08 93 (3296) —
Long-term deferred tax assets 671 1 — — 671 1) —
Other long-term assets 3970 3176 2974 37 4) 914 6
Investment m consohdated subsidianes 24473 8 53312 — (29,805 0) —
Total assets $ 359894 % 178621 % 20,6435  $ (60,2257) % 34,2693
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current lLiabilities
Accounts payable $ 88 % 1710 % 1005 3§ —_ 8 2803
Short-term and current pontion of long-term borowings 196 642 770 _ 160 8
Settlement obligations (a) — 38490 3,083 — 7,5573
Intercompany notes payable 3087 33463 269 (3.6819) —
Other current Liabilities 5833 5272 4217 — 1,5322
Total current liabihities 920 4 79577 43344 (3,681 9) 9,5306
Long-term borowings 20,578 5 1312 17 — 20,7114
Long-term deferred tax habihities — 1,024 0 1680 671 1) 5209
Long-term intercompany payables 14,396 3 78042 34402 (25,640 7) —
Long-term intercompany notes payable 93 2590 613 (329 6) —
Other long-term lrabilities 5368 2254 1234 974) 7882
Total hiabuliues 36,4413 174015 8,120 (30,420 7) 31,5511
Redeemable equity interest e —_ 704 (70 4) —
Redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — 704 704
First Data Corporation stockholder’s (deficit) equity {451 9) 20,4606 6,240 7 {26,701 3) 451 9)
Noncontrolling interests -— e 1007 29990 3,0997
Equity of consolhidated alliance — — 6,102 7 6,102 7) —
Total equity {4519) 204606 12,4441 {29,805 0) 2,6478
‘Total habilities and eq.uny $ 359894 3% 378621 § 20,6435 3 602257y § 34,2693
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As of December 31, 2013 (As Adjusted)

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consghdation
(in millipns) Coampany Subsidraries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents b3 65 % 330 % i558 % — 8 4253
Accounts recetvable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 58 776 3 0818 — 1,763 9
Settlement assets (a) — 3,7851 3,756 1 — 7,5418
Intercompany notes receivable 213 — 168 (38 1) —
Other curment assets 640 1798 1013 — 345)
Total current assets 1276 4,774 § 52118 (381) 10,076 1
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 279 54072 2813 — 8494
Goodwall — 9,090 3 8,1575 — 17,2478
1Customer relationships, net of accumulated amortization s —_— 1,711 8 1,4305 — . 3,1623
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amertization . 604 8 5165 5983 — ~ 1,719 6
Investment 1n affiliates — 1,143 0 1913 —_ 1,3343
Long-term settlement assets (a) — — 152 — 152
'Long-term intercompany receivables a 48176 11,3792 50361 {21,2329) t —
Long-term intercompany notes receivable 35365 2887 04 (3,825 6) —
‘Longsterm deferred tax assets 8501 —_— — (850 1) e
Other long-term assets 3611 346 1 2372 (109 3) 8351
Investment in consolidated subsidianes 24,3933 57141 — {30,107 4) —_
Total assets $ 347189 § 35,5247 % 21,1596 § (56,1634) § 352398
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cusrent habilities
Accounts payable $ 96 § 1723 § 1059 § —  $ 2878
Short-term and current portion of long-term borrowings 42 663 758 - 146 3
Settlement obligations (a) — 3,785 7 3,767 7 — 1,553 4
Iniercompany notes payable 168 — 213 (381) —
Other curvent liabilities 68613 5312 4130 — 1,630 5
Total current habilities 7169 45555 43837 (38 1) 96180
Lonrg-tcrm borrowings 22,46% 1 773 104 — 22,556 8
Long-term deferred tax habilities — 1,239 8 1633 (850 1) 5530
L.ong-term tntercompany payables ’ 12,1721 59329 3,1279 212329y —
Long-term intercompany notes payable ) 290 1 34500 855 (3,825 6) ‘. —
Giher long-term Liabilities - 5603 2278 7t3 (109 3) 7501
Total habilities 36,208 5 15,4833 7,842 1 (26,056 0) 33,4779
Redeemable equity interest — — 691 69 1) —
Redeemable noncontrolling interest — — — 691 691
First Data Corporation stockholder’s (deficit) equuty {1,489 6) 20,041 4 68727 (26,914 1) (1,489 6}
Noncontrolling interests -— —_ 895 30929 3,1824
Equity of consolidated alliance — — 6,286 2 (6,286 2) —
Total equity (1,489 6) 20,041 4 13248 4 (30,107 4) 1,6928
Total lrabilities and equity 5 34,7189 § 35,5247 % 21,1596 3 (56,1634) 352398

{a) The majority of the Guaranior senlement assets relate 1o FDC's merchant acquiring business FDC believes the sctlement assets are net available to sabisfy any claums other than
those related to the settlement habihtes
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATF D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2014

Nan-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Consolidaton
(in millians) Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) income s (457 8) 8808 3§ 4395 § (1,1270) $ (264 5)
Adjyustments to reconcile to net cash {(used n) provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization (including amortization
netted against equity earmings wn affiliates and
revenues) 101 6827 4705 — 1,163 3
Charges (gains) related to other operating expenses and
other income 188 9 {96 0) 193 —— 1122
Other non-cash and non-operating items, net (736 5) (367 5) {204) 1,127 40 26
(Decrease) increase n cash, excluding the effects of
acquisitions and dispositions,
resulting from changes in operating asscts and habilities (702 3) 6318 701 — 04)
Net cash (used 1n) provided by operating acivities (1,697 6) 1,731 8 9790 — 1,0132
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses paid —_ 2701 — — y 2701
Additions to property and equipment [} (124 0) (1759 — (308 0)
Payments to secure customer service contmcts, including
outlays for conversion, and capitahzed systerms
development costs i — (1832) {753) — (258 5)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (30 8) — — (30 8)
Proceeds from sale of propeny and equipment -—_ 21 06 — 27
Other investing activities — —_ 43) —_ 43
Distnbuuons and dividends from subsidianes 747 2318 — (306 5) —
Net cash provided by (used in)investing activities 666 1660 (254 9) (306 3) (328 8)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short-term borrowings, net 96 — 22 — 118
Proceeds fromissuance of long-term debt 3500 — — — 3500
Debt modification and related financing costs, net (342 8) - _— o~ (342 8)
Principal payments on long-tenn debt (2,183 2) (72 8) {(58) — (2,261 8)
Distnbutions and dividends paid to noncontrotling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling 1nterest — — (44 5) (2209 (265 4)
Distnbutions paid to equity holders — — (452 4) 4524 —
Purchase of noncontrolling interest — — [{R Y] _— (1o
Capital transactions, net 1,788 2 — (750) 750 41,7882
Intercompany 19727 (1,840 3) (1324) e —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,594 5 (1913 1) (7089) 3065 (721 0)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents o —_ 51 (354) — (30 3)
Change in cash and cash equivalents {36 5) (102) 202) - — (66 9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pened 365 330 3558 — 4253
Cash and cash equivalents at end of penod $ — 228 8§ 3356 % — 8 3584

167




“

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FIRST DATA CORPORATION

Year ended December 31, 2013 (As Adjusted)

1

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantor Guarantor Conselidation
(n millions) Company Subsidiaries Schstdiaries Adjustments Consolidated
|ICASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVIIIES
Net (loss) income 3 (869 1) § 4826 % 4799 8§ (7855) § (692 1)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization (including amortization
netted against equity eamuings 1o affihates and
revenues) 73 714 8 4898 — 1,2119
Charges (gains) related to other operating expenses and
other income (expense) 793 280 G —— 1029
Other non-cash and non-operating 1ems, net (497 5) 2679) 289 7855 38
{Decrease) increase 1n cash resulting from changes in
operating assets and Liabilities, excluding the effects of
acquisitions and dispasitions _ (452 5) 3751 1362 — 588
Net cash (used ) provided by operating activitics (1,732 5) 1,332 6 1,072 6 — 6727
ICASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from dispositions, net of expenses paid and cash v -~
disposed ) — 104 77 — 1817
Additions to property and equipment 0 4) (67 9 (£25 8) — (194 1)
Payments to secure customer service contracts, including =
outlays for conversion, and capitalized systems
development costs (09) (123 4) 60 1) —_ (184 4)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (122) 0t —_ —_ (12 1)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment — 47 71 — s
Otherinvesting actrvities 03 63 10 e 76
Destnbutions and dividends from substdianes 1775 1906 — {368 1) —_—
Net cash provided by (used in) iInvesting activities 164 3 208 (1710 1) (368 1) (353 1)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short-term borrowings, net — — (109 6) e (109 6)
Debt modification and related financing costs, net (10:3) — — — (10 3)
Prnncipal payments on long-term debt {165) (667) 3 0) —_ {92 2)
Distrtbutions and dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests and redcemable noncontrolling interest ¢ — — (42 0) (182 5) 224 5)
Dustributions pard to equity holders — — 3713 1) 373 1 —
Purchase of noncontrolling interest —_ —_ 237 — 237)
Caputal transactions, net {29 8) — (1775) 1775 29 8)
Intercompany X 14333 (1,274 6) (158 7} — —
Net cash provided by (used ) financing activities 1,376 7 (1,341 3) (891 &) 3681 (490 1)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents — a7 (10 8) — (12 5)
Change 1n cash and cash equivalents (191 5) 104 (19) — (183 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of penod 2280 226 3577 — 608 3
.Cash and cash equivalents at end of penod $ 365 % 330 0§ 3558 % — 3 4253
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FIRST DATA CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contunued)

Year ended December 31, 2012 {As Adjusted)

Non-
FDC Parent Guarantoer Guarantor Consohdation
(in mlhons) Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) income $ (7009) §$ 4472 % 5216 % (7952) §% (5273
Adjustrnents to reconcile to net cash (used 1) provided by
aperating activities
Deprectation and amortization (inctuding amortization
netted against equity earmings in affiliates and
revenues) 81 7937 5291 - 1,330 9
(Gans) charges related to other operating expenses and
otherincome {expense) 1019 208 (3] — 1225
Other non-cash and non-operating ttems, net (483 9) {3322) {193} 7952 402)
(Decrease) encrease in cash resulting from changes in
opemting assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of
acquisitions and dispositions {606 0) 5905 {103 0} — {118 5)
Net cash (used i) provided by operating activities {1,680 8) 1,520 0 9282 — 7674
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipment 26) (702) {120 3) — (193 1y
Payments to secure customer service contracts, including
outlays for conversion, and capitalized systems
development costs (0 8) (133 4) (430} — (177 2)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (330) 01 —_ — (329
Contnbuttons to eguity method investments —_ 79) —_ — 79
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment — 23 57 — 80
Other investing activities 28 33 67 — 60
Distnibutions and dividends from subsidianies 2155 2181 — (443 6) —
Net cash provided by {used 1n) investing activities 1919 55 (1509) (443 6) (397 1)
CASH F'LOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Short-term borrowings, net —_ —_ 991 — 991
Debt modification and related financing costs, net 173 —_ — —_ 173
Pnncipal payments on long-term debt (3 4) (56 2) 23 7) — (83 3)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions — 138 — — 138
Distnbutions and dividends paid to noncontrolling
interests and redeemable noncontrolling interest L — (54 Q) (2079) 2619)
Distnbutions patd to equity holders —_ —_ (424 0) 4240 —_
Purchase of noncontrolling interest — — 251) — 51
Capital transactions, net (& 4) — {227 5) 2275 84 -
Intercompany 1,549 2 (1,484 6) (64 6) — —
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 1,554 7 (1,527 0) (719 8) 443 6 (248 5)
'Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents —_ {04} 12 — 68
Change 1n cash and cash equivalents 658 (19) 587 — 1226
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod 1622 245 2990 —_ 4857
Cash and cash equivalents at end of penod $ 2280 226 § 3577 § — 3 5083




FIRST DATA CORPORATION
SCHEDULE 1I—Valuanon and Quahfying Accounts
(dollars, in milhions)

Additions

Balance at Charged Reclassifications Balance at

Beginning of to Costs and from Other End of
Description Period Expcnses Accounts {a) Deductions (b) Period
Year ended December 31, 2014
deducted from receivables $ 429 § 989 § 0S5 $ 812 $§ 601
Yearended December 31, 2013
deducted from receivables 460 933 —_ 964 429
'Year ended December 31,2012
deducted from receivables 284 816 83 743 460

{a) Amounts related to reclassifications fiom other curtent habilities to allowance for doubtful accounts
(b) Amounts related to business divestitures and write-offs against assets
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ITEM9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have evaluated, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Director of Finance (pnncipal financial officer),
the effectivenass of disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014 This is done 1n order to ensure that informatron we are required to disclose 1n
reports that are fifed or submutted under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 1s recorded, processed, summanzed, and reported within the time penods
specified 1n SEC mules and forms

Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Director of Finance (pnncipal financial officer), concluded that the
material weakness described betow has been fully remediated and closed and that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,
2014

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportng

Our management 1s responsible for establishing and maintaning adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)and 15d-
1 5(f) under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 Qurintemal control over financial reporting 1s designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance wath generally accepted accounting
pnnciples

Our ihtemal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedurcs that (1) petrtain to the maintenance of records that, 1n reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permat preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples, and that our receipts and expenditures are being
made only 1n accordance with authonzauons of management and directors, and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or imely detection of
unauthonzed acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could bave a matenal effect on the consolidated financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent limitations, internal ¢ontrol aver financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements All control systems have inherent
Limitations so that no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control 1ssues are detected Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may detenorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of ourintemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the critena set forth by the
Commuttee of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Framework to Internal Control Environment {2013 framework)

Management had previously concluded that it did not design and maintain effective controls relating to the accounting and reporting for income taxes and
also concluded that this was a matenal weakness 1n intemal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2014 Specifically, the controls n place
relatuing to the establishment and measurement of valuation allowances against deferred tax assets were not properly designed to provide reasonable
assurance that our income tax benefit and deferred tax assets and habilities would be properly recorded and disclosed 1n the financial statements This
matenal weakness was initially dentified in 2012 At the tie, we had an insufficient number of personnel with appropnate knowledge, expencence or
training 1 accounting for income taxes Additionally, the organizationat structure resulted 1n incomplete orinadequate oversight and review of complex
1ssues, calculations and disclosures As descnibed below, our management has made significant progress in 1ts remediation efforts and the matenal weakness
has been fully remediated as of December 31, 2014

Based on management’s evaluation under the COSO framework, management concluded that ourintermal controls over financial reporting were effective as
of December 31,2014

Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has 1ssued an attestation report on our intemal control over financial reporting which
15 contaned below
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Remediation of Material Weakness
Since 2012, we have implemented a remediation plan that includes the foltowing actions

» our Tax Department was restructured, key resources were refocused on the most cntical arcas and additional technical resources were added,
including regional tax controllers,

*  processes, procedures, and controls over income tax accounting were reviewed and modified to ensure greater oversight and transparency, and

« 1mplemented a standardized software platform

We completed a review and detailed testing of our updated processes and based upon the results of this review and testing, we concluded that the matenal
weakness has been fully remediated

Changes 1n Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Durning the first quarter of 2014, we commenced the migration of certain activities performed 1n Denver, Colorado to Atlanta, Georgia and Melwville, New York
and certain activities performed in our Captive Shared Service Centers to a Business Process Outsourcer (Migratuions) These Migrattons continued 1nto the
fourth quarter of 2014 and present transitional nsks to maintaining adequate intemal controls over financal reporting

There were no changes i our intemal control over financial reporting 1dentified in connectron with the above evaluation that occurmred durmg the last fiscat
quarter that has matenally affected, or s reasonably hikely to matenally affect, our intemazl control over financial reporting, other than improvements within
our Tax Department discussed above

. -
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Report of Independent Registered Pubhic Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholder of First Data Corporation

We have audited First Data Corporation’s intemnal control over financial reparting as of December 31, 2014, based on entena established 1n Internal
Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsonng Orgamizations of the Treadway Commussion (2013 framework) {the COSO cnitena)
First Data Corporation’s management 18 responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of intemal coatrol over financial reporting included 1n the accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our responsibility 15 to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Siates) Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether effective intemal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
matenal respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the nsk that a matenal weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness ofinternal control based on the assessed nsk, and performing such other procedures ss
we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabihity of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial staternents for extemmal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accountng pnnciples A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, i reasonable detatl,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting pninciples, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only 1n accordance with authonzations of management and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevenuon or iimely detection of unauthonzed acquisition, use, or dispasition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on the
financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect nusstatements Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future penods are subject to the nsk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of comphiance with the policies or procedures may detenorate

In our opinten, Furst Data Corporation maintained, 1n all matenial respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on COSO cntena

We also have audited, 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unuted States), the consolidated balance
sheets of Furst Data Corporation as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash
flows, and equity for each of the three years 1n the penod ended December 31, 2014 of First Data Corporation and our repont dated February 27,2015
expressed an unqualified opinton thereon

/s/ Emst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 27,2015
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ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION
Our directars do not receive compensatton However, all of our directors arc also directors of our parent company, First Data Holdings Inc (Heldingsy On
February 24, 2015, the Govemance, Compensation and Nominations Comunittee of the Board of Directors of Holdings approved compensation for each
director of Holdings not employed by Holdings or affiliates af Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co as descnbed in Exhibit 10 12 to this Form 10-K

PART IH
ITEM 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Ihrectors

The following table sets forth, as of January 1, 20135, the name and age of each of our directors

Name Age Director Since
JFrank J Besignano B 53 2013
Joa W Forehand 66 2009
JHenry R Kravis 71 2009
Heidi G Mller 61 2014
“Tames E Nevels 63 2014
Scott C Nuttall 42 2007
Tagar C Olson 37 2007
Joseph I Plumen 71 2013

The following sets forth informatien about our directors

Frank J Bisignano has been Chairman of our Board since March 2014 and Chief Executive Officer and 2 member of our Board since Apnl 2013 Before
joiming us, Mr Bisignano was the Co-Chief Operating Officer for JPMorgan Chase & Co from July 2012 to Apnl 2013, CEO of Morntgage Banking at JP
Maorgan Chase & Co from February 2011 unuil December 2012, and Chief Administrative Officer of JPMorgan Chase & Co from 2005 until July 2012

Joe W Forehand has been a member of our Board since September 2009 and Chaiman of the Board from March 2010 to March 2014 Mr Forechand was our
interim Chief Executive Officer from March 2010 until October 2010 In his more than 30 years with Accenture Ltd , Mr Forehand served as the CEO from
1999 until 2004, Before that, as chief executive of the Communications and High Technolegy Operating Group, and as Chairman of the board of directors of
Accenture Ltd from 200! unt1l 2006 Mr Forehand s a Sentor Advisor of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co (KKR) and has also been involved with KKR's
growth and emphasis on the technology industry sector He ts a board member of Ancent Inc

Henry R. Kravis has been a member of our Board since September 2009 Mr Kravis, a pioneer of the pnvate equity industry, co-founded KKR 1n 1976 and 15
1ts Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer He 15 actively involved in managing KKR and serves on its regronal Pnvate Equty Investment and
Portfolio Management Commuttees [In addition to serving on the board of the general partner of KKR & Co L P, Mr Kravis cumently serves on the board of
China International Capital Corporation Lirmuted He also serves as a director, chairman ementus or trustee of several cultural, professional and education
mstitutions, including The Business Council, Claremont McKenna, Columbia Business School, the Council on Foreign Relations, Mount Sina1 Hospatal, the
New York City Investment Fund, Partnership for New Yozk City, Rockefeller University, and Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management

He eamed a B A from Claremont McKenna College 1n 1967 and a M B A from the Columbia Business School 1n 1969 Mr Kravis has more than four
decades of experience financing, analyzing, and investing in public and pnvate companies, as well as serving on the boards of a number of KKR pertfolio
Cﬂml]ﬁlllCS

Heidi G Muller has been a member of our Board since Apnl 2014 Pnorto retining in 2012, Ms Miller had been president of JPMorgan Intemational, a
division of JPMorgan Chase & Co , since June 2010 She served as Executive Vice President, Chief Executive Officer - Treasury and Secunties Services of
JPMorgan Chase & Co from January 2004 to June 2010 From 2002 to 2004, Ms Miller served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Bank One Comporation Previously, she had been Chief Financial Officer of Citigroup Ine She 15 a director of General Mills Ine and HSBC Holdings ple Ms
Miller
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graduated from Princeton University with a bachelor'’s degree in history and completed her doctorate in Latin Amencan History at Yale University

James E Nevels has been a member of our Board since November 2014 Mr Nevels 15 Chairman of The Swarthmore Group, a firm that he founded in 1991
He 15 also Chairman of The Hershey Company and a director of Hershey Trust Company and the board of managers of Milton Hershey School In 2004, Mr
Nevels was appoinied by the President of the United States to a threc-year term on the advisory comnuttee to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporauon,
where he served as Chatrnman from 2005 to 2007 [n 2001, he was appomted by the Govemor of Pennsylvania as Chairman of the Philadelphia School Reform
Comemussion overseetng the turnaround of the Philadelphia School System, at that tume the ninth-largest school distnict in the United States Mr Nevels has
been a member of the board of directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Phaladelphia since January 2010, and served as 1ts Deputy Chairman from January
2012 until hus appointment as Chairman 1 January 2014 Mr Nevels was formerly a director of Tasty Baking Company from May 2005 to May 2011 He
holds a bachelor’s degree, cum laude and Phi Beta Kappa, 1n political science and philosophy from Bucknell University, a Masters of Business
Admniswation degree from the Whanton School of the Umiversity of Pennsylvanta and a Juris Doctor degree from the University of Pennsylvania Law

School

Scott C Nuttall has been a member of our Board since September 2007 and 1s a Member of KKR Mr Nuttail joined KKR 1n 1996 and 15 head of KKR’s
Global Capital and Asset Management Group, which includes Credit, Hedge Funds, KKR Capital Markets and KKR's Client and Partner Group He has
played a sigmificant role 1n several of KKR's private equity investments Before joining KKR, he was with the Blackstone Group where he was involved 1n
numerous merchant banking and merger and acquisition transactions He received a B §, summa cum laude, from the University of Pennsylvania Mr Nuttall
serves as co-Chair of Teach for Amenca - New York, a non-profit organization that aims to eliminate educational inequity

Tagar C Olson has been a member of our Board since September 2007 Mr Olson joined KKR 1n 2002 and 1s 2 Member and Head of KKR’s Financial
Services industry team Mr Olson 1s on the board of directors of Atliant Insurance Services, Santander Consumer USA, Sedgwick, Inc and Visant
Cotporation, serves as an observer on the board of directors of WM Holdiags Comp and 15 alse involved with KKR's investment in Nephila Capttal Lud
Before joining KKR, Mr Olson was with Evercore Partners Inc , where he was involved 1n a number of pnvate equity transactions and mergers and
acquisitions He holdsa B § and B.A §, summa cum laude, from the University of Pennsylvania

Joseph J Plumeri has been a member of our Board and Semor Advisor of KKR since August 2013 and our Vice Chairman since May 2014 Before joinung
us, Mr Plumen was Chief Executive Officer of Willis Group Holdings ple from October 2000 to January 2013 and Ghairman of its Board from 2001 to

July 2013 Before joining the Willis Group, Mr Plumen spent 32 years as an executive with Citigroup Inc and 1ts predecessors, where his responsibilities
included overseeing the 450 North Amencan retail branches of Citigroup’s Citibank unit Before that, Mr Plumen served as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Citigroup’s Primenca Financial Services from 1995 to 1999 In 1994, Mr Plumen was appointed Vice Chairman of Citigroup’s predecessor,
Travelers Group Inc In 1993, Mr Plumen became the President of a predecessor of Ciigroup's Salomon Smith Bamey unit after overseeing the merger of
Smuith Bamey and Shearson and serving as the President and Managing Partner of Shearson since 1990 He also serves on the boards of the National Center
on Addiction and Substance Abuse, Mount Sinar Medical Center; the Intrepid Sea, Aur & Space Museum, the Jackie Robinson Foundation, Camegie Hall
and the Churchill Centre and Museum at the Cabinet War Rooms tn London

Dhirector Qualifications

Qur Governance, Compensation and Nominations Commitee (Commuttee) identifies individuals qualified to become members of our Board and recommends
to our Board nominees for election as directors at each annual meeting of shareholders and to fill vacancies on the Board Our Commuttee looks for certain
qualities common to all Board members, including integnty, collegiality, and ability and willingness to make a commitment to us When considenng
whether directors and nominees have the expenence, qualifications, attnbutes and skills, our Committee and our Board focused prmanly on the information
discussed 1o each of the directors’ individual biographics set forth above With regard to Mr Bisignano, our Board considered hus many years’ ofexecutive
cxpencnce in the financial industry With regard to Mr Forehand, our Board considered his many years® expenence at a pubhicly held consulung and
technology services company, including service as chairman of our board With regard to Mr Kravis, our Board considered his significant expenence and
expertise In povate equily investments

With regard to Ms Mller, our Board considered her executive expenence 1n the financial services industry and her service as a director of a publicly held
company With regard to Mr Nevels, our Board considered his expertise in the secunties and investment industry with decades of expenence n finance, law
and corporate governance With regard to Mr Nuttall, our Board considered his broad perspective brought by Mr Nuttall's involvement in KKR’s diverse
investments and his extensive knowledge of our business and capital structure through tus involvement since the 2007 merger With regard to Mr Olson, our
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Board considered his expertise in the financial services industey and his extensive knowledge of our business and capital structure through his involvement
since the 2007 merger With regard to Mr Plumen, our Board considered tus many years’ expenence as chief executive officer of a publicly held company

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth, as of January 1, 2015, the name, age and position of cach of our executive officers

Name Age Position
Frank } Bisignano . 55 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Cynthia A Amine-Klein 53 Executive Vice President, Chref Control Officer

Guy Chiarello 55 President

Sanpiv Das 52 Executive Vice President, Head of International Regions
‘Andrew Gelb 44 Executive Vice President, Head of Financial Services
Thomas Higgins 56 Execunve Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer
'Christine E Larsen 53 Executive Vice President, Chuef Operations Officer

Barry C McCarthy 51 Executive Vice President, Head of Consumer and Netwerk Solutions
Michacl K. Neborak 58 Executive Vice Presadent, Director of Fenance

Himanshu A Patel 39 Executive Vice President, Strategy & Business Development
Joseph J Plumen Ti Vice Chairman

Adam L. Rosman ) 49 Exccutive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

The following sets forth information about our executive officers, other than Frank Bisignano and Joseph Plumen, whose qualificanons are set forth above

Cyntina A Armine-Klein has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Control Officer since May 2014 Before joining us, Ms Armine-Klein was
Executive Vice President and Chief Comphance Officer for JPMorgan Chase & Co from July 2012 to May 2014 Before joining JPMorgan Chase & Co , she
spent 31 years at Citigroup and 1ts predecessor firms and was Citigroup’s Global Chief Comphance Officer from 2008 until 2012

Guy Chiarello has been our President since July 2013 Before joining us, Mr Chiarello was the Chief Information Officer of JPMorgan Chase & Co forthe
preor five and a half years and served 1in vanous technology roles for Morgan Stanley for 23 years before that

Sanyiv Das jouned us in May 2014 as Executive Vice President and Chief of Staff and was appointed Head of International Regions in October 2014
Previously, Mr Das was the CEO and President of CittMortgage, Inc from 2008 unt:l May 2013 Before joining Cit1, Sanpiv was Managing Director at
Morgan Stanley Institutional Secuntties (Equrties) Division

Andrew Gelb has been our Executive Vice President, Head of Financial Services since November 2014 Before joining us, Gelb spent | 7 years at Ciigroup
Inc and was Managing Director and Head of North Amenca Treasury and Trade Solutions business from June 2012 unul July 2014 Previously, Mr Gelb was
Head of Secunties & Fund Services for EMEA (Europe, Middle East & Afnca) of Citigroup inc from June 2008 until June 2012

Thomas Higgins joined us in December 2013 and has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Admunistrative Officer since May 2014 Before joining
us, he was the head of Operational Control at JPMorgan Chase & Co from January 2011 untit December 2013 In 2010, Mr Higgins retired aftera 24-year
career with the U S Govemment He worked in the national secunty and foreign policy areas and was a member of the Semor Executive Service

Christine E Larsen joined us as Executive Vice President and Chief Operations Officer in June 2013 Before joining us, she was Exccutive Viee President of
JPMorgan Chase & Co since January 2012 responsible for firm-wade process improvement and enterpnse program management, with a focus on control and
itegration cfforts From 2006 to January 2012, she was responsible for vartous semor operations and technology roles at JPMorgan Chase & Co

Barry C McCarthy has been Executive Vice President, Head of Consumer and Network Solutions since November 2014 Previously, Mr McCarthy was
president of our US Financial Services segment from Febrary 2013 until October 2014 Mr McCanhy joined usn 2004 and has served 1n vanous roles of
increasing responsibility including head ofthe merchant product organization, new technologies and general manager of our Asia-Pacific merchant business
Before joining us, he co-
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founded MagnaCash, a Silicon Valley-based micropayments company, and held vartous executive roles at VenSign, Wells Fargo Bank and Procter &
Gamble

Michael K Neborak has been our Executive Vice Prestdent and Director of Finance since July 2014 Previously, Mr Neborak was Group Chief Financial
Officer of Willis Group Holdings plc from July 2010 to June 2014 Mr Neborak also served as Chief Financial Officer of MSCI Inc from 2006 t0 2010
Earlicr in hus career, from 1982 to 2006, Neborak served 1n roles of increasing responsibility within business units of Citigroup and 1ts predecessor
companics He began his career with Arthur Andersen & Co

Himansha A Patel joined us in June 2013 as Executive Vice President, Strategy & Business Development Before joining us, he served in vanous roles at
JPMorgan Chase & Co since 1997, including Semior Equity Analyst from 2001 10 2011

Adam L Rosman has been our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since October 2014 Before joining us, Mr Rosman served as Group
General Counsel of Willis Group Heldings ple from May 2012 until September 2014 He joined Willis Group 1n 2009, serving as Deputy Group General
Counsel unt1il May 2012 Previously, Mr Rosman was Senior Vice President and Associate General Counsel at Cablevision Systems Corporation in
Bethpage, NY, and before that he was a partner at the Washington D C -based law firn of Zeckerman Spaeder LLP Between 1997 and 2003, Mr Rosman was
an Assistant United States Attomey in Washington, D C He also worked 1n 2000 and 2001 as Deputy Assistant to the President and Deputy Staff Secretary for
President Clinton

Code of Ethics for Semor Financial Officers

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Sentor Financial Officers which apphies to its Chief Executive Officer, Cheef Finaneial Officer, and Pnncipal
Accounting Officer The Code 1s available on our website at www firstdata com under *‘About Us™, ‘Investor Relations™ and “Corporate Govemance™

.

Audit Commuttee Financial Expert and Recommendation of Directors

Our Audit Comimittee consists of Ms Miller and Messrs Nevels and Olson Mr Nevels replaced Mr Nuttall on February 24, 2015 Our Board of Directors has
determuined that Ms Miller and Messrs Nevels and Olson are audit commttee financial experts as defined by regulations of the Secunties and Exchange
Coemmussion We do not have procedures by which secunty holders may recommend nominees to our board of directors
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ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

FIRST DATA CORPORATION
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FISCAL YEAR 2014

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

in 2014, we continued to broaden and deepen our talent pool to best position ourselves for future growth and advancing the mission of providing soluttons
to help our chients succeed Additions to the leadership team in 2014 1ncluded Cynthia Amune-Klein, Chief Control Officer, on May 12,2014, Sanjiv Das,
EVP Intemational Regions, on Apnl 21, 2014, Michael K. Neborak, EVP Director of Finance, on July [4, 2014, and board member Joseph J Plumen, Viee
Chairman and head of Cirent Delivery, Innovation and Marketing on June 1, 2014 Compensation for the new executives at First Data was set at a tevel
reflecting their estabhished positions and their decisions to forgo other professional opportunities

Consistent with these appointments, in 2014, the Govemance, Compensation and Nomtnations Commuttee (the Committee) of First Data Comporation (FDC)
reinforced a total compensation philosophy and significantly strengthened the emphasis on equity-based and performance-based pay for its executives and
all employees

In concert with First Data’s compensation philosophy based on wealth-creation via equity value creation, the compensation packages of both new and
continuing executives in 2014 were structured 1o be predomunantly in the form of First Data equity Messrs Neborak and Plumen made personal investments
in Furst Data stock dunng 2014 Equity heavy compensation practices also ensure executive alignment with the long-term interests of the Company, 11s
clients and sharcholders . T

2014 was a foundational year for First Data, with a number of sigmificant accomplishments First Data Holdings Ine (Holdings), the parent company of FDC
completed 2 $3 5 billion capital rise, and contnbuted approximately §2 5 billion of capital to FDC to strengthen our balance sheet Many of First Data's
businesses expenenced growth in revenue and profitability dunng 2014, including credit and retai] private label processing, output services and STAR
network 1n the Financial Services segment, Money Network and TransArmor in the Merchant Solutions segment and many geographies anfl markets in the
International segment New innovative and powerful products designed to help clients grow their businesses - Clover Station and Insightics - were launched
The acquisitions of Gyft and Perka further expanded our suite of innovative products for consumers and businesses We partnered with Apple to suppont
Apple Pay

Developments

On March 10, 2014, Frank Bisignano was voted Chairman of First Data's Board of Directors, in addition to his role as Chief Executive Officer Mr Bisignano
assumed the role from Joe Forchand, who had scrved as Fusst Data chaimman since March, 2010, and remains on the First Data Board of Durectors

On May 13, 2014, First Data’s Board of Directors named Joseph J Plumen Vige Chairman of First Data and on June 1, 2014 Mr Plumen was hired by the
Company to lead Chent Delivery, Innovation, and Marketing

On Apnl 17, 2014, we announced the departure of Ray E Winbome, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE

The Commuttee reviews and approves all aspects of the Company’s compensation programs for its exccutive officers Specifically, under its charter, the
Commnutiee .
i +
establishes the Company’s compensation philosophy, .
evaluates performance and sets compensation for the Company’s executrve officers,
oversees regulatory compliance with respect to compensation matters, and
delegates to and monstoning various subcommittees with responstbility for administrative and legal compliance for retirement and benefit plans

Dunng 2014, the Commuttee was compnsed of Scott C Nuttall (Chairperson), Joe W Forehand, and Henry R Kravis All of the foregoing individuals are
affiliated with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co (KKR) and, thetefore, not deemed independent Directors Disclosure of payments between the Company and
KKR affiliates 1s inctuded tn [tent 13 “Cenain Retationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” of this Form 10-K.
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The equity compensation provided to the senior executives of the Company 1s approved by the Holdings Commuttee The FDC Commuttee s compnsed of
the same individuals as are members of the Holdings Commuttee

ROLE OF MANAGEMENT

The Company’s management provides information, data, analysis, updates, and recommendations to the Commttee Specifically, management provides
recommendations on pay levels for executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer as well as the design of all matenal compensation and benefit
plans Finally, management 1s responsible for the administration of the Company’s executive compensation programs and policies

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PROGRAM OBJECTIVES
Executive Compensation Philosophy

The Company’s executive compensation phulosophy and corresponding pay practices are designed to align executives tightly with the Company’s growth
objectives, resulting 1n increased value for sharcholders This alignment s ereated via equuity compensation and annual incentive compensation, the value of
which 1s dnven by company performance over the long and short term, respectively All executives, including those hired in 2014 mawntain a significant
equity stake in the Company

When considenng the design of the Company’s compensation plans, incentive plan funding schemes, and 1ndividual compensation decisions, the
Commuttee considers several pninciples

Focus on total compensation, rather than individual pay components

Abhgn realized compensation with company performance

Emphasize equity ownership as largest component of compensation

Pay at a competitive market position in order to attract and retain the best available talent y

Focus on Total Compensation

We have a strong commitment to rewarding all executives, and all employees, on a total compensation basis Rather than focus on individual pay
components, we emphasize total compensatton opportunities For executives, management and the Commuttee believe that a large majority of these total
compensation opportunities should be delivered via equity This philosophy 1s reflected 1n the hinng packages for new executives and other 2014
compensation decisions described below

Align Realized Compensation with Company Peformance

The Commuttee places a great emphasis on the alignment of compensation with company performance and sharcholder value Executives should see realized
compensation nse or fall based on the performance of the Company With a sigiuficant portion of compensation opportunities denived from equity, and
further because FDC equity 18 not liquid until a public offering or other liquidity event 1s achieved, the linkage between compensation value and Company
performance s very strong Additionally, our annual cash incentive plan for executives, the Senmor Executive Incentive Plan (SEIP) 1s funded each year based
solely on company performance

Emphasize Equity Cvmership

The Commuttee provides equity compensation and opportunities so that executives have a significant equity stake 1n the Company to ensure complete
alignment with shareholders, strong correlation between company performance and executive compensation, and complete focus on our goals

The 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data Corporation and 1ts Affiliates {the 2007 Equity Plan) facilitates significant equity ownershap
by executive officers All executive officers have either directly purchased shares of stock or relinquished equrty of their former employer in connection with
the Holding equity grants The Commuttee believes that by requiring a personal investment 1n Holdings, the 2007 Equity Plan 1s a powerful mechanism to
facilitate equity ownership and closely align executive and shareholder interests To ensure equity remains the predominant compensation component for
executives and to strengthen long-term alignment, executives also recerve annual equity grants

As a further demonstration of the Comnuttee's commitment to equity ownership as a path to abign the 1nterests of its owner-associates with the long-term
success ofthe Company and our chients, the Commttes approved broad-based equity grants in
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the first quarter of both 2014 and 2015 Management and the Commuttec believe that creating a strong eulture of ownership will benefit ats clients, owner
assoclates and shareholders

Pay a mpetitsve Market Position

The Commuttee ensures that tncommng and incumbent executives are paid competitively In order to successfully attract and retain top perfonming executives,
the Company annually reviews market data and aims to provide compentive total compensation oppertunities In rght of recent hinng, the Company and
Comunuttee have also gained sigmificant insight into cument compensation practices among peer companies and have leveraged this information along with
peer group analysis in making pay decisions

The Company and the Commutice peniodically review the Company's executive compensation practices against a peer group of companies The Company’s
peer group 1s compnised of direct competitors, frequently identified peer companies to the Company’s direct competitors, and other companies deemed
comparable to the Company 1n terms of industry, pay practices, revenue and market value The peer group includes the following 21 compames

*  Accenture = ADP = Amencan Express

* Capntal One Financial + Computer Sciences Corp + Discover Financial

* eBay + Fidelity Nat'l Info Services + Fifth Third Bancorp

» Frserv * MasterCard * PNC Financial Services

* SAIC * SLM Comp * State Street Corp

+ SunTrust Banks * Symantec Corp + Total System Services

+ VISA * Westemn Union -, * Yahoo! .

Competitive benchmarks for each of the Company’s executive officers are created by utilizing available information disclosed 1n proxy statements of these

companies in combination with generally available market compensation survey information It 1s important to note that compensation data from non-peer

group companies 1s also given significant consideration since the Company also recruits talent from organizations outside the payments industry -3
ELEMENTS OF COMPENSATION

Compensatian for the Company’s executive officers 1s delivered through

. base salary,
. annual cash incentives,
. equity, and
. perquisites
Basg Salary

Base salanes for executives reflect market competitive levels of pay and factors unique to each executive such as scope of responsibilities, individual skill
set, expenience level, lime tn role, pay relative to 1ntemal peers, and base pay in previous roles outside of Furst Data Base pay for named executives as of
December 31,2014 15 as follows

Base Salary as of
December 31, 2014

Frank J Bisignano, Chief Executive Officer $ £,500,000
Michael K Neborak, Executive Vice President, Durecior of Finance 600,000
Cynthia Amine-Klein, Chief Control Officer 500,000
Sanjtv Das, Executive Vice President, Head of Intemational Regions 75Q,000
Joseph J Plumen, Vice Chairman 1,200,000
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nual Cash Incentiv.
Plan Design and Mechanics

Executive officers are eligible to receive a performance-based annual cash incentive under the SEIP Consistent with Furst Data’s overall compensation
philosophy, cash awards are generally a small percentage relatve to equity-based awards for exceutives

Awards are based pnmanly on Company performance dunng the fiscal year and secondanly on individual results duning the year To best accomphsh this,
the Commuttee approved a fully discretionary funding structure for 2014 for the SEIP This structure was deemed most appropnate to ensure the Commettee
maintamed the discretion and ability to appropnately reward the performance of each executive

The Commuttee has approved cash bonuses for the 2014 plan year as foltows At the time of hinng, Ms Armune-Klein and Mr Das were each offered a
mimimum cash 1ncentive, but both subsequently agreed to waive thewr numimum cash incentive for 2014 For 2015, no executives have any mimmum cash
incentive amounts and all awards are completely performance based

2014 SEIP Payout

Yrank J Bisignano 3 1,140,000
Michael K Nebomk 400,000
Cynthia Armune-Klein 625,000
Sanpiv Das 625,000
Joseph J Plumen 540,000
Eguity

As descnbed above, equity compensation s at the heant of the Company's compensation philosophy Incumbent executives received equity awards 1n 2014
1o further bolster the role equity plays in therr total compensation oppertumity Mr Plumen and Mr Neborak made personal investments to purchase shares of
stock and recerved optton grants Mr Plumen, also received a 2014 restncted stock grant based on his contnbutions dunng 2013 as a sentor advisor

Ms Anmmne-Klein and Mr Das received restnicted stock and option grants to replace equity holdings forfeited due to departing their previous employer

Annual grants were made to Mr Bisignano and Mr Winborne on Februaty 10, 2014, with amounts deterrmined in the sole discretron of the Commuttee based
on each executive’s role and performance These equity awards were granted under the 2007 Equity Plan and were compnised of both options and restncted
stock awards

Executives htred dunng 2014, also received the followang equity awards All stock options granted dunng 2014 have a strike price of $4 00 pershare
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Stock Optisns Stock Optien Restricted
Grant Date Granted Vesting Stotk Granted Restricted Stock Vesting

Laterof 1/1/17 and expiration of lockup pernod

@,
Frank Bisignano 2/10/2014 750,000 33% per year 1,125,000 foltowing a Qualified Public Offenng
0, J—
Michael K Nebarak 7/14/2014 500,000 20% per year
8/11/2014 750,000 20% per year —
Laterof 1/1/17 and expiration of lockup penod
L 9,
Ray E Winborne 2/10/2014 109,375 33% per year 164,063 following a Quatified Public Offenag
, . a Later of 5/13/17 and expiration of lockup penod
Cindy Armine-Klein 5/13/2014 500,000 20% per year 750,000 followng a Qualified Public Offenng
Later of 5/13/17 and expirauon of lockup penod
1 a,
San)iv Das 5/t3/2014 1,000,000 20% per year 500,000 following 1 Qualified Public Offenng
_ . Laterof 1/1/17 and expiration of lockup perniod
Joseph J Plumen 21012014 . 750,000 following a Quahified Public Offenng
5/13/2014 2,000,000 33% per year -

A Qualified Public Offering 15 defined in the Management Stockholder Agreement to which all restnicted shares are subject as an initial Public Offering (1} for
which aggregate cash proceeds to be received by the Company (or any successbr thereto) from such offenng (or senes of offenings) (without deducting
undersmter discounts, expenses and commssions) are at least $400,000,000, or (1) pursuant to which at least 35% of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock are sold by the Company (or any successor thereto)

General Provisions for Options and Purchased Shares under the 2007 Equuty Plan and Management Stockholder Agreement

If an option holder terminates employment with the Company for any reason, all options are subject to call nghts by Holdings until a Change in Control ora
Qualified Public Offering, as defined mn the 2007 Equity Plan and Management Stockholder Agreement

If an option holder's employment 1s termunated due to Death, Disability, Good Reason or Not for Cause (as defined 10 the 2007 Equity Plan), call nghts may
be exercised on vested options at the fair market value share price In this event, shares obtained through previous option exercises may be called at the fair

market value share pnice In the event of Death or Disability, the option holder has a put nght to exchange vested options for the difference of the fair market
value and the option exercise price

If the option holder's employment 1s terminated voluntanly or for Cause (as defined in the 2007 Equity Plan), call nghts may be exercised on vested options
at the lesser of the farr market value share pnce or the option exercise pnice In this event, shares obtained through previous option exercises may be called at
the lesser of the fair market value share price or the option exercise pnce In the case of involuntary termination for Cause, call nghts may be exercised on
purchased shares at the lesser of the fair market value share pnice orthe onginal purchase pnce In the case of voluntary temination, call rights may be
exercised on purchased shares at the fair market value share pnce These provisions greatly enhance the retention of executives who participate 1n the 2007
Equity Plan by eliminating all potential option gains for executives who voluntanly termmate pniorto a Liquidity Event

An imtial Public Offenng or sale of FDC has no tmpact on options vesting unless the Sponsor’s (KKR's) stake drops to a level below 10% of their onginal
investment If 1t does, then all options granted in 2011 and later become 100% vested If the sale of FDC results in a Change in Control whereby the sponsor
stake drops below 50% and the sponsor no longer controls a majonty of the Board all call nghts are eliminated and options granted in 2011 and forward
become 100% vested For options granted in 2010 and prior, the vesting of all tune options 1s fully accelerated upon a Change in Control or 2 Liquidity
Event, as defined 1n the 2007 Equity Plan

Holdings has a nght of first refusal 1f an executive proposes to sell their purchased stock prior to a Change 1n Control or a Liquidity Event Ifa sharcholder's
employment 1s terminated mvoluntanly or due to Death, Disability, Good Reason or Not for Cause (as defined 1n the 2007 Equity Plan), call rights may be
exercised on purchased shares at the fair market value share

122

]



price In the event of Death or Disabihity, the shareholder has a put nght to sell shares back to Holdings at the fair market value share price
Grant Process

All cquuty grants were made under the 2007 Equity Plan, and granted at the then—current fair market valuc on the date of cach grant Fair market valuc was
determuined by the full Holdings Board at the time of grant Equity grants were made on the date the grants were approved by the Holdings Commutice

Perquisites

The Contpany’s compensation philosophy 1s to focus on performance-based forms of compensation while providing only minimal executive benefits and
perquisites Reimbursement for relocation and moving expenses ase offered to the Company’s executive officers Executives are also authonzed to use the
corporate aurcraft for personal purposes 1n himited 1nstances

The financial planning benefit previousty offered to all executives was terminated in 2013 Per his employment agreement, Mr Bisignano 1s ehigible forup to
$100,000 per year of financtal planning assistance, however, this benefit was only partially used in 2014 and reported in perguisites

Retrrement Plans

In 2014, all employees in the U §, including executive officers, were chigible to participate 1 the First Data Corporation Incentive Savings Plan (ISP) The
ISP 1s a qualified 401(k) plan designed to comply with Intemal Revenue Service (IRS) safe harbor rules The Company marntaims the ISP to allow employees
to save for their retirement on a pre-tax basis

The ISP allows for company contnbutions to help employees build retirerment ez;vmgs Beginning January 1,2014, the company match has been suspended
forall employees, including executives

We do not cumently offer defined benefit plans or non-qualified retirement plans to our executive officers

SEVERANCE AND CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENTS

In general, the Company does not enter inta employment agreements with employees, including the Company’s executive officers, except in the case of Mr
Bisignano A deseniption of this agreement 1s provided below All current executive officers serve at the will of the Board

The Company beheves that reasonable and appropnaie severance and Change 1n Control benefits are necessary 1n order to be competitive 1n the Company’s
executive attraction and retention efforts Informatron regarding applicable payments under such agreements for the named exccutive officers 1s provided in
the Severance Benefit table

The Palicy provides for the payment of benefits to executive officers upon involuntary termination without cause from FDXC wath or without a Change of
Control Under the Policy, no benefits are provided based solely on a Change tn Control The Policy provides for payment of benefits as descnbed below

() Forexecutive officers appointed priorto May 1, 2011, or having 5 years or more service in such a position total cash payments equal to the
executive officer’s base pay plus pnor year bonus muluplied by 2

For executive officers appointed on orafterMay 1,2011 and having 2 to 5 years of service 1n such a position total cash payments equal to the
executive officer’s base pay plus pnoryearbonus multiphed by 1 5

Forexecutive officers appointed on or after May |, 2011 and having less than 2 years of service in such a position  total cash payments cqual to
the executive officer's base pay for one year

(1) A cash payment equal to the executive officer’s prior year bonus prorated for the year of temination
() Continuation of medical, dental and vision benefits coverage for the severance penod, with a portion of the costs of the benefits paid by the

executive officer
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(iv) A Gross-Up Payment™ 1s made 1f 1t 1s determuned that any Intemal Revenue Code Section 280G parachute payments provided by the Company
to or, on behalfof, an chigible cxecutive would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Internal Revenue Code Section 4999 The Gross-Up
Payment 1s an amount so that after payment of all taxes, the eligible executive retains an amount equal to the Excise Tax imposed by Internal
Revenue Code Section 4999 Executives are ehigible for this benefit regardiess of whether their employment 1s terminated following a Change in
Control

As a condition to recerving severance benefits under the Policy, all employees are required to release FDC and us employees from all claims they may have
against them and agree to a number of restnctive covenants which are structured to protect the Company from potential loss of customers or employees and to
prohibit the release of confidential company information

On November 12, 2014 the Commuttee adopted amendments to the plan which are effective on January 1,2015 Under the new temms, the cash severance
payment forall eligible participants is equal to one year's base pay plus the pnor year's cash bonus and a prorated poertion of the prior year's cash bonus based
on time worked dunng the year of termuination

OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

All executive officers are also ¢ligible to participate in the employee benefit plans and programs generally available 1o the Company’s employees, including
coverage tnder the Company’s med:cal, dental, life and disability wnsurance plans

EMPLOYMENT AND TERMINATION AGREEMENTS WITH FDC EXECUTIVES

Employment Agreentent with Mr Bisignano

On Apnl 28, 2013, First Data and Holdings entered 1nto an employment agreement with Mr Bisignano {the Employment Agreement) A copy ofthe
Employment Agreement 1s reported on the Form 8-K. The Employment Agreement was included as Exhabit 10 1 1o FDC's Form 8-K filed wath the United
States Secunties and Exchange Commussion on May 2, 2013 The Employment Agreement provides for an imitial five-year term from the Commencement
Date and automatic one-year extensions after such trme unless termnated by either party with pnor wntten notsice Under the terms of the Employment
Agreemenl Mr Bisignano will eam an annual base salary of $1,500,000, which base salary may be increased but not decreased, and commencing with the
2014 fiscal year, be eligible to recerve a discretionary annual incentive payment 1n such amount as determined in the sole discretion of the Compensation
Commuttee of the Board of Directors of First Data, based upon its assessment of Mr Bisignano’s performance, payable in the form of cash, equity-based
awards or a combination thereof Mr Bisignano will be eligible to receive executive perquisites, finge and other benefits consistent with what 1s provided to
executives

Separation Agreement with Mr Winborne

On August 5, 2014, First Data and Holdings entered into a separation agreement with Mc Winbome, former Chief Financial Officer The agreement provides
severance benefits equal to $1,475,000 paid semi-monthly over a twelve month penod beginning October 1, 2014 and continued coverage under First Data
benefits dunng the same penod A prorated 2014 bonus of $600,000 was paid following termunation on September 30, 2014 Mr Winbome will continue
holding and earming vesting n all equity holdings through December 15,2015 Following December 31,2015, call nghts on all vested equity holding will
be exercised at fair market value 1f no Liquidity Event has occurred pnor to this date

TAX AND ACCOUNTING CONSIDERATIONS
Dunng 2014, Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) limitations on tax deductibihity of compensation did not apply to FDC as the Company's commen

stock 15 not registered or publicly traded The Committee has not considered Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) deducubility limtations in the planning
of 2014 compensation since they do nat apply -
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Change m
Pension Value
and
Non-Qualified
Fees Farned or Noo-Equaty Deferred
Paid n Stack Option [n¢entive Plan Campensation All Other
Name Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earmings Compensation Total
Joe W Forehand
(1) 3 318,333 3 125000 § 1,076,000 $ — — 3 20,806 $§ 1,540,139
Henry R Kravis 40,000 — —_ — — — 40,000
Scot1 C Nuttall 40,000 —_ — — — — 40,000
Tagar C QOlson 40,000 — —_ — — — 40,000
Heidi Muller(2) 56,250 125,000 1,045,500 —_— —_ — 1,226,750
James Nevels (3) 18,750 125,000 1,147,500 — —_ —_ 1,281,250

FDC Durectors do not receive compensation The Board of Directors of Holdings has approved an annual cash retatner for each non-employee director of
Holdings assaciated with KKR, Mr Kravis, Mr Nuttall and Mr Olson of $40,000 per year, and a vearly cash retainer of $75,000 for all other non-employee
directors, Mr Forehand, Ms Millerand Mr Nevels Mr Forehand recerved additional fees for his Chaimman of the Board duties prior to March 10, 2014 when
Mr Bisignano was appointed Chairman

All Directors are ehigible to defer their retainer in the First Data Holdings Inc 2008 Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (Director Deferned
Comp Plan) Mr Kravis, Mr Forehand, Mr Nuttall, Mr Olson, and Ms Muller elected to defer their retainer eamed in 2014 Deferrals in the Non-Employee
Director Deferred Compensation Plan track the value of shares of Holdings and are payable te participants only upon Separation of Service or Death

(1) Joe Forehand recerved a cash retainer of $133,333 and cash bonus of $110,000 for service as Chairman pnior to March 10,2014 and a $75,000
retainer for non-Chaiman service following March 10, 2014 Mr Forehand also had $20,806 i corporate amrcraft usage

{2} Heid1 Miller’s retainer for 2014 was prorated based on her appoimntment on Apnl 14,2014

(3) James Nevels' retainer for 2014 was prorated based on his appointment on November 12,2014

Reimbursements

Durectors are reumbursed for their expenses incurred 1n attending Board, commuttee and shareholder meetings, including those for travel, meals and lodging
Directors are also reimbursed for their expenses incurmred 1n attending director education programs The Company also provided office space and
admunistrative support for Mr Plumen in support of performance of his duties as a senior advisor from January through May 2014

Indemnification

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each director to the fullest extent permtted or
anthonzed by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE, COMPENSATION AND NOMINATTIONS COMMITTEE

The Governance, Compensation and Nominations Comrruttee of the Board of Directors has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and, based on such review and discussions, the Govemance, Compensatien and
Nonmnations Commuttee recommmended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included 1n this Annual Report on Form 10-K

- GOVERNANCE, COMPENSATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Scott C Nuttall (Chairperson)
Henry R Kravis
Joe W Forehand
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Change in
Pension Value
Non-Qualfied
Stock Optlon Non-Equity Deferred All Other

Name and Principal Bonus Awards Awards Incentive Plan Camp ion Comp tion
Position Year Salary (1) (2) (&3] {4) Compensation Earnings (5) Toatal
Frank J Bisignano, 2014 § 1,500,000 $ 1,140,000 $ 4,500,000 § 1629000 3 — 8 — 3 533,199 §9,302,199
1Chief Executive
'Officer 2013 1,045,839 3,704,161 20,000,002 50,994,285 —_ —_— 635,234 76,379,521
Michael K Neborak, 2614 279,615 400,000 — 2,680,000 — — 1183 3,360,798
Executive Vice
President, Derector of
Fance
Ray E Wmbaorme, 204 506,250 —_ 656,252 237,563 — —_— 2,088,435 3,488,500
Former Executive Vice
Preswdent & Chief
Fuancial Officer 2013 662,500 1,000,000 675,000 795,728 — — 14,386 3,147,614

2012 600,000 510,000 245,999 265,667 — _ 30,926 1,656,592
Cyntiua Arnune-Klien, 2014 320,192 3,625,000 3,000,000 1,003,060 —_ _ 673 7,948,865
1Chief Control Qfficer

L -t

Sanpv Das, Executive 2014 523,077 2,125,060 2,000,000 2,006,000 — — 1,288 6,655,365
Vice President and
Head of International
Regrons
Joseph ) Plumen, 2014 1,239,288 540,000 3,000,000 4,012,000 —_ — 6,273 8,797,561
Vice Chayrman

{1} Salary for Mr Plumer: includes consulting income of $639,288 carned while acting as sencor advisor 1o First Data prior 10 being hired as Vice Chairman and Head of Chent
Delivery, Innovanon and Marketing on June 1, 2014

{2) Amounts reflect approved 2014 payouts under the Senor Executive Incentive Plan [n additton to those payouts, during 2014, Mr Das received a cash sigh-on bonus of
$1 500 000 and Ms Armine-Kletn receved 2 cash sign-on bonus of §3 000,000

(3) The table reflects the gant date tair value of all restricted shares used for financial reperung purposcs and awarded under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employecs of
First Data Corporauon and ns Affiliates For further mformateon on siock awards granted in 2014, see the Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table

(4) The table reflects the grant date fair value of all stock options used for financial reporting purpeses and awarded under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First
Data Corporation and 1ts Affiliates and is determined using the Black-Scholes opuon pricing model For further mformation an opuions granted in 2014 see the Grant of Plan-
Based Awards Table

{5) Full explanation of these amounts 1s provided w the Perquisite and Personal Benefits Table and accompanying footnotes
1 )

.
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PERQUISITE AND PERSONAL BENEFITS

Employee Non-Quabified Tax
Financial Stock Defined Deferred Lafe Gross-Up Severance Relocation Other
Planning  Purchase  Contribution Compensation Insurance Payments Payments Benefits Compensatton

Name Year ] Plan Plans Earnings 2) 3 4 5 {6) Total
Frank J 2014 518812 § — 3 265 § — § 4902 §$270017 % — $ 52384 § 186,819 $ 533,199
Bisignano

2013 —_ — 2,750 — 1,639 191,029 —_— 264,674 175,142 635,234
Michael K. 2014 — — — — 1,183 — — - o 1,183
Neborak
Ray E 2014 — — — — 984 1,683 2,085,768 — — 2,088435
Winbome

2013 —_ — 8,925 —_ 990 1,491 —_ — 2,980 14,386

2012 10,000 —_ 8,750 — 660 8,923 —— — 2,593 30,926
Cynthia 2014 — — — — 673 — — — — 673
Armune-
Klemn
Sanpiv Das 2014 — — — — 1,288 — — — — 1,288

. A

Joseph J 2014 — — — — — 1,831 — —_ 4,442 6,273
"Plumen

{1) Tn 2014, anly Mr Bisignano was chgible for financial planning benefits

{2) lncludes the value of imputed income on Life insurance premiums paid by the Company

(3) For 2014 Mr Bisignano recerved tax gross-ups based on imputed mcome from relocation benefits 878 691 car lease $8 787 ex-spouse health insurance coverage and
Life/disability caverage for Mr Bisignano $46,106, $132,181 for personal aurcraft usage, $3,082 for wavel o President’s Club, $1,145 for aute gross-up, and $25 for a benefits

corcecion Mr Plumer: and Mr Winbormne recerved tax gross-ups n the amounts of $1,831 for travel to President's Club and $1,683 for awrcrafl usage, respectively

{4) On July 29, 2014, Mr Winborne entered inte a Separation Agresment whereby he recerved a prarated 2014 bonus of $604,000, semi-monthly payments for one year totaling

$1,475,000 and benefits coverage for one year valued at $10,768

(3) Mr Busignano recewved temporary hving expenses in the amount of $52,384

(6) Mr Bisighano recewved reimbursement for a vehiele lease in the amount of $21,970, health insurance coverage for his ex-spouse of £3,954, msurance premums of $49,204 and
personal use of corporate aircraft valued at $109,080 Mr Bisignano and Mr Plumers each recerved $2,611 for spouse s expenses related to company functions The caleulation
of mcremental cost for personal use of the corporate aircraft includes the average hourly variable costs of aperating the aircraft for the year attributed to the named executive
officer s personal flight activity

-

~
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

Estimated Estimated Al Other
Future Future Option Awards
Payouts Payouts All Other Mumber of Exeraise Grant Date

Under Under Stock Awards Securities or Base Fair Value of Market

Nan-Equity Equity Number of Underlying Price of Stock and Close
Incentive Incentive Shares of Stock Options (#) Optian Optien Price per

Name Grant Date Plans Plans or Units (#) (1) (1) Awards Awards (3) Share
/Frank J Bisignano 2/10/2014 — - 1,125,000 — 3 — 5 4500000 % 4900
2/102014 — — — 750,000 400 1,629,000 400
Michael K Neborak 7142014 — — — 500,000 400 1,072,000 400
®i12014 — —_ — 750,000 400 1,608,000 400
Ray £ Wmbome 2/10/2014 — — 164,063 — —_ 656,252 400
2/1012014 — — — 109,375 400 237,563 400
Cynthia Arcune-Klein 5132014 — — 750,000 — — 3,000,000 400
511312014 — — — 500,000 400 1,003,000 400
Sanjv Das 5/1372014 —_ —_ 500,000 — — 2,000,000 400
5/13/2014 — — e 1,000,000 400 2,006,000 4 00

A
- -y

Joseph J Plumert 2/10/2014 —_ — 750,000 —_ — 3,000,000 400
532014 — —_ — 2,000,000 400 4,012,000 4 00

48] Graots reflected in this column arc grants of Restricted Stock made under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employces of First Data Corporation and us Affiliates Grants
made to Mr Bisignano, Mr Plumer and Mr Winborne vest upan the later of January 1, 2017 and the end of any lackup peried following a Qualified Public Offermg  Granis
made to Ms Armuine-Klein and Mr Das vest upon the later of May 13, 2017 and the end of any lockup penod following a Qualified Public Offering

(2) Grants reflected in this column are grants of Stock Opuons made under the 2007 Stock Incennve Plan for Key Employees of First Data Corporation and 1is Affiliates The grant
price was determmed at the ime of the grant by the Board, pursuant to their authonity under the plan, to be $4 00 Option grant dated May 13, 2014 to Mr Plumen for
2 000,000 options vest m equal annual nstallments, one-third per year, over a three year period from the grant date and have a ten-year term All other option grants to
exccutive officers vest in equal annual installments, 20% per year, over a five year period from the grant date destgnated and have a ten-year term

{3) Grant Date Fair Value for restricted stock and opuions is based on therr valuaton for financial reporung purposes at the ume of grant, This grant 1s subject 10 all terms and
condinons of the Management Stockholders Agreement.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END

Option Awards
Equuty
Number of Equity Incentive
Secunities Incentive Number of Market Plan Awards Equity Incentive
Underlying Plan Awards Shares Value of Number of Plan Awards
Number of Unexercised Number of or Umts Shares ar Unearned Market or
Secorities Optlons Securities of Stack Units of Shares, Payout Value of
Underlying {#) Underlying That Have Stock That Units ot Other Unearned Shares,
Unexercised Un- Urexercised Option Option Not Have Not Rughts That Umts or Other
Options {#) cxercisable Uncarncd Exercise Expiration Vested Vested Have Rughts That Have
Name Company(1) Exercisable ) Options (#) Price Date {#)(3) 3 Not Vested (#) Not Vested
Frank J
Bisignano Holdings 5,257,142 21,028,572 — 3 350 5772023 — — — % —
Holdings _ 750,000 — 400 2/10/2024 — — —_ —_
Holdings — — — —— — 1,125,000 5,062,500 —_ _
Michael
K
Neborak Holdings — 500,000 — 400 T/14/2024 — — — —
Holdings -_ 750,000 — 4§00 8/11/2024 — — —_ —
Ray E
Winborme Holdings 45,000 11,250 _ 300 6232020 — — — —
Holdings 355,000 88,750 — 300 212021 — e — —_
Holdings 160,000 — — 300 37822021 — — — —
Holdings 11,151 55,556 _ 300 37372022 —_ — — —
Holdings 128,571 257,143 — 350 3/5/2023 ——— — e e
Holdings —_ 109,375 — 400 2/10/2024 — — — —
Holdings —_— —_ —_ —_ —_ 80,000 360,000 —_ —_
Holdings — -_— — — —— 83,333 374,999 —_— —
Holdings —_ — — —_ — 192,857 867857 — —
Holdings — e — — —_ 164,063 738,284 —_ —
Cynthia
Armune-
Kien Holdings — 500,000 —_ 400 5/1372024 — — — —
Holdings — — — — —_ — — — —
Sanpv
Das Holdings — 1,600,000 — 400 51372024 — — —_— —_
Holdings — — — — — 500,000 2,250,000 — —
Joseph J
Plumnen Holdings 333,333 666,667 — 350 10/1272023 — — — —
Holdings —— 2,000,000 -_— 400 5372024 — — — —
Holdings —_ — —_— — -— 750,000 3,375,000 —_ —

(1Y All Holdings equity awards were granted under the 2007 Stock [ncentive Plan for Key Employees of Furst Data Corporation and 1ts Affiliates

(2} Grants reflected in this cotumn are grants of Stock Options made under the 2007 Stock Incentne Plan for Key Employ ces of First Data Corporation and its Affiliates. All Stock
Options histed that were granted dunng and prior to 2010 are ime-based and vest in equal annual installments 20% cach year over a five year penied, stock options granted n
2011 and later are ume-based and vest in equal annual installments of 1/3 per year over three years, except as noted below Stock Opuon grants for Ms Armuine-Klein and Mr

Das on 5/13/2014 vest i equal annual installments 20% each year aver a five year period

(3) Al grants reflecied tn this column are awards of Restricted Stock made under the 2007 Stock Incenuve Plan for Key Fmplayees of First Data Corperanon and its Affiliates All
restricted shares granted in 2010 vest oaly epon the lapse of rransfer restrictions under the 2007 Equity Plan and Management Stockholder Agreement. Restricted Stock Award
vesting terms are described tn footnote | of the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table Market value of the shares 1s based on the per share price of $4 50 as of December 31, 2014,
as determined by the Board of Directors for purposes of the 2007 Stock Incenuve Plan for Key Employces of First Data Corporation and its Affiliates
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OPTION EXERCISES AND S10CK VYESTED
Dunng 2014, no executive officers exercised options or had any restncted stock awards which vested
PENSION BENLFITS
Dunng 2014, no exccutive ofticers participated in either a quahified or non-qualified defined benefit plan sponsored by the Company
NON-QUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Dunng 2014, no executive officers participated 1n a non-qualified deferred compensation plan sponsored by the Company

SEVERANCE BENEFITS (1)
Health & Unvested Unvested
Cash Welfare Stock Restricted Estimated
Paymenis Beneflts Financial Optiens Stack 280G Tax
Name (2) {3) Planmng {+) (5) Groess-Up Total
[Frank I Bisignano $  9500,000 $§ 21,536 $ — % — $ 1406250 § -— % 10,927,786
Michael K, Neborak 1,000,000 9,474 — — — — 1,009,474
Cindy Armine-Klein 1,125,000 9,891 — — 937,500 —_ 2,072,391
Sanj1v Das 1,375,000 5,779 — — 625,000 - = 2,005,779
Joe Plumen 1,740,000 9,250 —_ — 937,500 — 2,686,750

(1} Benefits represented reflect a termination date of January 1, 2015 and the terms of the Policy which are effective as of January 1, 2015

(2) Mr Busignane s employment agreement supulares he would recewve the greater of §9,500,000 or two umes the sum of his base pay and average of hts last two annual incentive
payments All other execulives receive a severance benefit of one umes current base pay and most recent annual benus

(3) Represents the company-paid portion of Medical, Dental and Vision benefits for each executive for a period of one year
(4) Stock Opuon vesting ts not accelerated under any of the severance scenarios

(5) The terms of Restricted Stock Awards 1ssued to named executives provide that awards wall vest based an number of months completed since grant divided by 16 months
following a severance-cligible departure from the Company

As a conditian to recerving severance benefits under the Policy, all employees are required to release FDDC and 1ts employees from all claims they may have
against them and agree to a number of restnctive covenants which are structured to protect the Company from potential loss of customers or employees and
prohibit the release of confidential company information

Compensation Committce Interlocks and Instder Participation

None of the Company’s Govemnance, Compensauon and Nomiratuons Committee members have been an officer or employee of the Company at any time,
except for Joe W Forehand who served as intenm CEO dunng 2010 Dunng 2014, the Company had no compensation comnuttee interiocks

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Equity Compensation Pian Information

We do not have any compensation plans under which our commeon stock may be tssued Furst Data Holdings Inc , cur parent company, has adopted the 2007
Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data Comporation and its Affiliates under which common stock of First Data Holdings Inc may be tssued
The following table contains certain information regarding options, wamrants or nghts to common stack of First Data Holdings Inc under the plan as of
December 31,2014
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Number of securities
to be 1ssued
upoen exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

‘Weighted- average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaimng available
for future 1ssuance
under equity
compensaticn plans
{excluding secunties reflected in column {a))

Plan Category (a) (b) (e) (1)

Equity compensation plans approved by secunty holders 103,703,653 340 4,688,234
Equuty compensation plans not approved by secunty

holders — —_ —
Total 103,703,653 340 4,688,234

(1) On January 14, 2015, an additional 100 million shares were authenzed

Beneficial Ownership

All of our outstanding stock 1s held by First Data Holdings Inc The following table sets forth, as of February 1, 2015, the beneficial ownership of common
stock, class B common stock, and preferred stock of First Data Holdings Inc by each person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% ofthe equity
securities of First Data Corporation, each director, each Named Executive Officer and all directors and executive officers as a group We believe that each

persen has sole voting and investment power of the shares

Number of Shares

Beneficially Percent
Tutle of class Name Owned(1)(2) of Class
Common Stock .
New Omaha Holdings L P ¢} 1,266,800,220 * 98%
Frank Bisignano 12,078,571 *
Michael K. Neborak 500,000 *
Ray E Winbome 1,364,850 *
Cynthia A Armine-Klein — *
Sanjiv Das - *
Joseph J Plumen 3,011,905 *
Joe W Forechand 3,299,999 *
Henry R Kravis()4) — *
Heid1 G Miller — *
James E Nevels — *
Scott C Nuttall(® — *
Tagar C Olsont® — *
All directors and executive officers as a group {9 persons) 23,738,536 2%
Class B Common Stock
New Omaha Holdings L P 3} 315,055,000 36%
Preferred Stock ;
New Omaha Holdings LP ) 300,000 100%

*  Less than one percent

(1) The number of shares reported includes sharcs covered by ophons that are exercisable and restricted stock that 1s vested and delivered within 60 days of February 1 2015 as
follows Mr Bisignano, 5,507,142, Mr Forehand, 2,966,666, Mr Plumert 333,333, Mr Winborng, 1,031,517, and all directors and executive officers as a group, 13,171,869

{2) No shares are pledged as security

(31 New Omaha Holdings L P 1sa hmued partniership in which investment funds assaciated with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L P and other co-investors own the himiled partner
mterests New Omaba Holdings LLC 1s the general parmer of Mew Omaha Holdings L P KKR 2006 Fund L P 15 the sole member of New Omaha Holdings LLC KKR Associates
2006 L P 15 the general partner of KKR 2006 Fund L P KKR 2006 GP LLC 1s the general partner of KKR 2006 Associates L P KKR Fund Holdings L P 15 the designated
member of KKR 2006 GP LLC KKR Fund Holdings GP Limited 1s a general partner of KKR Fund Holdings L P KKR Group Holdings L P 1s a general partner of KKR Fund
Holdings L P and the sole shareholder of KKR Fund Holdings GP Limited KKR Group Limited 1s the sale gencral partner of KKR Group Holdings L P KKR & Co L P isthe
sole shareholder of KKR Group Lamited KKR Management LLC 1s the sole general partner of KKR & Co L P Henry R Kravis and George R. Roberts are the designated
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members of KKR Management LLC [n addiion, Messes Kravis and Roberts have been designated as managers of KKR 2006 GP LLC by KKR Fund Holdungs L P In such
capacines cach of the aforementioned entities and tndividuals may be deemed to have voting and dispositive power with respeet 10 the shares held by New Omaha Holdings T P
but ¢ach such enuty and individual disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by New Omaha Holdings L P The address of each of the entities listed 1 thes footnote s
¢/o Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L. P, & West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019

(4) FEach of Messrs Kravis Nuttall and Olson 1s a member of the Company’s board of directors and serves as an ¢xecutive of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L P and/or ¢ne or more
of uts affibates Each of Messrs Kravis, Nuttall and Olson disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by New Omaha Holdings L P

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Policies Regarding the Approval of Transactions with Related Partes

Under our Director Code of Conduct, each director must report to our General Counsel upon leaming of any prospective transaction or relatronship in which
the director will have a financial or personal interest {direct or 1ndirect) that 1s with us, involves the use of our assets, or involves competition agarnst us
(consistent with any confidentiality obligation the director may have) Our General Counsel must then advise our Board of any such transaction or
relationship and our Board must pre-approve any matenal transaction or relationship

Under our Code of Conduct, executive officers may not use their personal :nfluence to get us to do business with a company 1n which they, their famly
members or their fnends have an interest In situations where an executive officer 1s 1n a position of influence or where a conflict of interest would anse, the
pnor approval of our General Counsel 1s required

Certamn Relationships and Related Transactions

We have a management agreement with Kohlberg Kravis Robetts & Co L P (KKR)and one of its affiliates (Management Agrecment) pursuant to which KKR
provides management, consulting, financial, and other advasory services to us Pursuant to the Management Agreement, KKR receives an aggregate annual
management fee and reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the provision of services The Management Agreement has an
mitial term expinng on December 31, 2019, provided that the term will be extended annually thersafier unless we provide prior wnitten notice of 1s desire
not to zutomatically extend the term The Management Agreement provides that KKR also 15 entitted to recerve a fee equal to a percentage of the gross
transaction value 10 connection with centain subsequent financing, acquisition, disposition and change of control transactions, as well as a termination fee
based on the net present value of future payment obligations under the Management Agreement in the event of an imtial public offenng orunder centam
other circumnstances The Management Agreement terminates automatically upon the consummation of an imitial public offenng unless otherwise determined
by KKR and may be termunated at any tume by mutual consent of us and KKR The Management Agreement also contains customary exculpation and
indemnification provisions in favor of KKR and its affiliates In 2014, we paid $20 mullton of management fees to KKR A
On December 16, 2013, we entered into a purchase agreement 1n which KKR Capital Markets LLC (KCM), an affiliate of KKR, agreed to serve &s one of the
mitial purchasers for offerings of notes and receive a portion of the underwnting commussion for each of the offerings Under the terms of the agreements, we
paid underwnting commssions of $7 million to KCM

On January 22, 2014, we entered into an engagement fetter with KCM, pursuant to which KCM agreed to assist in amanging and coordinating our request to
extend the matunty and lower the iterest rate on certain commitments and loans under1ts senior secured lending facility We paid KCM $1 mulhion for such
services

On Junc 18,2014, First Data Holdings Inc¢ , our parent company (Holdings), entered mto a placement agent agreement with KCM, pursuant to which KCM
agreed 10 assist i arranging and coordinating Holdings placement of shares of 1ts Class B common stock 1n a private placement Holdings paid KCM $41
million for such services

On July 7, 2014, we entered 1nto an engagement letter with KCM and others which was amended and restated on July 17, 2014, pursuant to which KCM
agreed to assist i arranging and coordinating our request to amend the terms and lower the interest on portions of the loans under 1ts sentor secured lending
facility We paid KCM $2 nullion for such services

In 2014, we paid $7 mullion to KKR Capstone Americas LLC and ts subsidianes for consulting, financial and other advisory services KKR Capstone
Amencﬂs LLC 15 a consulting company that works exclusively with KKR's portfolio companies
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Independence of Directors

We are privately beld and none of the members of our Board of Directors are independent under the standards of the New York Stock Exchange except Ms
Miller and Mr Nevels Messrs Bisignano and Mr Plumen are not independent as they are employed by us and Messrs Krawis, Nuttall and Olson are not
mdependent due to their affiliation with KKR Mr Forehand 1s not independent as he was our intenm Chief Exccutive Officer from March 2010 unul
October 2010 and 15 a Semor Advisor of KKR

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

We retained Emst & Young LLP to audit the accounts and the accounts of our subsidianes for 2014 and 2013 Emst & Young LLP has served as the
independent registered public accounting firm for us or 1ts predecessor entities since 1980

Audit Fees and All Other Fees

The following table shows the fees for audit and other services provided by Emst & Young LLP for 2014 and 2013

(11 millions) 2014 2013

Audit Fees $ 78 § 72
Audit-Related Fees 28 28
Tax Fees 09 08

Audit Fees This category includes fees related to the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of our quarterly consolidated financial
statements, statutory audits required domestically and internatignally, comfort leiters, consents, and assistance with and review of documents filed with the
SEC, offering memoranda, purchase accounting and other accounting, and financial reporting consultation and research work billed as audit fees or necessary
to comply wath the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Un1ted States)

v

Audit-Related Fees The category consists of fees for audit-related services that are reasonable related to the performance of the audit or review of our
consolidated financial statements Audit-related fees pnmanly include fees related o service auditor examunations, due diligence related to mergers and
acquisitions, attest services that are not required by statute or regulation, and consultation conceming financial accounting and reporting standards not
classtfied as audit fees

Tax Fees This category consists of fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning services

All Other Fees This category consists of fees for services that are not included in the above categones We did not pay Emst & Young any other fees for
services that are not included 1n the categones above

Audit Commuttee Pre-approval of Service of Independent Registered Public Accountiag Firm

QOur Audit Commuttee has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm
These scrvices may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services, and other services Pursuant to the policy, our Audit Commutice annually
revicws and pre-approves services that may be provided by the independent registered pubiic accounting firm for each audit year The pre-approval i1s
detailed as to the particular service or category of services and 1s subject to a specific budget Once pre-approved, the services and pre-approved amounts are
monitored against actual charges incurred and modified 1f appropnate The Chauperson of the Commutiee has the authonty to pre-approve such services
between meetimgs of our Audit Commuttee and reports such pre-approvals to our Audit Comnuttee at the next regularly scheduled meeting

Dunng 2014, all audit and non-audit services provided by Emst & Young LLP were pre-approved by our Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors o,
consistent with the pre-approval policy of our Audit Comnuttee, by the Chairperson ef our Audit Commuttee for inter-meeting pre-approvals
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PART 1V
ITEMIS EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STAT EMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report
(1}  Financial Statements
See Index to Financral Siatements on page 48
(2)  Financial Statement Schedules
See Index to Financial Statements on page 48

(3) Those exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulauon S-K and by paragraph (b) beltow

{b) The following exhibats are filed as part of this Annual Report or, where indicated, were heretofore filed and are hereby incorporated by reference

Incorporated by Reference

Exhblt Exhiit Description N Form File Number Exhibit Filing Date
Number Number
21 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Apni 1, 2007, 8-K 1-11073 21 4/2/2007
among New Omaha Holdings L P, Omaha Acquisition
Corporation and First Data Corporation 3V 5
31 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of First Data borpomtlon 10-Q 1-11073 30) 11/14/2007
3(1) First Data Corporation By-laws 10-Q 1-11073 () 5/13/2011
41 Indenture, dated as of March 26, 1993, between First Data S-3 1-11073 43 6/3/1994
Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National
Association, as trustee
42 2007 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 22,2007, 8-K 1-11073 41 8/28/2007
between First Data Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank,
Nattonal Association, as trustee
44 Indenture, dated as of August 20, 2010, among First Data 8-K 1-11073 101 8/26/2010
Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, goveming
the 8 875% Semor Secured Notes Due 2020
45 Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2010, among First 3-K 1-11073 102 8/26/2010
Data Cormporation, the other pledgors named therein and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as collateral agent
46 Secunty Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2010, among First 8-K 1-11073 103 8/26/2010
Data Corporation, the other grantors named therein and Wells -
Fargo Bank, National Associauion, as collateral agent
47 Indenture, dated as of December 17, 2010, among First Data 8-K 1-11073 101 12/22/2010

Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Assocration, as trustee, goverming
the 8 25% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2021 and the

8 75/10 00% Semor Second Lien Notes due 2022
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43

49

410

412

413

414

415

416

417

418

419

[ndenture, dated as of December 17, 2010, among First Data
Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, governing
the 12 625% Semor Notes due 2021

Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 17,2010, among
First Data Corporation, the other pledgors named therein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Associatton, as collateral agent

Secunty Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2010, among
First Data Corporation, the other grantors named therein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as collateral agent

[ndenture, dated as of Apnl 13, 2011, by and among First Data
Corporation, the guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as trustee, goveming the 7 375%
Semor Secured Notes due 2019

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as March 23,2012, by
and among First Data Corporation, the guarantors named
therein and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee, govemmg the addiional 7 375% Semior Secured
Notes due 2019

Indenture, dated as August 16,2012, by and among First Data
Corporation, the guarantors named therein and Welis Fargo
Bank, National Association, as trustee, governing the 6 750%
Sensor Secured Nates due 2020

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as September 27,2012,
by and among Furst Data Corporation, the guarantors named
therein and Wells Fargo Bank, Nattonal Association, as
trustee, goverming the addiional 6 750% Seniar Secured
Notes due 2020

Indenture, dated as of February 13,2013, by and among Furst
Data Carporation, the guarantors named therein and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, govermng the
11 25% Senior Notes due 2021

Indenture, dated as of Apnl 10, 2013, by and among First Data
Cormporation, the guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as trustee, goveming the

10 625% Senior Notes due 2021

Indenture, dated as of May 30, 2013, by and among First Data
Comoration, the guarantors named therein and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as trustee, govemning the 11 75%
Sentor Subordinaled Notes due 2021

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as November 19,2013, by
and among First Data Corporation, the guarantors named
therein and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee, goveming the additional 11 75% Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2021

Sccond Supplemental Indenture, dated as January 6,2014, by
and among First Data Corporation, the guarantors named
therein and Wells Fargo Bank, National Assaciation, as
trustee, governing the additional 11 75% Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2021
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422

423

424

4235

426

427

Credit Agreement, dated as of Scptember 24, 2007, as
amended and restated as of September 28, 2007 among First
Data Corporation, the several lenders from time to time parties
thereto, Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch, as
admmistrative agent, swingline lender and letter of credit
1ssuer, Citbank, N.A | as syndication agent, and Credit Suisse
Secunties (USA) LLC, Citigroup Global Markets, Inc,
Deutsche Bank Secunties Inc, Goldman Sachs Credit Partners
L P, HSBC Secunties (USA) Inc , Eehman Brothers Inc and
Meml} Lynch, Prerce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as jount
lead arrangers and bookrunners

Guarantee Agreement, dated September 24, 2007, among Furst
Data Corporation, the subsidianes of First Data Corporatton
identfied therein and Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch,
as Collateral Agent

Pledge Agreement, dated September 24, 2007, among First
Data Corporation, the subsidianes of First Data Corporation
identified therein, and Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch,
as Collateral Agent

Secunty Agreement, dated September 24, 2007, among Furst
Data Corporation, the subsidianes of First Data Corporation
identified therein, and Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch),
as Collateral Agent

2012 August Extension Agreement, dated as of August 16,
2012, among First Data Corporation, certain of its
subsidianes, cenain of the lenders under the Credit
Agreement, and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman [slands Branch, as
sdrministrative agent, including Exhibit A - Marked Pages of
Credit Agreement

September 2012 Joinder Agreement, dated as of September 27,
2012, amoag First Data Corporation, certaio of its
subsidianes, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
intial lender, and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch,
as admunistrative agent, including Exhibit B - Marked

Pages of the Conformed Credit Agreement

February 2013 Joinder Agreement, dated as of February 13,
2013, among Frest Data Corporation, certain of 1ts
subsidianies, Credtt Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
intial lender, and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch,
as administrative agent, including Exhibit B - Marked
Pages of the Conformed Credit Agreement

2013 Second Apn! Repnicing Amendment, dated as of

Al

Apnil 15,2013, among First Data Corporation, certain of its <

substdianes, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
initial lender, and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch,
as admimistrative agent, including Exhibit A - Marked
Pages of the Conformed Credit Agreement
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2013 Apnl Repricing Amendment, dated as of Apnl 10,2013,
among First Data Corporation, certain of its substdianes,
Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as initial lender,
and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
adrmunistrative agent, including Exhibit A - Marked Pages of
the Conformed Credit Agreement

2014 January Extension and Repneing Amendment, dated as
of January 30, 2014, among First Data Corporation, certain of
1ts substdianes, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as
1muial lender, and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch,
as admunistrative agent and collateral agent Exhibit A -
Marked Pages of the Conformed Credit Agreement

2014 July Reprnicing Amendment, dated as of July 18,2014,
among First Data Corporation, certam of its subsidianes,
Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as initial lender,
and Credit Suisse AG, Cayman !slands Branch, as
admimistrative agent and collateral agent, Extubit A - Marked
Pages of the Conformed Credit Agreement

Management Agreement, dated September 24, 2007, among
First Data Corporation, Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L P
and New Omaha Holdings L. P

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Executive Comnuttee
Members

Form of Management Stockholder's Agreement for Executive
Commuttee Members (as amended)

Form of Sale Participation Agreement

2002 First Data Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan, as
amended

First Data Corporation Sentor Executive Incentive Plan as
amended and restated effective January 1, 2014

Form of Stock Option Agreement
Form of Stock Option Agreement (effective Apnl 2010)
Form of Restncted Stock Award Agrecment

2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data
Corporation and 1its Affiliates, as amended

First Data Corperation Severance / Change in Conirol Policy
(Management Committee Level), as amended and restated
effective January 1, 2015

Descnipion of First Data Holdings Inc Compensation of
Directors

First Data Holdings Inc 2008 Non-Employee Pirector
Deferred Compensation Plan

Employment Agreement with Frank J Bisignano effective as
of Apnl 28,2013

Separation Agreement between Raymond E Wainbome, First
Data Corporation and First Data Holdings, Inc
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1016* Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 10-Q 1-11073 105 11/9/2005
First Data 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees
other than Executive Committee Members, as amended July

2005
211 Subsidianes of First Data Corporation
3t Certification of CEO pursuant to rule 13a-14{a) or 1 5d-

14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002

312N Certification of CFO pursuant to rule 13a-14(a)or 1 5d-
14(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

321(H Certification of CEQ pursuant to 18 US C Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Secuon 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
322(1) Certtfication of CFO pursuant to 18 US C Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
101 INS (1) XBRL Instance Document
101 SCH{l) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document -
105 CAL (1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101 DEF {1} XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document ¥
101 LAB (1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101 PRE (1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentanion Linkbase Document
{1) Filed herewith

Management contracts end compensatory plans and arrangements requured to be filed as exhibits pursuant to ltem 15(b) of this report
{c) The following financial statements are included in this annual repont pursuant to Regulations 8-X Rule 3-09

(1)  Wells Fargo Merchant Services, LLC
(A Joint Venture)
Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013
(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)
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(A Joint Venture)
Financial Statements
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(Whth Independent Auditors’ Repott Thereon)
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KPMGLLP

Suite 1400

55 Second Street

San Francisco, CA 94105

Independent Auditors* Report

The Members and Board of Directors of
Wells Fargo Merchant Services, LLC

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Wells Fargo Merchant Services, LLC (the Company), which compnse the balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, members’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes o the financial statements

Management's Responstbiltty for the Financial Statements

Management s responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 1n accordance with U S generally accepted accounting
principles, this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud oremmor

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion an these financial statements based on our audits We conducted our audits 1n accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted 1n the United States of Amenca Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtam audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the nsks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud er error

In making those nsk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropnate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an optnion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control Accordingly, we express no such opinion An audit also includes evaluaung the appropnateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentauon of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropnate ta provide a basis for our audit opimon

KPMG LLP 1 a Delaware linuted liabilnty panaership
the U § member firm of KPMG Intemational Cooperative
( KPMG Intemationa] ) a Swiss entity
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Oprmon

In our opinton, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all matenal respects, the financial position of Wells Fargo Merchant Services,
LLC, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of 1ts operations and 1ts cash flows for the years then ended 1n accordance with US generally

accepted accounting prngiples

San Franciseo, Califormia February 19, 2015

KPMe LEP
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2014 and 2013

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents g 64,403 64,077
Settlement assets 1,045,533 872,857
Accounts recewvable, net of reserve for merchant credit losses of 316,446 271,931
$4 5Mn 2014 and $3 4M 2013

Intangibles 479 437
Other assets 12 12

Total assets s 1,426,873 1,209314

Liabilites and Members® Equity

Settlement Liabtlities $ 977,144 813,233
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 30,465 25,374
Advances payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N A 280,982 233,167
Related party payable to First Data Merchant Services Corporation 13,664 22,511
Distnbution payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N A 72,016 66,263
Distibution payabte to First Data Merchant Services Corporation ¢ 43011 44,175

Total habilities 1,422,282 1,204,723
Members’ equity 4,591 4,591

Total liabilities and members® equity $ 1,426,873 1,209,314

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, L1L.C
(A Joint Venture)

Statements of Revenues and Expenses
December 31,2014 and 2013
(Dollars 1n thousands)

2014 2013

Revenues

Card services revenue, net of $3 5B and §2 9B 1n mterchange $ 704,972 663,181
and asscssments 1n 2014 and 2013, respectively

Product sales revenue 54,593 50,392
Other revenue 53612 40,419
Net revenue 813,177 753,992

LCxpenses
Cost of card services 186,955 175,502
Cost of product sold 16,141 14,729
Selling, general and administrative 132,520 126,905
Other expenses 8,734 8,308
Total expenses 344,350 325,444
Net operating income ' 468,827 428,548
Interest income 1,338 1,217
Net income $ 470,165 429,765

See accompanying notes lo financial statements
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Members’ equity at December 31,2012

Net income
Distnbutions to members

Members® equity at December 31,2013

Net income
Distnbutions to members

Members’ equity at December 31,2014

See accompanying notes to financial statements

WELLLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, L1.C
(A Joint Venture)

Statements of Members' Equity
December31,2014 and 2013

(Dollars 1n thousands)

Wells Fargo Bank, First Data Merchant
NA Services Corporation Total

$ 2,755 1,836 4,591
257,859 171,906 429,765
(257,859) (171,906) (429,765)

2,755 1,836 4,591

282,099 188,066 470,165
(282,099) (188,066) (470,165)

$ 2,755 1,836 4,591
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WLLLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LL.C
(A Joint Venture)

Statements of Cash Flows
December 31,2014 and 2013
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activines
Amortization of intangibles
Provisions for merchant credit losses
Changes 1n operating assets and hiabilities
Settlement assets
Accounts receivable, net of reserve for merchant credit losses
Settlement liabilities
Accounts payable and accruzed expenses
Advances payable to Wells Fargo Bank, N A

Related party payable to First Data Merchant Services Corporation

Other assets
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from 1nvesting activities
Contract acquisition costs
Purchase of capitalized software
Net cash used 1n investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Distnbutions to members
Net cash used in financing activities
Increase 1n cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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2014 1013
470,165 420,765
298 818
10,375 6,920
(172,676) (229,334)
(54,891) (40,146)
163,911 216,078
5,091 - (1498)
47,815 41,061
(8,847) 7,733
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(339) (326)
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)
Financial Statements

December 31,2014 and 2013

{Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

Business Description

Wells Fargo Merchant Services, LLC (the "Company™) 1s a jJoint venture between First Data Merchant Services Corporation (*FDMS”) and Wells
Fargo Bank, N A { Wells Fargo™) FDMS 15 a wholly-owned subsidiary of First Data Corporation (‘FBC™), which 1s owned by an enuty controlled by
an affiliate of Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co (‘KKR”} The Company was established pursuant to the terms of an alliance agreement (the
“Membership Agreement”) dated November 1, 1993, as amended and a Limuted Liability Company Agreement dated September 1, 1997, as amended

The Memberstup Agreement will termenate on December 31, 2019 FDMS and Wells Fargo are here-in-after referred to, individually, as a “Member”
or, collectively, as *“Members™

The Company 1s engaged tn processtng and funds transfer related to the authonzation, processing, and settlement of credit and debet card transactions
for merchants A majonty of its revenue 1s based on the dollar amount of transactions processed The Company provides services to merchant
customers within all 50 states, with a significant concentration 1in Califormia The Company 1s operationally dependent on both FDMS and Wells
Fargo The Company’s pnmary operations are conducted through FDMS The Company’s funding and settlement are pnmanly cenducted through
Wells Fargo The majonty of the bank accounts used for daily operations are with Wells Fargo

Summary of Sigmficant Accounting Policies

{a) Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolhidated financial statements in conforrmuty with US generally accepted accounting pnnciples requires management
to make estumates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reporied amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting period Actual results could
duffer from the estimates Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the reserve for merchant credit losses

) Settlement Assets and Liabilitres

The Company has a fiduciary responsibility to 1ts merchant customers as 1t relates to the transfer of funds from a cardholder’s 1ssuing bank, via
the VISA, MasterCard, or Discover card associations {the “Card Associations™) and the Accel, AFFN, Alaska Option, Credit Uneon 24, Interlink,
Jeanie, Maestro, NYCE, Pulse, TYME, Shazam, Star, Cash Station, Honor and MAC Debit Networks (the “Debit Networks™) The Company
records such amounts due from the issuing banks, Card Associations and Debit Networks withun the balance sheet caption scttlement assets
while the related hability, settlement habilities, represents amounts due to merchants Pursuant to the Card Associations’ and Debit Networks®
rufes, such fiductary funds are not available to support the operations of the Company
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013

(Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

fc) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly hqutd investments with 2 matunty of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents At December
31,2014 and 2013, the majonty of the Company's cash and cash equivalents were held 1n Wells Fargo accounts and are FDIC nsured

(@)  Merchant Collateral and Reserve for Merchant Credit and Fee Losses

When a cardholder or a credit 1sswing 1nstitution disputes a transaction, within the Card Association guidelines, the Company'’s merchant customers
have a hability for the disputed charges However, in the case of merchant fraud, insolvency or bankmupicy, the Company may also be liable Fee
receivables that are ultimately deemed as uncollectable are charged-off against the merchant credit and fee loss reserve

The Company’s determunation of the tevel of the reserve 1s calculated based on the level of sales volumes muluplied by loss factors taking nto
consideration charge-ofis, recoveries and merchant collateral and rests upon vartous judgments and assumptions, including the review of histoncal
data and a specific analysis of receivables due from merchants Qur charge-off policy 1s to fully charge down the balance when the receivable 15 60
days past due The Company requires cash deposits, guarantees, letters of credit or other types of collateral by certain merchants to munimize 1ts
credit nsk Included 1n the balance sheet’s settlement assets 1s $53,671 and $26,555 1n Merchant collateral, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively Merchant collateral represents restncted cash beld by the Company 1n a Wells Fargo bank account The reserve for merchant credit
losses 15 a valuation allowance for probable losses inherent as of the balance sheet date The Company considers the reserve for merchant credit
losses adequate to cover losses inherent 1n the portfolio as of December 31,2014 and 2013

fe) Intangibles

The Company capitalizes mmtial payments for new contracts, contract renewals and conversion costs assoclated with customer processing
relationships to the extent recoverable through future operations, contractual mimimums and/or penalties 1n the case of early temunation The
Company's accounting policy 15 to imut the amount of capitalized costs fora given contract to the lesser of the estimated ongoing future cash flows
from the contract or the terrmination fees the Company would recerve in the event of early termination of the contract by the customer The company
amortizes intangibles over the penod of the contract

{)  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

The Company accrues for certam expenses that have been received and that arc billed one month in arrears These estumates are classified within
accounts payable and accrued cxpenscs 1n the balance sheet
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
{A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013

{Dollars (n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

Income Taxes

No provision 1s made in the accounts of the Company for federal or state income taxes because all items of income expense and other items affecung
taxable income are allocated to the Members for mclusion mn their income tax retums

In accounting for income taxes, the Company follows the guidance in FASB ASC 740 (formerly FASB Interpretation No 48), as amended by ASU
2009-06, Aceounting for Uncertatnty tn Income Taxes ASC 740 requires the Company to determine whether a tax posttion of the Company 1s more
likely than not to be sustained upon cxamination by the apphicable taxing authonty, mcluding resolution of any related appeals or Ligation
processes, based on the technical ments of the position The tax benefit to be recogmized 15 measured as the largest amount of benefit that 13 greater
than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement whach could result in the Company recording a tax hiability that would reduce
net assets ASC 740 also provides guidance on thresholds, measurement, de-recogmiion, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in intenm
penods, disclosure, and transition that 15 intended to provade better financial statement comparability among different entities As an L1.C and pass-
through entity, the Company does not incur tax cxpense and 15 not required to record a tax provision related to uncertain tax positions,
accordance with the recognition, measurement, classification, and disclosure requirements of ASC 740-10 The U S 1s the major tax junisdiction for
the Company The tax retumns of the Company can be examined by the relevant taxing suthonties untit the applicable statute of hmtations has
expired, which 1s generally three to four years from the date the retumn 1s initially filed, depending on the specific junsdiction Based on analysis by
the Company, there were no matenal posttions denttfied which did not meet the “more Likely than not” standard as of and for the years ended
December 31,2014 and 2013

Members’ Equity

An equity account 1s maintained for cach Member In certain instances, the Members may be required to make additional contnbutions to the
Company Such contributions will be determined on a pro-rata basis in accordance with each Member's Membership Interest at the time of the
request and will be added to the Member's equity account Membership Interest 1s defined as the ownership percentage of the Company by each
member
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Financtal Statements
Becember 31,2014 and 2013

(Dellars 10 thousands, untess otherwise noted)

Revenue Recognmition

The Company recognizes card services revenues from its transaction processing and authorization services as such services are performed The
revenues from transaction processing and authonzation services are included in card services revenue in the statement of revenue and expenses The
Company recognizes revenue when the price 1s fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service 1s performed and
collectability of the resulting receivable 1s reasenably assured Certain revenues are recorded net of certain costs not controlled by the Company,
including 1nterchange and assessment fees charged by the Card Associations Such costs totaled $3 5 billion and §2 9 billion for the vears ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 The Company recogntzes product revenue from merchant referred leases, rentals and sales as such services are
performed 1n the form of a fee and a comesponding charge from affihates of FDMS

Debit revenues are recarded gross and are included wathin card services revenue an the statement of revenues and expenses Debit Network fees are
recarded within cost of card services in the statement of revenues and expenses Debit revenues are recognized as such services are performed Debit
Network fees totaled $101 6 million and $96 4 milhen for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

In addition to the above, the Company recogmizes other fecs tor services as such services are performed The other revenue caption on the statement
of revenues and expenses includes relevant items such as monthly fees, new account fees, income from cash advances, chargeback fees, supply fees
and early termination fees »

Comprehensive Incame

For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 net income equals comprehensive income
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WELLS FARGO MERCIIANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013

(Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

Intangibles
Following 1s a summary of the Company’s intangibles for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Intangible Assets, Gross Intangible Assets, Net of
of Accumulated Accumulated Accumulated
Amortzation Amortozation Amortization
Beginning balance as of January !, 2014 b3 2,370 (1,933) 437
Additions 340 — 340
Retirements 401} 401 —_
Amortization —_ {298) (298)
Ending balance as of December 31,2014 $ 2,309 (1,830) 479
Begunning balance as of January 1, 2013 h) 10,940 (10,071) 869
Additions 386 — 386
Retirements (8,956) 8,956 —
Amortization —_ (818) (818)
Ending balance as of December 31,2013 $ 2370 {1,933) 437

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, amortization expense of $298 and $8 [ 8, respectively, 1s included in other expenses in the

statement of revenues and expenses

Related Party Transactuons

The Company's pnmary operations are conducted through FDMS FDMS charges the Company fees for services provided pursuant to an operating
agreement (the “Operating Agreement”) dated January 31, 2000, as amended and restated The Members also agreed to perform certain additional
management funcuons (the “Additional Services”) of the Company, for which they will be reimbursed by the Company These fees are included in
cost of card services, cost of product sold and selling, general and administrative expenses within the statement of revenue and expense The financial
statements may not necessanly be indicative of the financial position that would have existed, or the results of operations or cash flows that would
have occurred had the Company operated as an independent enterprise Dunng the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company

reimbursed FDMS and Wells Fargo for performing the Additional Services as fotlows
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Cost of card services

Cost of product sold

Selling, general and administrative
Total

Cost of card scrvices

Cost of praduct sold

Selling, general and administrative
Total

Included in the balance sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 15 a advances payable to FDMS 0f $13,644 and $22,511, respectively These balances
primarnly consist of selling, genera! and administrative costs, cost of card services and cost of product sold owed to FDMS which are partially offset

WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
Deeember 31,2014 and 2013

{Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

2014
First Data Merchant Services, Wells Fargo
Cormoration Bank, NA
$ 66,980 —
16,141 —
12,206 120,314
$ 95,327 120,314
2013
First Data Merchant Services, Wells Fargo
$ Corporation Bank, NA
63,276 - —
14,729 —
11,795 115,110
$ 89,800 115,110

by fees owed to WFMS for the contnbuted porifolio

Included in the balance sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 15 an advances payable to Wells Fargo of
$280,982 and $233,167, respectively, which 1s pnmanly attnbutable to non-interest beanng advances, made by Wells Fargo to the Company These

payable amounts are settled monthly

Allocation and Dastribution of Income to Members

Profits and losses of the Company are allocated in accordance with each Member's Interest Distnbutions of allocated income to the Members are
made on a quarterly basts, subject to consent of the Members Income distnibuted shall equal 100% of the distnbutable funds, as defined 1n the

Membership Agreement, unless a smaller percentage 1s agreed to by the Members
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LL.C
(A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013

(Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

Termination of Company

The Company can be termunated in the event of certain termination events, set forth 1n the Membership Agreement with an effective date of January
1,2014 These include merger or acquisitian of erther of the Members, and vanous other performance cntena 1If the Company 1s terminated pnorto
December 31, 2019, based on who initiates the termunation, an early termunation fee may apply 1n accordance with the provisions and cntena ofthe
agreement

Limited Liabihity of Members

The members of a Delaware himited hability company are generally not liable for the acts and omissions of the Company, much in the same manner as
the shareholders, officers and directors of a corporation are generally not liable for the acts and omussions of the corporation Such Liability 1s
generally limited by the provisions of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and by applicable case law

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FASB ASC 825, Frnancial Instruments, requires the disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments, including assets and habilities recognized in
the balance sheets Management estimates that the aggregate fair value of financial wrstruments recognized 1n the balance sheets (including
receivables and payables) approximates their carrying value, as such financial instruments are short-term in nature or canry floating rates of interest

Guarantees and Reserve for Merchant Credit Losses

Under the card companies’ nules, when a merchant processor zequires card transactions, it has certain liabilities for the transactions This hability
anses from disputes between cardholders and merchants due to the cardholders’ dissatisfaction with merchandise quality or the merchants’ service,
which are not resolved with the merchant In such cases, the transactions are * charged back™ to the respective merchanis and the related purchase
amounts are refunded to the cardholders by the card 1ssuer If the merchant does not fund the refund due to nsalvency, bankruptcy or other
extrancous reasons, the Company, 1n certain circumstances 15 hable for the fill amount of the transaction This liability 1s considered a guarantee
under FASB ASC 460, Guaraniees

The Company’s legal obligation under these rules is to settle any tndividual chargeback for which an individual merchant tails to fulfill as noted
above Contractually, the maximum exposure for this obligation 1s the total amount of transactions processed for the preceding four month penod for
all merchants, whrch 1 the case of the Company 1s1n the billions of dollars It should be noted that the Company has not experienced matenal
chargeback loss activity as a result of merchant processing activities and advises that cautron should be used when assessing the maximum exposure
described above The Company records a provision for this estimated obligation based upon a number of factors which 1nclude histoncal losses,
credit nsk of specific customers and other relevant factors As shown below, for the years ended December 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred
aggregate merchant credit losses of $9,229 and $6,897, net of
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WELLS FARGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC
(A Joint Venture)

Financial Statements
December 31,2014 and 2013

{Dollars 1n thousands, unless otherwise noted)

recovenes, on total processed volumes The Company calculates its provision and evaluates the appropnateness of 1ts reserves on a monthly basis

The following 1s the activity related to the reserve for merchant ¢redit losses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Beginning balance as of January 1,2014 ) 3,361
Provisions for credu loss 10,375
Charge-offs, net of recovenes of $387 (9,229)
Ending balance as of December 31,2014 $ 4,507
Beginning balance as of January 1, 2013 5 3,338
Provisions for credit 1oss 6,920
. Charge-offs, net of recovenes of $334 (6,897)
Ending balance as of December 31,2013 $ 3361

(10) Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated the subsequent events from the balance sheet date through February 19, 2013, the date at which the financial statements
were available to be 1ssued, and determuned that there are no other items to disclose
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sceunitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on ats
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed

FIRST DATA CORPORATION
(Regstrant)
By 1S/ FRANK BISIGNANO
Frank Bisignano
Chief Executive Officer

Date February 27,2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacitics and on the dates indicated

Name Title Date
/8! FRANK BISIGNANO Chief Executive Officer and Dircctor February 27,2015
Frank Bisignano {pnncipal executive officer)
/8/ MICHAEL K NEBORAK Executive Vice President, Director of Finance Febrvary 27,2015
Michael K Neborak {pnncipal financial officer)
15/ MATTHEW CAGWIN Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Aceounting Officer February 27,2015
Matthew Cagwin {pnncipal accounting officer)

18/ JOE W FOREHAND

Joe W Forehand

/S/ HENRY R KRAVIS

Henry R. Kravis

/5! HEIDIG MILLER

Herdi G Miller

/8 JAMES E NEVELS

James E Nevels

13/ SCOTT € NUTTALL

Scott C Nuttall

/5/ TAGAR C OLSON

Tagar C Olson

{8/ JOSEPH ) PLUMERI

Joseph J Plumeri

Durector

Duirector

Durector

Durector

Director

Director

Durector
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Exhibit 10 10

2007 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
FORKEY EMPLOYEES OF
FIRST DATA CORPORATION AND ITS AFFILIATES

Pumose of Plan
The 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data Corporation and its Affiliates (the ‘Plan™) 1s designed

{a) to promote the long term finaneial interests and growth of New Omaha Holdings Corporation (the “Company™) and its Subsidianes by attracung
and retaining management and other personnel and key service providers with the training, expenence and ability to enable them to make a
substantial contribution to the success of the Company’s business,

(b) to motivate management personnel by means of growth-related incentives to achieve long range goals, and

(c) to further the ahgnment of interests of participants with those of the stockholders of the Company through opportunities for increased stock, or
stock-based ownership in the Company

Definitions
As used in the Plan, the following words shall have the following meanings

(a) “Affiliate” means with respect to any Person, any entuty directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such
Person .« t

(b) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company

{c) “Chapnge in Control” means, 1n one or a senes of transactions, (1) the sale of all or substantiaily all of the assets of New Omaha Holdings, LP or
the Company or First Data Cotporation to any Person {or group of Persons acting n concent), other than to (x)investment funds affiliated with
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L P (together, the * Sponsor™), any other investor 1n respect of whom the Sponsor has the power to direct such
investor's vote with respect to the Company’s Commeon Stock or ather equity secunties (each an ‘Investor” and together with the Sponsor, the
“Sponsor Group™) or their respective Affiliates or (y) any employee benefit plan (or trust formung a part thereof) maintained by the Company, the
Sponsor Group or their respective Affiliates or other Person of which a majonty of 1ts voting power or other equity secunties 1s owned, directly
orindirectly, by the Company, the Sponsor Group or their respective Affiliates, or (1) a merger, recapitalization or other sale by the Sponsoror
its Afftliates (other than through a Public Offenng) of Common Stock or other voung secunties of the Company that results in more than 50% of
the Common Stock or other voting secunties of the Company (or any resulting company after a merger) owned, directly orindirectly, by the
Sponsor following the Closing Date, no longer being so owned by the Sponsor; and, (111} in any event of clause (1) or (u) above, such transaction
resulis 1n any Person {or group of Persons acting 1n concert) having the ability to elect more members of the Board than the Sponsor Group,
provided, however, that following an event described in clause (1), a iquidation of, or the declaration of an extraordinary dividend by, the
Company or First Data Corporation {or any successor entities) shall alse constitute a Change in Control

(d) ‘Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(e) “Commuttee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board {or, 1fno such commuttee 1s appoiwnted, the Board)

() “Common Steck” or “Share” means the common stock, par value $0 81 per share, of the Company, which may be authonzed but unissued, or
1ssued and reacquired

(g) “Employee” means a person, including an officer, in the regular employment of the Company or any other Service Recipient who, in the
opinon of the Committee, 15, or1s expected to have involvement in the
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management, growth or protection of some part or all of the business of the Company or any other Service Reciptent

‘Exchange Act” means the Secunties Exchange Act 0f 1934, as amended
“ Faur Market Value” shall have the meaning ascribed to 1t in the Management Stockhelder’s Agreement

“Grant” means an award made to a Participant pursuant to the Plan and descnbed in Section 5, including, wathout himutation, an award of a

Stock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Other Stock-Based Award or Dividend Equivalent Right (as such terms are defined 1n Section 5), or
any combination of the foregoing

* Qrant Agreement” means an agreement between the Company and a Participant that scts forth the tenns, condittons and hmitations apphcable
to a Grant

*Group” means * group,” as such term 1s used for purposes of Section 13(d) or 14{d) ofthc Exchange Act

(m) ‘ Investor” means the KKR 2006 Fund L P and its affiliated investment funds and certain other co-investors

(n)

(o)

(9]
(9)

U]

)

{®

“Management Stockholder's Agreement” shall mean that certain Management Stockholder’s Agreement between the applicable Participant and
the Company

.
“Paticipant” means an Employee, non-employee member of the Board, consultant or other person having a service relationship with the
Company or any other Service Recipient, to whom one or maore Grants have been made and remain outstanding

“Persof)” means “person,” as such tern 1s used for purposes of Section 13(d) or 14{d) of the Exchange Act "

“Publit Offenng” means any registered public offenng of the Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq National Market
or other nationally recognized stock exchange or listing system

“Sale Participation Agreement” shall mean that centain Sale Participation Agreement between the applicable Participant and New Omaha
Holdings,L P

“Service Recipignt” shall mean, the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, or any Affiliate of the Company that satisfies the definition of

“service recipient” within the mearing of Treasury Regulation Section 1 409A-1{g) (ar any successor regulation), with respect to which the
person 15 a “service provider” (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section | 409A-1(f) (or any successor regulation)

“Subsidiary” means any corporation or other entity 1n an unbroken chatn of corporations or other entities beginning with the Company 1f each
ofthe corporations or other entities, or group of commoniy controlled corporations or other entities, other than the last corporation or other
entity in the unbroken chain then owns stock or other equity interests possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power ofall classes
of stock or other equity interests in one of the other corporations or other entities in such chain

Adpmumstration of Plag.

(2) The Plan shall be administered by the Committee The Commuttee may adopt its own rules of procedure, and action of a mgjonty of the

®)

members of the Committee taken at a mecung, or action taken without a mecung by unamimous wntten consent, shall constitute action by the
Committee The Commuttee shall have the power and authonty to administer, construe and interpret the Plan, to make rules for carrying 1t out
and to make changes in such rules  Any such interpretations, rules, and administration shall be consistent with the basic purposes of the Plan

The Commuttee may delegate 1o the Chief Executive Officerand to other semior officers of the Company 1ts duties under the Plan, subject to

applicable law and such conditions and limitations as the Commuttee shall presenbe, except that only the Commuttee may designate and make
Grants to the Chief Executive Officer and to other senior officers of the Company




(¢) The Commuttee may employ counsel, consultants, accountants, appraisers, brokers or other persons  The Commuitee, the Company, and the
officers and directors of the Company shall be entitled to rely upon the advice, opinions or valuations of any such persons  All actions taken
and all interpretations and determinations made by the Commuttee in good faith shall be final and binding upen all Participants, the Company
and all other interested persons No member of the Commuttee, nor employee or representative of the Company shall be personally hable for
any action, detenmnation or interpretation made 1n good faith with respect to the Plan or the Grants, and all such members of the Committee,
employees and representatives shall be fully protected and indemnified to the greatest extent permutied by applicable law by the Company with
respect to any such action, determination or interpretation

4 Ehigibality

The Commuttee may from time to time make Grants under the Plan to such Employees, or other persons having a relationship with Company or any
other Service Recipient, and 1n such form and having such terms, conditions and limitations as the Commuttee may deterrmne  The tenms, conditions and
limitatiens of each Grant under the Plan shall be set forth in a Grant Agreement, in a form approved by the Commuttee, consistent, however, with the terms of
the Plan, provided, however, that such Grant Agreement shall contain provisions dealing with the treatment of Grants 1n the event of the temmunation of
employment or other service relationship, death or disability of a Participant, and may also include provisions conceming the treatment of Grants 1n the event
of a Change in Control

5 Crants

From time to tune, the Commuttee will determune the forms and amounts of Grants for Participants  Such Grants may take the following forms in the |
Commuttee’s sole discretion

{a) Stock Options - These are options to purchase Common Stock (*Stock Options™) At the tine of Grant the Commuttec shall detenmune, and shall
include 1n the Grant Agreement, the option exercise penod, the option exercise price, vesting requirements, and such other terms, conditions or
restnctions on the grant or exercise of the option as the Commuttee deems appropnate including, without limitation, the right to receive
dividend equivalent payments on vested options Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exercise price per Share of a Stock Option shall in no
event be Icss than the Farr Market Value on the date the Stock Option 15 granted (subject to later adjustment pursuant to Section 8§ hereof) In
addition to other restncbions contained in the Plan, a Stock Option granted under this Sectron 5{a) may not be excrcised more than 10 years afier
the date it 1s granted Payment of the Stock Option exercise pnce shall be made (1) in cash, (n) with the consent of the Commttee, 1n Shares (any
such Shares valued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise) that the Participant has held for at least six months (or such other penod of time
as may be required by the Company ‘s accountants but only to the extent required to avoid hability accounting under FAS 123(R) or any
successor standard thereto), (i) through the withholding of Shares (any such Shares vatued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise)
otherwise 1ssuable upon the exercise of the Stock Option 1n a manner that 18 compliant with applicable law, or {1v) a combination of the
foregoing methods, 1n each such case in accordance with the termns of the Plan, the Grant Agreement and of any applicable guidelines of the
Commuttee 1 effect at the tume

(b) Stock Appreciation Raghts - The Commuttee may grant “Stock Appreciation Rights” (as hereinafier defined) independent of, or in connection
with, the grant ofa Stock Option or a portien thereof Each Stock Appreciation Right shall be subject to such other terms as the Commuttee may
determune The exercise pnice per Share of a Stock Appreciation Right shall in no event be less than the Fair Market Value on the date the Stock
Appreciation Right 15 granted  Each “Stock Appreciation Right” granted independent of a Stock Option shall be defined as a nght ofa
Participant, upon exercise of such Stock Appreciation Right, to receive an amount equal to the product of (1) the excess of (A) the Fawr Market
Value on the exercise date of one Share over (B) the exercise pnce per Share of such Stock Appreciation Right, multiplied by (1) the number of
Shares covered by the Stock Appreciation Right Payment of the Stock Appreciation Right shall be made 1n Shares orin cash, or partly in
Shares and partly 1n cash (any such Shares valued at the Fair Market Value on the date of the payment), all as shall be determined by the
Committee

{c) OtherStock-Based Awards - The Commuittee may grant or sell awards of Shares, awards of restncted Shares and awards that are valued n whole
orn part by reference to, or are otherwise based on the Fair Market Value of, Shares (including, without limitation, restricted stock units) Such
“Other Stock-Based Awards” shall be in such fonm, and dependent on such conditions, as the Committee may determine, including, without
limitation, the nght to receive, or vest wath respect to, one or more Shares (or the equivalent cash value of such Shares)upon the




campleuon of a specified penod of service, the oceurrence of an event and/or the attainment of performance objectives  Other Stock-Based
Awards may be granted alone orin addition to any other Grants under the Plan  Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Commuttee shall
determine to whom and when Other Stock-Based Awards wall be made, the number of Shares to be awarded under {or otherwase related to) such
Other Stock-Based Awards, whether such Other Stock-Based Awards shall be settled 1n cash, Shares or a combination of cash and Shares, and all
other terms and conditions of such awards (including, without himitation, the vesting provistons thereof and provisions ensunng that all Shares
so awarded and 1ssued shall be fully paid and nen-assessable)

{d) Dividend Equivalent Rights - The Commuttee may grant Dividend Equivalent Rights erither alone or in connection with the grant of a Stock

Option or SAR A Dividend Equivalent Right™ shall be the nght to receive a payment in respect of one Share (whether or not subject to a
Stock Option) equal to the amount of any dividend paid in respect of one Share held by a shareholder in the Company Each Dividend
Equivalent Right shall be subject to such terms as the Commuttee may determine

6 Limtauons and Conditions

(2) The number of Shares available for Grants under this Plan shall be 279,500,000, subject to adjustment as provided forin Sections 8 and 9, unless

restncted by applicable law  Shares related to Grants that are forfeited, temunated, canceled, expire unexercised, withheld to satisfy tax
withholding obligations, or are repurchased by the Company shall immediately become available for new Grants

(b) No Grants shall be made underthe Plan beyond ten years after September 24, 2007, the effective date of the Pian (the “Effective Date™), but the

terms of Grants made an or before the expiration of the Plan may extend beyond such expiration At the time a Grant 1s made or amended in
accordance with the temms of the Plan, or the terms or conditions of a Grant are changed in accordance with the terms of the Plan or the Grant
Agreement, the Committee may provide for lumitations or conditions on such Grant

{c) Nothing contained herein shall affect the nght of the Company or any other Service Recipient to tenminate any Participant’s employment or
ather service relationship at any time or for any reason W

{(d) Other than as specifically provided 1n the Management Stockholder’s Agreement, Sale Participation Agreement or Grant Agreement, no benefit

under the Plan shall be subject 1n any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any
attempt to do so shall be void No such benefit shall, pnor to receipt thereof by the Pasiicipant, be in any manner hiable for orsubject to the
debts, contracts, habilities, engagements, or torts of the Participant

{¢) Participants shall not be, and shatl not have any of the nghis or pnvileges of, stockholders ofthe Company 1n respect of any Shares purchasable

in connection with any Grant unless and until certificates representing any such Shares have been 1ssued by the Company te such Participants
(orbook entry representing such Shares has been made and such Shares have been deposited with the appropnate registered book-entry
custodian)

(f) No election as to benefits or exercise of any Grant may be made dunng a Participant’s lifetime by anyone other than the Participant except by a
legal representative appointed for or by the Paricipant

(g) Absent express provisions to the contrary, any Grant under this Plan shall not be deemed compensatton for purposes of computing benefits or

contnbutions under any retirement or severance plan of the Company or other Service Recipient and shall not affect any benefits under any
other benefit plan of any kind now or subsequently 1n effect under which the availability or amount of benefits 15 related to level of
compensation  This Plan 13 not a “Rettrement Plan” or “Welfare Plan™ under the Employee Retirement Income Secunty Act of 1974, as
amended \ \

(h) Unless the Commttee detemuines otherwise, no benefit or pronuse under the Plan shall be secured by any specific assets of the Company orany

other Service Recipient, nor shall any assets of the Company or any other Service Recipient be designated as attnbutable or\allocated to the
satisfaction of the Company’s obligations under the Plan

7 Transfers and Leaves of

For purposcs of the Plan; unless the Committee determines otherwise () a transfer of a Participant's employment without an intervening penod of
separation among the Company and any other Scrvice Recipient shall not be deemed a




termination of employment, and (b) a Particapant who 1s granted i wnung a lcave of absence or who 15 entitled to a statutory leave of absence shall be
deemed to have remained tn the employ of the Company (and other Service Recipient) dunng such leave of absence

8 Adjusiments

In the event of any stock spltt, spin-off, share combination, reclassification, recaputalization, liquidauien, dissolution, reorganization, merger,
Change in Control, payment of a dividend (other than a cash dividend paid as part of a regular dividend program) or other stmilar transaction or occurrence
which affects the equity secunties of the Company or the value thereof, the Commuttee shall (1) adjust the number and kind of shares subject to the Plan and
available for or covered by Grants, (11) adjust the share pnces related o outstanding Grants, and/or (i) take such other action (including, wathout limitation
providing for payment of a cash amount te holders of outstanding Grants), in each case as 1t deems reasonably necessary to address, on an equitable basis, the
effect of the applicable corporate event on the Plan and any outstanding Grants, without adverse tax consequences under Section 409A of the Code  Any
such adjustment made or action taken by the Commuttee 1n accordance with the preceding sentence shall be final and binding upon holders of Options and
upoen the Company

9 Change 1n Control

In the event of a Change in Control (a)1f determined by the Commuttee in the applicable Grant Agreement or otherwise determined by the
Commuttee 10 1ts sole discretion, any outstanding Grants then held by Participants which are unexercisable or otherwise unvested or subject to lapse
restrictions may automatically be deemed exercisable or otherwise vested orno longer subject to lapse restnctions, as the case may be, as of immediately
pnor to such Change in Control and (b) the Commuttee may, to the extent determined by the Commutiec to be permutted under Section 409A ofthe Code, but
shall not be obligated to (1) cancel such awards for fair valuc {as determined in the sole discretion of the Commuttee) which, in the case of Stock Options and
Stock Appreciation Rights, may equal the excess, 1f any, of the value of the consideration to be paid in the Change in Control transaction to holders of the
same number of Shares subject to such Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights {or, 1f no consideration 1s pad in any such transaction, the Fair Market
Value of the Shares subject to such Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights) over the aggregate aption pnice of such Stack Options or the aggregate
exercise price of such Stock Appreciation Rights, as the case may be, (1) provide for the 1ssuance of substitute awards that will substantially preserve the
otherwise applicable terms of any affected Grants previously granted hereunder, as determined by the Commutiee 10 115 sole discrenon, or (1n) provide that for
a penod of at least ten business days pnor to the Change tn Control, any Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable as to all Shares
subject thereto and that upon the occurrence of the Change 1n Control, such Stock Options or Stock Appreciauon Rights shall terminate and be of no further
force and effect, provided that 1f the Commuttee takes the actions set forth in this Section 9(b)(1n), Participants shall have the ability to pay for the shares with
respect to which such Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights are being exercised by electing to have the number of Shares that would otherwise be
1ssued to the Participant reduced by a number of Shares having an equivalent Fair Market Value to the payment that would otherwise be made by the
Participant to the Company n respect of such exercise and the minimum statutory withholding that would have otherwise had to have been paid 1o the
Company 1n relation wath such exercise

10 Amendment and Termenation

(a) The Commuttee shall have the authonty ta make such amendments to any terms and conditrons applicable to outstanding Grants as are
consistent with this Plan, provided that no such action shall modify any Grant in 2 manner that adversely impacts, other than 1n a de minimus
manner, a Participant with respect to any outstanding Grants, other than pursuant to Section 8, 9 or 10{c) hereof, without the Participant’s
cousent, except as such modification 1s provided for or contemplated in the terms of the Grant or this Plan

(b} The Board may amend, suspend or terminatc the Plan, except that no such action, other than an action under Section 8, 9 or 10(¢) hereof, may be
taken which would, without stockholder approval, increase the aggregate number of Shares available for Grants under the Plan, decrease the
pnice of outstanding Grants, change the requirements relating to the Commuttee, or extend the term of the Plan  However, no such action shall
adversely impact, other than 1n a de minrmis mannet, a Participant with respect to any outstanding Grants, other than pursuant to Section 8,9 or
10{¢) hereof, wathout the Participant’s consent, except as otherwise contemplated in the terms of the Grant or the Plan

(c) This Plan 1s intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code and will be 1nterpreted in a manner intended to comply with Scction 409A of

the Cede Notwithstanding anything herein to thie contrary, (1) 1f at the ime of the Participant’s tenmination of employment with any Service
Recipient the Participant 1sa  specified employec” as
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defined 1n Section 449A ofthe Code, and the deferral of the commencement of any payments ot benefits otherwise payable hereunder as a result
of such temrrunation of service 1s necessary tn order to prevent the imposition of any accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the
Code, then the Company will defer the commencement ofthe payment of any such payments or benefits hereunder (without any reduction in
such payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to the Participant) until the date that 1s six months and one day followmng the

Participant s termination of employment with all Service Recipients (or the earliest date as 1s permutted under Sectiion 409A of the Code), 1f such
payment or benefit 1s payable upon a termunation of employment and (11) 1f any other payments of money or other benefits due to the Patticipant
hereunder would cause the application of an accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, such payments or other benefits
shall be defemed, 1f deferral will make such payment or other benefits compliant under Section 409A of the Code, or otherwise such payment or
other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, 1n a2 manner, reasonably determuned by the Board in consultation with the Participant,
that does not cause such an accelerated or additional tax or result 1n an additional cost to the Company (without any reduction in such
payments or benefits ultimately patd or provided to the Participant)

Int: P {

(2) This Plan shall be govemed by and construed 1n accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware applicable thevein

(b) With respect to Parucipants who reside or work outside the Unmited States of Amenca, the Committee may, 1n 1ts sole discretton, amend the terms

of the Plan or awards with respect to such Participants in order to conform such terms with the requirements of local law or to obtain more
favorable tax or other treatment for a Participant, the Company or any other Service Recipient

Withholding Taxes o N

The Company shall have the nght to deduct from any payment made under the Plan any federal, state or local incoimne or other taxes required by law

to be wathheld with respect to such payment [t shzall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to deliver Shares upon the exercise of a Stock Option
that the Participant pays to the Company such amount as may be mguested by the Company tar the purpose of satisfying any hability for such withholding

taxes
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Section 10

Effective Date and Temmination Dates

The Plan shall be effective on September 24, 2007 and shall terminate ten years later, subject to earher termination by the Board pursuant to




Exhibit 10 11

FIRST DATA CORPORATION
SEVERANCE/CHANGE IN CONTROL POLICY
(Management Committee Level)

As amended and restated effecuve January 1, 2015

1 Background and Purpose

This severance/change 1n control policy (the “Policy™) was established effective July 26, 2005 by First Data Comporation, a Delaware corporation
¢ EBC™), 1o enable FC to offer a form of income protection to1ts Ehgible Executives in the event their employment with the Company 1s involuntanly
termrnated other than for Cause The Policy was also intended to secure for the benefit of the Company the services of the Eligible Executives in the event of
a Change in Control without concem for whether such executives might be hindered 1o discharging theuwr duties by the personal uncertamuies and nisks
associated with a Change 1n Control, by affording such executives the opportunity to protect the share value they have helped create as of the date of any
Change n Contro! and offenng income protection to such executives in the event therr employment terminates involuntanly or for Good Reason in
vonnection with a Change in Control

On September 24, 2007 (the “Closing Datc”), 2 Change mn Control occurred by reason of the consummation of the Agreement and Plan of Merger by
and among New Omaha Holdings L. P, a Delaware limuted partnership ( Parent™), Omaha Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Parent, and First Data Corporation, a Delaware corporation, dated Apnl L, 2007 (the “Merger”) Effective September 24, 2007, this Policy
has been amended and restated to reflect the Merger, provided that as to any Eligible Executive who 1s nat party to a Stock Option Agreement with respect to
any option granied under the Option Plan, this Policy shall be applied without regard to the September 24, 2007 amendment and restatement N

This Policy shall constitute a “welfare plan” within the meaning of S8ection 3(1) of the Employee Retirement Income Secunty Act of 1974, as
amended { ‘ERISA”) and shall be construed 10 a manner consistent with such intent To the extent the Company determenes, 1n 1ts sole discretion, that the
provisions of Section 409A of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™) may apply to this Policy, the Company shall adopt amendments
to the Policy or adopt other procedures or take any other actions that it determunes are necessary or appropnate to either exempt this Policy from Code
Section 409A or to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, including without limitation amendments, procedures and actions with retroactive
effect Notwithstanding the foregoing, any acttons taken by the Company in this regard shall preserve to the maximum extent possible the benefits for

Eligible Executives contempiated in this Policy - -~
2 Effective Date ) -
The effecuve date of this Policy as amended and restaied s January 1, 2015 (the “Effective Date™
3 Defimitipons
(1} “Base Salary™ means the Eligible Executive's current annuahized rate of base cash compensation paid on each regularly

scheduled payday for the exccutive's regular work schedule as ofhis or her Termination Date and 1s calculated to include any before-tax
contnbutions that are deducted for Company benefit plan purposes Base Salary does not include taxable or nontaxable finge bencfits or awards,
vacation, performance awards, bonus, commssion or other incentive pay, or any payments which are not made on each regular payday, regardless of
how such payments may be characterized

(1) “Board™ means the Board of Directors of FDC .
(1) “Caysc” shall have the meaning asenibed to 111n the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data Corporation

and tts Affilaates (the “Option Plan”™) or any Stock Option Agreement awarding stock options thereunder to which the Eligible Executive 1s a party
(v) “Change in Contrel” shall have the meaning ascribed to it 1n the Option Plan .
v) “Company” means FDC orits subsidianes or any successor {whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation,

reorganization or otherwise, including, without hmitation, any successor due to a Change in Control) to the business or assets of FDC
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{vi) “Disability™ shall have the meaning ascnbed to 1t under the Option Plan or any Stock Option Agreement awarding stock
options thereunder to which the Eligible Executive 1s a party

(vu) ‘Eljgible Executive™ means an individual who 1s a memberof the Company's Management Commuttee unless such 1ndividual
1s eligible, by virtue of an acquisition agreement or otherwise, to rece1ve severance, termunation, or sinular benefits under another policy, plan,
program, or agreement

(v} “Good Reason” shall have the meaning ascnbed to 1t under the Option Plan orany Stock Option Agreement awarding stock
options thercunder to which the Ehgible Executive 15 a party

(1x) ¢ Severance Benefiis” are the benefits payable to an Eligible Executive pursuant to this Policy, other than the Change in
Control-related benefits referenced in Sections 8§ hereof

{x) “Severance Penod” means the penod for which Severance Benefits wall be paid as reflected 1n Section 7 commencing on an
Eligible Executtve’s Termination Date

(x1) * Temmnation Date™ 1s the date on which the Ehgible Executive's employment wath the Company temmunates for a reason set
forth under Section 5

(x11) “Years of Service” are the number of full years of uninterrupted service as an Eligible Executive up to his or her Tertunation

Date Pariial years of service are not taken into account for purposes of this Policy Years of Service also include time spent on Company-approved
leave of absences, provided that no more than one (1) cumulative Year of Service will be credited forsuch leave of absences

4 Ehgibility

All Ehgible Executives are eligible for benefits under this Policy

5 Eligible Termination Reasons

An ehigible temuinanon reason 1s any involuntary separatton of service wath the Company other than for Cause or Disability, or any voluntary

sepamration of service by the Eligible Executive for Good Reason

6 -Eligible T nR
A non-eligible termunation reasen 15 any reason for termination that 1s not an ehgible tenmination reason under Section 5

7 Scverance Benefits
The provisions of this Section are subject, without lmutation, to the provisions of Scction 9 hergof

)] Severance Pay If an Eligible Executive's employment with the Company 1s terrmnated after the Effective Date for any reason set
forth 1n Section 5, the Company shall pay the following amounts

{a) an amount equal to the product of (i) the sum of the executive's Base Salary and the bonus paid to the executive, 1fany,
pursuant to the Company's Senmor Executive Incentive Plan {or the bonus plan then applicable to the executive) for the year immediately preceding
the year i1 which the Termination Date occurs, and (11) one (1) year (the “Severance Period™), plus

®) A pro-rata portion of the bonus paid to the Ehgible Executive pursuant to the Company’s Senior Executive Incentive
plan (or the bonus plan then applicable 1o the executive) for the year immediately preceding the year in wath the Termination Date occurs Such
payment shall be based on the portion of the year the Eligible Executive was actively employed by the Company Any such bonus payment will be
made withtn 30 days of the Eligible Executive sigming their Agreement & Release (but no later than March 1 5th of the calendar year followang the
Termunation Date)




m Continued Benefits Coverage Ifan Eligible Executive's employment with the Company 1s termunated after the Effective Date
for any reason set forth 1n Section 5, subject to the terms ofany applicable plan documents and the remaining provisions of this subsection, the
Company shall provide the Eligible Executive (and his or her dependents) for the duration of the Severance Period wath all welfare benefits coverage
which the Ehgible Executive {or hus or her dependents) was participating 1n or recerving as of the Termination Date The cost to the Eligable
Executive of such coverage and the termns and conditions of such coverage duning the Severance Period shall be the same as those applicable to
simularly situated active employees dunng such penod Notwithstanding the foregoing, afier the expiration of the first year of the Severance Pentod,
the Eligible Executive (and hus or her dependents) shall lose Company-sponsared group health coverage unless a timely election 15 made for
contunued group health coverage under the Consohdated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986, as amended (“COBRA™) The Company
shall pay to the Ehgible Executive, as an additional Severance Benefit, a lump sum approximately equal to the difference in cost between COBRA
premiums and active employee premiums for penod of time remaiming, 1fany, in the Severance Penod of COBRA coverage calculated by the
Company 1n 1ts discretion as of the Terrmination Date, which payment shall constitute taxable income to the Eligible Executive and which shall be
paid no later than the 30th day following the expiration of the first year of the Severance Period An Eligible Executive receiving Severance Benefits
under this Policy shall alse be entitled to receive dunng the Severance Penod any financial planning benefits which the Elgible Executive was
receiving as of the Tenmination Date, but shall ot be enutled to receive any other perquisites afier such date Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
executive’s continued benefits coverage under this subsection shall cease as of the date the executive becomes eligible to receive such benefits
under a subsequent employer’s benefit programs Eligible Executtves receiving Severance Benefits under this Policy are not eligible to continue
contnbutions to the Company's qualified retirement plans or nongualified deferred compensation program

{(m) Incentive Awards If an Eligible Exceutive's employrent with the Company 1s termenated after the Effective Date forany
reason sct forth in Section 5, ontstanding cash centive awards granted to the Eligible Executive that are ehigible to become fully vested and
payablc solely contingent upon the Ehigible Executive's continued employment and the passage of time shall continue to vest and be payable in
accordance with their tenmns, notwithstanding the executive’s earlier tenmmenation of emptoyment

8 Centain Addjtronal Payipents
(1) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, but subject to clause (v) below, 1f 1t 1s determuined that any payments

or benefits provided by the Company to or on behalf of an Eligible Executive (whether pursuant to the teoms of thus Policy or otherwise) (any such
paymenis or benefits being referred to in thus Section as “Payments”), but determuined wathout taking into account any additional payments required
under this Section, would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Code Section 4999, or any interest or penalties are incumred by the Eligible
Executive with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, collectively referred to herein as the
“Excise Tax"), then the Eligible Executive will be entitled to recerve an additional payment (a * Gross-Up Paviment”} 1n an amount so that after
payment by the Ehgible Executive of all taxes (including any interest or penalties impased with respect to such taxes), including, without
hmutation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties imposed with respect thereto) and the Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up Payment,
the Ehgible Executive retains an amount of the Grass-Up Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments Notwithstanding the
foregoing, 1f1t 15 determined that the Eligible Executive 1s entitled to a Gross-Up Payment, but that the Payments to the Eligible Executive do not
exceed 110% of the amount which 1s one dollar less than the smallest amount that would give nse to any Excise Tax {the Reduced Amount™), then
no Gross-Up Payment will be made to the Eligible Executive and the Payments shall be reduced to the Reduced Amount [n such event, the
reduction will occur in the following order (1) reduction of cash payments, {11) cancellation of accelerated vesung of equity awards, and (11)
reduction of ecmployce benefits If acceleration of vesting of compensation from an Eligible Executive's equity awards is to be reduced, such
acceleration of vesting shall be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant, unless the Elgible Executive elects in wniting a different order for
cancellation, provided, however, such election by the Ehigible Executive shall apply only to equity awards that do not constitute nonquahfied
deferred compensation within the meaning of Code Section 409A

(1) Subject to the provisions of Section 8(111), all determinations required to be made under this Section, including whether and
when a Gross-Up Payment 1s required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumpuoens to be used 1n amving at such determination,
will be made by the independent registered public accounting firm engaged by the Company for general audit purposes as of the day prior to the
effective date of the Change in Control {the “Accountng Firm") In the event that the Accounting Firm 1s serving as accountant or auditor for the
individual, enuty or group effecting the Change 1n Control, the Company shall appotnt another nationally




recognized public accounting finn to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting
Fimmn hereunder) The Accounting Firm shall provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, 1o the Company and the
Eligibte Executive wathin fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which the Ehigible Employee's right to Payment 1s tnggered (1f requested at that
time by the Company or the Ehgible Executive) or such other time as requested by the Company or the Eligible Executive All fees and expenses of
the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Section 8, shall be paid by the
Company to the Eligible Executive within five days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's deterrmnation 1f the Accounting Firm determunes that
no Excise Tax 15 payable by the Eligible Executive, it shall furnish the Eligible Executive with a wntten opimion that no Excise Tax will be
impased Any good faith determmination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Ehgible Executive As a result ofthe
uncertainty in the application of Code Section 4999 at the tume of the 1nitial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, ot 15 possible that
Gross-Up Payments which will not have been made by the Company should have been made (“*Underpayment”), consistent with the calculations
required to be made hereunder In the event that the Company exhausts 1ts remedies pursuant to Section 8(1u1) and the Eligible Executive thereafier
18 required to make a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Fuirm shatl deternune the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any
such Underpayment shall be paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Eltgible Executive wathin five days ef receipt of the Accounting Firm’s
determination

(1) The Eligible Executive shall notfy the Company 1n wnting of any claim by the Intemal Revenue Service that, 1if successful,
would require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment Such notrfication shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than 10
business days after the Ehgible Executive 15 informed in wnting of such claim and shall appnise the Company ofthe nature of such claim and the
date on which such claim 1s requested to be pard The Eligtble Executive shall not pay such claim pnor to the expiration of the 30-day penod
following the date on which the Ehgible Executive gives such notice to the Company {or such shorter penod ending on the datc that any payment
oftaxes with respect to such claim s due) Ifthe Company notifies the Ehgible Executlvc 1n wnting pnor to the expiration of such penod that it
desires to contest such claim, the Eligible Executive shall

(a) give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,
2 {b) take such action n connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request 1n wnting from

ume to tine, including, without limitation, acecepting legal representation with respect to such claum by an attomey reasonably selected by the
Company,

() cooperate with the Cornpany in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim, and
(d) permit the Company to participate 1n any proceedings relating to such claim,
provided, however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional anterest and penaluies) incurred 1in

connection with such contest and shatl indemmfy and hold the Ehgible Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for any Excise Tax orincome tax
(including interest and penalties with respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and payment of costs and expenses Without
limitation on the foregoing provisions of this Section (), the Company shall control all proceedings taken in connectton with such contest and, at
1ts sole optton, may pursue or forgo any and all adrmimistrative appeals, proceedings, heanngs and conferences with the taxing authonty in respect of
such claim and may, at its sole option, either direct the Eligible Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or contest the claum in any
permussible manner, and the Eligible Executive agrees to prosecute such contest to a determunation before any administratuve tnbunal, 1n a cournt of
nitial junsdiction and 1n one or more appellate courts, as the Company shall detemmune, provided further, thatif the Company directs the Ehigible
Executive to pay such claim and sue for a refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Eligible Executive on an mterest-
free basis and shall indemnafy and hold the Eligible Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest
or penatties with respect thereto) imposed with respect to such advance or with respect to any impuled income with respect to such advance, and
provided further, that any extension of the statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the taxable year of the Eligible Executive with
respect to which such contested amount s claimed to be due 1s Limuted solely to sech contested amount Furthennore, the Company's control of the
contest shall be limited to tssues with respect to which a Gross-Up Payment would be payable hereunder and the Eligible Executive shall be enuitled
to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other i1ssue raised by the Intemal Revenue Service or any other taxing authonty




(v} If, afier the receipt by the Eligible Executive of an amount edvanced by the Company pursuant te Section 8(1n), the Elgible
Exccutive becomes entitled to receive, and recerves, any refund with respect 1o such claum, the Ehigible Executive shall (subject to the Company's
complying with the requirements of Section 8(11t)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or
credited thereon afler taxes applicable thereto) If, after the receipt by the Eligible Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to
Section 8(111), a determmation 15 made that the Eligible Executive shall not be enuitled to any refund wath respect to such claim and the Company
does not notify the Ehgible Executive in wnting of 1ts intent to contest such demal of refund pnor to the expiration of 30 days afier such
determination, then such advance shall be forgiven and shall no1 be required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent
thereof, the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid

{v) This Section 8 shall not apply with respect to any Payment that would otherwise be subject to the Excise Tax 1f such Excige Tax
would be avoded by obtaining stockholder approval of the Payment in the manner prescnbed by Section 280G of the Code and regulations
thereunder

(v1) Any payments that the Company 1s required te pay to or on behalf of the Executive pursuant to this Section 8 shall be paid

within the ime penods specified under Section 8, provided, that in no event shall such payments be made later than the end of the calendar year
following the calendar year 1n which the comesponding taxes are remitted

9 Requ ent of Release

The provision of Severance Benefits under this Policy 1s conditioned upon the Ehgible Exccutive timely signing an Agreement and Release (in a
form satisfactory to the Company) which will include restrictive covenants and a comprehensive release ofall claims The Eligible Executive must sign the
Agreement and Release within fifly (50) days following the date of the termunation of the Ehgible Exécutives employment (which Agreement and Release
shall be delivered ta the ehigible Executive within five (5) days following the date of such termination) In this Agreement and Release, the Eligible
Executive will be asked to release the Company and 1ts employees from any and all claims the Eligtble Executive may have against them, mcluding but not
limited to any contract, tort, or wage and hour claims, and any claims under Title VII, the ADEA, the ADA, ERISA, and other federal, state or local laws Under
the Agreement and Release, the Ehgible Executive must also agree not to solicit business similar to any business offered by the Company, not to recrun,
solicit, or encourage any employee 1o leave their employment with the Company, not to disclose any of Company's trade secrets or confidential information,
and not to disparage the Company or its employees in any way These obligations are in addition to any other non-selicitation, noncompete, nondisclosure,
or confidentiahity agreements the Eligible Executive may have executed while employed by the Company Should the Eligible Executive violate any
applicable confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation provisions following receipt of Severance Pay, or should the Company discover after
termination that the executive engaged while employed by the Company 1n conduct that would have resulted in a termunation for Cnuse, the Company shall
be entitled to immediately cease payment of any remaining severance benefits under this Policy and to repayment by the executive of 90% of the total
amount of Severance Pay (provided under Section 7) the Eligible Exccutive has, as of such date, recerved under this Policy

10 Method of Pavment

With respect ta cash Severance Benefits which are excludible from the requirements of Code Section 409A under the involuntary separation pay
exception of Treasury Regulation Scction 1 409A-1(b)(9)n) (the ‘Excludible Amount™), the Company reserves the nght to deterimne whether the
Excludible Amount shall be paid to an Ehgible Executive under the Policy 1n a single lump sum or 1a substantially equal installments, and to choose the
uming of such payments, provided that a lump sum shall be paid wathin one (3 ymonth following the Ehigible Executive's Tenmination Date, and 1nstallments
shall commence no later than the second month following the Eligible Executive’s Termimation Date (or, 1f later, the earltest date the Company determines
will not result in a vielation of Code Section 409 A, 1f applicable), and shall be paid in full no later than the end of the Severance Period Any cash Severance
Benefits 1n excess of the Excludible Amount (the “Excess Amount™) payable to an Ehgible Executive under the Policy shall be paid 1n substantially equal
monthly installments, provided that the installments shall commence no later than the second month (which shall be in all cases within 90 days) following
the Ehigible Executive’s Termunation Date {or, 1f later, the earliest date the Company determunes will not result 1n a violation of Code Section 409A, 1f
applicable), and shall be paid in full no later than the end of the Severance Penod Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall payment of any
Severance Benefit be made pnor to the Eligible Executive's Termination Date or pnior 1o the effective date of the Agreement and Release descnbed 1n
Section 9 above or (prior to the earliest date the Company determines wall not result in a violauon of Code Section 409A, 1f applicable) Notwithstanding the
foregoing, wath respect to the Excess Amount, if termenation of the Ehgible Executive’s employment occurs wathin fifty (50) days of the end of the calendar
year, the first payment will be made on the later of (I the effective date of the Agreement and Release, or (I) January '




2 of the year following the year in which tenmination of Ehigible Executive’s employment accurs, and provided further that the first payment shall include
any amounts that would have otherwse been due pnor to the date of first payment Ifan Eligtble Executive dies after becoming eligible for Severance
Benefits and executing an Agreement and Release but before full receipt of all cash Severance Benefits, the remaining cash Severance Benefits (which shall
niclude both the Excludible Amount and the Excess Amount) wall be paid to the Eligible Executive’s estate 1in one lump sum wathin ninety (90) days (but no
later than the end of the Severance Pencd) ofthe Ehgible Executive’s death Ifan Eligible Executive dies after becoming eligible for Severance Benefits but
before executing an Agreement and Release, hus or her estate or representative may not execute an Agreement and Release and no Severance Benefits with
respect to the Eligible Executive are payable under this Pelicy All payments under this Policy wall be net of amounts withheld with respect to taxes, offsets,
orother obligations

1 Offsets

The Company may, 1n 1ts discretion and to the extent permitted under apphcable law and Code Section 4094, offset against the Eligible Executive's
benefits under this Palicy any othet severance benefits payable to the Ehgible Executive by the Company, the value of unretumed property, and any
outstanding loan, debt or other amount the Eligible Executive owes to the Company The Company may recover any cverpayment of benefits made 1o an
Ehgible Executive or an Eligible Executive's estate under this Policy or, to the extent pamutted by applicable law, offset any other overpayment made to the
Eligible Executive against any Policy benefits or other amount the Company owes the Eligible Executive or the Ehigible Executive's estate

12 Qutplacement

In the Commuttee's sole and absolute discretion, Ehigible Executives who are eligible for Severance Benefits under the Policy also may be ehgible
for outplacement services selected by the Company Eligibility for, and the scope of any, outplacement services will be determuined in the sole discretion of
the Commuttee Under no circumstances wall Eligibie Executives be ehigible to receive a cash payment 1n lieu of outplacement services

13 Re and erE e

In the eventian Eligible Executive 15 re-employed by the Company pnor to the commencement of or within the Severance Penod, the payment of
any Severance Benefits payable with respect to the pnor termination immediately will cease and such Severance Benefits will no longer be payable under
this Policy Subject to Section 9 of thus Policy, 1f an Eligible Executive obtains employment (other than with the Company) while receiving Severance
Benefits, the Eligible Executive wall continue to recerve any remaining cash Severance Benefits in accordance with the payment schedule then 1n effect, but,
except as otherwise required under applicable law, he or she will no longer be eligible to recetve continued benefits under Sectron 7(b} of this Policy as of the
date the executive becomes eligible to receive such benefits under a subsequent employer's benefit programs

14 Funding

This Policy 1s not funded, and payment of benefits hereunder 1s made from the general assets of the Company

15 Administration

This Policy shall be admaimistered by the Commuttee, which as the Named Fiduciary shall have the absolute discretion and exclusive nght to
interpret, construe and admimister the Policy and to make final determinations on all questions ansing under the Policy, including but not Limuted to

questions conceming ehigibility for, the amount of and receipt of Policy benefits All decisions of the Commuiitee will be conclusive, final and binding upon
the parttes

16 Te fthe P

The Company reserves the nght to amend or ternunate this Policy at any time 1n 1ts sole discretion, provided, however, that dunng the penod
commencing on the Closing and ending on the 36 month anniversary of a Change 1n Control (other than the Merger), the Company shall not amend or
terminate this Policy without the consent of each affected Ehigeble Executive

17 Limmaty vidually N nce

As of the Effective Date, this Policy 15 intended to be the sole source of severance and change 1n control benefits for Eligible Executives Absent
prior Board approval, no individual agreement shall be entered into wath any Eligible Executive or




any person being considered for promotion or hire as an Eligible Exccetive which would provide severance or change in control-type benefits

18 Mjscellanegus

No executive vests in any entitlement to or eligibility for benefits under this Policy until he or she has satisfied all requiremenis for eligibility and
the condiuons required to recerve the benefits specified 1n this Policy have been satisfied No interest accrues on any benefit to which an Eligible Executive
may be entitled under this Policy Eligible Executives cannot assign or pledge any benefits that they are eltgible for under this Policy Subject to state and
federal law, no creditor may attach or garmish any Eligible Executive's Policy benefits This Policy does not create any contract of employment or nght to
employment for any penod of ime Employment with the Company 1s at-will, and may be terminated by either the Company or the Eligible Executive at any
time for any reason

19 Review Procedure

Executives eligible to receive benefits under this Policy will be notified of such eligibility as soon as administratively practicable after the event
occurs which gives nise to the proviston of Policy benefits 1fan executive who believes he or she is eligible to receive Policy benefits does not recerve such
notice or disagrees with the amount of benefits set forth 1n such notice, orf an executive 1s informed that he or she 15 not eligible for benefits under this
Policy, the executive (or his or her legal representative) may file a written ctaim for benefits with the Company’s senior human resources executive or such
ather officer or body designated by the Commuttee for this purpose The wntten claim must include the facts supporting the claim, the amount claimed, and
the exccutive's name and matling address

If the claim 1s denied an part or1in full, the Company's senior human resources executive {or other designated officer or body) will notily the
executive by mail no later than 90 days (or 180 days 1n special circumstances) after receipt of the wntten clarm The notice of denial will state the specific
reasons for the denial, the provisions of the Policy on which the denial is based, a descnption of any additional information or matenal required by the
Comnuitee to consider the claim 1f applicable, as well as an explanation as to why such information or matenal 1s necessary, an explanation of the Policy's
review procedures and the ume limits applicable to such procedures, and the executive's nght to bnng a civil action under ERISA Section 502(a) in the event
ofan adverse detemmunation upon review j 8

An executive (or his or her legal representative) may appeal the denial by filing a wnitten appeal with the Comrmuttee The wntten appeal must be
recerved no later than 60 days afier the executive or legal representative recerved the notiee of demal Dunng the same 60-day penod, the executrve or legal
representative may have reasonable access to pertinent documents and may submat written comments and supporting documents, records and other matenals
to the Commttee The Commuttee wall review the appeal and notify the executive or legal representauive by mail ofits final decision no later than the next
regularly scheduled Commuttee meeting, orif the appeal 1s received less than 30 days before such meeting, the second regularly scheduled meeting after the
Committee receives the written appeal

20 Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Plan 1s intended to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A
Accordingly, all provisions herein, or incorporated by reference, shall be construed and interpreted to comply with Code Section 409A Further, for pumposes
ofthe hmitations on nongualified deferred compensation under Code Section 409A, each payment of compensation under this Plan shall be treated as a
separate payment of compensatton Any amounts payable solely on account of an involuntary separatton from service of an Eligible Executive withun the
mcaning of Code Section 409A shall be excludible from the requirements of Code Section 4094, either as invaluntary separation pay or as short-term deferral
amounts to the maximum possible extent Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, 1f an Eligable Executive 1s a “specified employee”
within the meaning of Code Section 409A at the time of termination of employment, to the extent necessary to comply with Code Section 409A, any
payment required under this Plan shall be delayed for a penod of six (6) months after termunation of employment pursuant to Code Section 409 A, regardless
ofthe circumstances giving nse to or the basis for such payment Payment of such delayed amount shall be paid 1 a lump sum wathin ten (10) days after the
end of'the s1x (6) month penod If the ELigible Executive dies dunng the postponement penod pror to the payment of the delayed amount, the amounis
delayed on account of Code Section 409A shall be paud to the personal representative of the Eligible Executive’s estate within ninety (S0) days after the date
ofithe Eligible Execunive’s death Forthese purposes,a ‘specified employee” shall mean an employee who, at any time dunng the 12-month penoed ending
on the denufication date, 15 a “specified employee” under Code Section 4094, as determuned by the Company The determunation of “specified employees,”
including the number and identity of persons considered “specified employees™ and the identification date, shall be made by the Company 1n accordance
with the provisions of Code Sections 416(1) and 409A




21 Raghts Under the Employee Retirement In county Act(ERISA

As a participant in the Policy, an Eligible Executive 1s entitled to certain nghts and protections under the Employee Retirement Income Secunty Act
of 1974 (ERISA), which provides that all Policy participants shall be entitled to

Recerve information About The Policy And Benefits

The executive may examne, without charge, at the plan administrator's office and at other specified locattons such as worksites, all documents
goveming the plan and a copy of the [atest annual report (Form 5500 Senes) filed with the US Department of Laborand available at the Public Disclosure
Room ofthe Employee Benefits Secunty Admuimistration

The executive may obtain, upon wnitten request to the plan administrator, copies of documents goverming the operation of the Policy inctuding
capies of the latest annual repont (Form 5500 Series) The administrator may make a reasonable charge for the copies

The executive may recerve a summary of the plans’ annual financial report The plan administrator ts requuired by law to furnish each participant with
a copy of th1s summary annual report

Prudent Actions by Policy Fiduciaries

In addion 1o creating nghts for Policy parttcipants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the employee
benefit plan The people who operate the Policy, called “fiducianes™ of the Policy, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of the Pohcy
participants and beneficianes No one, including an executive's employer or any other person, may fire an executive or otherwise discrirminate against an
executive In any way o prevent such executive from obtaining a welfare benefit or exercising his or her nghts under ERISA

Enforcement of Rights ' h

If an executive’s claim for benefits 15 denied or 1ignored, in whole or in part, the executive has a nght to know why this was done, to obtain copies of
documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any demal, all within certain time schedules

Under ERISA, there are steps that can be taken to enforce the above nghts For example, if an executive requests a copy of Policy documents or the
latest annual repornt from the Policy and does not receive them within 30 days, the executive may file suit 1o a Federal court In such a case, the court may
require the plan administrator to provide the matenals, and pay the executive up to $110 a day until the executive recerves the matenals, unless the matenals
were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the admnistrator If an executive has a claum for benefits which 15 denied or 1ignored, 1n whole orn
part, he or she may file sutt in a state or Federal Court Ifit should happen that the Palticy fiducianes misuse the plan's money, ori1f an executive 1s
diseninmunated against for asserting hus or her nghts, the executive may seek assistance from the US Department of Labor, or may file a suit 1n a Federal court
The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees If the executive 1s successful the court may order the person the executive has sued to pay
these costs and fees 1fthe executive loses, the court may order the executive to pay these costs and fecs, for example, 1f 1t finds the executive's clarm s
fnvolous

Assistance With Questions

An executive who has questions about the Policy should contact the plan admumistrator [f an executive has any questions about this statement or
about his or her nghts under ERISA, or if the executive needs assistance in obtaining documents from the plan admunistrator, he or she should contact the
nearest office of the Employee Benefits Secunty Admimistration, U S Department of Labor, histed 1n a telephone directory or the Division of Technical
Assistance and Inquines, Employee Benefits Secunty Administration, U S Department of Laber, 200 Constitution Avenue, NW, Washungton, D C 20210
The executive may also obtain certain publications about his or her nghts and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the pubhcation's hotline of the
Employee Benefits Secunty Admenistration

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The details on the following pages are provided for the Eligible Executive’s information and possible use
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Exhibit 10 12
DESCRIPTION OF COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

First Data Corporation (Company) directors do not receive compensanton However, all of the directors of the Company are also directors of the Company’s
parent company, Fust Data Holdings Inc (Holdings) The Govemance, Compensation and Nomunations Comnuttee (Commuttee) of the Board of Directors of
Holdings approved an annual cash retainer of $40,000, payable in semi-annual 1nstallments, for each non-employee director of Holdings associated with
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co (KKR) The Comnuttee also approved compensation for each director of Holdings not employed by Holdings oraffiliates of
KKR as follows

« Atthe time of their appointment, a one-time grant of 560,000 options to purchase shares of common stock of Holdings pursuant to the 2007
Stock Incentive Plan for Key Employees of First Data Corporation and Its Affiliates (Incentive Plan), with a stnke pnce equal to the Fair Market
Value at the ume of grant to vest in equal annual 1nstallments on the first three anniversaries of the grant date

+ Annual grant of restncted stock of Holdings equivalent in value to $125,000, both at the ime of their appointment and dunng the first quarter of
each subsequent calendar year duning which they continue to serve pursuant to the Incentive Plan on the following terms

o 20% vesting upon later of end of lockup penod following an lmtial Public Offenng, and one year from the grant date,

= 40% vesting upon later of end of lockup penod following an lmual Public Offenng, and two years from the grant date,

°  40% vesting upon later of end of lockup penod following an Ininal Public Offenng, and three years from the grant date,

o Forfeiture of unvested awards upon termunation of Board service for any reason other than Death or Disability, and

= In the event of Death or Disability, Holdings shall exercise call nghts and pay 100% of the fair market value for unvested awards

« Annual cash retainer of $75,000 to be pard in quarterty installments oa the first day of each calendar quarter
All cash compensation may be deferred under the Furst Data Holdings Inc 2008 Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan based upon the election

made pnor to each calendar year by each director All amounts deferred will accrue earmings based on the performance of Holdings common stock and be
paid to the director upon terrmunation of the director’s service, subject to acceleration of the payout under certain circumstances




Exhit 2t

LIST OF FIRST DAT A CORPORATION SUBSIDIARIES

Name of Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Admunistradora de Tarjetas SR L

BA Merchant Services, LLC

Banc of Amenca Merchant Services, LLC
Bank of Amenca Merchant Services Canada Corp
Bankeard Investigative Group [nc

BOFA Mem!l Lynch Merchant Services (Europe) Limited
BUYPASS Inco Corporation

BWA Merchant Services Pty Ltd

Call Interacuve Holdings LL.C

Cash Axcess Corporation (Propnetary) Limuted
Cashcard Australia Limited

CESI Holdings, Inc

Clover MarketPlace, LLC

Clover Network, Inc

Concord Computing Corporation
Concord Corporate Services, Inc

Concord EFS Financial Services, Inc ?
Concord EFS, Inc

Concord Emerging Technologies, Inc
Concord Financial Technologies, Inc
Concord One, LLC

Concord Payment Services, Inc

Concord Processing, Inc

Concord Transaction Services, LLC

CTS Holdings, LLC

CTS, Inc

D Man Debtors Notfication Company S A
DW Holdings Canada ULC

Eastern States Bankcard Association Inc
Eastern States Monetary Services Inc

EBP Re, Ltd

Electronic Banking Solutions Limited
LPSF Corporation

European Merchant Services BV

FD do Brasil Solugdes de Pagamentao Ltda
FDFS Holdings, LLC

FDGS Group, LLC

FDGS Partner, LLC

FDR (First Data Resources) Europe B V
FDR Ireland Limited

FDR Limuted

FDR Missoun Inc

FDR UK. Limited

FDS Holdings, Inc

Federated Umon Systems, Limited
Federated Union Systems Europe, Ltd

Argentina
Olo

Delaware
Canada
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Australia
Delaware

South Africa
Awustralia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware t
Delaware
Anzona
Delaware
Delaware
Georgia
Delaware
Colorado
Colorado
Tennessee
Greece

Canada

New York not-for-profit
New York not-for-profit
Bermuda
Australia
Delaware
Netherlands
Brazil

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

United Kingdom
Delaware

Ireland

Ireland




First Data Asia Pte Ltd

First Data Austrta GmbH

First Data Austna Holdings GmbH

First Data Canada Ltd

First Data Capital, Inc

First Data Card Solutions, Inc

First Data (China) Co , Ltd

Furst Data Chile Lirmitada

First Data CIS

First Data Colombia Lida

First Data Commercial Services Holdings, Ine

First Data Commercial Services Limated

First Data Communications Corporation

First Data Cono Sur SRL

First Data Corporation Australia (Holdings) Piy Limuted
First Data Czech Republic .
First Data Deutschland GmbH

First Data EC, LLC

First Data EESTT QU

First Data Europe Limited 1
First Data Egypt LLC

Farst Data Foundation

First Data Government Solutions, Inc

First Data Government Solutions, LP -
First Data Global Services Limited

Furst Data GmbH

Furst Data (Greece) US Holding Corp

First Data Hellas Processing Services and Holdings SA
First Data Holding I (Netherlands) BV

First Data Hong Kong Limited

Furst Data Magyaromszag Kereskedelmi es Szolgaltato Kft
First Data (India) Pnivate Limited

Furst Data Intemational d o o

First Data Intemational Incorporated

First Data International (Itaha) Srl

First Data Intemational Luxembourg SARL

First Data Intemational Luxembourg Il SARE

Furst Data International Luxembourg I SARL

First Data Intemational Luxembourg IV SARL

First Data Intemational Luxembourg VI SARL

First Data Intemational Luxembourg VI SARL

First Data Korea Limited

Furst Data Latin Amenca Inc

First Data Latvia

First Data Lietuva

First Data (Mauntius) Holding Company

First Data Merchant Services Corporation

First Data Merchant Services Mexico, S deRL deCV
First Data Merchant Services Northeast, LLC

First Data Merchant Services Southeast, LL C

Singapore
Austna
Ausina
Canada
Delaware
Maryland
China
Chile
Russia
Colombia
Delaware
Ircland
Delaware
Argentina
Australia
Czech Republic
Germany
Delaware
Estonia
United Kingdom "
Egypt

Colorado not-for-profit

Delaware

Delaware

Ireland

Gemmany

Delaware

Greece

Metherlands

Hong Kong

Hungary

India

Croatia

Delaware

Italy

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Korca

Delaware

Latvia

Lithuania

Maumntius

Flonda

Mexico

Delaware

Delaware




First Data Merchant Solutions (B) Sdn Bhd Brunex

First Data Merchant Solutions (Hong Kong) Pnvate Limited Hong Kong
First Data Merchant Soleuons (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia
First Data Merchant Solutions Pnvate Limuted (Stngapore) Singapore
First Data Middle East FZ-LLC UAE

First Data Mobule Heldings, Inc Delaware
First Data Mobile (Bermuda) Holdings, Lid Bermuda
First Data Mobile Holdings Limited Ireland
T'irst Data Mobile Payments Linuted Ireland
First Data Mobile Solutions GmbH Germany
First Data Mobile Solutions Limited Lreland
First Data (Norway) Holding AS Norway
First Data Operations (Austna) GmbH Austna
First Data Payment Services, LLC Delaware
First Data Poland Holding S A Poland
First Data Polska S A Poland
First Data Procurements Méxice,§ deRL de CV \: Mexico
First Data Puerto Rico, LLC Puerto Rico
First Data Real Estate Holdings LL C Delaware
First Data Reporting Services LLC , Delaware
First Data Resources Australia Limuted Australia
First Data Resources Investments Pty Limited Australia
First Data Resources, LLC Delaware
First Data Resources South Afnca (Propnetary) Limited . South Afiica
First Data Retaill ATM Services L P Texas

First Data Romama SRL Romania
First Data Serbia and Montenegrod o o Serbia

First Data Services LLC Delaware
First Data (Singapore) Pte Ltd Singapore
First Data Slovakia, sro Slovakia
First Data Solutions Inc Washington
First Data Spain Holdings, SL Spain

First Data Suppont Services Pnvate Linuted India

First Data Technologies, Inc Delaware
First Data Transpornation Services Inc Tennessee
First Data Trust Company, LLC - Colorado
First Data Uruguay SA Uruguay
Furst Data Voice Services Delaware general partnership
First Merchant Processing (Ireland) Linmted Ireland
FSM Services Inc¢ Delaware
FTS (NSW) Pty Limted Australia
Funds & Assets Management LLC New York
FundsXpress, Inc Delaware
FundsXpress Financial Network, Inc Texas

Gift Card Services, Inc Oklahoma
Gratitude Holdings LLC Delaware
Greenwood Holdings 1 Inc Delaware
GYFT, Inc Delaware

Gyft Mobile, Inc Delaware




Hunt:ngton Merchant Services, LL C
ICICI Merchant Serviges Pnvate Limited
Ignite Payments, LLC

Instant Cash Services, LLC

Integrated Payment Systems Canada Enc
Integrated Payment Systems Inc
Inverland Jasper SL.

IRS Intelhgent Risk Management Sclutions GmbH
Linkpoint Intemational, Inc
Marketplace Merchant Solutions Limited
MAS inco Corporation

MAS Ohio Corporation

Merchant Solutions Private Limited
Merchant Solutions Private Limited
Merchant Soluuons Pte (Macau) Limited
Merchant Solutions {(Shanghai) Censultancy Co , Ltd
Money Network Financial, LLC
Nattonal Payment Systems Inc

New Payment Services, Inc

Omnipay Limuted

PayPoint Electronic Payment Systems, LLC
PaySys de Costa Rica, S A

PaySys Europe, BV

PaySys Intemational, Inc

PaySys Intemational Linuted

PaySys Intemational Pty Ltd

Pegaso Argentina SR L

Perka, Inc

Perka Limited

Posnet SRL

Processing Center, S A
Publicdatasystems, Inc

REMITCOLLC

Research Park Association, Inc
Sagebrush Holdings LEC

Scotia Cardpoint Merchant Services
Size Technolagies, Inc

Star Networks, Inc

Star Processing, Inc

Star Systems Assets, Inc

Star Systems, Ine

Star Systems, LLC

Strategic Investment Altematives LLC
SunTrust Merchant Services, LLC
TASQLLC

TASQ Technology, Inc

TeleCash GmbH & Co KG

TeleCash Management GmbH
TeleCheck Intemational, Inc

TeleCheck Payment Systems Linuted

Delaware
India
Califormia
Delaware
Canada
Delaware
Spain
Germany
Nevada
Iretand
Delaware
Delaware
Bangladesh
Sn Lanka
Macau
China
Delaware
New York
Georgla
Ireland
Delaware
Costa Rica
Netherlands
Flonda
Ireland
Australia
Argentina
Delaware
Ireland
Argentina
Panama
Delaware
Delaware
Flonda not-for-profit
Delaware
Puento Rico
Califormia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Calhformia
Germany
Germany
Georgla
New Zealand




TeleCheck Pittsburgh/West Virginia, Inc
TeleCheck Services Canada, lne
TeleCheck Services, Inc

TeleCheck Services of Puerto Rico, Inc
Tissington Limited

TRS Recovery Services, Inc

Transaction Solutions, LLC

Unified Merchant Services

ValueLank, LL.C

Zolter Services Limited

Pennsylvania

Canads

Delaware

Georgia

Ireland

Colorado

Delaware

Georgia General Partnership
Delaware

Ireland



Exhibit31 1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
L, Frank Bisignano, Chief Executive Officer of First Data Corporation, certify that
I [ have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of First Data Corporation,

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contamn any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the
statements made, 1n Light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not musleading with respect to the penod covered by this
report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included 1n this report, fairly present in all matenial respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods presented 1n this repon,

4 The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 are responsible for estabhisking and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have

(2) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, including its consohidated subsidiancs, 1s made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly duning the peniod 1n which this report 1s being prepared,

(b) Designed such mnternal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabihiiy of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes n accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples,

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Drsclosed n this report any change 1n the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred dunng the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or s reasonably likely to matenally
affect, the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting, and

5 The regrstrant’s other certifying officer(s) and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemnal control over financial reporting, 1o
the registrant’s auditors and the aucit commuttee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

{(a) All ssgmificant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses 1n the design oroperation of mtemal control over financial reporting which arc reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summanize and report financial information, and

{b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a sigmficant role in the registrant’s intemal
control over financial reporting

Date February 27, 2015 /5/ FRANEK BISIGNANO
Frank Bisignano
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit31 2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
i, Michael K. Neborak, Executive Vice President, Director of Finance (prinetpal financial officer) of Farst Data Corporation, certify that
I Lhave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of First Data Corporation,

2 Based on my krowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the penod covered by thes
report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information 1ncluded 1n this report, farrly present in all matenal respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods presented in this report,

4 The registrant’s other certifymg officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintainang disclosure controls and procedures (as defined w
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(¢)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 1 5d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensurc that matenal information relating to the registrant, including 1ts consolidated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the penod 1n which this repont 15 being prepared, . -

(b) Designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemat contro! over financal reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financtal reporiing and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting pninciples, I

(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 1n this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this repont based on such evaluation, and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change 1n the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred dunng the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarterin the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or1s reasonably likely to matenally
affect, the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting, and

5 The registrant’s other cemtifying officen(s) and ! have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of interat control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the andit commuttee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

(a) All significant deficiencics and matenal weaknesses n the design or operation of intemnal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summanze and report financial information, and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a sigmificant role 1n the registrant’s intemal control
aver financial reporting

Date February 27,2015 158/ MICHAEL K. NEBORAK

Michael K. Neborak
Executive Vice President, Director of Finance
(principal financial officer)




kxhibit32 1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The certification set forth below 1s being submutted 1n connection with the Annual Report of First Data Corporation on Form 10-K for the peniod ended
December 31, 2014 (the “Report™) for the purpose of complying with Rule 132-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Secunues Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act™) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code
Frank Bisignano, the Chief Executive Officer of First Data Corporation, cenifies that, to the best of his knowledge

| The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2 The information contained 1n the Repaort fairly presents, 1n all matenal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of First Data
Corporation

Date Febrary 27,2015 /8/ FRANK BISIGNANO

Frank Bisignano
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit32 2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
The ceruficatron set forth below is being subrutted in connection with the Annual Report of Furst Data Comorauon on Form 10-K for the penod ended
December 31,2014 (the “Repont™) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 (the
Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code

Michael K. Neborak, Executive Vice President, Director of Finance (principal financial officer) of First Data Corporation, certifies that, to the best of his
knowledge

I The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 1 5(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2 The information contained 1n the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of First Data

Corporation
Date February 27,2015 /S/ MICHAEL K NEBORAK
Michael K Neborak
- Executive Vice President, Director of Finance

(prmcipal financial officer)




